BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

RECEIVED

DEC 282006

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF)	COMMISSI
RATE APPLICATION BY)	CASE NO. 20060-00464
ATMOS ENERGY/KENTUCKY DIVISION)	

FILING REQUIREMENTS VOLUME 6 OF 9

FILED IN SUPPORT OR PROPOSED CHANGE IN RATES

DECEMBER 2006

Atmos Energy Case No. 2006-00464 Table of Contents

Volume 6

Tab Number

Filing Requirement #

1

10(9)(p)

RECEIVED

DEC 282006

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

-
(

Atmos Energy Kentucky Case No. 2006-00464 Forecasted Test Period Filing Requirements

FR 10(9)(p)

Description of Filing Requirement:

SEC's annual report for most recent 2 years, Form 10-Ks and any Form 8-Ks issued during prior 2 years and any Form 10-Qs issued during past 6 quarters;

Response:

Continued

		(

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Ma	r-lz	On	a
LIVEA	T IV	$\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{u}}$	v,

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES $\sqrt{}$ **EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934** For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES **EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934**

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-10042

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Texas and Virginia

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

Three Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 5430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas

(Address of principal executive offices)

75-1743247

(IRS employer identification no.) 75240

(Zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (972) 934-9227

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class

Common stock, No Par Value

Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☑ No ☐
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes □ No ☑
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \square No \square
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of "accelerated filer and large accelerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated filer \(\text{\sqrt{M}} \) Accelerated filer \(\text{\sqrt{D}} \) Non-accelerated filer \(\text{\sqrt{D}} \)

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, March 31, 2006, was \$2,064,662,421.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes

As of November 8, 2006, the registrant had 81,823,767 shares of common stock outstanding.

Large accelerated filer

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

No 🗹

Portions of the registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 7, 2007 are incorporated by reference into Part III of this report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Glossary of	Key Terms	3
	PART I	
Item 1.	Business	4
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	23
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	27
Item 2.	Properties	27
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	30
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	30
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of	
	Equity Securities	32
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	33
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	35
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	62
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	64
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	124
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	124
Item 9B.	Other Information	126
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant	126
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	126
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder	106
	Matters	126
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	126
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	127
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	127
Statement o	f Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	
	s of the Registrant	
	Ernst & Young LLP	
	4(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
	0 Certifications	
Annual Cer	tification Pursuant to Section 303A.12	

2

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

AEC Atmos Energy Corporation
AEH Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc.
AEM Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC
AES Atmos Energy Services, LLC
APB Accounting Principles Board
APS Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC

ATO Trading symbol for Atmos Energy Corporation common stock on the New

York Stock Exchange

Bcf Billion cubic feet

COSO Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

EITF Emerging Issues Task Force

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board
FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

FIN FASB Interpretation
Fitch Fitch Ratings, Ltd.
FSP FASB Staff Position

GRIP Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program
Heritage Heritage Propane Partners, L.P.

iFERC Inside FERC

KPSC Kentucky Public Service Commission

LGS Louisiana Gas Service Company and LGS Natural Gas Company, which

were acquired July 1, 2001

LPSC Louisiana Public Service Commission

Mcf Thousand cubic feet

MDWO Maximum daily withdrawal quantity

MMcf Million cubic feet

Moody's Investor Services, Inc.

MPSC Mississippi Public Service Commission

MVG Mississippi Valley Gas Company, which was acquired

December 3, 2002

NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc.

NYSE New York Stock Exchange
RRC Railroad Commission of Texas
RSC Rate Stabilization Clause
S&P Standard & Poor's Corporation

SEC United States Securities and Exchange Commission
SFAS Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

TXU Gas Company, which was acquired on October 1, 2004

USP U.S. Propane, L.P.

VCC Virginia Corporation Commission
WNA Weather Normalization Adjustment

PART I

The terms "we," "our," "us," "Atmos" and "Atmos Energy" refer to Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries, unless the context suggests otherwise.

ITEM 1. Business

Overview

Atmos Energy Corporation, headquartered in Dallas, Texas, is engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as other natural gas nonutility businesses. We are one of the country's largest natural-gas-only distributors based on number of customers and one of the largest intrastate pipeline operators in Texas based upon miles of pipe. As of September 30, 2006, we distributed natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which covered service areas in 12 states. Our primary service areas are located in Colorado, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Tennessee and Texas. We have more limited service areas in Georgia, Illinois, Iowa, Missouri and Virginia. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses, we primarily provide natural gas management and marketing services to municipalities, other local gas distribution companies and industrial customers in 22 states and natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility divisions and to third parties.

We were organized under the laws of Texas in 1983 as Energas Company for the purpose of owning and operating the natural gas distribution business of Pioneer Corporation in Texas. In September 1988, we changed our name to Atmos Energy Corporation. As a result of the merger with United Cities Gas Company in July 1997, we also became incorporated in Virginia.

Operating Segments

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

Strategy

Our overall strategy is to:

- · deliver superior shareholder value,
- improve the quality and consistency of earnings growth, while operating our natural gas utility and nonutility businesses exceptionally well and
- enhance and strengthen a culture built on our core values.

Over the last five years, we have primarily grown through two significant acquisitions, our acquisition in December 2002 of Mississippi Valley Gas Company (MVG) and our acquisition in October 2004 of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas).

We have experienced over 20 consecutive years of increasing dividends and earnings growth after giving effect to our acquisitions. We have achieved this record of growth while operating our utility operations efficiently by managing our operating and maintenance expenses and leveraging our technology, such as our 24-hour call centers, to achieve more efficient operations. In addition, we have focused on regulatory rate

proceedings to increase revenue as our costs increase and mitigated weather-related risks through weather-normalized rates that now apply to most of our service areas. We have also strengthened our nonutility businesses by increasing gross profit margins, actively pursuing opportunities to increase the amount of storage available to us and expanding commercial opportunities in our pipeline and storage segment.

Our core values include focusing on our employees and customers while conducting our business with honesty and integrity. We continue to strengthen our culture through ongoing communications with our employees and enhanced employee training.

Utility Segment Overview

We operated our utility segment through the following seven regulated natural gas utility divisions during the year ended September 30, 2006:

- · Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division,
- · Atmos Energy Kentucky Division,
- · Atmos Energy Louisiana Division,
- Atmos Energy Mid-States Division,
- · Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division,
- · Atmos Energy Mississippi Division and
- Atmos Energy West Texas Division.

Effective October 1, 2006, the Kentucky and Mid-States Divisions were combined.

Our natural gas utility distribution business is seasonal and dependent on weather conditions in our service areas. Gas sales to residential and commercial customers are greater during the winter months than during the remainder of the year. The volumes of gas sales during the winter months will vary with the temperatures during these months.

In addition to weather, our financial results are affected by the cost of natural gas and economic conditions in the areas that we serve. Higher gas costs, which we are generally able to pass through to our customers under purchased gas adjustment clauses, may cause customers to conserve or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense and may require us to increase borrowings under our credit facilities resulting in higher interest expense.

The effect of weather that is above or below normal is substantially offset through weather normalization adjustments, known as WNA, which are now approved by the regulators for over 90 percent of residential and commercial meters in our service areas. WNA allows us to increase customers' bills to offset lower gas usage when weather is warmer than normal and decrease customers' bills to offset higher gas usage when weather is colder than normal.

Prior to October 1, 2006, our largest division, the Mid-Tex Division, did not have WNA. However, its operations benefited from a rate structure that combined a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provided for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions. However, this rate structure was not as beneficial during periods where weather was significantly warmer than normal.

In May 2006, the Mid-Tex Division filed a Statement of Intent seeking additional annual revenues of \$60 million and several rate design changes including WNA. In July 2006, the Railroad Commission of Texas

(RRC) approved an interim and a permanent WNA, effective October 1, 2006 for the Mid-Tex Division. The agreement provided that the interim WNA will be based on the use of 30 years of weather history, while the permanent WNA will allow the parties to contest the appropriate period of weather data to use in calculating normal weather. The permanent WNA will also be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the RRC ultimately approves in the case. Additionally, in May 2006, we agreed to a settlement with the Louisiana Public Service Commission (LPSC) that authorized the implementation of WNA in our Louisiana Division effective December 1, 2006.

As of September 30, 2006 we had, or received regulatory approvals for WNA for our customer meters in the following service areas for the following periods:

October - May Georgia October - May **K**ansas Kentucky November — April December — March Louisiana (1) Mid-Tex (1) October - May November - April Mississippi Tennessee November — April October - May Amarillo, Texas West Texas October - May October - May Lubbock, Texas January - December Virginia

Our natural gas supply comes from a variety of third-party providers and from gas held in storage. We anticipate that the natural gas supply for the upcoming winter heating season will be provided by a variety of suppliers, including independent producers, marketers and pipeline companies, in addition to withdrawals of gas from storage. Additionally, the natural gas supply for our Mid-Tex Division includes peaking and spot purchase agreements. We also contract for storage service in underground storage facilities on many of the interstate pipelines serving us. We estimate the peak-day availability of natural gas supply from long-term contracts, short-term contracts and withdrawals from underground storage to be approximately 4.2 Bcf. The peak-day demand for our utility operations in fiscal 2006 was on December 8, 2005, when sales to customers reached approximately 3.4 Bcf.

Supply arrangements are contracted from our suppliers on a firm basis with various terms at market prices. The firm supply consists of both base load and swing supply quantities. Base load quantities are those that flow at a constant level throughout the month and swing supply quantities provide the flexibility to change daily quantities to match increases or decreases in requirements related to weather conditions. Except for local production purchases, we select suppliers through a competitive bidding process by requesting proposals from suppliers that have demonstrated that they can provide reliable service. We select these suppliers based on their ability to deliver gas supply to our designated firm pipeline receipt points at the lowest cost. Major suppliers during fiscal 2006 were Anadarko Energy Services, BP Energy Company, Chesapeake Energy Marketing, Inc., ConocoPhillips Company, Cross Timbers Energy Services, Inc., Devon Gas Services, L.P., Enbridge Marketing (US) L.P., PPM Energy, Inc., Tenaska Marketing and Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, our natural gas marketing subsidiary.

The combination of base load, peaking and spot purchase agreements, coupled with the withdrawal of gas held in storage, allows us the flexibility to adjust to changes in weather, which minimizes our need to enter into long-term firm commitments.

Also, to maintain our deliveries to high priority customers, we have the ability, and have exercised our right, to curtail deliveries to certain customers under the terms of interruptible contracts or applicable state statutes or regulations. Our customers' demand on our system is not necessarily indicative of our ability to

⁽¹⁾ Effective beginning with the 2006-2007 winter heating season.

meet current or anticipated market demands or immediate delivery requirements because of factors such as the physical limitations of gathering, storage and transmission systems, the duration and severity of cold weather, the availability of gas reserves from our suppliers, the ability to purchase additional supplies on a short-term basis and actions by federal and state regulatory authorities. Curtailment rights provide us the flexibility to meet the humanneeds requirements of our customers on a firm basis. Priority allocations imposed by federal and state regulatory agencies, as well as other factors beyond our control, may affect our ability to meet the demands of our customers. We anticipate no problems with obtaining additional gas supply as needed for our customers.

We receive gas deliveries for all of our utility divisions, except for our Mid-Tex Division, through 37 pipeline transportation companies, both interstate and intrastate, to satisfy our natural gas needs. The pipeline transportation agreements are firm and many of them have "pipeline no-notice" storage service which provides for daily balancing between system requirements and nominated flowing supplies. These agreements have been negotiated with the shortest term necessary while still maintaining our right of first refusal. The natural gas supply for our Mid-Tex Division is delivered by our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division.

The following is a brief description of our seven natural gas utility divisions. Additional information for our natural gas utility divisions is presented under the caption "Operating Statistics".

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division. Our Colorado-Kansas Division operates in Colorado, Kansas and the southwestern corner of Missouri and is regulated by each respective state's public service commission with respect to accounting, rates and charges, operating matters and the issuance of securities. We operate under terms of non-exclusive franchises granted by the various cities. Rates in our Kansas service area are subject to WNA. The principal transporters of the Colorado-Kansas Division's gas supply requirements are Colorado Interstate Gas Company, Northwest Pipeline, Public Service Company of Colorado and Southern Star Central Pipeline. Additionally, the Colorado-Kansas Division purchases substantial volumes from producers that are connected directly to its distribution system.

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. Our Kentucky Division operates in Kentucky and is regulated by the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC), which regulates utility services, rates, issuance of securities and other matters. We operate in various incorporated cities pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by these cities. The sale of natural gas for use as vehicle fuel in Kentucky is unregulated. In February 2006, the KPSC approved our request to continue the performance-based ratemaking mechanism for an additional five-year period. Under the performance-based mechanism, we and our customers jointly share in any actual gas cost savings achieved when compared to pre-determined benchmarks. Our rates are also subject to WNA. The Kentucky Division's gas supply is delivered primarily by Midwestern Pipeline, Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company, Texas Gas Transmission LLC and Trunkline Gas Company. As noted below, this division was combined with the Mid-States Division effective October 1, 2006.

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. Our Louisiana Division operates in Louisiana and serves the metropolitan area of Monroe, the suburban areas of New Orleans and western Louisiana. Our Louisiana Division is regulated by the Louisiana Public Service Commission, which regulates utility services, rates and other matters. We operate most of our service areas pursuant to a non-exclusive franchise granted by the governing authority of each area. Direct sales of natural gas to industrial customers in Louisiana, who use gas for fuel or in manufacturing processes, and sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel are exempt from regulation and are recognized in our natural gas marketing segment. Effective beginning with the 2006-2007 winter heating season, rates in our Louisiana service area will be subject to WNA. The principal transporters of the Louisiana Division's gas supply requirements are Acadian Pipeline, Gulf South, Louisiana Intrastate Gas Company, Texas Gas Transmission LLC and Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline, Inc., a subsidiary of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC.

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. Our Mid-States Division operates in Georgia, Illinois, Iowa, Missouri, Tennessee and Virginia. In each of these states, our rates, services and operations as a natural gas distribution company are subject to general regulation by each state's public service commission. We operate in each community, where necessary, under a franchise granted by the municipality for a fixed term of years. In Tennessee and Georgia, we have WNA and a performance-based rate program, which provides incentives

for us to find ways to lower costs and share the cost savings with our customers. We have WNA in our Virginia service area that covers the entire year. Our Mid-States Division is served by 13 interstate pipelines; however, the majority of the volumes are transported through Columbia Gulf, East Tennessee Pipeline, Southern Natural Gas and Tennessee Gas Pipeline. The Kentucky Division was combined with the Mid-States Division effective October 1, 2006.

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. Our Mid-Tex Division includes the natural gas distribution operations that operate in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. The Mid-Tex Division purchases, distributes and sells natural gas in approximately 550 cities and towns, including the 11-county Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. This division currently operates under a system-wide rate structure. The governing body of each municipality we serve has original jurisdiction over all utility rates, operations and services within its city limits, except with respect to sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel and agricultural use. We operate pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve, which are subject to renewal from time to time. The RRC has exclusive appellate jurisdiction over all rate and regulatory orders and ordinances of the municipalities and exclusive original jurisdiction over rates and services to customers not located within the limits of a municipality. Effective beginning with the 2006-2007 winter heating season, rates in our Mid-Tex service area will be subject to WNA.

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Our Atmos Energy Mississippi Division operates in Mississippi and is regulated by the Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) with respect to rates, services and operations. We operate under non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve. Through fiscal 2005, we operated under a rate structure that allowed us, over a five-year period, to recover a portion of our integration costs associated with the MVG acquisition and operations and maintenance costs in excess of an agreed-upon benchmark. In addition, we were required to file for rate adjustments based on our expenses every six months. Effective October 1, 2005, our rate design was modified to substitute the original agreed-upon benchmark with a sharing mechanism to allow the sharing of cost savings above an allowed return on equity level. Further, beginning October 1, 2005, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual filing process. We also have WNA in Mississippi. This division's gas supply is delivered primarily by Gulf South Pipeline Company, Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company, Southern Natural Gas Company, Texas Eastern Transmission, Texas Gas Transmission LLC, Trunkline Gas Co. LLC and Enbridge Marketing LP.

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. Our West Texas Division operates in Texas in three primary service areas: the Amarillo service area, the Lubbock service area and the West Texas service area. Similar to our Mid-Tex Division, the governing body of each municipality we serve has original jurisdiction over all utility rates, operations and services within its city limits, except with respect to sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel and agricultural use. We operate pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve, which are subject to renewal from time to time. The RRC has exclusive appellate jurisdiction over all rate and regulatory orders and ordinances of the municipalities and exclusive original jurisdiction over rates and services to customers not located within the limits of a municipality. We have WNA in each of our service areas. Our West Texas Division receives transportation service from ONEOK Pipeline. In addition, the West Texas Division purchases a significant portion of its natural gas supply from Pioneer Natural Resources, which is connected directly to our Amarillo, Texas, distribution system.

Natural Gas Marketing Segment Overview

Our natural gas marketing and other nonutility segments, which are organized under Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), have operations in 22 states. Through September 30, 2003, Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. and Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc., comprised our natural gas marketing segment. Effective October 1, 2003, our natural gas marketing segment was reorganized. The operations of Atmos Energy Marketing, L.L.C. and Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc. were merged into Woodward Marketing, L.L.C., which was renamed Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM).

We acquired a 45 percent interest in Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. in July 1997 as a result of the merger of Atmos Energy and United Cities Gas Company, which had acquired that interest in May 1995. In April

2001, we acquired the remaining 55 percent interest that we did not own for 1,423,193 restricted shares of our common stock.

AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas consumers primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services primarily consist of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price management through the use of derivative products. We use proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we participate in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to capture the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

AEM's management of natural gas requirements involves the sale of natural gas and the management of storage and transportation supplies under contracts with customers generally having one to two year terms. AEM also sells natural gas to some of its industrial customers on a delivered burner tip basis under contract terms from 30 days to two years. At September 30, 2006, AEM had a total of 679 industrial, 73 municipal and 289 other customers.

Pipeline and Storage Segment Overview

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS). The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, lending and sales of inventory on hand. Parking arrangements provide short-term interruptible storage of gas on our pipeline and lending services provide short-term interruptible loans of natural gas from our pipeline to meet market demands. Both of these services are primarily offered on our Atmos Pipeline — Texas system. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are believed to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

APS owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

In May 2006, APS announced plans to form a joint venture with a local natural gas producer to construct a natural gas gathering system in Eastern Kentucky. Referred to as the Straight Creek Project, the new system is expected to relieve severe gas gathering and transportation constraints that historically have burdened natural gas producers in the area and should improve delivery reliability to natural gas customers. In October 2006, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) issued a declaratory order finding that the Straight Creek Project will be exempt from FERC jurisdiction. The joint venture provides APS the opportunity to apply its expertise to the upstream gathering business.

Other Nonutility Segment Overview

Our other nonutility segment consists primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. which are wholly-owned by our subsidiary, Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services, which began in April 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have entered into agreements to lease these plants.

Through January 2004, United Cities Propane Gas, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc., owned an approximate 19 percent membership interest in U.S. Propane L.P. (USP), a joint venture formed in February 2000 with other utility companies to own a limited partnership interest in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. (Heritage), a publicly-traded marketer of propane through a nationwide retail distribution network. During fiscal 2004, we sold our interest in USP and Heritage. As a result of these transactions, we no longer have an interest in the propane business.

Operating Statistics

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for each of the five fiscal years from 2002 through 2006.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Year Ended September 30							
	2006	2005 (1)	2004	2003 (1)	2002			
METERS IN SERVICE, end of year								
Residential	2,886,042	2,862,822	1,506,777	1,498,586	1,247,247			
Commercial	275,577	274,536	151,381	151,008	122,156			
Industrial	2,661	2,715	2,436	3,799	2,118			
Agricultural	8,714	9,639	8,397		10,576			
Public authority and other	8,205	8,128	10,145	9,891	7,244			
Total meters	3,181,199	3,157,840	1,679,136	1,672,798	1,389,341			
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)								
Actual (weighted average)	2,527	2,587	3,271	3,473	3,368			
Percent of normal	87%	89%	96%	101%	94%			
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (3)								
Gas Sales Volumes								
Residential	144,780	162,016	92,208	97,953	77,386			
Commercial	87,006	92,401	44,226	45,611	35,796			
Industrial	26,161	29,434	22,330	23,738	14,499			
Agricultural	5,629	3,348	4,642	7,884	10,988			
Public authority and other	8,457	9,084	9,813	9,326	5,875			
Total gas sales volumes	272,033	296,283	173,219	184,512	144,544			
Utility transportation volumes	126,960	122,098	87,746	70,159	69,589			
Total utility throughput	398,993	418,381	<u>260,965</u>	<u>254,671</u>	214,133			
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3)								
Gas Sales Revenues								
Residential	\$2,068,736	\$1,791,172	\$ 923,773					
Commercial	1,061,783	869,722	400,704	367,961	221,728			
Industrial	276,186	229,649	155,336	151,969	70,164			
Agricultural	40,664	27,889	31,851	48,625	37,951			
Public authority and other	103,936	86,853	77,178	65,921	31,731			
Total utility gas sales revenues	3,551,305	3,005,285	1,588,842	1,507,851	897,555			
Transportation revenues	62,215	59,996	31,714	30,461	28,786			
Other gas revenues	37,071	37,859	17,172	15,770	11,185			
Total utility operating revenues	\$3,650,591	\$3,103,140	\$1,637,728	\$1,554,082	\$ 937,526			
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.49	\$ 0.49	\$ 0.36					
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$ 10.02	\$ 7.41	\$ 6.55	\$ 5.76	\$ 3.87			
Employees	4,402	4,327	2,742	2,817	2,255			

See footnotes following these tables.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data By Division

					Year E	nded Septer	nber 30, 200	5		
	Colorad				Mid-	West				Total
	Kansa	<u> </u>	entucky	Louisiana	States	Texas	Mississippi	Mid-Tex	Other (4)	Utility
METERS IN SERVICE										
Residential	213,5	66	158,408	330,694	277,998	273,520	241,406	1,390,450		2,886,042
Commercial	21,4	40	18,228	23,108	36,686	25,984	27,868	122,263		275,577
Industrial		34	240		681			205		2,661
Agricultural	3	12	-			8,402		-		8,714
Public authority and other	5	<u> 13</u>	1,637		1,034		2,825			8,205
Total	235,9	15	178,513	353,802	316,399	310,880	272,742	1,512,918		3,181,199
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)										
Actual	5,40		4,349	1,319				1,697		2,527
Percent of normal	99	%	100%	78%	95%	100%	102%	72%		87%
SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (3)										
Gas Sales Volumes										
Residential	15,1		9,249	12,131	15,065			65,012	_	144,780
Commercial	5,90		4,526	6,944				45,558		87,006
Industrial	4		1,830		6,945			4,784	*****	26,161
Agricultural	6					5,010				5,629
Public authority and other	1,39	<u> </u>	1,237		226					8,457
Total	23,4		16,842	19,075	33,564	-	30,933	115,354		272,033
Transportation Volumes	9,68	<u> </u>	25,871	6,310	20,654	15,135	1,702	47,608		126,960
Total Throughput	33,12	2 _	42,713	25,385	54,218	47,958	32,635	162,962		398,993
OPERATING MARGIN (000's) (3)	\$ 71,00	0 \$	50,271	\$ 98,502	\$106,742	\$ 93,693	\$ 92,515	\$ 412,334	\$	\$ 925,057
OPERATING EXPENSES (000's) (3)										
Operation and maintenance	\$ 28,23	5 \$	19,874	\$ 40,741	\$ 38,148	\$ 33,332	\$ 44,533	\$ 154,412		
Depreciation and amortization	\$ 13,57	8 \$	11,636	\$ 21,201	\$ 22,172	\$ 13,690	\$ 10,596	\$ 74,375	\$ (2,755)	
Taxes, other than income	\$ 6,66	3 \$	4,423	\$ 8,788		\$ 21,509		\$ 111,844		
Impairment of long-lived assets	Ψ	\$				\$ 22,947			•	
OPERATING INCOME (000's) (3)						\$ 2,215				
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (000's)	\$ 19,46	6 \$	16,645	\$ 32,218	\$ 38,307	\$ 27,374	\$ 15,389	\$ 134,762	\$ 23,581	\$ 307,742
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,										
NET (000's)	\$ 252,58	4 \$1	90,959	\$328,310	\$436,916	\$253,086	\$ 226,690	\$1,262,516	\$132,240	\$3,083,301
OTHER STATISTICS, at year end										m# 0.40
Miles of pipe	6,60		3,937	8,214	8,015	14,831	6,415	27,856	0.5.5	75,869
Employees	26	3	220	412	416	341	437	1,458	855	4,402
	See	foot	notes f	following	o these to	ables				

See footnotes following these tables.

	Year Ended September 30, 2005												
	Colorac		***************************************		Mid-	West					(0		Total
	Kansa	5	Kentucky	Louisiana	States	Texas	- <u>-</u>	Aississippi	Mid-Tex		Other (4)		Utility
METERS IN SERVICE													
Residential	209,3	21	159,216	348,576	276,667	267,27	8	244,136	1,357,62	28		2	2,862,822
Commercial	20,9	14	18,350	23,850	36,519	25,410)	28,350	121,14	13			274,536
Industrial		81	239		684	816	5	664	23	31			2,715
Agricultural	2	79			******	9,360			-				9,639
Public authority and other	4	76	1,650		1,066	2,13	9_	2,797	_			_	8,128
Total	231,0	71	179,455	372,426	314,936	305,000	3 =	275,947	1,479,00)2		3	3,157,840
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)													
Actual	5,4	37	4,241	1,301	3,510			2,583	1,90				2,587
Percent of normal	99	%	98%	78%	93%	99%	6	96%	80	%			89%
SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (3)													
Gas Sales Volumes													
Residential	16,4		10,741	13,134				12,985	73,23				162,016
Commercial	5,9		4,891	6,811				6,711	48,76				92,401
Industrial		38	1,858		8,205			9,057	5,49	99			29,434
Agricultural		46			*****	3,102			-				3,348
Public authority and other	1,3	55	1,396		241	2,296		3,796		_			9,084
Total	24,2	72	18,886	19,945	36,474	36,660		32,549	127,49		-		296,283
Transportation Volumes	8,3	38	26,066	7,046	20,142	12,390	2 _	1,309	46,75	7.			122,098
Total Throughput	32,6	50	44,952	26,991	56,616	49,050) =	33,858	174,25	4		=	418,381
OPERATING MARGIN (000's) (3)	\$ 70,5	12	\$ 52,302	\$ 94,350	\$110,012	\$ 90,316	5 \$	91,610	\$ 398,23	4	\$ -	\$	907,366
OPERATING EXPENSES (000's) (3)	-		•										
Operation and maintenance	\$ 26,6	79	\$ 18,618	\$ 37,994	\$ 38,427	\$ 29,701	\$	49,241	\$ 146,44	9	S (515)		346,594
Depreciation and amortization					\$ 23,615								159,497
Taxes, other than income					\$ 12,283				\$ 102,36				164,910
OPERATING INCOME (000's) (3)	\$ 25,1	57	\$ 18,657	\$ 24,819	\$ 35,687	\$ 27,520	\$	19,045					236,365
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (000's)	\$ 20,6	90	\$ 17,525	\$ 31,198	\$ 34,176	\$ 29,066	5 \$	15,925	\$ 115,02	4	\$ 36,970	\$	300,574
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,													
NET (000's)	\$ 244,2:	50 :	\$183,931	\$318,869	\$416,825	\$263,285	\$	206,511	\$1,167,42	5	\$125,000	\$2	,926,096
OTHER STATISTICS, at year end										_			01.604
Miles of pipe	6,5		3,908	8,151	7,958	15,000		6,356	33,70				81,604
Employees	26	7	236	421	412	346)	467	1,39	8	780		4,327
	а	c		C 11	_ 41 4	.1.1							

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

	Year Ended September 30						
	2006	2005	2004	2003	2002		
CUSTOMERS, end of year Industrial	746	624	638	644	641		
Municipal	73	69	80	94	101		
Other	467	401	237	202	117		
Total	1,286	1,094	955	940	859		
NATURAL GAS MARKETING SALES							
VOLUMES — MMcf (3)	336,516	273,201	265,090	294,785	273,692		
PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION							
VOLUMES — MMcf (3)	590,985	563,949	9,395	11,648	12,788		
OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3) Natural							
gas marketing	\$3,156,524	\$2,106,278	\$1,618,602	\$1,668,493	\$1,031,874		
Pipeline and storage	160,567	153,289	19,758	20,298	18,720		
Other nonutility	5,898	5,302	3,393	2,853	5,985		
Total operating revenues	\$3,322,989	\$2,264,869	\$1,641,753	\$1,691,644	\$1,056,579		
Employees, at year end	230	216	122	88	83		

Notes to preceding tables:

- (1) The operational and statistical information includes the operations of the Mississippi Division since the December 3, 2002 acquisition date and the Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline — Texas Divisions since the October 1, 2004 acquisition date.
- (2) A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. For service areas that have weather normalized operations, normal degree days are used instead of actual degree days in computing the total number of heating degree days.
- (3) Sales volumes, revenues, operating margins, operating expense and operating income reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.
- (4) The Other column represents our utility shared services unit, which provides administrative and other support to our seven regulated utility divisions. Certain costs incurred by this unit are not allocated to our utility divisions.

Ratemaking Activity

Overview

The method of determining regulated rates varies among the states in which our natural gas utility divisions operate. The regulators have the responsibility of ensuring that utilities under their jurisdictions operate in the best interests of customers while providing utility companies the opportunity to earn a reasonable return on investment. Generally, each regulatory authority reviews our rate request and establishes a rate structure intended to generate revenue sufficient to cover our costs of doing business and provide a reasonable return on invested capital.

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to

address all of the utility's non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price fluctuations compared to the utility's other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility's cost of service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through purchased gas adjustments because they provide a dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility gas costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we purchase, utility gross profit (which is defined as operating revenues less purchased gas cost) is generally not affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased gas adjustment mechanism. Additionally, some jurisdictions have introduced performance-based ratemaking adjustments to provide incentives to natural gas utilities to minimize purchased gas costs through improved storage management and use of financial hedges to lock in gas costs. Under the performance-based ratemaking adjustment, purchased gas costs savings are shared between the utility and its customers.

The following table summarizes some information regarding our ratemaking jurisdictions. This information is for regulatory purposes only and may not be representative of our actual financial position.

Jurisdictional Rate Summary

Division	Jurisdiction	Effective Date of Last Rate Action	Rate Base (thousands) ⁽¹⁾	Authorized Rate of Return ⁽¹⁾	Authorized Return on Equity ⁽¹⁾
Atmos Pipeline — Texas	Texas	5/24/04	\$417,111	8.258%	10.00%
Colorado-Kansas	Colorado	7/1/05	84,711	8.95%	11.25%
	Kansas	3/1/04	(2)	(2)	(2)
Kentucky	Kentucky	12/21/99	(2)	(2)	(2)
Louisiana	Trans LA	10/1/04	81,645		10.50% - 11.50%
	LGS	10/1/04	170,358	9.23%	10.88% - 11.50%
Mid-States	Georgia	12/20/05	62,380	7.57%	10.13%
	Illinois	11/1/00	24,564	9.18%	11.56%
	Iowa	3/1/01	5,000	(2)	11.00%
	Missouri	10/14/95	(2)	10.58%	12.15%
	Tennessee	11/15/95	111,970	(2)	(2)
	Virginia	8/1/04	30,672	8.46% - 8.96%	9.50% -10.50%
Mid-Tex	Texas	5/24/04	769,721	8.258%	10.00%
Mississippi	Mississippi	1/1/05	196,801	8.23%	9.80%
West Texas	Amarillo	9/1/03	36,844	9.88%	12.00%
	Lubbock	3/1/04	43,300	9.15%	11.25%
	West Texas	5/1/04	87,500	8.77%	10.50%

See footnotes on the following page.

Division	Jurisdiction	Effective Date of Last Rate Action	Authorized Debt/ Equity Ratio	Bad Debt Rider ⁽⁵⁾	WNA	Performance- Based Rate Program ⁽³⁾
Atmos Pipeline — Texas	Texas	5/24/04	50/50	No	N/A	N/A
Colorado-Kansas	Colorado	7/1/05	52/48	No	No	No
	Kansas	3/1/04	(2)	Yes	Yes	No
Kentucky	Kentucky	12/21/99	(2)	No	Yes	Yes
Louisiana	Trans LA	10/1/04	50/50	No	(4)	No
	LGS	10/1/04	53/47	No	(4)	No
Mid-States	Georgia	12/20/05	55/45	No	Yes	Yes
	Illinois	11/1/00	67/33	No	No	No
	Iowa	3/1/01	57/43	No	No	No
	Missouri	10/14/95	(2)	No	No	No
	Tennessee	11/15/95	56/44	No	Yes	Yes
	Virginia	8/1/04	52/48	Yes	Yes	No
Mid-Tex	Texas	5/24/04	50/50	No	(4)	No
Mississippi	Mississippi	1/1/05	47/53	No	Yes	No
West Texas	Amarillo	9/1/03	50/50	Yes	Yes	No
	Lubbock	3/1/04	50/50	No	Yes	No
	West Texas	5/1/04	50/50	No	Yes	No

⁽¹⁾ The rate base and authorized rate of return presented in this table are the rate base and rate of return from the last base rate case for each jurisdiction. These rate bases and rates of return are not necessarily indicative of current or future rate bases or rates of return.

Recent Ratemaking Activity

Our current rate strategy focuses on seeking rate designs that reduce or eliminate regulatory lag and separate the recovery of our approved margins from customer usage patterns due to weather-related variability, declining use per customer and energy conservation, also known as decoupling. Additionally, we are seeking to stratify rates for low income households and to recover the gas cost portion of our bad debt expense.

Improving rate design is a long-term process. In the interim, we are addressing regulatory lag issues by directing discretionary capital spending to jurisdictions that permit us to recover our investment in a timely manner and filing rate cases on a more frequent basis to minimize the regulatory lag to keep our actual returns more closely aligned with our allowed returns.

⁽²⁾ A rate base, rate of return, return on equity or debt/equity ratio was not included in the respective state commission's final decision.

⁽³⁾ The performance-based rate program provides incentives to natural gas utilities to minimize purchased gas costs by allowing the utility and its customers to share the purchased gas cost savings.

⁽⁴⁾ During 2006, our Louisiana and Mid-Tex Divisions received authorization to implement WNA beginning in the 2006-2007 winter heating season.

⁽⁵⁾ The bad debt rider allows us to recover from ratepayers the gas cost portion of uncollectible accounts.

Approximately 97 percent of our utility revenues in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were derived from sales at rates set by or subject to approval by local or state authorities. Net annual revenue increases resulting from ratemaking activity totaling \$39.0 million, \$6.3 million and \$16.2 million became effective in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 as summarized below:

	Most Recent Effective	Most Recent			(Decrease) to ar Ended Sep	
Division	Date	Rate Action	Jurisdiction	2006	2005	2004
				(In thousands	5)
Atmos Pipeline — Texas	8/1/06	GRIP (1)	Texas	\$ 5,205	\$1,802	\$
Colorado-Kansas	4/1/04	Show Cause	Colorado		-	(1,900)
	1/1/06	Ad Valorem Tax	Kansas	1,565		***************************************
	3/1/04	Rate Case	Kansas			2,500
Louisiana	2/1/06	Stable Rate Filing (2)	LGS	3,326	-	
	10/1/04	Stable Rate Filing (2)	LGS		225	
Mid-States	8/1/04	Rate Case	Virginia		***************************************	372
	12/20/05	Rate Case	Georgia	409		-
Mid-Tex	2/1/06	GRIP (1)	Texas	25,313		4.444
Mississippi	(3)	Stable Rate Filing (2)	Mississippi		4,300	10,545
**	11/1/05	Rate Restructuring	Mississippi	(600)	***************************************	
West Texas	12/1/05	GRIP (1)	Lubbock	1,263		***************************************
	3/1/04	Rate Case	Lubbock			1,525
	3/1/06	GRIP (1)	West Texas	2,539		
	5/1/04	Rate Case	West Texas			3,200
				\$39,020	<u>\$6,327</u>	<u>\$16,242</u>

⁽¹⁾ In 2003, the Texas Legislature approved the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) which allows natural gas utilities the opportunity to include in their rate base annually approved capital costs incurred in the prior calendar year. Natural gas utilities that enter the program will be required to file a complete rate case at least once every five years.

Additionally, the following ratemaking efforts were initiated during fiscal 2006 but had not been completed as of September 30, 2006:

Division	Rate Action	Jurisdiction	Revenue Requested (In thousands)	
Louisiana Mid-States Mid-Tex	Stable Rate Filing ⁽¹⁾ Rate Case Rate Proceeding ⁽²⁾ System-wide Case	LGS Missouri Tennessee Texas	\$	10,753 3,396 3,400 60,844
Wild Tox	•		\$	78,393

⁽¹⁾ The Louisiana Division has included the Rate Stabilization Clause increase in rates. The increase is subject to refund, pending final resolution of the Stable Rate Filing.

⁽²⁾ A stable rate filing is a regulatory mechanism designed to allow us to refresh our rates on a periodic basis without filing a formal rate case.

⁽³⁾ The MPSC had formerly required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Through May 2005, rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effective in June and December. See further discussion under the recent ratemaking activity for our Atmos Energy Mississippi Division below.

⁽²⁾ The Tennessee rate proceeding was settled in October 2006. See below for information regarding the settlement.

Our recent ratemaking activity is discussed in greater detail below.

Atmos Pipeline-Texas. In April 2006, Atmos Pipeline — Texas made a filing under Texas' Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include in rate base approximately \$21.6 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.3 million. The RRC approved this filing in July 2006 and these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in August 2006.

In September 2005, Atmos Pipeline — Texas made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$10.6 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which resulted in approximately \$1.9 million in additional annual revenue. In December 2004, Atmos Pipeline — Texas made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$12.0 million of pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which resulted in additional annual revenues of approximately \$1.8 million.

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division. In December 2005, the Colorado-Kansas Division filed its second annual ad valorem tax surcharge for \$1.6 million. The surcharge is designed to collect Kansas property taxes in excess of the amount in the Colorado-Kansas Division's most recent general rate case. We began to bill this surcharge in January 2006.

In July 2004, the Colorado Public Utility Commission ordered us to issue a one-time credit to our Colorado customers of \$1.9 million. The agreement was a result of an inquiry by the Colorado Office of Consumer Counsel related to our earnings in Colorado. The staff of the Colorado Public Utility Commission was also a party to the agreement.

In May 2003, the Colorado-Kansas Division filed a rate case with the Kansas Corporation Commission for approximately \$7.4 million in additional annual revenues. In January 2004, the Kansas Corporation Commission approved an agreement that allowed a \$2.5 million increase in our rates effective March 2004. Additionally, the agreement allowed us to increase our monthly customer charges from \$5 to \$8, provided that we would not file another full rate application prior to September 2005. WNA became effective in Kansas in October 2003 in accordance with the Kansas Corporation Commission's ruling in May 2003.

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. In February 2006, the KPSC approved the Company's request to continue its Performance Based Ratemaking (PBR) mechanism for an additional five year period. The PBR establishes predetermined gas cost benchmarks and provides incentives to the Company for purchasing gas supply below those benchmark costs.

In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint with the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our rates were producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. In February 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss but stated that the Attorney General had not met his burden of proof concerning his complaint. In March 2006, the KPSC set a procedural schedule for the case. The Attorney General is currently conducting discovery. A hearing should be scheduled for early 2007. We believe that the Attorney General will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. In September 2005, the Louisiana Public Service Commission (LPSC) consolidated several then-existing dockets. These dockets included a separate proceeding for the renewal of the Rate Stabilization Clause (RSC) for each of the LGS and TransLa Gas service areas; resolution of the outstanding 2003 RSC filing for the LGS service area; and our request for approval of a decoupling mechanism to stabilize margins in both the LGS and TransLa service areas.

On May 25, 2006, the LPSC voted to approve a settlement which included a modified WNA providing for partial decoupling, renewal of the RSC for both the LGS and TransLa service areas with provisions that will reduce regulatory lag and a refund to customers of approximately \$0.4 million for the LGS service areas that previously had been deferred. The first RSC filing was in August 2006 for approximately \$10.8 million, based on a test year ended December 31, 2005, for the LGS service area. The increase is subject to refund, pending final approval by the LPSC. The first filing for the TransLa service area will be made by

December 31, 2006, for the test period ending September 30, 2006, with an effective rate adjustment of April 1, 2007. WNA for both service areas will be in effect for an initial three-year period beginning with the winter of 2006-2007. In the third quarter of fiscal 2006, \$6.2 million in deferred revenue associated with the 2003 RSC rate adjustment was recognized.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage to our eastern Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service territory were in Jefferson, St. Tammany, St. Bernard and Plaquemines parishes. Although service has been restored for many of our customers, a significant number of customers will not require gas service for some time, if ever, because of sustained damages. We began implementing new rates, subject to refund, in September 2006 that reflected the reduction of approximately 26,500 customers and included a request to recover costs attributable to Hurricane Katrina. We cannot accurately determine what regulatory actions, if any, may be taken by the regulators with respect to this filing or our ability to fully recover all costs incurred as a result of the storm.

During the second quarter of 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase of \$3.3 million in its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our RSC filing in 2004 and was subject to refund, pending the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase was subject to refund, we did not recognize the effects of this increase in our results of operations during fiscal 2005 or the first three quarters of fiscal 2006.

During fiscal 2004, the Louisiana Public Service Commission approved tariff revisions for our LGS service area totaling \$0.2 million that became effective in October 2004.

In October 2002, Atmos received written notification from the Executive Secretary of the LPSC asserting that a monthly facilities fee of approximately \$0.6 million charged since July 2001 to Atmos by Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Atmos, pursuant to a contract between the parties, was excessive. The Executive Secretary asserted that all monthly facilities fees in excess of approximately \$0.1 million from July 2001 should be refunded to ratepayers with interest. In October 2003, the LPSC unanimously voted to approve an agreement to allow us to charge a facilities fee of approximately \$0.5 million per month (subject to future escalation) beginning November 2003 for a period of 14 years. No retroactive adjustments were required under this agreement.

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. In April 2006, Atmos filed a rate case in its Missouri service area seeking a rate increase of \$3.4 million. The Company is proposing to consolidate the rates for its Missouri properties into three sets of regional rates and consolidate the current purchased gas adjustment (PGA) into one statewide PGA. The Company is also proposing a WNA mechanism. An evidentiary hearing is scheduled to begin on November 27, 2006, with an order expected to be issued in February 2007.

In March 2006, we received notification from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) that it disagreed with the way we calculated amounts under its performance-based rate mechanism, which resulted in a one-time \$3.3 million income reduction during the second quarter of fiscal 2006. We believe the original calculations were correct and have appealed the TRA's decision.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Atmos filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4.0 million. In December 2005, the Georgia Public Service Commission (GPSC) approved a \$0.4 million increase. In January 2006, we filed an appeal of the GPSC's decision in the Superior Court of Fulton County. Oral arguments were held on September 7, 2006 before the Fulton County Superior Court. The court affirmed the commission's order. We are considering further appeal.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the TRA that it was opening an investigation into allegations by the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division of the Tennessee Attorney General's Office that we were overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10 million per year. We responded to numerous data requests from the TRA Staff. In April 2006, the TRA Staff filed a Report and Recommendation in which it recommended that the TRA convene a contested case procedure for the purpose of establishing a fair and reasonable return. The TRA convened to consider the Staff's recommendation on May 15, 2006 and set a procedural schedule. A hearing was held from August 29, 2006 through August 31, 2006. Of the \$10 million rate reduction requested by the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division, the TRA approved on October 27, 2006 a \$6.1 million reduction to future rates.

In February 2004, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case with the Virginia Corporation Commission (VCC) to request a \$1.0 million increase in our base rates, WNA and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt expense. The VCC granted a rate increase in November 2004 of \$0.4 million that was retroactively effective to July 27, 2004. Additionally, the VCC authorized WNA beginning in July 2005 and the ability to recover the gas cost component of bad debt expense.

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. The following is a discussion of our recent ratemaking activity for our Mid-Tex Division.

Rate Case

During fiscal 2006, we received "show cause" resolutions from approximately 80 cities served by our Mid-Tex Division, including the City of Dallas, which require us to demonstrate that existing distribution rates in the Mid-Tex Division are just and reasonable. In May 2006, in response to these resolutions, we filed a Statement of Intent to increase rates on a division-wide basis. By agreement with the cities, the "show cause" resolutions were consolidated and became part of the Mid-Tex Division's first rate case before the RRC since we acquired the TXU Gas operations in October 2004. In this rate proceeding, we are seeking incremental annual revenues in the Mid-Tex Division of approximately \$60 million and several rate design changes, including WNA, revenue stabilization and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt expense.

In exchange for an agreement to provide the intervening parties in the proceeding additional time to prepare for the hearing, we obtained agreement from the intervenors to implement WNA in the rates for the Mid-Tex Division for the 2006-2007 winter season, which has been approved by the RRC, and to implement WNA in the final rates in this proceeding. The hearing in this proceeding was concluded on November 17, 2006, and a decision is due from the RRC no later than April 2007. During the hearing, the principal issues raised by the cities included the Mid-Tex Division's rate of return, the reduction of rate base for the accumulated deferred federal income taxes and investment tax credits associated with the TXU Gas operations prior to our acquisition, the methodology used by us to allocate certain shared services expenses to the division, and the inclusion of certain items in operation and maintenance expenses.

In addition, under applicable statutes, the RRC is reviewing the interim rate adjustments that were previously granted in response to the Mid-Tex Division's prior GRIP filings and our acquisition of the TXU Gas operations for consistency with the public interest. Any increase that the RRC may grant in this case would be effective prospectively from the date of the final order. However, any decrease that may be ordered by the RRC would be effective from May 31, 2006 pursuant to the agreement with the intervenors for consolidation of the show cause resolutions and the Statement of Intent filing. Any disallowance related to the previously granted GRIP interim rate adjustments would be refunded to customers with interest beginning some time after the issuance of a final order in this proceeding.

While the decision of the RRC in this case cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that we have adequately demonstrated to the RRC that the Mid-Tex Division is entitled to receive an increase in annual revenues and that the remaining rate design changes should be implemented.

GRIP Filings

In March 2006, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$62.2 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which we estimate would result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$11.9 million. The RRC approved this filing in August 2006, and the new customer charges were implemented in September 2006 billings to customers.

In September 2005, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$29.4 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which currently provides additional annual revenues of approximately \$6.7 million. The RRC approved this filing in January 2006, and these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in February 2006.

In December 2004, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$32.0 million of distribution capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which

currently provides additional annual revenues of approximately \$6.7 million. New monthly customer charges were implemented in October 2005.

Other Regulatory Matters

In September 2006, the Mid-Tex Division filed its annual gas cost reconciliation with the RRC. The filing reflects approximately \$24 million in refunds of amounts that were overcollected from customers between July 2005 and June 2006. The Mid-Tex Division has requested and received approval to refund these amounts over a six-month period beginning in November 2006.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the RRC. This proceeding involves a review for reasonableness of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 2000 through October 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the RRC in June 2005. The parties negotiated a unanimous settlement agreement providing for a refund of \$8 million to customers over a three-year period and for reimbursement of parties' expenses without recovery from customers. The RRC approved the settlement on September 12, 2006. Refunds to customers began in the first quarter of fiscal year 2007.

The Mid-Tex Division is also pursuing an appeal to the Travis County District Court of the Final Order in its last system-wide rate case completed in May 2004 to obtain a return of and on its investment associated with the Poly I replacement pipe that was originally disallowed in its rate case completed in May 2004. The case was argued before the Travis County District Court in July 2006. The Court ruled to uphold the Commission's final order. Steps are being taken to perfect an appeal to the Court of Appeals in Travis County.

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Through the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the MPSC required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effective in the following July and January.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we agreed with the MPSC to suspend our May 2005 semi-annual filing to allow sufficient time for us and the MPSC to undertake a comprehensive review in an effort to improve our rate design and the ratemaking process. Effective October 2005, our rate design was modified to substitute the original agreed-upon benchmark with a sharing mechanism to allow the sharing of cost savings above an allowed return on equity level. Further, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual filing process. Additionally, our WNA period begins on November 1 instead of November 15, and ends on April 30 instead of May 15. Also, we now have a fixed monthly customer base charge which makes a portion of our earnings less susceptible to usage. As part of the rate design restructuring, we agreed to reduce our rates by approximately \$0.6 million. We made our first annual filing under this new structure in September 2006 requesting no change in rates.

In September 2004, the MPSC originally disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. In connection with the modification of our rate design described above, the MPSC decided to allow these costs, and we included these costs in our rates in October 2005.

In June 2006, the MPSC approved a pilot program whereby Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline (TLGP) will provide asset management services to the Mississippi Division. The asset management program allows TLGP to market certain off-peak gas supply assets, such as company-owned or leased storage and pipeline capacity, on a recallable basis. In return, TLGP will share net positive benefits of the asset management program with Mississippi ratepayers. The pilot program runs from June 1, 2006 to April 30, 2007 and may be extended by the MPSC upon application by Atmos.

In October 2003, the MPSC issued a final order that denied our May 2003 request for a rate increase of \$5.8 million. In January 2004, the MPSC authorized additional annual revenue of \$5.9 million on our November 2003 filing, which became effective in December 2003. In September 2004, the MPSC authorized additional annualized revenue of \$4.7 million on our May 2004 filing, which became effective in June 2004.

We filed our second semiannual filing for 2004 in November 2004, requesting rate adjustments of \$6.0 million in annualized revenue. The MPSC allowed us to include \$3.0 million in annualized revenue in

our rates effective January 2005. In February 2005, we entered into an agreement with the Mississippi Public Utilities Staff that provides for an additional \$1.3 million in annualized revenue that was retroactive to January 2005, which was approved by the MPSC during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. In September 2005, the West Texas Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$22.6 million of distribution capital costs incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.8 million. Of this amount, approximately \$1.3 million related to our Lubbock jurisdiction and the remaining \$2.5 million related to our West Texas jurisdiction. New charges for the filings were included in the monthly customer charge beginning May 2006. Atmos made its 2005 GRIP filings for the West Texas Division and the Lubbock Division in September 2006 requesting no change in rates.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. The requested information was provided to the city on February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

In May 2006, Atmos began receiving "show cause" ordinances from several of the cities in the West Texas Division. We made a filing in response to the ordinances on October 2, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the West Texas cities that our rates are just and reasonable.

In October 2003, our West Texas Division filed a rate case in Lubbock requesting a \$3.0 million increase in annual revenues and WNA for our residential, commercial and public-authority customers. The City of Lubbock approved a \$1.5 million increase effective March 2004, as well as the proposed WNA.

In September 2003, our West Texas Division filed a rate case in its West Texas System to request a \$7.7 million increase in annual revenues and WNA for its residential, commercial and public-authority customers. In May 2004, the 66 cities in its West Texas System approved an increase of \$3.2 million in our annual utility revenues. The cities also approved a WNA rider for residential, commercial, public-authority and state-institution customers. This rider became effective in October 2004.

Other Regulation

Each of our utility divisions is regulated by various state or local public utility authorities. We are also subject to regulation by the United States Department of Transportation with respect to safety requirements in the operation and maintenance of our gas distribution facilities. Our distribution operations are also subject to various state and federal laws regulating environmental matters. From time to time we receive inquiries regarding various environmental matters. We believe that our properties and operations substantially comply with and are operated in substantial conformity with applicable safety and environmental statutes and regulations. There are no administrative or judicial proceedings arising under environmental quality statutes pending or known to be contemplated by governmental agencies which would have a material adverse effect on us or our operations. Our environmental claims have arisen primarily from former manufactured gas plant sites in Tennessee, Iowa and Missouri. These claims are fully described in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

FERC allows, pursuant to Section 311 of the Natural Gas Policy Act, gas transportation services through our Atmos Pipeline — Texas assets "on behalf of" interstate pipelines or local distribution companies served by interstate pipelines, without subjecting these assets to the jurisdiction of the FERC.

Competition

Although our utility operations are not currently in significant direct competition with any other distributors of natural gas to residential and commercial customers within our service areas, we do compete with other natural gas suppliers and suppliers of alternative fuels for sales to industrial and agricultural customers. We compete in all aspects of our business with alternative energy sources, including, in particular, electricity. Electric utilities offer electricity as a rival energy source and compete for the space heating, water heating and cooking markets. Promotional incentives, improved equipment efficiencies and promotional rates all contribute to the acceptability of electrical equipment. The principal means to compete against alternative fuels is lower prices,

and natural gas historically has maintained its price advantage in the residential, commercial and industrial markets. However, higher gas prices, coupled with the electric utilities' marketing efforts, have increased competition for residential and commercial customers. In addition, our Natural Gas Marketing segment competes with other natural gas brokers in obtaining natural gas supplies for our customers.

Employees

At September 30, 2006, we had 4,632 employees, consisting of 4,402 employees in our utility segment and 230 employees in our other segments. See "Operating Statistics — Utility Sales and Statistical Data by Division" for the number of employees by division.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and other reports, and amendments to those reports, that we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) are available free of charge at our website, www.atmosenergy.com, as soon as reasonably practicable, after we electronically file these reports with, or furnish these reports to, the SEC. We will also provide copies of these reports free of charge upon request to Shareholder Relations at the address appearing below:

Shareholder Relations Atmos Energy Corporation P.O. Box 650205 Dallas, Texas 75265-0205 972-855-3729

Corporate Governance

In accordance with and pursuant to relevant provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, related rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission as well as corporate governance-related listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange, the Board of Directors of the Company has adopted the Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines and revised the Company's Code of Conduct, which is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of the Company. In addition, the Board of Directors has updated the charters for each of its Audit, Human Resources and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees. All of the foregoing documents are posted on the Corporate Governance page of the Company's website. We will also provide copies of such information free of charge upon request to Shareholder Relations at the address listed above.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

Our financial and operating results are subject to a number of factors, many of which are not within our control. Although we have tried to discuss key risk factors below, please be aware that other risks may prove to be important in the future. These factors include the following:

We are subject to regulation by each state in which we operate that affect our operations and financial results.

Our natural gas utility business is subject to various regulated returns on its rate base in each of the 12 states in which we operate. We monitor the allowed rates of return and our effectiveness in earning such rates and initiate rate proceedings or operating changes as we believe are needed. In addition, in the normal course of the regulatory environment, assets may be placed in service and historical test periods established before rate cases that could adjust our returns can be filed. Once rate cases are filed, regulatory bodies have the authority to suspend implementation of the new rates while studying the cases. Because of this process, we must suffer the negative financial effects of having placed assets in service without the benefit of rate relief, which is commonly referred to as "regulatory lag". In addition, rate cases involve a risk of rate reduction, and once rates have been approved, they are still subject to challenge for their reasonableness by appropriate

regulatory authorities. Our debt and equity financings are also subject to approval by regulatory bodies in several states which could limit our ability to take advantage of favorable market conditions.

Our business could also be affected by deregulation initiatives, including the development of unbundling initiatives in the natural gas industry. Unbundling is the separation of the provision and pricing of local distribution gas services into discrete components. It typically focuses on the separation of the distribution and gas supply components and the resulting opening of the regulated components of sales services to alternative unregulated suppliers of those services. Although we believe that our enhanced technology and distribution system infrastructures have positively positioned us, we cannot provide assurance that there would be no significant adverse effect on our business should unbundling or further deregulation of the natural gas distribution service business occur.

Our operations are weather sensitive.

Our natural gas utility sales volumes and related revenues are correlated with heating requirements that result from cold winter weather. Although beginning in the 2006-2007 winter heating season, we will have weather-normalized rates for over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters that should substantially eliminate the adverse effects of warmer-than-normal weather for meters in those service areas, our utility operating results will continue to vary with the temperatures during the winter heating season. In addition, sustained cold weather could adversely affect our natural gas marketing operations as we may be required to purchase gas at spot rates in a rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill some customer contracts.

The concentration of our distribution, pipeline and storage operations in the State of Texas have increased the exposure of our operations and financial results to adverse weather, economic conditions or regulatory decisions in Texas.

As a result of our acquisition of the distribution, pipeline and storage operations of TXU Gas in October 2004, over 50 percent of our natural gas distribution customers and most of our pipeline and storage assets and operations are now located in the State of Texas. This concentration of our business in Texas means that our operations and financial results are subject to greater impact than before from changes in the Texas economy in general as well as the weather in our service areas of the state during the winter heating season. Our financial results in fiscal 2006 were adversely affected by warm weather in Texas. In addition, the impact of any adverse rate or other regulatory decisions by state or local regulatory authorities in Texas will also be greater. The hearing in the Mid-Tex Division's first rate case since the TXU Gas acquisition has just concluded. In the proceeding, we are seeking additional revenue and several rate design changes. A rate reduction or other significant, adverse decision by the Texas Railroad Commission in the proceeding could materially affect our financial results.

We are subject to environmental regulation which could adversely affect our operations or financial results.

We are subject to laws, regulations and other legal requirements enacted or adopted by federal, state and local governmental authorities relating to protection of the environment and health and safety matters, including those legal requirements that govern discharges of substances into the air and water, the management and disposal of hazardous substances and waste, the clean-up of contaminated sites, groundwater quality and availability, plant and wildlife protection, as well as work practices related to employee health and safety. Environmental legislation also requires that our facilities, sites and other properties associated with our operations be operated, maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with these laws, regulations, permits and licenses may expose us to fines, penalties or interruptions in our operations that could be significant to our financial results. In addition, existing environmental regulations may be revised or our operations may become subject to new regulations. Such revised or new regulations could result in increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operations are exposed to market risks that are beyond our control which could adversely affect our financial results.

Our risk management operations are subject to market risks beyond our control including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness.

Although we maintain a risk management policy, we may not be able to completely offset the price risk associated with volatile gas prices or the risk in our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments which could lead to volatility in our earnings. Physical trading also introduces price risk on any net open positions at the end of each trading day, as well as volatility resulting from intra-day fluctuations of gas prices and the potential for daily price movements between the time natural gas is purchased or sold for future delivery and the time the related purchase or sale is hedged. Although we manage our business to maintain no open positions, there are times when limited net open positions related to our physical storage may occur on a short-term basis. The determination of our net open position as of any day requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. Net open positions may increase volatility in our financial condition or results of operations if market prices move in a significantly favorable or unfavorable manner because the timing of the recognition of profits or losses on the hedges for financial accounting purposes does not always match up with the timing of the economic profits or losses on the item being hedged. This volatility may occur with a resulting increase or decrease in earnings or losses, even though the expected profit margin is essentially unchanged from the date the transactions were consummated. Further, if the local physical markets in which we trade do not move consistently with the NYMEX futures market, we could experience increased volatility in the financial results of our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments.

Our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments manage margins and limit risk exposure on the sale of natural gas inventory or the offsetting fixed-price purchase or sale commitments for physical quantities of natural gas through the use of a variety of financial derivatives. However, contractual limitations could adversely affect our ability to withdraw gas from storage which could cause us to purchase gas at spot prices in a rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill customer contracts. We could also realize financial losses on our efforts to limit risk as a result of volatility in the market prices of the underlying commodities or if a counterparty fails to perform under a contract. In addition, adverse changes in the creditworthiness of our counterparties could limit the level of trading activities with these parties and increase the risk that these parties may not perform under a contract.

We are also subject to interest rate risk on our commercial paper borrowings and floating rate debt. In the past few years, we have been operating in a relatively low interest-rate environment with both short and long-term interest rates being relatively low compared to past interest rates. However, in the past two years, the Federal Reserve has taken actions that have resulted in increases in short-term interest rates. Future increases in interest rates could adversely affect our future financial results.

The execution of our business plan could be affected by an inability to access financial markets.

We rely upon access to both short-term and long-term capital markets to satisfy our liquidity requirements. Adverse changes in the economy or these markets, the overall health of the industries in which we operate and changes to our credit ratings could limit access to these markets, increase our cost of capital or restrict the execution of our business plan.

Our long-term debt is currently rated as "investment grade" by Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Services, Inc. (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (Fitch), the three credit rating agencies that rate our long-term debt securities. There can be no assurance that these rating agencies will maintain investment grade ratings for our long-term debt. If we were to lose our investment-grade rating, the commercial paper markets and the commodity derivatives markets could become unavailable to us. This would increase our borrowing costs for working capital and reduce the borrowing capacity of our gas marketing affiliate. In addition, if our commercial paper ratings were lowered, it would increase the cost of commercial

paper financing and could reduce or eliminate our ability to access the commercial paper markets. If we are unable to issue commercial paper, we intend to borrow under our bank credit facilities to meet our working capital needs. This would increase the cost of our working capital financing.

Inflation and increased gas costs could adversely impact our customer base and customer collections and increase our level of indebtedness.

Inflation has caused increases in some of our operating expenses and has required assets to be replaced at higher costs. We have a process in place to continually review the adequacy of our utility gas rates in relation to the increasing cost of providing service and the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. Historically, we have been able to budget and control operating expenses and investments within the amounts authorized to be collected in rates and intend to continue to do so. However, the ability to control expenses is an important factor that could influence future results.

Rapid increases in the price of purchased gas, which occurred recently and in some prior years, cause us to experience a significant increase in short-term debt because we must pay suppliers for gas when it is purchased, which can be significantly in advance of when these costs may be recovered through the collection of monthly customer bills for gas delivered. Increases in purchased gas costs also slow our utility collection efforts as customers are more likely to delay the payment of their gas bills, leading to higher than normal accounts receivable. This could result in higher short-term debt levels, greater collection efforts and increased bad debt expense.

Our operations are subject to increased competition.

In the residential and commercial customer markets, our regulated utility operations compete with other energy products, such as electricity and propane. Our primary product competition is with electricity for heating, water heating and cooking. Increases in the price of natural gas could negatively impact our competitive position by decreasing the price benefits of natural gas to the consumer. This could adversely impact our business if as a result, our customer growth slows, resulting in reduced ability to make capital expenditures, or if our customers further conserve their use of gas, resulting in reduced gas purchases and customer billings.

In the case of industrial customers, such as manufacturing plants, and agricultural customers, adverse economic conditions, including higher gas costs, could cause these customers to use alternative sources of energy, such as electricity, or bypass our systems in favor of special competitive contracts with lower per-unit costs. Our pipeline and storage operations currently face limited competition from other existing intrastate pipelines and gas marketers seeking to provide or arrange transportation, storage and other services for customers. However, competition may increase if new intrastate pipelines are constructed near our existing facilities.

The cost of providing pension and postretirement health care benefits is subject to changes in pension fund values and changing demographics and may have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

We provide a cash-balance pension plan for the benefit of eligible full-time employees as well as postretirement health care benefits to eligible full-time employees. Our costs of providing such benefits is subject to changes in the market value of our pension fund assets, changing demographics, including longer life expectancy of beneficiaries and an expected increase in the number of eligible former employees over the next five to ten years, and various actuarial calculations and assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates and other factors. These differences may result in a significant impact on the amount of pension expense or other postretirement benefit costs recorded in future periods.

Our growth in the future may be limited by the nature of our business, which requires extensive capital spending.

We must continually build additional capacity in our natural gas distribution system to maintain the growth in the number of our customers. The cost of adding this capacity may be affected by a number of factors, including the general state of the economy and weather. Our cash flows from operations are generally not sufficient to supply funding for all our capital expenditures including the financing of the costs of this new construction along with capital expenditures necessary to maintain our existing natural gas system. As a result, we must fund at least a portion of these costs through borrowing funds from third party lenders, the cost of which is dependent on the interest rates at the time. This in turn may limit our ability to connect new customers to our system due to constraints on the amount of funds we can invest in our infrastructure.

Distributing and storing natural gas involve risks that may result in accidents and additional operating costs.

Our natural gas distribution business involves a number of hazards and operating risks that cannot be completely avoided, such as leaks, accidents and operational problems, which could cause loss of human life, as well as substantial financial losses resulting from property damage, damage to the environment and to our operations. We do have liability and property insurance coverage in place for many of these hazards and risks. However, because our pipeline, storage and distribution facilities are near or are in populated areas, any loss of human life or adverse financial results resulting from such events could be large. If these events were not fully covered by insurance, our financial position and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Natural disasters and terrorist activities and other actions could adversely affect our operations or financial results.

Natural disasters are always a threat to our assets and operations. In addition, the threat of terrorist activities could lead to increased economic instability and volatility in the price of natural gas that could affect our operations. Also, companies in our industry may face a heightened risk of exposure to actual acts of terrorism, which could subject our operations to increased risks. As a result, the availability of insurance covering such risks may be more limited, which could increase the risk that an event could adversely affect future financial results.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. Properties

Distribution, transmission and related assets

At September 30, 2006, our utility segment owned an aggregate of 75,869 miles of underground distribution and transmission mains throughout our gas distribution systems. These mains are located on easements or rights-of-way which generally provide for perpetual use. We maintain our mains through a program of continuous inspection and repair and believe that our system of mains is in good condition. At September 30, 2006, our pipeline and storage segment owned 6,127 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines.

Our utility segment also holds franchises granted by the incorporated cities and towns that we serve. At September 30, 2006, we held 1,103 franchises having terms generally ranging from five to 35 years. A significant number of our franchises expire each year, which require renewal prior to the end of their terms. We believe that we will be able to renew our franchises as they expire.

Storage Assets

Our utility and pipeline and storage segments own underground gas storage facilities in several states to supplement the supply of natural gas in periods of peak demand. The following table summarizes certain information regarding our underground gas storage facilities:

State	Usable Capacity (Mcf)	Cushion Gas (Mcf) ⁽¹⁾	Total Capacity (Mcf)	Maximum Daily Delivery Capability (Mcf)
Utility Segment				
Kentucky	4,442,696	6,322,283	10,764,979	109,100
Kansas	3,639,000	2,640,000	6,279,000	55,000
Mississippi	1,544,633	2,181,737	3,726,370	48,000
Georgia	450,000	50,000	500,000	30,000
Total Utility Segment	10,076,329	11,194,020	21,270,349	242,100
Pipeline and Storage Segment				
Texas	39,128,475	13,128,025	52,256,500	1,235,000
Kentucky	3,492,900	3,295,000	6,787,900	71,000
Louisiana	438,583	300,973	739,556	56,000
Total Pipeline and Storage Segment	43,059,958	16,723,998	59,783,956	1,362,000
Total	53,136,287	27,918,018	81,054,305	1,604,100

⁽¹⁾ Cushion gas represents the volume of gas that must be retained in a facility to maintain reservoir pressure.

Additionally, we contract for storage service in underground storage facilities on many of the interstate pipelines serving us to supplement our proprietary storage capacity. The following table summarizes our contracted storage capacity:

Division/Company	Contractor	Maximum Storage Quantity (MMBtu)	Maximum Daily Withdrawal Quantity (MMBtu) ⁽¹⁾
Utility Segment			
Colorado-Kansas Division	Southern Star Central Pipeline	2,719,101	82,397
	Tenaska Marketing Ventures	1,000,000	10,400
	Colorado Interstate Gas Company	422,142	12,985
	Kinder Morgan, Inc.	67,500	1,500
	Centerpoint Energy Gas Transmission	28,500	950
Kentucky Division	Texas Gas Transmission	3,841,150	41,060
	Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company	1,313,538	22,698
Louisiana Division	Gulf South	1,978,020	98,901
	Jefferson Island Storage & Hub	600,000	60,000
	Acadian Natural Gas Company	33,276	2,234
	Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company	18,776	329
	Southern Natural Gas Company	12,945	261
	Trunkline Gas Company	3,105	41
Mid-States Division	Atmos Energy Marketing	1,993,543	16,634
	Southern Natural Gas Company	1,453,265	29,345
	Panhandle Eastern Pipeline	1,035,462	15,721
	Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company	835,674	20,000
	Texas Eastern Transmission Company	753,969	11,303
	Gallagher Drilling Company (2)	640,000	5,000
	ANR Pipeline Company	629,480	11,200
	Dominion	609,008	8,136
	Transco	568,674	12,710
	Virginia Gas Pipeline Company	380,000	23,000
	East Tennessee	339,900	52,633
	Natural Gas Pipeline Company	312,750	5,580
	Texas Gas Transmission	239,576	7,495
	CMS Trunkline Gas Company	220,455	2,940
	MRT Energy Marketing	137,493	2,395
Mississippi Division	Gulf South	1,237,500	61,875
	Southern Natural Gas Company	1,049,436	21,191
	Texas Gas Transmission	826,390	36,420
	Texas Eastern	518,220	8,637
	Atmos Energy Marketing	400,000	40,000
	Trunkline Gas Company	24,840	331
	Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company	3,394	113
West Texas Division	ONEOK Texas Gas Storage LLP	1,125,000	50,000
Total Utility Segment		27,372,082	776,415

See footnotes on the following page.

Division/Company	Contractor	Maximum Storage Quantity (MMBtu)	Maximum Daily Withdrawal Quantity (MMBtu) ⁽¹⁾
Natural Gas Marketing Segment			
Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC	Gulf South Egan	5,992,015 1,500,000	85,686 90,000
	Atmos Pipeline — Texas	1,000,000	24,000
	Texas Eastern Transmission Company	544,841	5,532
	East Tennessee	250,000	12,500
	National Fuel Virginia Gas Pipeline Company Dominion	223,080 170,000 56,910	2,028 17,000 929
Total Natural Gas Marketing Segment	Dominon	9,736,846	237,675
Pipeline and Storage Segment			
Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline, Inc.	Gulf South Pipeline Company	750,000	30,000
	Bridgeline Gas Distribution LLC	300,000	30,000
Total Pipeline and Storage Segment		1,050,000	60,000
Total Contracted Storage Capacity		38,158,928	1,074,090

⁽¹⁾ Maximum daily withdrawal quantity (MDWQ) amounts will fluctuate depending upon the season and the month. Unless otherwise noted, MDWQ amounts represent the MDWQ amounts as of November 1, which is the beginning of the winter heating season.

Other facilities

Our utility segment owns and operates one propane peak shaving plant with a total capacity of approximately 180,000 gallons that can produce an equivalent of approximately 3,300 Mcf daily.

Offices

Our administrative offices are consolidated in a leased facility in Dallas, Texas. We also maintain field offices throughout our distribution system, the majority of which are located in leased facilities. Our nonutility operations are headquartered in Houston, Texas, with offices in Houston and other locations, primarily in leased facilities.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

⁽²⁾ We contract for storage service in two underground storage facilities, Wiseman and Ellis, from this company.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth certain information as of September 30, 2006, regarding the executive officers of the Company. It is followed by a brief description of the business experience of each executive officer.

	Years of	
Name Ag	<u>Service</u>	Office Currently Held
Robert W. Best 5	9 9	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Kim R. Cocklin 5	5 —	Senior Vice President, Utility Operations
R. Earl Fischer 6	7 44	Senior Vice President, Utility Operations
Louis P. Gregory 5	1 6	Senior Vice President and General Counsel
		Senior Vice President, Nonutility Operations and President,
Mark H. Johnson 4	7 5	Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC
Wynn D. McGregor 5	3 18	Senior Vice President, Human Resources
John P. Reddy 5	3 8	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Robert W. Best was named Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer in March 1997.

Kim R. Cocklin joined the Company in June 2006 as Senior Vice President, Utility Operations to succeed R. Earl Fischer, who retired from the Company on September 30, 2006. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Cocklin served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer of Piedmont Natural Gas Company from February 2003 to May 2006. Prior to joining Piedmont, Mr. Cocklin was with Williams Gas Pipeline from 1995 to January 2003, where he served in various capacities, including serving as Vice President for rates, regulatory and business development for all of the Williams Gas pipelines from 2001 to January 2003.

R. Earl Fischer was named Senior Vice President, Utility Operations in May 2000. Mr. Fischer previously served the Company as President of the Mid-Tex Division from October 2004 to October 2005. Mr. Fischer retired from the Company on September 30, 2006.

Louis P. Gregory was named Senior Vice President and General Counsel in September 2000.

Mark H. Johnson was named Senior Vice President, Nonutility Operations in April 2006 and President of Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc., and Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, in April 2005. Mr. Johnson previously served the Company as Vice President, Nonutility Operations from October 2005 to March 2006 and as Executive Vice President of Atmos Energy Marketing from October 2003 to March 2005. Mr. Johnson joined Atmos Energy Marketing's predecessor, Woodward Marketing, L.L.C., in 1992 as Vice President of Marketing and Operations and was later promoted to Senior Vice President of Marketing for the Midwest and Gulf Coast. Mr. Johnson succeeded JD Woodward III who retired from the Company effective April 1, 2006.

Wynn D. McGregor was named Senior Vice President, Human Resources in October 2005. He previously served the Company as Vice President, Human Resources from January 1994 to September 2005.

John P. Reddy was named Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in September 2000.

PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol "ATO." The high and low sale prices and dividends paid per share of our common stock for fiscal 2006 and 2005 are listed below. The high and low prices listed are the closing NYSE quotes for shares of our common stock:

		2006			2005			
	High	Low		idends aid	High	Low		vidends Paid
Quarter ended:								
December 31	\$28.36	\$25.79	\$.315	\$27.43	\$24.85	\$.310
March 31	27.00	26.10		.315	29.09	26.19		.310
June 30	27.91	26.00		.315	28.87	25.94		.310
September 30	29.11	27.96		.315	29.76	28.23		.310
			\$	1.26			\$	1.24

Dividends are payable at the discretion of our Board of Directors out of legally available funds and are also subject to restriction under the terms of our First Mortgage Bond agreement. See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors typically declares dividends in the same fiscal quarter in which they are paid. The number of record holders of our common stock on October 31, 2006 was 24,425. Future payments of dividends, and the amounts of these dividends, will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors. We sold no securities during fiscal 2006 that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The following table sets forth the number of securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans at September 30, 2006.

	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights (a)	Exer Outsta	hted-Average rcise Price of nding Options, onts and Rights (b)	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column (a)) (c)	
Equity compensation plans approved					
by security holders:					
Long-Term Incentive Plan	1,017,152	\$	22.57	731,745	
Long-Term Stock Plan for the				160.550	
Mid-States Division				168,550	
Total equity compensation plans					
approved by security holders	1,017,152		22.57	900,295	
Equity compensation plans not					
approved by security holders					
Total	1,017,152	\$	22.57	900,295	

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financial data of the Company and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements included herein.

				En		ber.			
			2005 (2)		2004 (3)		2003 (4)		2002
	((In t	thousands, e	exce	pt per share	dat	ta and ratios	s)	
				\$2	2,920,037	\$2		\$:	1,650,964
	•]			562,191				431,140
									275,809
									155,331
									(1,321)
	146,607		132,658		65,437		63,660		59,174
	236,890		218,018		137,765		126,371		94,836
									35,180
\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	59,656
	•								41,250
		\$		\$		\$		\$	1.45
									297,395
-		\$		\$		\$		\$	1.18
	393,995		411,134		246,033		247,965		208,541
-	283,962		238,097		222,572		225,961		204,027
4	420,217		383,377						
		 _				4		<i>a</i>	400 000
\$3,6				\$1		\$1			,380,070
				_		_			(139,150)
5,	/19,547	5	,653,527	2	.,912,627	2	,625,495	2	,059,631
,	20.5.500		140.072		= 000		107.040		1/7 771
-	385,602		148,073		5,908		127,940		167,771
•	< 40,000	1	(00 400	1	122 450		057 517		ETT 00E
				1			-		573,235
									668,959
		.3		1		1		1	,242,194
4	125,324		333,183		190,285		159,439		132,252
									40 400
									40.7%
	8.9%		9.0%		9.1%		9.9%		9.9%
	\$6, 1, \$ \$ \$3,, 5,; 1,,,2,,3,5	\$6,152,363 1,216,570 833,954 382,616 881 146,607 236,890 	\$6,152,363 \$4 1,216,570 \$33,954 382,616 \$81 146,607 236,890 \$9,153 \$147,737 \$81,390 \$1,82 \$311,449 \$1,26 \$393,995 283,962 420,217 \$3,629,156 \$3 (1,616) 5,719,547 5 385,602 1,648,098 1 2,180,362 2 3,828,460 3 425,324 39.1%	\$6,152,363 \$4,961,873 1,216,570 1,117,637 833,954 768,982 382,616 348,655 881 2,021 146,607 132,658 236,890 218,018 \$9,153 82,233 \$147,737 \$135,785 81,390 79,012 \$1,82 \$1,72 311,449 386,944 \$1,26 \$1,24 393,995 411,134 283,962 238,097 420,217 383,377 \$3,629,156 \$3,374,367 (1,616) 151,675 5,719,547 5,653,527 385,602 148,073 1,648,098 1,602,422 2,180,362 2,183,104 3,828,460 3,785,526 425,324 333,183	2006 (i) 2005 (2) (In thousands, excellar thou	2006 (I) 2005 (2) 2004 (3) (In thousands, except per share)	\$\frac{2006 (1)}{(In thousands, except per share date)}	\$6,152,363 \$4,961,873 \$2,920,037 \$2,799,916 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 534,976 833,954 768,982 368,496 347,136 382,616 348,655 193,695 187,840 881 2,021 9,507 2,191 146,607 132,658 65,437 63,660 236,890 218,018 137,765 126,371	\$\frac{2006 (1)}{\text{(In thousands, except per share data and ratios)}}

See footnotes on the following page.

- (1) Financial results for 2006 include a \$22.9 million pre-tax loss for the impairment of the West Texas Division's irrigation assets.
- (2) Financial results for 2005 include the results of the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline Texas Division from October 1, 2004, the date of acquisition.
- (3) Financial results for 2004 include a \$5.9 million pre-tax gain on the sale of our interest in U.S. Propane, L.P. and Heritage Propane Partners, L.P.
- (4) Financial results for fiscal 2003 include the results of MVG from December 3, 2002, the date of acquisition.
- (5) Beginning in 2004, we reclassified our regulatory cost of removal obligation from accumulated depreciation to a liability. The amounts presented above for property, plant and equipment, working capital and total assets reflect this reclassification for all periods presented. These reclassifications did not impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows as of and for the years ended September 30, 2003 and 2002.
- (6) The capitalization ratio is calculated by dividing shareholders' equity by the sum of total capitalization and short-term debt, inclusive of current maturities of long-term debt. Beginning in 2004 we reclassified our original issue discount costs from deferred charges and other assets to long-term debt. This reclassification did not materially impact our capitalization or our capitalization ratio as of September 30, 2003 and 2002.
- (7) The return on average shareholders' equity is calculated by dividing current year net income by the average of shareholders' equity for the previous five quarters.

The following table presents a condensed income statement by segment for the year ended September 30, 2006.

	Year Ended September 30, 2006						
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage	Other <u>Nonutility</u>	Eliminations	Consolidated	
			(In thou	sands)			
Operating revenues from external							
parties	\$3,649,851	\$2,418,856	\$ 81,857	\$ 1,799	\$ —	\$6,152,363	
Intersegment revenues	740	737,668	78,710	4,099	(821,217)		
	3,650,591	3,156,524	160,567	5,898	(821,217)	6,152,363	
Purchased gas cost	2,725,534	3,025,897	838		(816,476)	4,935,793	
Gross profit	925,057	130,627	159,729	5,898	(4,741)	1,216,570	
Operating expenses	723,163	28,392	81,871	5,506	(4,978)	833,954	
Operating income	201,894	102,235	77,858	392	237	382,616	
Miscellaneous income	9,506	2,598	2,554	4,151	(17,928)	881	
Interest charges	126,489	8,510	25,331	<u>3,968</u>	(17,691)	<u>146,607</u>	
Income before income taxes	84,911	96,323	55,081	575		236,890	
Income tax expense	31,909	37,757	19,457	30		89,153	
Net income	\$ 53,002	\$ 58,566	\$ 35,624	\$ 545	<u>\$</u>	\$ 147,737	
Capital expenditures	\$ 307,742	\$ 909	\$ 116,673	\$	<u>\$</u>	\$ 425,324	

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

This section provides management's discussion of the financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations of Atmos Energy Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries with specific information on results of operations and liquidity and capital resources. It includes management's interpretation of our financial results, the factors affecting these results, the major factors expected to affect future operating results and future investment and financing plans. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

Our performance in the future will primarily depend on the results of our utility and nonutility operations. Several factors exist that could influence our future financial performance, some of which are described in Item 1A above, "Risk Factors". They should be considered in connection with evaluating forward-looking statements contained in this report or otherwise made by or on behalf of us since these factors could cause actual results and conditions to differ materially from those set out in such forward-looking statements.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by us and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of our documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "estimate", "expect", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to our strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in our utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; the concentration of our distribution, pipeline and storage operations in one state; impact of environmental regulations on our business; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility, increasing interest rates and counterparty creditworthiness; our ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; increased costs of providing pension and postretirement health care benefits; the capital-intensive nature of our distribution business, the inherent hazards and risks involved in operating our distribution business, and other risks and uncertainties discussed herein, especially in Item 1A above, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, while we believe these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, we undertake no obligation to update or revise any of our forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

In fiscal 2006, we earned \$147.7 million in net income or \$1.82 per diluted share, compared with net income of \$135.8 million, or \$1.72 per diluted share in fiscal 2005. The nine percent year-over-year increase in net income was primarily attributable strong financial results in our natural gas marketing segment as it was able to capture higher margins in a volatile natural gas market and favorable unrealized mark-to-market gains. Additionally, pipeline and storage net income increased 16 percent compared with the prior year. These positive results helped overcome the adverse effects on our utility segment of weather (adjusted for WNA) that

was 13 percent warmer than normal, the adverse effect of Hurricane Katrina on our Louisiana Division and a non-recurring, noncash charge to impair certain assets. Our utility operations contributed \$53.0 million (\$0.65 per diluted share) or 36 percent to fiscal 2006 results. Our nonutility operations, comprised of our natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments, contributed \$94.7 million (\$1.17 per diluted share) or 64 percent to fiscal 2006 results. Key financial and other events for fiscal 2006 include the following:

- Our utility segment net income decreased \$28.1 million during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with the year ended September 30, 2005. The decrease primarily resulted from the impact of weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was two percent warmer than the prior-year period and 13 percent warmer than normal, coupled with higher operating expenses. Utility segment results also reflect a \$14.6 million net of tax charge associated with the impairment of the West Texas Division's irrigation assets.
- During fiscal 2006, our Louisiana and Mid-Tex divisions received WNA in their rate designs that will go into effect in fiscal 2007. After receiving WNA in these two jurisdictions, we will have weather protection for over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters for the 2006-2007 winter heating season.
- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$35.2 million during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects an increase in our unrealized margin of \$43.2 million and increased realized margins due to our ability to capture higher margins in a volatile natural gas market. These increases were partially offset by a \$7.4 million increase in operating expenses and increased interest charges resulting from increased short-term borrowings to fund working capital needs.
- Our pipeline and storage segment net income increased \$5.0 million during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with the year ended September 30, 2005. Increased gross profit margin resulting from higher transportation and related services margins coupled with increased throughput on our Atmos Pipeline-Texas system and Atmos Pipeline & Storage, LLC's ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads in its asset management contracts were partially offset by higher operating expenses.
- Our capitalization ratio at September 30, 2006 was 60.9 percent compared with 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005 reflecting the impact of increased short-term debt borrowings to fund working capital needs partially offset by current-year net income.
- For the year ended September 30, 2006, we generated \$311.4 million in operating cash flow compared with \$386.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2005, reflecting the adverse impact of high natural gas costs on our working capital.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$425.3 million from \$333.2 million primarily reflecting increased capital spending for various pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division.

Our financial performance is discussed in greater detail below in Results of Operations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Our critical accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee quarterly. Actual results may differ from estimates.

Regulation — Our utility operations are subject to regulation with respect to rates, service, maintenance of accounting records and various other matters by the respective regulatory authorities in the states in which we operate. Our regulated utility operations are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. This statement requires cost-based, rate-regulated entities that meet certain criteria to reflect the financial effects of the ratemaking and accounting practices and policies of the various regulatory commissions in their financial statements. We record regulatory assets for costs that have been deferred for which future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. As a result, certain costs that would normally be expensed under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States are permitted to be capitalized because they can be recovered through rates. Further, regulation may impact the period in which revenues or expenses are recognized. The amounts to be recovered or recognized are based upon historical experience and our understanding of the regulations. The impact of regulation on our utility operations may be affected by decisions of the regulatory authorities or the issuance of new regulations.

Revenue recognition — Sales of natural gas to our utility customers are billed on a monthly cycle basis; however, the billing cycle periods for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide with accounting periods used for financial reporting purposes. We follow the revenue accrual method of accounting for utility segment revenues whereby revenues applicable to gas delivered to customers, but not yet billed under the cycle billing method, are estimated and accrued and the related costs are charged to expense.

On occasion, we are permitted to implement new rates that have not been formally approved by our regulators and are subject to refund. As permitted by SFAS No. 71, we recognize this revenue and establish a reserve for amounts that could be refunded based on our experience for the jurisdiction in which the rates were implemented.

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to address all of the utility's non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price fluctuations compared to the utility's other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility's cost of service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through purchased gas adjustments, but they do provide a dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility gas costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we purchase, utility gross profit is generally not affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased gas adjustment mechanism. The effects of these purchased gas adjustment mechanisms are recorded as deferred gas costs on our balance sheet.

Energy trading contracts resulting in the delivery of a commodity where we are the principal in the transaction are recorded as natural gas marketing sales or purchases at the time of physical delivery. Realized gains and losses from the settlement of financial instruments that do not result in physical delivery related to our natural gas marketing energy trading contracts and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the market value of open contracts are included as a component of natural gas marketing revenues.

Allowance for doubtful accounts — For the majority of our receivables, we establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our collections experience. On certain other receivables where we are aware of a specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay, we record an allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably expect to collect. However, if circumstances change, our estimate of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be different. Circumstances which could affect our estimates include, but are not limited to, customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices and general economic conditions. Accounts are written off once they are deemed to be uncollectible.

Derivatives and hedging activities — In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage and financial derivatives to partially insulate us and our natural gas utility customers against gas price volatility

during the winter heating season. The financial derivatives we use in our utility segment are accounted for under the mark-to-market method pursuant to SFAS 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*. Changes in the valuation of these derivatives primarily result from changes in the valuation of the portfolio of contracts, the maturity and settlement of contracts and newly originated transactions. However, because the costs of financial derivatives used in our utility segment will ultimately be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. The changes in the assets and liabilities from risk management activities are recognized in purchased gas cost in the income statement when the related costs are recovered through our rates.

Our natural gas marketing risk management activities are conducted through our natural gas marketing segment. This segment is exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas, which we manage through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Option contracts provide the right, but not the requirement, to buy or sell the commodity at a fixed price. Swap contracts require receipt of payment for the commodity based on the difference between a fixed price and the market price on the settlement date. The use of these contracts is subject to our risk management policies, which are monitored for compliance daily.

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase or sell physical natural gas and then sell or purchase financial contracts at a price sufficient to cover our carrying costs and provide a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we seek to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Under SFAS 133, natural gas inventory is designated as the hedged item in a fair-value hedge by AEM and Atmos Pipeline and Storage LLC. This inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in revenue in the period of change. Effective October 2005, we changed the index used to value our physical natural gas from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change had no material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas and deliver it out of the storage facility.

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedges (NYMEX) are reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, we expect gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory to be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction. We continually manage our positions and seek to optimize value as market conditions and other circumstances change. We elect to exclude the differential between the spot price used to value our physical inventory and the forward price used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory for purposes of assessing the effectiveness of these fair-value hedges.

Similar to our inventory position, we attempt to mitigate substantially all of the commodity price risk associated with our fixed-price contracts with minimum volume requirements through the use of various offsetting derivatives. Prior to April 2004, these derivatives were not designated as hedges under SFAS 133 because they naturally locked in the economic gross profit margin at the time we entered into the contract. The fixed-price forward and offsetting derivative contracts were marked to market each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses recorded in revenue in our consolidated statement of income. The unrealized gains and losses were realized as a component of revenue in the period in which we fulfilled the requirements of the fixed-price contract and the derivatives settled. To the extent that the

unrealized gains and losses of the fixed-price forward contracts and the offsetting derivatives did not offset exactly, our earnings experienced some volatility. At delivery, the gains and losses on the fixed-price contracts were offset by gains and losses on the derivatives, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction.

Effective April 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales. As a result, we ceased marking the fixed-price forward contracts to market. We designated the offsetting derivative contracts as cash flow hedges of anticipated transactions. As a result of this change, unrealized gains and losses on these open derivative contracts have been recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes are sold. Hedge ineffectiveness, to the extent incurred, is reported as a component of revenue.

Additionally, we utilize storage swaps and futures to capture additional storage arbitrage opportunities that arise subsequent to the execution of the original fair value hedge associated with our physical natural gas inventory, basis swaps to insulate and protect the economic value of our fixed price and storage books and various over-the-counter and exchange-traded options. Although the purpose of these instruments is to either reduce basis or other risks or lock in arbitrage opportunities, these derivative instruments have not been designated as hedges. Accordingly, these derivative instruments are recorded at fair value with all changes in fair value included in revenue in our natural gas marketing segment.

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury lock agreements were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This realized loss is being recognized as a component of interest expense over the life of the related financing arrangements.

The fair value of our financial derivatives is determined through a combination of prices actively quoted on national exchanges, prices provided by other external sources and prices based on models and other valuation methods. Changes in the valuation of our financial derivatives primarily result from changes in market prices, the valuation of the portfolio of our contracts, maturity and settlement of these contracts and newly originated transactions, each of which directly affect the estimated fair value of our derivatives. We believe the market prices and models used to value these derivatives represent the best information available with respect to closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. Values are adjusted to reflect the potential impact of an orderly liquidation of our positions over a reasonable period of time under then current market conditions.

Impairment assessments — We perform impairment assessments of our goodwill, intangible assets subject to amortization and long-lived assets. We currently have no indefinite-lived intangible assets. We annually evaluate our goodwill balances for impairment during our second fiscal quarter or as impairment indicators arise. We use a present value technique based on discounted cash flows to estimate the fair value of our reporting units. We have determined our reporting units to be each of our utility divisions and wholly-owned subsidiaries. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting units responsible for the acquisition that gave rise to the goodwill.

The discounted cash flow calculations used to assess goodwill impairment are dependent on several subjective factors including the timing of future cash flows, future growth rates and the discount rate. An impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its fair value.

We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that our intangible assets subject to amortization and other long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful life may warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through expected future cash flows. These cash flow projections consider various factors such as the timing of the future cash flows and the discount rate and are based upon the best information available at the time the estimate is made. Changes in

these factors could materially affect the cash flow projections and result in the recognition of an impairment charge. An impairment charge is recognized as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value if the sum of the undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the related asset.

Pension and other postretirement plans — Pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and current demographic and actuarial mortality data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The assumed discount rate and the expected return are the assumptions that generally have the most significant impact on our pension costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate, the assumed health care cost trend rate and assumed rates of retirement generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement plan costs and liabilities.

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actuarial present value of our pension and postretirement obligation and net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our discount rate, we consider high quality corporate bond rates based on Moody's Aa bond index, changes in those rates from the prior year and the implied discount rate that is derived from matching our projected benefit disbursements with a high quality corporate bond spot rate curve.

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is utilized in calculating the expected return on plan assets component of our annual pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the expected return on plan assets by evaluating expected bond returns, equity risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan management, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical performance. We also consider the guidance from our investment advisors in making a final determination of our expected rate of return on assets. To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized over the course of a year is greater than or less than the assumed rate, that year's annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not affected. Rather, this gain or loss reduces or increases future pension or postretirement plan cost over a period of approximately ten to twelve years.

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend rate used in determining our postretirement net expense based upon our actual health care cost experience, the effects of recently enacted legislation and general economic conditions. Our assumed rate of retirement is estimated based upon our annual review of our participant census information as of the measurement date.

Actual changes in the fair market value of plan assets and differences between the actual return on plan assets and the expected return on plan assets could have a material effect on the amount of pension cost ultimately recognized. A 0.25 percent change in our discount rate would impact our pension and postretirement cost by approximately \$1.1 million. A 0.25 percent change in our expected rate of return would impact our pension and postretirement cost by approximately \$0.8 million.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2006:

	For the Year Ended September 30				
	2006	2005	2004		
	(In thousands, unless otherwise noted)				
Operating revenues	\$6,152,363	\$4,961,873	\$2,920,037		
Gross profit	1,216,570	1,117,637	562,191		
Operating expenses	833,954	768,982	368,496		
Operating income	382,616	348,655	193,695		
Miscellaneous income	881	2,021	9,507		
Interest charges	146,607	132,658	65,437		
Income before income taxes	236,890	218,018	137,765		
Income tax expense	89,153	82,233	51,538		
Net income	\$ 147,737	\$ 135,785	\$ 86,227		
Utility sales volumes — MMcf Utility transportation volumes — MMcf	272,033 121,962	296,283 114,851	173,219 72,814		
Total utility throughput — MMcf	393,995	411,134	246,033		
Natural gas marketing sales volumes — MMcf	283,962	238,097	222,572		
Pipeline transportation volumes — MMcf	<u>420,217</u>	383,377			
Heating Degree Days (1) Actual (weighted average) Percent of normal Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per Mcf Consolidated utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	2,527 87% \$ 0.50 \$ 10.02	2,587 89% \$ 0.51 \$ 7.41	3,271 96% \$ 0.42 \$ 6.55		

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations. For service areas that have weather normalized operations, normal degree days are used instead of actual degree days in computing the total number of heating degree days.

The following table shows our operating income by utility division and by segment for the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2006. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	2006		2	005	2004		
		Heating		Heating		Heating	
		Degree Days	O	Degree Days	0	Degree Days Percent of	
	Operating Income	Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾	Operating Income	Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾	Operating Income	Normal (1)	
				degree day infor	mation)		
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 22,524	99%	\$ 25,157	99%	\$ 20,876	99%	
Kentucky	14,338	100%	18,657	98%	22,738	98%	
Louisiana	27,772	78%	24,819	78%	40,762	93%	
Mid-States	35,555	95%	35,687	93%	38,778	95%	
Mid-Tex	71,703	72%	84,965	80%			
Mississippi	23,276	102%	19,045	96%	18,709	101%	
West Texas	2,215	100%	27,520	99%	22,090	90%	
Other	4,511		515	-	(4,063)	WWW.	
Utility segment	201,894	87%	236,365	89%	159,890	96%	
Natural gas marketing segment	102,235		40,985		27,726	**************************************	
Pipeline and storage segment	77,858		70,286	***************************************	5,293		
Other nonutility segment	629		1,019		786	-	
Consolidated operating income	\$382,616	87%	\$348,655	89%	\$193,695	96%	

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations. For service areas that have weather normalized operations, normal degree days are used instead of actual degree days in computing the total number of heating degree days.

Year ended September 30, 2006 compared with year ended September 30, 2005

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 65 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. However, during fiscal 2006, our utility segment contributed approximately 36 percent of our consolidated net income primarily due to the adverse effect of significantly warmer than normal weather, the adverse effect of Hurricane Katrina and a non-recurring, noncash charge to recognize the impairment of our irrigation assets. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public-authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 64 percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt

expense, and may require us to increase borrowings under our credit facilities resulting in higher interest expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are substantially offset through weather normalization adjustments in most of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. Accordingly, in our WNA service areas, our gross profit margin should be based substantially on the amount of gross profit that would result from normal weather, despite actual weather conditions that may be either warmer or colder than normal.

During fiscal 2006, we received WNA in our two most weather sensitive jurisdictions: the Louisiana and Mid-Tex divisions. With the addition of WNA in these two jurisdictions, we will have weather protection for over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters for the 2006-2007 winter heating season. Prior to these decisions, there was limited weather protection in these jurisdictions. The Louisiana Division had previously benefited from a higher base customer charge. However, this rate structure was not as beneficial during periods where weather was significantly warmer than normal. In May 2006, the LPSC approved a settlement that provided for a modified WNA which provides a partial decoupling mechanism to stabilize this jurisdiction's margins. The approved WNA will cover a period from December to March.

Prior to October 1, 2006, the Mid-Tex Division, which is our largest utility division and contains almost 50 percent of our approximately 3.2 million distribution customers, had benefited from a rate structure that combined a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provided for the recovery of a significant portion of our fixed costs for such operations under average weather conditions. However, this rate structure was not as beneficial during periods where weather was significantly warmer than normal.

In July 2006, in connection with the Mid-Tex Division rate proceeding the RRC approved an interim and a permanent WNA effective October 1, 2006 for the Mid-Tex Division. The WNA covers the period from October through May. The interim WNA is based on 30 years of weather history, and the permanent WNA will be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the RRC ultimately approves in the rate proceeding, which proceeding is described in greater detail under Recent Ratemaking Activity.

In the pending rate proceeding before the RRC, we are seeking for our Mid-Tex Division additional annual revenues of approximately \$60 million and several rate design changes including revenue stabilization and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt expense. While the outcome of the Mid-Tex Division's pending rate proceeding before the RRC cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that we have adequately demonstrated to the RRC that the Mid-Tex Division is entitled to receive an increase in annual revenues and that the remaining rate design changes should be implemented. However, if the RRC were to deny an increase in the Mid-Tex Division's rates or not allow new rate design changes the Mid-Tex Division has requested, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected in the future.

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$925.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from \$907.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Total throughput for our utility business was 394.0 Bcf during the current year compared to 411.1 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in utility gross profit, despite lower throughput, primarily reflects higher franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, which are paid by utility customers and have no permanent effect on net income. Additionally, margins increased approximately \$14.0 million due to rate increases received from our fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 GRIP filings and the recognition of \$6.2 million that had been previously deferred in Louisiana following the LPSC's ratification of our agreement in May 2006. These increases were partially offset by approximately \$22.9 million due to the impact of significantly warmer than normal weather, particularly in our Mid-Tex and Louisiana divisions. For the year ended September 30, 2006, weather was

13 percent warmer than normal, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations and two percent warmer than the prior year. In the Mid-Tex and Louisiana Divisions, which did not have weather-normalized rates during the 2005-2006 winter heating season, weather was 28 percent and 22 percent warmer than normal.

Additionally, utility gross profit decreased approximately \$2.9 million compared with the prior year in the Louisiana Division due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina. Service has been restored in some areas affected by the storm; however, it is not likely that service will be restored to all of the affected service areas. As more fully described under Recent Ratemaking Activity, we implemented new rates in September 2006 that reflect the impact of Hurricane Katrina

Operating expenses increased to \$723.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from \$671.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase reflects a \$13.3 million increase in taxes, primarily related to franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, both of which are calculated as a percentage of revenue, and are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are included as a component of revenue in accordance with our tariffs, timing differences between when these amounts are billed to our customers and when we recognize the associated expense may affect net income favorably or unfavorably on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

Operation and maintenance expense, excluding the provision for doubtful accounts, increased \$7.8 million primarily due to higher employee costs associated with increased headcount to fill positions that were previously outsourced to a third party, higher medical and dental claims and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. Increased line locate, telecommunication and facilities costs also contributed to the overall increase. These increases were partially offset by a reduction in third-party costs for outsourced administrative and meter reading functions that were in-sourced during fiscal 2006. Operation and maintenance expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 was also favorably impacted by the absence of \$2.1 million of merger and integration cost amortization associated with the merger of United Cities Gas Company in July 1997, as these costs were fully amortized by December 2004.

The provision for doubtful accounts increased \$3.1 million to \$20.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2006, compared with \$17.5 million in the prior year. The increase was primarily attributable to increased collection risk associated with higher natural gas prices. In the utility segment, the average cost of natural gas for the year ended September 30, 2006 was \$10.02 per Mcf, compared with \$7.41 per Mcf for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Additionally, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the MPSC, in connection with the modification of our rate design described in Recent Ratemaking Activity, decided to allow the recovery of \$2.8 million in deferred costs, which it had originally disallowed in its September 2004 decision. This charge was originally recorded in fiscal 2004. This ruling decreased our depreciation expense during the year ended September 30, 2006. This decrease was offset by increased depreciation expense associated with the placement of various capital projects into service during the fiscal year.

Operating expenses were also impacted by \$22.9 million noncash charge to impair our West Texas Division's irrigation assets. During the fiscal 2006 fourth quarter, we determined that, as a result of declining irrigation sales primarily associated with our agricultural customers' shift from gas-powered pumps to electric pumps, the West Texas Division's irrigation assets would not be able to generate sufficient future cash flows from operations to recover the net investment in these assets. Therefore, the entire net book value was written off. We will continue to operate these assets until we determine a plan for these assets as we are obligated to provide natural gas services to certain customers served by these assets.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the year ended September 30, 2006 decreased to \$201.9 million from \$236.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income for the year ended September 30, 2006 was \$9.5 million compared to miscellaneous income of \$6.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase was primarily attributable to increased interest income on intercompany borrowings to our natural gas marketing segment to fund its working capital needs. This increase was partially offset by a \$3.3 million charge recorded during the fiscal 2006 second quarter associated with an adverse ruling in Tennessee related to the calculation of a performance-based rate mechanism associated with gas purchases.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 increased to \$126.5 million from \$112.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices coupled with an approximate 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our \$300 million unsecured floating rate Senior Notes due 2007 due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were partially offset by \$4.8 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds in June 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in gross profit margins. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we seek to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, and storage activities, which are derived from the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Year E	nded
	Septemb	per 30
	2006	2005
	(In thousand	ds, except
	physical p	osition)
Storage Activities		
Realized margin	\$ 26,225	\$ 28,008
Unrealized margin	(1,293)	(14,007)
Total Storage Activities	24,932	14,001
Marketing Activities		
Realized margin	87,236	59,971
Unrealized margin	18,459	(11,999)
Total Marketing Activities	105,695	47,972
Gross profit	\$130,627	\$ 61,973
Net physical position (Bcf)	14.5	6.9

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$130.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared to gross profit of \$62.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 included an unrealized gain of \$17.2 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$26.0 million in the prior year. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 336.5 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with 273.2 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 284.0 Bcf during the current year compared with 238.1 Bcf in the prior year. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin opportunities partially offset by warmer-than-normal weather across our market areas.

Our storage activities generated \$24.9 million in gross profit margin for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared to \$14.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Lower realized margins in our storage operations were primarily due to the realization of less favorable arbitrage spreads compared with the prior year coupled with increased storage fees. These decreases were partially offset by a decrease in the unrealized loss associated with these operations due to a favorable movement during the year ended September 30, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory and our fixed-price forward contracts. These decreases were also favorably impacted by positive basis ineffectiveness resulting from natural gas market price differences between the locations of the hedged inventory and the delivery location specified in the derivative instruments designated as a fair value hedge. These results were magnified by a 7.6 Bcf increase in our net physical position at September 30, 2006 compared to the prior year. We continually seek opportunities to increase the amount of our storage capacity. To the extent we obtain and utilize new capacity and experience price volatility, the amount of our unrealized storage contribution could increase in future periods.

Our marketing activities generated \$105.7 million in gross profit margin for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with \$48.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase reflects increased realized margins coupled with a favorable unrealized margin variance compared with the prior year. The increase in our realized marketing operations was primarily attributable to successfully capturing increased margins in certain market areas that experienced higher market volatility. The favorable unrealized margin variance was primarily due to favorable movement during the year ended September 30, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices associated with financial derivatives used in these activities and positive basis ineffectiveness on those financial derivatives.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$28.4 million for the

year ended September 30, 2006 from \$21.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase in operating expense primarily was attributable to an increase in personnel costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The improved gross profit margin partially offset by higher operating expenses resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$102.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with operating income of \$41.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the natural gas marketing segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 increased to \$8.5 million from \$3.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which were previously included in our other nonutility segment. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division and for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, lending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. This pipeline system provides access to nine basins located in Texas, which are estimated to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. APS owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division operations supply all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of the Mid-Tex Division. As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our pipeline and storage segment primarily consists of transportation margins earned from our Mid-Tex Division and from third parties, other ancillary pipeline services and asset management fees earned by APS. Our pipeline and storage segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following components for the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Year Ended September 30		
	2006	2005	
	(In thousands		
Mid-Tex transportation	\$ 69,925	\$ 70,089	
Third party transportation	58,490	55,376	
Asset management fees	10,333	8,559	
Storage and park and lend services	11,297	7,451	
Unrealized gains (losses)	3,350	(4,730)	
Other	6,334	9,733	
Gross profit	\$159,729	\$146,478	

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$159.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from \$146.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 591.0 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with 563.9 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 420.2 Bcf during the current year compared with 383.4 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to increased third-party throughput and ancillary services, coupled with increased margins on APS' asset management contracts. Increased third-party throughput on Atmos Pipeline — Texas was primarily attributable to increases in the electric-generation market due to the warmer than normal temperatures during the summer of 2006, increased demand for through-system transportation services due to a widening of pricing differentials between the pipeline's hubs and the impact of Atmos Pipeline — Texas' North Side Loop and other compression projects that were placed into service in June 2006. Storage and parking and lending services on Atmos Pipeline — Texas also increased during fiscal 2006 as a result of the widening of pricing differentials between the pipeline's hubs, which increased the attractiveness of storing gas on the pipeline and our ability to obtain improved margins for these services. The increases on Atmos Pipeline — Texas' system were partially offset by a decrease in margins earned from intercompany transportation services to our Mid-Tex Division due to the significantly warmer than normal weather experienced during fiscal 2006. Additionally, these increases were partially offset by the absence of inventory sales of \$3.0 million realized in the prior year.

Increases in APS' margins due to its ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads on its asset management contracts also contributed to this segment's improved gross profit margin. These improved margins reflect an unrealized component as APS hedges its risk associated with these contracts. During fiscal 2006, favorable movements in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated against the physical inventory underlying these contracts resulted in an unrealized gain compared with an unrealized loss in the prior year.

Operating expenses increased to \$81.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from \$76.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with the increase in headcount, increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs, higher facilities costs and higher pipeline integrity costs.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the year ended September 30, 2006 increased to \$77.9 million from \$70.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC, and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services, which began April 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. The revenues of AES represent charges to our utility divisions equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have entered into agreements to lease these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with the prior year.

Year ended September 30, 2005 compared with year ended September 30, 2004

Utility segment

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$907.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$503.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 411.1 Bcf during the current year compared to 246.0 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of \$398.2 million and 174.3 Bcf. The \$6.1 million increase in the gross profit generated from our other utility operations primarily reflects rate increases in our Mississippi and West Texas divisions that were absent in the prior year coupled with the recognition of a \$1.9 million refund to our customers in our Colorado service area in the prior year. Offsetting these increases was a \$3.9 million reduction in gross profit in our Louisiana Division due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina. Gross profit margins, particularly in Louisiana, were also adversely impacted by weather (as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations) that was five percent warmer than normal and one percent warmer than the prior year period. Additionally, gross profit margin was adversely impacted by the lack of cold weather in patterns sufficient to encourage customers to increase their heat load consumption and lower irrigation throughput in our West Texas and Colorado-Kansas Divisions.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$671.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$343.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 primarily as a result of the addition of the Mid-Tex Division. Excluding the impact of the Mid-Tex Division, operating expenses for our other utility operations increased \$14.5 million primarily due to \$2.3 million associated with the effects of Hurricane Katrina, a \$7.7 million increase in taxes, other than income, a \$2.4 million increase in operation and maintenance expense, including the provision for doubtful accounts, and a \$2.1 million increase in depreciation and amortization. Included in taxes other than income taxes are franchise and state gross receipts taxes which are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings, timing differences between when the expense is incurred and is recovered may impact our net income on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to \$236.4 million from \$159.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income increased to \$6.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$5.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to an increase in interest income earned

Voor Ended

Table of Contents

on higher cash balances during the current year compared with the prior year partially offset by the recognition of a \$0.8 million gain on the sale of a building during the year ended September 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to \$112.4 million from \$65.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004. On June 30, 2005, we repaid \$72.5 million in principal on five series of our First Mortgage Bonds prior to their scheduled maturities. The early repayment of these bonds resulted in savings of \$1.3 million in interest expense in fiscal 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Operating income

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004:

	Year E	naea
	Septem	ber 30
	2005	2004
	(In thousan physical p	
Storage Activities		
Realized margin	\$ 28,008	\$ (1,900)
Unrealized margin	(14,007)	357
Total Storage Activities	14,001	(1,543)
Marketing Activities		
Realized margin	59,971	51,347
Unrealized margin	(11,999)	(3,173)
Total Marketing Activities	47,972	48,174
Gross profit	\$ 61,973	\$46,631
Net physical position (Bcf)	6.9	5.4

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$62.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$46.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 included an unrealized loss of \$26.0 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$2.8 million in the prior year. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 273.2 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with 265.1 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 238.1 Bcf during the current year compared with 222.6 Bcf in the prior year. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was attributable to successfully executed marketing strategies into new market areas.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a gain of \$14.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to a loss of \$1.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The \$15.5 million improvement primarily was attributable to a \$29.9 million increase in the realized storage contribution for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to the prior year due to more favorable arbitrage spread opportunities during the current year, partially offset by increased storage fees associated with 9.0 Bcf of newly contracted storage capacity during the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Annual demand charges for this new storage approximate \$7.6 million. We may further increase the amount of our storage capacity in the future; therefore, the impact of price volatility on our unrealized storage contribution could become more significant in future periods.

A \$14.4 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution resulted from an unfavorable movement during the year ended September 30, 2005 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at September 30, 2005 compared to the prior year also.

Our marketing activities contributed \$48.0 million to our gross profit for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to \$48.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The decrease in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to \$12.0 million of unrealized marked-to-market losses associated with basis swaps that were put in place to capture margins in certain volatile market areas. The increase in unrealized marked-to-market losses was partially offset by an increase in our realized marketing margins due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers and successfully entering into new market areas.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$21.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$18.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase in operating expense was attributable primarily to an increase in labor costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The increase in gross profit margin, combined with higher operating expenses, resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$41.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with operating income of \$27.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Pipeline and storage segment

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$146.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$10.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 563.9 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with 9.4 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 383.4 Bcf during the current year.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$138.1 million and 375.6 Bcf. Also contributing to Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division's results were higher transportation and related services margin due to significant basis differentials at its three major Texas hubs. The \$2.0 million decrease in the gross profit generated by APS primarily reflects a decrease in asset management fees received during fiscal 2005.

Operating expenses increased to \$76.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$5.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 due to the addition of \$72.2 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division is a regulated entity, franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no permanent effect on net income. Included in operating expense was \$8.9 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$8.3 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to \$70.3 million from \$5.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to \$24.6 million from \$1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Operating income for our other nonutility segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in fiscal 2001 and 2002. The increase in operating income during the year ended September 30, 2005 reflects the absence of a one-time charge of \$0.4 million associated with the wind-down of a noncore business during fiscal 2004.

Miscellaneous income for the year ended September 30, 2005 was \$2.6 million compared with \$8.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The \$5.7 million decrease was attributable primarily to the recognition of a \$5.9 million pretax gain on the sale of all remaining limited partnership interests in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. during fiscal 2004.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditure and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for fiscal 2007. These facilities are described in greater detail below and in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalization

The following presents our capitalization as of September 30, 2006 and 2005:

	September 30						
	2006		2005				
	(In thousands, except percentages)						
Short-term debt	\$ 382,416	9.1%	\$ 144,809	3.7%			
Long-term debt	2,183,548	51.8%	2,186,368	55.6%			
Shareholders' equity	1,648,098	39.1%	1,602,422	<u>40.7</u> %			
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$4,214,062	100.0%	\$3,933,599	100.0%			

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 60.9 percent and 59.3 percent at September 30, 2006 and 2005. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was primarily attributable to an increase in our short-term debt borrowings to fund our working capital needs partially offset by current-year net income. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within three to five years, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan and access to the equity capital markets.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the price for our services, the demand for services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are primarily attributable to working capital changes within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the year ended September 30, 2006, we generated operating cash flow of \$311.4 million compared with \$386.9 million in fiscal 2005 and \$270.7 million in fiscal 2004. The significant factors impacting our operating cash flow for the last three fiscal years are summarized below.

Year ended September 30, 2006

Fiscal 2006 operating cash flows reflect the adverse impact of significantly higher natural gas prices. Year-over-year, unfavorable timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities reduced operating cash flow by \$523.0 million. Partially offsetting these outflows were higher customer collections (\$245.1 million) and reduced payments for natural gas inventories (\$102.1 million). Additionally, favorable movements in the market indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities reduced the amount that we were required to deposit in a margin account and therefore favorably affected operating cash flow by \$126.3 million.

Year ended September 30, 2005

Fiscal 2005 operating cash flows reflect the effects of a \$49.6 million increase in net income and effective working capital management partially offset by higher natural gas prices. Working capital management efforts, which affected the timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, favorably affected operating cash flow by \$354.1 million. However, these efforts were partially offset by reduced cash flow generated from accounts receivable changes by \$168.9 million, primarily attributable to higher natural gas prices, and an increase in our natural gas inventories attributable to a 13 percent year-over-year increase in natural gas prices coupled with increased natural gas inventory levels, which reduced operating cash flow by \$81.8 million. Operating cash flow was also adversely impacted by unfavorable movements in the indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities, which resulted in a net liability for the segment. Accordingly, under the terms of the associated derivative contracts, we were required to deposit \$81.0 million into a margin account.

Year ended September 30, 2004

Fiscal 2004 operating cash flows were favorably impacted by several items. Improved customer collections during fiscal 2004, compared with the prior year, resulted in a \$62.2 million increase in operating cash flow. Further, cash used for natural gas inventories decreased by \$33.8 million compared with the prior year. The decrease was attributable to lower injections of natural gas into storage, partially offset by higher prices. The reduction in the lag between the time period when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates improved operating cash flow by \$65.7 million. Changes in cash held on deposit in margin accounts resulted in an increase in operating cash flow of \$25.6 million. This account represents deposits recorded to collateralize certain of our financial derivatives purchased in support of our natural gas marketing activities. The favorable change was attributable to the fact that the fair value of financial instruments held by AEM represented a net asset position at September 30, 2004, which eliminated the need to place cash in margin accounts. Finally, other working capital and other changes improved operating cash flow by \$33.9 million. These changes primarily related to various increases in deferred credits and other liabilities, other current liabilities and income taxes payable partially offset by lower deferred income tax expense as compared with the prior year.

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions and growth projects, our ongoing construction program and improvements to information systems. Our ongoing construction program enables us to provide natural gas distribution services to our existing customer base, to expand our natural gas distribution services into new markets, to enhance the integrity of our pipelines and, more recently, to expand our intrastate pipeline network. In executing our current rate strategy, we are directing discretionary capital spending to jurisdictions that permit us to earn a return on our investment timely. Currently, our Mid-Tex, Louisiana, Mississippi and West Texas utility divisions and our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division have rate designs that provide the opportunity to include in their rate base approved capital costs on a periodic basis without being required to file a rate case.

For the year ended September 30, 2006, we incurred \$425.3 million for capital expenditures compared with \$333.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 and \$190.3 million for the year ended

September 30, 2004. The increase in capital expenditures in fiscal 2006 primarily reflects increased spending associated with our Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex North Side Loop project and other pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, which were completed during the fiscal 2006 third quarter. Increased capital spending in our Mid-Tex Division for various projects also contributed to the increase in our capital expenditures.

Our cash used for investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2005 reflects the \$1.9 billion cash paid for the TXU Gas acquisition including related transaction costs and expenses. Cash flow from investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2004 reflects the receipt of \$27.9 million from the sale of our limited and general partnership interests in USP and Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. and from the sale of a building.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the year ended September 30, 2006, our financing activities provided \$155.3 million in cash compared with \$1.7 billion and \$80.4 million provided for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Our significant financing activities for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows:

- In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million shares of common stock, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382 million. Additionally, we issued \$1.39 billion of senior unsecured debt under our shelf registration statement with an initial weighted average effective interest rate on these notes of 4.76 percent. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 common stock offering were used to finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline Texas divisions and settle Treasury lock agreements, into which we entered to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with \$875 million of the \$1.39 billion long-term debt we issued in October 2004 to fund the acquisition.
- During the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we increased our borrowings under our short-term facilities by \$237.6 million and \$144.8 million whereas during the year ended September 30, 2004, we repaid a net \$118.6 million under our short-term facilities. Net borrowings under our short-term facilities during fiscal 2006 and 2005 reflect the impact of seasonal natural gas purchases and the effect of higher natural gas prices than in prior years.
- We repaid \$3.3 million of long-term debt during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with \$103.4 million during the year ended September 30, 2005 and \$9.7 million during the year ended September 30, 2004. Fiscal 2005 payments reflected the repayment of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds. In connection with this repayment we paid a \$25.0 million make-whole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements and accrued interest of approximately \$1.0 million. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and will be recognized over the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid. The early repayment of these bonds resulted in interest savings of \$4.8 million and \$1.3 million in fiscal 2006 and 2005.
- During the year ended September 30, 2006, we paid \$102.3 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$99.0 million and \$66.7 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. The increase in dividends paid over the prior year reflects an increase in the dividend rate from \$1.24 per share during the year ended September 30, 2005 to \$1.26 per share during the year ended September 30, 2006 combined with new share issuances under our various plans.

During the year ended September 30, 2006 we issued 0.9 million shares of common stock which generated net proceeds of \$23.3 million. In addition, we granted 0.3 million shares of common stock under

our 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan to directors, officers and other participants in the plan. The following table shows the number of shares issued for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

	For the Year Ended September 30				
	2006	2005	2004		
Shares issued:					
Direct stock purchase plan	387,833	450,212	556,856		
Retirement savings plan	442,635	441,350	320,313		
1998 Long-term incentive plan	366,905	745,788	498,230		
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division	300		6,000		
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan	2,442	2,341	3,133		
October 2004 Offering		16,100,000	****		
July 2004 Offering			9,939,393		
Total shares issued	1,200,115	17,739,691	11,323,925		

Shelf Registration

In December 2001, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$600.0 million in new common stock and/or debt. The registration statement was declared effective by the SEC in January 2002. In July 2004, we sold 9.9 million shares of our common stock, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option, which exhausted the remaining availability under this registration statement.

In August 2004, we filed a registration statement with the SEC to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective in September 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under this registration statement, generating net proceeds of \$382.5 million before other offering costs. Additionally, we issued \$1.39 billion of senior unsecured debt under the registration statement. After issuing the debt and equity in October 2004, we had approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under this registration statement. However, we are no longer allowed to issue securities under that registration statement by applicable state regulatory commissions since we are in the process of securing their approval to issue a total of \$900 million in securities under a new shelf registration statement, including the remaining \$401.5 million of capacity carried over from the currently effective registration statement. We intend to file this new registration statement with the SEC in the near future.

Credit Facilities

As of September 30, 2006, we maintained three short-term committed credit facilities totaling \$918 million. We also maintain one uncommitted credit facility totaling \$25 million and, through AEM, a second uncommitted credit facility that can provide up to \$580 million. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the banks. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital have increased substantially as a result of the significant increase in the price of natural gas.

In October 2005, our \$600 million 364-day committed credit facility expired and was replaced with a \$600 million three-year revolving credit facility. In addition, in November 2005, we entered into a new \$300 million 364-day revolving credit facility with substantially the same terms as our \$600 million credit facility.

In November 2006, we renewed our \$300 million 364-day revolving credit facility and were in the process of replacing our three-year \$600 million facility with a five-year \$600 million revolving credit facility. Both facilities are being renewed with substantially the same terms as their predecessor facilities.

In April 2006, our \$18 million committed unsecured credit facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2006, \$3.1 million was outstanding under this facility.

As of September 30, 2006, the amount available to us under these credit facilities, net of outstanding letters of credit, was \$609.0 million. We believe these credit facilities, combined with our operating cash flows will be sufficient to fund our increased working capital needs. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2005, AEM amended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. In March 2006, AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 2007. At September 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this facility.

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Services, Inc. (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	Moody's	Fitch
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2

Currently, with respect to our unsecured senior long-term debt, S&P, Moody's and Fitch maintain their stable outlook. None of our ratings is currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB—, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB—. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of September 30, 2006. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as both our revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement

contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

Additional information concerning our debt covenants and how we complied with those covenants is included in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following tables provide information about contractual obligations and commercial commitments at September 30, 2006.

	Payments Due by Period						
		Less Than					
	Total	1 Year	1-3 Years	3-5 Years	5 Years		
			(In thousands	5)			
Contractual Obligations							
Long-term debt (1)	\$2,186,878	\$ 3,186	\$305,865	\$ 762,762	\$1,115,065		
Short-term debt (1)	382,416	382,416					
Interest charges (2)	1,028,096	121,511	207,939	164,964	533,682		
Gas purchase commitments (3)	708,217	560,461	110,793	17,035	19,928		
Capital lease obligations (4)	2,777	433	673	477	1,194		
Operating leases (4)	176,806	15,959	30,157	26,912	103,778		
Demand fees for contracted storage (5)	17,989	8,832	7,257	1,900			
Demand fees for contracted transportation (6)	27,818	4,269	5,944	5,788	11,817		
Derivative obligations (7)	30,945	30,669	276				
Postretirement benefit plan contributions (8)	145,198	11,408	21,584	26,141	86,065		
Total contractual obligations	\$4,707,140	\$1,139,144	\$690,488	\$1,005,979	\$1,871,529		

⁽¹⁾ See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At September 30, 2006, AEM was committed to purchase 61.7 Bcf within one year, 51.2 Bcf between one to three years and 0.8 Bcf after three years under indexed

⁽²⁾ Interest charges were calculated using the stated rate for each debt issuance, or in the case of floating rate debt, the rate that was in effect as of September 30, 2006.

⁽³⁾ Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices estimated based upon the index specified in the contract, adjusted for estimated basis differentials and contractual discounts as of September 30, 2006.

⁽⁴⁾ See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

⁽⁵⁾ Represents third party contractual demand fees for contracted storage in our natural gas marketing and other utility segments. Contractual demand fees for contracted storage for our utility segment are excluded as these costs are fully recoverable through our purchase gas adjustment mechanisms.

⁽⁶⁾ Represents third party contractual demand fees for transportation in our natural gas marketing segment.

⁽⁷⁾ Represents liabilities for natural gas commodity derivative contracts that were valued as of September 30, 2006.

The ultimate settlement amounts of these remaining liabilities are unknown because they are subject to continuing market risk until the derivative contracts are settled.

⁽⁸⁾ Represents expected contributions to our postretirement benefit plans.

contracts. AEM was committed to purchase 2.4 Bcf within one year and 0.1 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$3.40 to \$12.00 per Mcf.

With the exception of our Mid-Tex Division, our utility segment maintains supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract. Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contract terms as of September 30, 2006 are reflected in the table above.

In May 2006, we announced plans to form a joint venture with a local natural gas producer to construct a natural gas gathering system in Eastern Kentucky that will originate in Floyd County, Kentucky, and extend north approximately 60 miles to interconnect with the Tennessee Gas Pipeline in Carter County, Kentucky. Tennessee Gas Pipeline's interstate system delivers natural gas to the northeastern United States, including New York City and Boston. Referred to as the Straight Creek Project, the new system is expected to relieve severe gas gathering and transportation constraints that historically have burdened natural gas producers in the area and should improve delivery reliability to natural gas customers. More than a dozen other producers have signed memoranda of understanding to commit gas volumes to the new system and to enter into agreements on commercially reasonable terms.

As currently designed, the project is expected to cost between \$75 million to \$80 million. In October 2006, FERC issued a declaratory order finding that the Straight Creek Project will be exempt from FERC jurisdiction. Upon receiving all required regulatory approvals, construction is expected to begin in the first half of fiscal 2007, with operations expected to begin in fiscal 2008. Final terms of the joint venture are still being negotiated; however, we anticipate that we will have the ability to consolidate the joint venture.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through our utility, natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to reduce our exposure to unusually large winter-period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could experience ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting, resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

In our natural gas marketing segment, hedge ineffectiveness resulting from natural gas market price differences between the locations of the hedged inventory and the delivery location specified in the hedge instruments (referred to as basis ineffectiveness) for both fair value and cash flow hedges was an unrealized gain of approximately \$35.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 and an unrealized loss of approximately \$5.4 million and \$1.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Actual hedge ineffectiveness resulting from the timing of settlement of physical contracts and the settlement of the derivative instruments (referred to as timing ineffectiveness) resulted in an unrealized gain of approximately \$4.4 million and \$0.5 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2004 and an unrealized loss of approximately \$2.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

In our pipeline and storage segment, timing ineffectiveness resulted in an unrealized loss of approximately \$4.7 million and less than \$0.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2004 and an unrealized gain of approximately \$5.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Finally, during fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-

term debt. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately \$11.6 million of the \$43.8 million obligation is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately \$32.2 million, is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following table shows the components of the change in fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contract activities for the year ended September 30, 2006 (in thousands):

		Marketing	
Fair value of contracts at September 30, 2005	\$ 93,310	\$ (61,898)	
Contracts realized/settled	25,461	11,106	
Fair value of new contracts	(18,651)		
Other changes in value	(127,329)	65,795	
Fair value of contracts at September 30, 2006	<u>\$ (27,209</u>)	<u>\$ 15,003</u>	

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at September 30, 2006, is segregated below by time period and fair value source.

	Fair Value of Contracts at September 30, 2006				
	Less			Greater	Total Fair
Source of Fair Value	Than 1	1-3	4-5	Than 5	Value
And the state of t		(In	thousan	ds)	
Prices actively quoted	\$(17,421)	\$7,122	\$	\$ —	\$(10,299)
Prices provided by other external sources	(440)	(936)			(1,376)
Prices based on models and other valuation methods	(255)	(276)			(531)
Total Fair Value	<u>\$(18,116)</u>	\$5,910	\$	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$(12,206)</u>

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Effective October 1, 2005, we changed the index used to value our physical natural gas from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change had no material impact to the Company on the date of adoption. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) are reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the gross profit that it captured and expects to collect through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives, which we refer to as the economic gross profit. The economic gross profit, combined with the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements in prior periods, provides a measure of the gross profit that could occur in future periods if AEM's optimization efforts are fully successful. The following table presents AEM's economic gross profit and its potential gross profit for the last three fiscal years.

Period Ending	Net Physical Position (Bcf)	Economic Gross Profit (In millions)		Associated Net Unrealized (Loss) (In millions)		Potential Gross Profit (In millions)	
September 30, 2006	14.5	\$	60.0	\$	(16.0)	\$	76.0
September 30, 2005	6.9	\$	13.1	\$	(14.8)	\$	27.9
September 30, 2004	5.4	\$	12.3	\$	(0.8)	\$	13.1

As of September 30, 2006, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the economic gross profit was \$60.0 million. In addition, \$16.0 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of September 30, 2006. Therefore, the potential gross profit was \$76.0 million. This potential gross profit amount will not result in an equal increase in future net income as AEM will incur additional storage and other operational expenses to realize this amount.

The economic gross profit is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the economic gross profit is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the economic gross profit or the potential gross profit calculated as of September 30, 2006 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, our earnings could be adversely impacted.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

Net Periodic Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, our total net periodic pension and other benefits costs was \$50.0 million, compared with \$36.4 million and \$26.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during fiscal 2006 compared with the prior year primarily reflects changes in assumptions we made during our annual pension plan valuation completed June 30, 2005. The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates were declining, which resulted in a 125 basis point reduction in our discount rate to 5.0 percent. This reduction increased the present value of our plan liabilities and associated expenses. Additionally, we reduced the expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points to 8.5 percent, which also increased our pension and postretirement benefit cost.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004 primarily reflects an increase in our service cost associated with the increase in the number of employees

covered by our plans due to the TXU Gas acquisition. Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, for purposes of determining our annual pension cost we agreed to give the transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan. With respect to our postretirement medical plan, we received a credit of \$18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under our retiree medical plan. The \$18.9 million credit approximated the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past service of the transferred employees on the acquisition date.

In addition to the increased number of employees covered by the plans, we changed the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2005 benefit costs, which resulted in an increase in our net periodic pension and postretirement costs. We increased the discount rate by 25 basis points and we reduced our expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points. These assumption changes decreased the service cost and interest cost and reduced the expected return components of our pension and postretirement benefits costs.

Pension and Postretirement Plan Funding

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made from time to time as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future.

During fiscal 2006, we voluntarily contributed \$2.9 million to the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union Employees. The current year contribution achieved a desired level of funding by satisfying the minimum funding requirements while maximizing the tax deductible contribution for this plan for plan year 2005. During fiscal 2005, we voluntarily contributed \$3.0 million to the Master Trust to maintain the level of funding we desire relative to our accumulated benefit obligation. We made the contribution because declining high yield corporate bond yields in the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date resulted in an increase in the present value of our plan liabilities.

We contributed \$10.9 million, \$10.0 million and \$13.8 million to our postretirement benefits plans for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004. The contributions represent the portion of the postretirement costs we are responsible for under the terms of our plan and minimum funding required by our regulators.

Outlook for Fiscal 2007

High grade corporate bond yields increased in the period leading up to our June 30, 2006 measurement date. Therefore, we increased the discount rate for determining our fiscal 2007 pension and benefit costs by 130 basis points to 6.3 percent. However, we reduced the expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points to 8.25 percent. The effect of these assumption changes, coupled with the effects of updating our annual valuation should not significantly affect our fiscal 2007 net pension and postretirement costs compared to fiscal 2006.

We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution to our pension plans during fiscal 2007; nor, at this time, do we intend to make voluntary contributions during 2007. However, we anticipate contributing approximately \$11 million to our postretirement medical plans during fiscal 2007.

The projected pension liability, future funding requirements and the amount of pension expense or income recognized for the Plan are subject to change, depending upon the actuarial value of plan assets and the determination of future benefit obligations as of each subsequent actuarial calculation date. These amounts are impacted by actual investment returns, changes in interest rates and changes in the demographic composition of the participants in the plan.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business activities.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt in October 2004 and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our non-regulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price non-regulated sales. Based on these projected non-regulated gas sales, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices based upon the September 30, 2006 three month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$2.3 million in fiscal 2007.

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at the end of each period. Based on AEH's net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at September 30, 2006 of 0.2 Bcf, a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had less than a \$0.1 million impact on our consolidated net income.

Changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) can result in volatility in our reported net income; but, over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges. Based upon our net physical position at September 30, 2006 and assuming our hedges would still qualify as highly effective, a \$0.50 change in the difference between the Gas Daily and NYMEX indices would impact our reported net income by approximately \$5.0 million.

Additionally, these changes could cause us to recognize a risk management liability, which would require us to place cash into an escrow account to collateralize this liability position. This, in turn, would reduce the amount of cash we would have on hand to fund our working capital needs. Because we recognized risk management liabilities as of September 30, 2006, we placed \$35.6 million in escrow to collateralize these liabilities.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$3.6 million during 2006.

We also assess market risk for our fixed and floating rate long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$143.3 million.

As of September 30, 2006, we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to financial statements and financial statement schedule:

	Page
Report of independent registered public accounting firm on consolidated financial statements	65
Financial statements and supplementary data:	
Consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2006 and 2005	66
Consolidated statements of income for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004	67
Consolidated statements of shareholders' equity for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004	68
Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004	69
Notes to consolidated financial statements	70
Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)	123
Financial statement schedule for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004	
Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts	131

All other financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not present, or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the financial statements and accompanying notes thereto.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 8. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Atmos Energy Corporation's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated November 20, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas November 20, 2006

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	Septen	nber 30
	2006	2005
	•	usands, iare data)
ASSETS		
Property, plant and equipment	\$5,026,478	\$4,631,684
Construction in progress	74,830	133,926
	5,101,308	4,765,610
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	1,472,152	1,391,243
Net property, plant and equipment	3,629,156	3,374,367
Current assets	, ,	
Cash and cash equivalents	75,815	40,116
Cash held on deposit in margin account	35,647	80,956
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of		
\$13,686 in 2006 and \$15,613 in 2005	374,629	454,313
Gas stored underground	461,502	450,807
Other current assets	<u>169,952</u>	238,238
Total current assets	1,117,545	1,264,430
Goodwill and intangible assets	738,521	737,787
Deferred charges and other assets	234,325	276,943
	\$5,719,547	\$5,653,527
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITY Shareholders' equity	TIES	
Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share);		
200,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding:		
2006 — 81,739,516 shares, 2005 — 80,539,401 shares	\$ 409	\$ 403
Additional paid-in capital	1,467,240	1,426,523
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(43,850)	(3,341
Retained earnings	224,299	178,837
Shareholders' equity	1,648,098	1,602,422
Long-term debt	2,180,362	2,183,104
Total capitalization	3,828,460	3,785,526
Commitments and contingencies		, ,
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	345,108	461,314
Other current liabilities	388,451	503,368
Short-term debt	382,416	144,809
Current maturities of long-term debt	3,186	3,264
Total current liabilities	1,119,161	1,112,755
Deferred income taxes	306,172	292,207
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	261,376	263,424
Deferred credits and other liabilities	204,378	199,615
WE WANTED THE	\$5,719,547	\$5,653,527

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Poperating revenues		Year	Year Ended September 30		
Operating revenues \$3,650,591 \$3,103,140 \$1,637,728 Utility segment 3,156,524 2,106,278 1,618,602 Pipeline and storage segment 160,567 153,289 19,758 Other nonutility segment 5,898 5,302 3,393 Intersegment eliminations (821,217) (406,136) 359,444 Other nonutility segment 2,725,534 2,195,774 1,134,594 Utility segment 3,025,897 2,044,305 1,571,971 Natural gas marketing segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nonutility segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nonutility segment liminations (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></t<>					
Natural gas marketing segment 3,156,254 2,106,278 1,618,602 1,618,60		(In thousa	(In thousands, except per share data)		
Natural gas marketing segment 3,156,254 2,106,278 1,618,602 1,618,60	Operating revenues			#1 COM #00	
Natural gas marketing segment 3,156,524 2,105,278 1,618,602 Pipeline and storage segment 160,567 153,289 19,758 Other nountility segment eliminations (821,217) (406,136) (359,444) Purchased gas cost 2,725,534 2,195,774 1,134,594 Vutility segment 3,025,897 2,044,305 1,571,971 Pipeline and storage segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nountility segment 816,476 (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Operation and maintenance 433,418 416,281 214,470 Depreciation and amortization 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 185,996 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 383,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 383,954 768,982 3					
Pipeline and storage segment Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations 160,567 153,289 15,765 33,393 3,394 (821,217) (406,136) (359,444) Intersegment eliminations 6,152,363 4,961,873 2,920,037 Purchased gas cost 2,725,534 2,195,774 1,134,594 Utility segment Natural gas marketing segment Natural gas marketing segment Pipeline and storage segment Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations 838 6,811 9,383 (681 9,383 9,384 9,383 9,384 9,383 9,384 9,383 9,384 9,383 9,384 9,383 9,384 9,383 9,384 9,3					
Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations 5,898 (821,217) (406,136) (359,444) (359,444) 3,393 (359,44) 3,393 (359,44) 3,393 (359,44) 3,393 (359,44) 3,293,393 (359,44) 3,293,393 (359,44) 3,293,393 (359,44) 3,293,393 (359,44) 3,293,397 (394,305) 1,134,594 (359,43) 3,134,594 (359,43) 3,134,395 (359,17) 3,134,395 (359,17) 3,134,395 (359,17) 3,134,395 (359,17) 3,134,395 (359,17) 3,134,395 (359,17) 3,135,395 (359,17) <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>					
Intersegment eliminations					
Purchased gas cost 2,725,534 2,195,774 1,134,594 Natural gas marketing segment 3,025,897 2,044,305 1,571,971 Pipeline and storage segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nonutility segment (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 433,418 416,281 214,470 Depreciation and amortization 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 88,153 82,333 51,538 N		**************************************			
Utility segment 2,725,534 2,195,744 1,134,594 Natural gas marketing segment 3,025,897 2,044,305 1,571,971 Pipeline and storage segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nonutility segment (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 \$86,227 Per share data	<u> </u>	6,152,363	4,961,873	2,920,037	
Othly segment 3,025,897 2,044,305 1,571,971 Pipeline and storage segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Miscellaneous income 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 86,227 Per share data<	Purchased gas cost			1 124 504	
Natural gas marketing segment 3,025,897 2,044,305 1,571,91 Pipeline and storage segment 838 6,811 9,383 Other nonutility segment (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income before income taxes 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 \$6,227 Per share data	Utility segment				
Pipeline and storage segment Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations 838 6,811 9,353 Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations (816,476) (402,654) (358,102) Intersegment eliminations 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Depreciation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 382,616 348,655 193,695 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 \$86,227 Per share data \$1.82 \$1.73 \$1.50 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>					
Intersegment eliminations (816,476) (402,634) (338,102) Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Depreciation and amortization 191,993 174,696 57,379 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 883,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 89,153 82,233 51,538 Income tax expense \$147,737 \$135,785 \$86,227 Per share data \$1,83 \$1,73 \$1,50 Per share data \$1,83 \$1,72 \$1,58 Weighted average shares outstanding: \$80,7		838	6,811	9,383	
Gross profit 4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 Operating expenses 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 382,616 348,655 193,695 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1,83 \$ 1,73 \$ 1,60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1,82 \$ 1,72 \$ 1,58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731	Other nonutility segment		(400 (54)	(259 102)	
Gross profit 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Depreciation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 86,227 Per share data \$1,83 \$1.73 \$1.60 Diluted net income per share \$1,82 \$1.72 \$1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 31,200 70,013	Intersegment eliminations				
Gross profit Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Depreciation and amortization 191,993 174,696 57,379 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 881 2,021 9,507 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 \$86,227 Per share data \$1.83 \$1.73 \$1.60 Diluted net income per share \$1.83 \$1.73 \$1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,200 79,012 54,416	-	4,935,793			
Operating expenses 433,418 416,281 214,470 Operation and maintenance 185,596 178,005 96,647 Depreciation and amortization 191,993 174,696 57,379 Taxes, other than income 22,947 — — Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1,83 \$ 1,73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1,83 \$ 1,73 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: \$ 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic \$ 1,200 79,012 54,416	Gross profit	1,216,570	1,117,637	562,191	
Operation and maintenance 433,418 416,281 214,470 Depreciation and amortization 185,596 178,005 96,647 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 \$86,227 Per share data \$1.83 \$1.73 \$1.60 Diluted net income per share \$3,731 78,508 54,021 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,200 79,012 54,416					
Depreciation and amortization 185,596 178,005 96,047 Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$147,737 \$135,785 \$86,227 Per share data \$1.83 \$1.73 \$1.60 Basic net income per share \$1.82 \$1.72 \$1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 80,731 78,508 54,021					
Taxes, other than income 191,993 174,696 57,379 Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 89,153 82,233 51,538 Income tax expense \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Basic net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 79,012 54,416			•		
Impairment of long-lived assets 22,947 — — Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 70,012 54,416			174,696	57,379	
Total operating expenses 833,954 768,982 368,496 Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,200 70,012 54,416		<u>22,947</u>		***************************************	
Operating income 382,616 348,655 193,695 Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,507 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 79,012 54,416	*	833,954	768,982		
Miscellaneous income 881 2,021 9,307 Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 79,012 54,416		382,616	348,655		
Interest charges 146,607 132,658 65,437 Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 79,012 54,416		881	2,021		
Income before income taxes 236,890 218,018 137,765 Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 79,012 54,416		146,607	132,658	65,437	
Income tax expense 89,153 82,233 51,538 Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,300 79,012 54,416	-	236,890	218,018	137,765	
Net income \$ 147,737 \$ 135,785 \$ 86,227 Per share data \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Basic net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: \$ 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic \$ 1.300 79,012 54,416		89,153	82,233	51,538	
Per share data Basic net income per share Diluted net income per share Weighted average shares outstanding: Basic \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: Basic	-	\$ 147,737	\$ 135,785	\$ 86,227	
Basic net income per share \$ 1.83 \$ 1.73 \$ 1.60 Diluted net income per share \$ 1.82 \$ 1.72 \$ 1.58 Weighted average shares outstanding: 80,731 78,508 54,021 Basic 81,200 70,012 54,416		 	11.00.2		
Diluted net income per share Same		\$ 1.83	\$ 1.73	\$ 1.60	
Weighted average shares outstanding: Basic 80,731 78,508 54,021 81,300 70,012 54,416				\$ 1.58	
Basic 80,731 78,508 54,021	-	<u> </u>	Φ 1.72	<u> </u>	
Basic =	Weighted average shares outstanding:	00.731	70 500	54.021	
Diluted 81,390 79,012 54,416	Basic				
	Diluted	81,390	79,012	<u>54,416</u>	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Number of Name of N					Accumulated		
Share Shar							
Camprehensive income: National Nationa							90. / J
Balance, September 30, 2003		Shares	Value				10121
Net income				•			
Net income		51,475,785	\$ 257	\$ 736,180	\$ (1,459)	\$ 122,539	\$ 857,517
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net						0.4.00	06.007
Treasury lock agreements, net — — C1,268 — (21,268) — (21,268) — 2,583 — 7,583 — 7,583 — 7,583 — 7,583 — 7,583 — 7,583 Todal comprehensive income 7,583 — 7,583 7,781 8,302 9,981,009		****		_		86,227	
Cash flow hedges, net							
Total comprehensive income				*******		***************************************	
Cash dividends (\$1.22 per share)	Cash flow hedges, net	*********			7,583		
Public offering 9,939,393 50 235,419 235,469 Public offering 9,939,393 50 235,419 235,469 Direct stock purchase plan 556,856 3 13,726 13,729 Retirement savings plan 320,313 2 8,300 8,300 1998 Long-term incentive plan 498,230 2 11,848 11,850 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 6,000 94 94 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 3,133 77 77 Balance, September 30, 2004 62,799,710 314 1,005,644 (14,529 142,030 1,133,459 Comprehensive income: Teasury lock agreements, net .							
Public offering 9,939,393 50 235,419 235,469 235	Cash dividends (\$1.22 per share)			***************************************		(66,736)) (66,736)
Direct stock purchase plan 556,856 3 13,726	Common stock issued:						
Retirement savings plan 320,313 2 8,300 — — 8,302 1998 Long-term incentive plan 498,230 2 11,848 — — 11,850 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 6,000 — 94 — 94 — 94 — — 94 94	Public offering	9,939,393	50				
1998 Long-term incentive plan	Direct stock purchase plan	556,856	3				
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 3,133 - 777 94 777	Retirement savings plan	320,313	2		***************************************		
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 3,133 — 77 — — 77 Balance, September 30, 2004 62,799,710 314 1,005,644 (14,529) 142,030 1,133,459 Comprehensive income: — — — 135,785 135,785 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — — 1,528 — 1,528 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — (2,714) — (2,714) Cash flow hedges, net — — — 12,374 — 12,374 Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) — — — — (98,978) (98,978) Common stock issued: — — — — 98,788 (98,978) Common stock issued: — — — — 98,787 (98,978) Public offering 16,100,000 80 381,271 — — 381,351 Direct stock purchase plan 450,212 3 11,767 —	1998 Long-term incentive plan	498,230	2	11,848			
Courside directors stock-for-fee plan 3,133 - 77 - 77 - 77 1	Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division	6,000					
Net income		3,133		77			
Net income	Balance, September 30, 2004	62,799,710	314	1,005,644	(14,529)	142,030	1,133,459
Net income		,,		, ,	, , ,		
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net Treasury lock agreements, net Cash flow hedges, net Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) Common stock issued: Public offering Direct stock purchase plan A450,212 Bill, 767 Bill, 768 Bill, 768 Bill, 771 Bill, 768 Bill, 778 Bill, 768 Bill, 768 Bill, 768 Bill, 778 Bill, 768 Bill, 768 Bill, 778 Bill, 768 Bill, 768 Bill, 778 Bill, 778 Bill, 768 Bill, 778 Bill,	-					135,785	135,785
Treasury lock agreements, net Cash flow hedges, net Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) Common stock issued: Public offering Direct stock purchase plan Stock-based compensation Outside directors stock-forene Net income Unrealized holding gains on investments, net Treasury lock agreements, net Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) Comprehensive income Net income Unrealized holding splan on investments, net Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) Common stock issued: Public offering 16,100,000 80 381,271 — — 381,351 1— — — 12,489 Retirement savings plan 441,350 2 11,767 — — — 11,769 1998 Long-term incentive plan 745,788 4 14,116 — — 14,120 Stock-based compensation Stock-based compensation Comprehensive income Net income Unrealized holding gains on investments, net Treasury lock agreements, net Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) Common stock issued: Direct stock purchase plan 387,833 2 10,391 — — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 Stock-based compensation Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 666 — 66					1,528		
Cash flow hedges, net — — — 12,374 — 12,374 Total comprehensive income — — — — — (98,978) (98,978) Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) — — — — — (98,978) (98,978) Common stock issued: — — — — — — 381,351 — — 381,351 Direct stock purchase plan 450,212 3 12,486 — — 12,489 Retirement savings plan 441,350 2 11,767 — — 114,120 Stock-based compensation — — 1,175 — — 14,120 Stock-based compensation — — 1,175 — — 11,757 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,341 — 64 — — 1,175 Comprehensive income — — — — 147,737 147,737 147,737 147,737					(2,714)		(2,714)
Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) Common stock issued: Public offering 16,100,000 80 381,271							12,374
Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share) — — — — (98,978) (98,978) Common stock issued: Public offering 16,100,000 80 381,271 — 381,351 Direct stock purchase plan 450,212 3 12,486 — — 12,489 Retirement savings plan 441,350 2 11,767 — — 11,769 1998 Long-term incentive plan 745,788 4 14,116 — — 14,120 Stock-based compensation — — 1,175 — — 11,769 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,341 — 64 — — 64 Balance, September 30, 2005 80,539,401 403 1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 Comprehensive income: — — — 147,737 147,737 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — — 147,737 147,737 Treasury lock agreements, net — —							
Public offering 16,100,000 80 381,271				***************************************		(98,978)	
Public offering 16,100,000 80 381,271 — 381,351 Direct stock purchase plan 450,212 3 12,486 — — 12,489 Retirement savings plan 441,350 2 11,767 — — 11,769 1998 Long-term incentive plan 745,788 4 14,116 — — 14,120 Stock-based compensation — — 1,175 — — 1,175 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,341 — 64 — — 64 Balance, September 30, 2005 80,539,401 403 1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 Comprehensive income: — — — 147,737 147,737 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — — 882 — 882 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — 44,833 — (44,833) Total comprehensive income — — — — (102,2						(2 -)- / - /	(3)
Direct stock purchase plan		16 100 000	80	381 271			381,351
Retirement savings plan					****		
1998 Long-term incentive plan 745,788 4 14,116 — — 14,120 Stock-based compensation — — 1,175 — — 1,175 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,341 — 64 — — 64 Balance, September 30, 2005 80,539,401 403 1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 Comprehensive income: — — — — 147,737 147,737 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — — 882 — 882 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — 882 — 882 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — 3,442 — 3,442 Cash flow hedges, net — — — — 3,442 — 3,442 Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) — — — — — (102,275) Common stock issued: — — —							
Stock-based compensation — — 1,175 — — 1,175 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,341 — 64 — — 64 Balance, September 30, 2005 80,539,401 403 1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 Comprehensive income: — — — — 147,737 147,737 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — — 882 — 882 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — 3,442 — 3,442 Cash flow hedges, net — — — 3,442 — 3,442 Cash flow hedges, net — — — (44,833) — (44,833) — (44,833) — (44,833) — (44,833) — (102,275) (102,275) (102,275) Common stock issued: — — — — (102,275) (102,275) (102,275) Common stock purchase plan 387,833 2	1008 Long-term incentive plan						
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,341 — 64 — 64 Balance, September 30, 2005 80,539,401 403 1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 Comprehensive income: — — — — 147,737 147,737 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — — 882 — 882 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — 3,442 — 3,442 Cash flow hedges, net — — — (44,833) — (44,833) Total comprehensive income — — — (44,833) — (102,275) Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) — — — — (102,275) (102,275) Common stock issued: — — — — (102,275) (102,275) Common stock purchase plan 387,833 2 10,391 — — — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2	Stook bood compensation	7-15,700			**************************************		1.175
Balance, September 30, 2005 80,539,401 403 1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 Comprehensive income: Net income ———————————————————————————————————		2 3/1				*	
Comprehensive income: Net income — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	-		402		(2 2/1)	170 027	
Net income — — — 147,737 147,737 Unrealized holding gains on investments, net — — 882 — 882 Treasury lock agreements, net — — — 3,442 — 3,442 Cash flow hedges, net — — — (44,833) — (44,833) Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) — — — (102,275) (102,275) Common stock issued: Direct stock purchase plan 387,833 2 10,391 — — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66 </td <td>Balance, September 30, 2005</td> <td>80,539,401</td> <td>403</td> <td>1,420,323</td> <td>(3,341)</td> <td>170,037</td> <td>1,002,422</td>	Balance, September 30, 2005	80,539,401	403	1,420,323	(3,341)	170,037	1,002,422
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net Treasury lock agreements, net Cash flow hedges, net Cash flow hedges, net Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) Common stock issued: Direct stock purchase plan Retirement savings plan Adaptate Adaptate Direct stock purchase plan Sar,833 2 10,391 — 10,393 Retirement savings plan Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Base — 882 Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Base — 882 Adaptate Adaptate Base — 882 Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Adaptate Base — 882 Adaptate						147 727	147 737
Treasury lock agreements, net Cash flow hedges, net Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) Common stock issued: Direct stock purchase plan Retirement savings plan 107,228 103,442 107,228 107,228 100,275) 100,275) 100,275) 100,391 100,393 11,918 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 100,393 11,918 11,920 1998 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 100,393 100,391 11,918 11,920				_		147,737	
Cash flow hedges, net — — — (44,833) — (44,833) Total comprehensive income Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) — — — (102,275) (102,275) Common stock issued: Direct stock purchase plan 387,833 2 10,391 — — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66				_			
Total comprehensive income 107,228 Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) — — (102,275) (102,275) Common stock issued: — — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — 9,361 — — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66			-			-	
Cash dividends (\$1.26 per share) — — — — (102,275) Common stock issued: — — — 10,393 Direct stock purchase plan 387,833 2 10,391 — — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66	g ·			-	(44,033)		
Common stock issued: 387,833 2 10,391 — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66						(100.075)	
Direct stock purchase plan 387,833 2 10,391 — 10,393 Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66				~	************	(102,275)	(102,275)
Retirement savings plan 442,635 2 11,918 — — 11,920 1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66			_	10.001			10 202
1998 Long-term incentive plan 366,905 2 8,976 — 8,978 Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 — 5 — — 5 Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66							
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division 300 5 — 5 Stock-based compensation — 9,361 — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — 66	Retirement savings plan				******		
Stock-based compensation — — 9,361 — — 9,361 Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 — 66 — — 66			2			-	
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan 2,442 66 66 66		300				\	
Balance, September 30, 2006 81,739,516 409 \$1,467,240 \$ (43,850) \$224,299 \$1,648,098	Outside directors stock-for-fee plan						
	Balance, September 30, 2006	81,739,516	\$ 409	<u>\$1,467,240</u>	<u>\$ (43,850)</u>	\$ 224,299	<u>\$1,648,098</u>

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	Year Ended September 30		
	2006	2005	2004
		(In thousands)	
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Net income	\$ 147,737	\$ 135,785	\$ 86,227
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating			
activities:			
Gain on sales of assets			(6,700)
Impairment of long-lived assets	22,947		
Depreciation and amortization:			
Charged to depreciation and amortization	185,596	178,005	96,647
Charged to other accounts	371	791	1,465
Deferred income taxes	86,178	12,669	36,997
Other	18,480	11,522	(1,772)
Changes in assets and liabilities:		(00.050)	15.003
(Increase) decrease in cash held on deposit in margin account	45,309	(80,956)	17,903
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable	78,407	(166,692)	2,158
Increase in gas stored underground	(10,695)	(112,796)	(31,030)
Increase in other current assets	(52,449)	(56,828)	(9,233)
Decrease in deferred charges and other assets	28,614	30,059	17,178
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(116,060)	224,375	4,586
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities	(113,977)	218,715	48,877
Increase (decrease) in deferred credits and other liabilities	(9,009)	(7,705)	7,431
Net cash provided by operating activities	311,449	386,944	270,734
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Capital expenditures	(425,324)	(333,183)	(190,285)
Acquisitions, net of cash received		(1,916,696)	(1,957)
Proceeds from sales of assets		-	27,919
Other, net	(5,767)	(2,131)	(570)
Net cash used in investing activities	(431,091)	(2,252,010)	(164,893)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Net increase (decrease) in short-term debt	237,607	144,809	(118,595)
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt		1,385,847	5,000
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements		(43,770)	
Repayment of long-term debt	(3,264)	(103,425)	(9,713)
Cash dividends paid	(102,275)	(98,978)	(66,736)
Issuance of common stock	23,273	37,183	34,715
Net proceeds from equity offering		381,584	<u>235,737</u>
Net cash provided by financing activities	155,341	1,703,250	80,408
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	35,699	(161,816)	186,249
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	40,116	201,932	15,683
Cash and cash equivalents at obgaining of year	\$ 75,815	\$ 40,116	\$ 201,932
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	Ψ / / , 0 ± 3	- 10,110	<u> </u>

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. Through our natural gas utility business, we distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public-authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

Division	Service Area
Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division	Colorado, Kansas, Missouri (2)
Atmos Energy Kentucky Division (1)	Kentucky
Atmos Energy Louisiana Division	Louisiana
Atmos Energy Mid-States Division (1)	Georgia (2), Illinois (2), Iowa (2), Missouri (2),
	Tennessee, Virginia (2)
Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan
	area
Atmos Energy Mississippi Division	Mississippi
Atmos Energy West Texas Division	West Texas

⁽¹⁾ Effective October 1, 2006, the Kentucky and Mid-States Divisions were combined.

In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system. Our utility business is subject to federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which the utility divisions operate. Our shared-services division is located in Dallas, Texas, and our customer support centers are located in Amarillo and Waco, Texas.

Our nonutility businesses operate in 22 states and include our natural gas marketing operations, our pipeline and storage operations and our other nonutility operations. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by the Company.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage operations consist of the operations of our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas to third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

⁽²⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services (AES), LLC and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services, which began in April 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have entered into agreements to lease these plants.

Prior to January 2004, United Cities Propane Gas, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of AEH, owned an approximate 19 percent membership interest in U.S. Propane L.P. (USP), a joint venture formed in February 2000 with three other utility companies. Through our ownership in USP, we owned an approximate five percent indirect interest in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. (Heritage). During 2004, we sold our interest in USP and Heritage. We received cash proceeds of \$26.6 million and recorded a pretax book gain of \$5.9 million with these transactions. We no longer have an interest in the propane industry.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Atmos Energy Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Use of estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The most significant estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes, asset retirement obligation, impairment of long-lived assets, risk management and trading activities and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Regulation — Our utility operations are subject to regulation with respect to rates, service, maintenance of accounting records and various other matters by the respective regulatory authorities in the states in which we operate. Our accounting policies recognize the financial effects of the ratemaking and accounting practices and policies of the various regulatory commissions. Regulated utility operations are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. This statement requires cost-based, rate-regulated entities that meet certain criteria to reflect the authorized recovery of costs due to regulatory decisions in their financial statements. As a result, certain costs are permitted to be capitalized rather than expensed because they can be recovered through rates.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

We record regulatory assets as a component of other current assets and deferred charges and other assets for costs that have been deferred for which future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded either on the face of the balance sheet or as a component of current liabilities, deferred income taxes or deferred credits and other liabilities when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 included the following:

	September 30	
	2006	2005
	(In tho	usands)
Regulatory assets:		
Merger and integration costs, net	\$ 8,644	\$ 9,150
Deferred gas costs	44,992	38,173
Environmental costs	1,234	1,357
Rate case costs	10,579	11,314
Deferred franchise fees	1,311	6,710
Other	9,055	9,313
	\$ 75,815	\$ 76,017
Regulatory liabilities:		
Deferred gas costs	\$ 68,959	\$134,048
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	276,490	274,989
Deferred income taxes, net	235	3,185
Other	10,825	8,084
	\$356,509	\$420,306

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on certain of our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we recognized \$0.5 million, \$2.3 million and \$8.2 million in amortization expense related to these costs. Environmental costs have been deferred to be included in future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

As of September 30, 2006, our Mid-States Division had open rate cases in its Missouri and Tennessee service areas seeking rate increases of \$3.4 million in each jurisdiction. The Tennessee rate was settled in October 2006 and resulted in a \$6.1 million reduction in future annual revenues. We anticipate that the Missouri rate case will be finalized in February 2007. In addition, during 2006 our Mid-Tex Division filed a system-wide case seeking incremental annual revenues of approximately \$60 million and several rate design changes. A ruling on this filing is anticipated by April 2007.

Revenue recognition — Sales of natural gas to our utility customers are billed on a monthly cycle basis; however, the billing cycle periods for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide with accounting periods used for financial reporting purposes. We follow the revenue accrual method of accounting for utility segment revenues whereby revenues applicable to gas delivered to customers, but not yet billed under the cycle billing method, are estimated and accrued and the related costs are charged to expense. Revenue is recognized in our pipeline and storage segment as the services are provided.

On occasion, we are permitted to implement new rates that have not been formally approved by our regulators and are subject to refund. As permitted by SFAS No. 71, we recognize this revenue and establish a

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

reserve for amounts that could be refunded based on our experience for the jurisdiction in which the rates were implemented.

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to address all of the utility's non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price fluctuations compared to the utility's other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility's cost of service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through purchased gas adjustments, but they do provide a dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility gas costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we purchase, utility gross profit is generally not affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased gas adjustment mechanism. The effects of these purchased gas adjustment mechanisms are recorded as deferred gas costs on our balance sheet.

Energy trading contracts resulting in the delivery of a commodity where we are the principal in the transaction are recorded as natural gas marketing sales or purchases at the time of physical delivery. Realized gains and losses from the settlement of financial instruments that do not result in physical delivery related to our natural gas marketing energy trading contracts and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the market value of open contracts are included as a component of natural gas marketing revenues. For the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we included unrealized gains (losses) on open contracts of \$17.2 million, (\$26.0) million and (\$2.8) million as a component of natural gas marketing revenues.

Cash and cash equivalents — We consider all highly liquid investments with an initial or remaining maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Cash held on deposit in margin account — Cash held on deposit in margin account consists of deposits made to collateralize certain financial derivatives purchased in support of our risk management activities. Under the terms of these derivative contracts, when the fair value of financial instruments held represents a net liability position, we are required to deposit cash into a margin account.

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts — Accounts receivable consist of natural gas sales to residential, commercial, industrial, municipal, agricultural and other customers. For the majority of our receivables, we establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our collections experience. On certain other receivables where we are aware of a specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay, we record an allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably expect to collect. However, if circumstances change, our estimate of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be different. Circumstances which could affect our estimates include, but are not limited to, customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices, customer deposits and general economic conditions. Accounts are written off once they are deemed to be uncollectible.

Gas stored underground — Our gas stored underground is comprised of natural gas injected into storage to support the winter season withdrawals for our utility operations and natural gas held by our natural gas marketing and other nonutility subsidiaries to conduct their operations. The average cost method is used for all our utility divisions, except for certain jurisdictions in the Mid-States Division, where it is valued on the first-in first-out method basis, in accordance with regulatory requirements. The average gas cost method is also used for our natural gas marketing segment and our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division. Our Natural Gas Marketing segment utilizes the average cost method; however, most of this inventory is hedged and is therefore marked to market at the end of each month. Gas in storage that is retained as cushion gas to maintain reservoir pressure is classified as property, plant and equipment and is valued at cost.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Utility property, plant and equipment — Utility property, plant and equipment is stated at original cost, net of contributions in aid of construction. The cost of additions includes direct construction costs, payroll related costs (taxes, pensions and other fringe benefits), administrative and general costs and an allowance for funds used during construction. The allowance for funds used during construction represents the estimated cost of funds used to finance the construction of major projects and are capitalized in the rate base for ratemaking purposes when the completed projects are placed in service. Interest expense of \$3.6 million, \$2.5 million and \$1.2 million was capitalized in 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Major renewals, including replacement pipe, and betterments that are recoverable under our regulatory rate base are capitalized while the costs of maintenance and repairs that are not recoverable through rates are charged to expense as incurred. The costs of large projects are accumulated in construction in progress until the project is completed. When the project is completed, tested and placed in service, the balance is transferred to the utility plant in service account included in the rate base and depreciation begins.

Utility property, plant and equipment is depreciated at various rates on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. These rates are approved by our regulatory commissions and are comprised of two components, one based on average service life and one based on cost of removal. Accordingly, we recognize our cost of removal expense as a component of depreciation expense. The related cost of removal accrual is reflected as a regulatory liability on the consolidated balance sheet. At the time property, plant and equipment is retired, removal expenses less salvage, are charged to the regulatory cost of removal accrual. The composite depreciation rate was 3.9 percent, 4.0 percent and 3.8 percent for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Nonutility property, plant and equipment — Nonutility property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is generally computed on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes based upon estimated useful lives ranging from 8 to 38 years.

Asset retirement obligations — SFAS 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations and FIN 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, which became effective for us September 30, 2006, require that we record a liability at fair value for an asset retirement obligation when the legal obligation to retire the asset has been incurred with an offsetting increase to the carrying value of the related asset. Accretion of the asset retirement obligation due to the passage of time is recorded as an operating expense.

As of September 30, 2006, we adopted the provisions of FIN 47. As a result of adopting FIN 47, we recorded an asset retirement obligation of \$15.1 million associated with our distribution system. As retirement costs incurred by the distribution system are recovered from utility customers, this liability had previously been captured in our regulatory cost of removal liability. As a result of adopting FIN 47, we reclassified the \$15.1 million from regulatory cost of removal liability to asset retirement obligation. In addition, we recorded \$4.8 million of asset retirement costs that will be depreciated over the remaining life of the underlying associated asset lives. We believe we have a legal obligation to retire our storage wells. However, we have not recognized an asset retirement obligation associated with our storage wells because there is not sufficient industry history to reasonably estimate the fair value of this obligation. The adoption of FIN 47 did not have an impact to our results operations as the cost of removal expense has previously been recorded as described above. In accordance with the transition guidance of FIN 47, prior periods have not been restated; however, the asset retirement obligation as of September 30, 2005 would have been \$14.6 million.

Impairment of long-lived assets — We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that other long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful life may warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's carrying value over its fair value is recorded.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, we determined that, as a result of declining irrigation sales primarily associated with our agricultural customers' shift from gas-powered pumps to electric pumps, the West Texas Division's irrigation assets would not be able to generate sufficient future cash flows from operations to recover the net investment in these assets. Therefore, we recorded a \$22.9 million charge to impairment to write off the entire net book value. We will continue to operate these assets until we determine a plan for these assets as we are obligated to provide natural gas services to certain customers served by these assets.

Goodwill and intangible assets — We annually evaluate our goodwill balances for impairment during our second fiscal quarter or more frequently as impairment indicators arise. We use a present value technique based on discounted cash flows to estimate the fair value of our reporting units. These calculations are dependent on several subjective factors including the timing of future cash flows, future growth rates and the discount rate. An impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its fair value.

Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of 10 years. These assets are reviewed for impairment as impairment indicators arise. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's carrying value over its fair value is recorded. To date, no impairment has been recognized.

Marketable securities — As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, all of our marketable securities were classified as available-for-sale securities based upon the criteria of SFAS 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. In accordance with that standard, these securities are reported at market value with unrealized gains and losses shown as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). We regularly evaluate the performance of these investments on a fund by fund basis for impairment, taking into consideration the fund's purpose, volatility and current returns. If a determination is made that a decline in fair value is other than temporary, the related fund is written down to its estimated fair value.

Derivatives and hedging activities — Our derivative and hedging activities are tailored to the segment to which they relate. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. Effective October 1, 2005, we changed the index used to value our physical natural gas from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change did not have a material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption.

Utility Segment

In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage and financial derivatives to partially insulate us and our natural gas utility customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. The financial derivatives we use in our utility segment are accounted for under the mark-to-market method pursuant to SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Changes in the valuation of these derivatives primarily result from changes in the valuation of the portfolio of contracts, maturity and settlement

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

of contracts and newly originated transactions. However, because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment will ultimately be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. The changes in the assets and liabilities from risk management activities are recognized in purchased gas cost in the income statement when the related gain or loss is recovered through our rates.

Natural Gas Marketing Segment

Our natural gas marketing risk management activities are conducted through AEM. AEM is exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas, and we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Option contracts provide the right, but not the requirement, to buy or sell the commodity at a fixed price. Swap contracts require receipt of payment for the commodity based on the difference between a fixed price and the market price on the settlement date. The use of these contracts is subject to our risk management policies, which are monitored for compliance daily.

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in gross profit margins. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Under SFAS 133, natural gas inventory is designated as the hedged item in a fair-value hedge and is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in revenue in the period of change. Effective October 1, 2005, we changed the index used to value our physical natural gas from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change had no material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas and deliver it out of the storage facility.

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction. In addition, we continually manage our positions to optimize value as market conditions and other circumstances change. When evaluating effectiveness, we exclude the differential between the spot price used to value our physical inventory and the forward price used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory.

Similar to our inventory position, we attempt to mitigate substantially all of the commodity price risk associated with our fixed-price contracts with minimum volume requirements through the use of various offsetting derivatives. Prior to April 1, 2004, these derivatives were not designated as hedges under SFAS 133 because they naturally locked in the economic gross profit margin at the time we entered into the contract. The fixed-price forward and offsetting derivative contracts were marked to market each month with changes in

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses recorded in revenue in our consolidated statement of income. The unrealized gains and losses were realized as a component of revenue in the period in which we fulfilled the requirements of the fixed-price contract and the derivatives were settled. To the extent that the unrealized gains and losses of the fixed-price forward contracts and the offsetting derivatives did not offset exactly, our earnings experienced some volatility. At delivery, the gains and losses on the fixed-price contracts were offset by gains and losses on the derivatives, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction.

Effective April 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales. As a result, we ceased marking the fixed-price forward contracts to market. We have designated the offsetting derivative contracts as cash flow hedges of anticipated transactions. As a result of this change, unrealized gains and losses on these open derivative contracts are now recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes are sold. In addition, we continually manage our positions to optimize value as market conditions and other circumstances change.

Additionally, we utilize storage swaps and futures to capture additional storage arbitrage opportunities that arise subsequent to the execution of the original fair value hedge associated with our physical natural gas inventory, basis swaps to insulate and protect the economic value of our fixed price and storage books and various over-the-counter and exchange-traded options. Although the purpose of these instruments is to either reduce basis or other risks or lock in arbitrage opportunities, these derivative instruments have not been designated as hedges. Accordingly, these derivative instruments are recorded at fair value with all changes in fair value included in revenue of our natural gas marketing segment.

In our natural gas marketing segment, hedge ineffectiveness arising from natural gas market price differences between the locations of the hedged inventory and the delivery location specified in the hedge instruments (referred to as basis ineffectiveness) for our fair value hedges resulted in an unrealized gain of \$15.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with an unrealized loss of \$1.7 million and \$0.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Basis ineffectiveness for our cash flow hedges resulted in an unrealized gain of approximately \$20.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with an unrealized loss of approximately \$3.7 million and \$0.5 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Hedge ineffectiveness arising from the timing of the settlement of physical contracts and the settlement of the related fair value hedge resulted in an unrealized gain of approximately \$4.4 million and \$0.5 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2004 and an unrealized loss of approximately \$2.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increased ineffectiveness is due to the high level of market volatility experienced in 2006.

Additionally, we have a policy which allows for the use of master netting agreements with significant counterparties that allow us to offset gains and losses arising from derivative instruments that may be settled in cash and/or gains and losses arising from derivative instruments that may be settled with the physical commodity. Assets and liabilities from risk management activities, as well as accounts receivable and payable, reflect the master netting agreements in place.

Pipeline and Storage Segment

Similar to AEM, Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC has designated its natural gas inventory as the hedged item in a fair-value hedge. The inventory is marked to market at the end of each month based upon Gas Daily index. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of natural gas inventory should be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction.

In our pipeline and storage segment, actual hedge ineffectiveness arising from the timing of settlement of physical contracts and the settlement of the derivative instruments resulted in a loss of approximately \$4.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2006, a gain of approximately \$5.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 and a loss of less than \$0.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, to the extent effective, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury lock agreements are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately \$11.6 million of the \$43.8 million obligation is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately \$32.2 million, is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement.

The fair value of our financial derivatives is determined through a combination of prices actively quoted on national exchanges, prices provided by other external sources and prices based on models and other valuation methods. Changes in the valuation of our financial derivatives primarily result from changes in market prices, the valuation of the portfolio of our contracts, maturity and settlement of these contracts and newly originated transactions, each of which directly affect the estimated fair value of our derivatives. We believe the market prices and models used to value these derivatives represent the best information available with respect to closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. Values are adjusted to reflect the potential impact of an orderly liquidation of our positions over a reasonable period of time under present market conditions.

Pension and other postretirement plans — Pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and current demographic and actuarial mortality data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The assumed discount rate and the expected return are the assumptions that generally have the most significant impact on our pension costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate, the assumed health care cost trend rate and assumed rates of retirement generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement plan costs and liabilities.

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actuarial present value of our pension and postretirement obligation and net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our discount rate, we consider high quality corporate bond rates based on Moody's Aa bond index, changes in those rates from the prior year and the implied discount rate that is derived from matching our projected benefit disbursements with a high quality corporate bond spot rate curve.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is utilized in calculating the expected return on plan assets component of the annual pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the expected return on plan assets by evaluating expected bond returns, equity risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan management, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical performance. We also consider the guidance from our investment advisors in making final determination of our expected rate of return on assets. To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized over the course of a year is greater than or less than the assumed rate, that year's annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not affected. Rather, this gain or loss reduces or increases future pension or postretirement plan cost over a period of approximately ten to twelve years.

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend rate used in determining our postretirement net cost based upon our actual health care cost experience, the effects of recently enacted legislation and general economic conditions. Our assumed rate of retirement is estimated based upon our annual review of our participant census information as of the measurement date.

Income taxes — Income taxes are provided based on the liability method, which results in income tax assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years. The liability method requires the effect of tax rate changes on current and accumulated deferred income taxes to be reflected in the period in which the rate change was enacted. The liability method also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance unless it is more likely than not that the assets will be realized.

Stock-based compensation plans — We maintain the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan that provides for the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to officers, division presidents and other key employees. Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire our common stock.

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123(R)). This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123(R), the Company is required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 included: (i) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123; and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. The impact of adoption on total stock-based compensation expense included in our statement of income for the year ended September 30, 2006 was \$0.4 million and was recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense. In accordance with the modified prospective method, financial results for prior periods have not been restated.

Prior to October 1, 2005, we accounted for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in APB Opinion 25, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options was recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock were

Vear Ended

Table of Contents

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation was amortized as a component of operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock.

Total stock-based compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 was \$9.4 million as compared to \$3.9 million and \$1.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Had compensation expense for our stock-based awards been recognized as prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Septem	
	2005	2004
	(In thousan per shar	
Net income — as reported	\$135,785	\$86,227
Restricted stock compensation expense included in income, net of tax	2,431	978
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair-value-based		
method for all awards, net of taxes	(3,161)	(2,092)
Net income — pro forma	\$135,055	\$85,113
Earnings per share:		
Basic earnings per share — as reported	\$ 1.73	\$ 1.60
Basic earnings per share — pro forma	\$ 1.72	\$ 1.57
Diluted earnings per share — as reported	\$ 1.72	\$ 1.58
Diluted earnings per share — pro forma	\$ 1.71	\$ 1.56

Accumulated other comprehensive loss — Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

	Septem	ber 30
	2006	2005
	(In thou	isands)
Unrealized holding gains on investments	\$ 1,566	\$ 684
Treasury lock agreements	(20,540)	(23,982)
Cash flow hedges	(24,876)	19,957
	<u>\$(43,850)</u>	\$ (3,341)

Recent accounting pronouncements — In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments, which amends SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 155 (a) permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, (b) clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS 133, (c) establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, (d) clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives and (e) amends SFAS 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument. SFAS 155 is effective for

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

all financial instruments acquired or issued by us after October 1, 2006 and the adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 156, Accounting for Servicing Financial Assets, which amends SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 156 (a) revises guidance on when a servicing asset and servicing liability should be recognized, (b) requires all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities to be initially measured at fair value, if practicable, (c) permits an entity to choose to measure servicing assets and servicing liabilities under the amortization method or fair value measurement method, (d) at initial adoption, permits a one-time reclassification of available-for-sale securities to trading securities by entities with recognized servicing rights, without calling into question the treatment of other available-for-sale securities under SFAS 115, provided that the available-for-sale securities are identified as offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value of servicing assets or liabilities that the servicer elects to subsequently measure at fair value and (e) requires separate presentation of servicing assets and servicing liabilities subsequently measured at fair value in the statement of financial position and additional footnote disclosure. We will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 156 beginning October 1, 2006 and such application is expected not to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) ratified EITF Issue No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation). The EITF reached a consensus that the scope of this issue includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may include sales, use, value added and some excise taxes. The EITF also reached a consensus that entities may present these taxes on either a gross or net basis. If the taxes are significant, an entity should disclose its policy of presenting taxes and the amounts of taxes that are recognized on a gross basis in interim and annual financial statements. We will be required to apply the provisions of EITF 06-3 beginning January 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our results of operations.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by establishing standards for measurement and recognition in financial statements of positions taken by an entity in its income tax returns. This interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition of income tax assets and liabilities, classification of current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities, accounting for interest and penalties, accounting for income taxes in interim periods and income tax disclosures. We will be required to apply the provisions of FIN 48 beginning October 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements required under other accounting pronouncements but does not change existing guidance as to whether or not an instrument is carried at fair value. We will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 157 beginning October 1, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). The new standard makes a significant change to the existing rules by requiring recognition in the balance sheet of the overfunded or underfunded positions of defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans, along with a corresponding noncash, after-tax adjustment to stockholders' equity. Additionally, this standard requires that the measurement date must correspond to the fiscal year end balance sheet date. This standard does not change how net periodic pension and postretirement cost or the projected benefit obligation is determined. The balance sheet recognition

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

guidance of this standard will be effective for fiscal 2007 and the measurement date provisions of this guidance can be adopted as late as fiscal 2008 for our company.

3. Acquisitions

TXU Gas Company

In October 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company. The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion (after closing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We did not assume any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. The purchase was accounted for as an asset purchase. We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed in July 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance in October 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into in September 2004 to provide bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes in October 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion, and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock in October 2004, which generated net proceeds of \$381.6 million.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 1, 2004 (in thousands):

Cash purchase price	\$1,908,999
Transaction costs and expenses	7,697
Total purchase price	<u>\$1,916,696</u>
Net property, plant and equipment	\$1,471,643
Accounts receivable	75,811
Gas stored underground	137,877
Other current assets	22,094
Goodwill	493,603
Deferred charges and other assets	42,069
Deferred income taxes	7,925
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(51,644)
Other current liabilities	(77,756)
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	(138,991)
Deferred credits and other liabilities	(65,935)
Total	<u>\$1,916,696</u>

The sale of the TXU Gas operations was held through a competitive bid process. We believe the resulting goodwill is recoverable given the expected synergies we can achieve as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. To that end, the TXU Gas acquisition significantly expands our existing utility operations in Texas. The North Texas operations of TXU Gas bridge our geographic operations between our existing utility operations in West Texas and Louisiana. TXU Gas's headquarters and service area are centered in Dallas, Texas, which is also the location of our corporate headquarters. Further, the addition of the regulated pipelines and storage operations in North Texas may create additional gas marketing and other opportunities for our non-regulated subsidiaries, which include gas marketing and storage operations. The goodwill generated in the acquisition is deductible for tax purposes.

At closing of the acquisition, TXU Gas and some of its affiliates entered into transitional services agreements with us to provide call center, meter reading, customer billing, collections, information reporting,

Year Ended

September 30

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

software, accounting, treasury, administrative and other services to the Mid-Tex Division. Some of these services were outsourced by TXU Gas to Cappemini Energy L.P. However, in November 2004, we entered into an agreement with Cappemini Energy L.P. whereby we assumed the operations of the Waco, Texas call center in April 2005 and purchased from Cappemini Energy L.P. all of the related call center assets in October 2005. The remaining transitional services agreements expired in September 2005 and were not renewed as we in-sourced all of these functions, effective October 2005.

The table below reflects the unaudited pro forma results of the Company and TXU Gas for the year ended September 30, 2004 as if the acquisition and related financing had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2004 (in thousands, except per share data):

	September 30,
Operating revenue	\$ 4,174,500
Net income	118,746
Net income per diluted share	\$ 1.68

ComFurT Gas Inc.

Effective March 2004, we completed the acquisition of the natural gas distribution assets of ComFurT Gas Inc., a privately-held natural gas utility and propane distributor based in Buena Vista, Colorado, for approximately \$2.0 million in cash. This company served approximately 1,800 natural gas utility customers. The acquisition enabled us to expand our contiguous service area in our Colorado-Kansas division. Unaudited pro forma results of the Company and ComFurT have not been presented as the acquisition was not material to our financial position or results of operations.

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets were comprised of the following as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	2006 (In the	2005
Goodwill	\$735,369	\$734,280
Intangible assets	3,152	3,507
Total	<u>\$738,521</u>	<u>\$737,787</u>

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in the balance for the year ended September 30, 2006:

	Utility Segment	Natural Gas Marketing Segment	Pipeline and Storage Segment (In thousands)	Other Nonutility Segment	Total
Balance as of September 30, 2005	\$566,800	\$ 24,282	\$ 143,198	\$ —	\$734,280
Deferred tax adjustments on prior acquisitions (1)	421		668		1,089
Balance as of September 30, 2006	\$567,221	\$ 24,282	\$ 143,866	\$	\$735,369

⁽¹⁾ During the preparation of the fiscal 2006 tax provision, we adjusted certain deferred taxes recorded in connection with a fiscal 2001 and a fiscal 2004 acquisitions which resulted in an increase to goodwill and net deferred tax liabilities of \$1.1 million.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Information regarding our intangible assets is included in the following table. As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, we had no indefinite-lived intangible assets.

		Se	eptember 30, 2	006	S	eptember 30, 200	5
	Useful	Gross			Gross		
	Life	Carrying	Accumulated	I	Carrying	Accumulated	
	(Years)	Amount	Amortization	Net	Amount	Amortization	Net
				(In thousand	is)		
Customer contracts	10	\$ 6,754	\$ (3,602	3,152	\$ 6,521	\$ (3,014)	\$3,507

The following table presents actual amortization expense recognized during 2006 and an estimate of future amortization expense based upon our intangible assets at September 30, 2006.

Amortization expense (in thousands):	
Actual for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2006	\$588
Estimated for the fiscal year ending:	
September 30, 2007	608
September 30, 2008	608
September 30, 2009	608
September 30, 2010	608
September 30, 2011	608

5. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. These activities are described in more detail in Note 2. Also, as discussed in Note 2, we record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. These risk management assets and liabilities are subject to continuing market risk until the underlying derivative contracts are settled.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at September 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Utility	Natural Gas <u>Marketing</u> (In thousands)	Total
September 30, 2006:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$	\$ 12,553	\$ 12,553
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent		6,186	6,186
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(27,209)	(3,460)	(30,669)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		(276)	(276)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$(27,209)	\$ 15,003	\$ (12,206)
September 30, 2005:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 93,310	\$ 14,603	\$107,913
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent	440-447704	735	735
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	-	(61,920)	(61,920)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		(15,316)	(15,316)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ 93,310	\$ (61,898)	\$ 31,412

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. For the 2005-2006 heating season, we hedged approximately 46 percent of our anticipated winter flowing gas requirements at a weighted average cost of approximately \$9.06 per Mcf.

Our utility hedging activities also includes the fair value of our treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

Nonutility Hedging Activities

For the year ended September 30, 2006, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive loss was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts totaling \$51.0 million and the recognition of \$6.2 million in net deferred hedging losses in net income when the derivatives matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging losses associated with open cash flow hedges remain subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging loss as of September 30, 2006 is expected to be recognized in net income within the next fiscal year.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur.

Vear Ended

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)

At the close of business on September 30, 2006, AEH had a net open position (including existing storage) of 0.2 Bcf.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the-then anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt subsequent to September 30, 2004. This long-term debt was issued in October 2004 and was used to repay a portion of the commercial paper used to fund the TXU Gas acquisition, as described in Note 3.

We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, to the extent effective, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury locks were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately \$11.6 million of the \$43.8 million obligation is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately \$32.2 million, is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement.

The following table presents our hedging transactions that were recorded to other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes during the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	I cai i	mueu
	September 30	
	2006	2005
	(In thou	sands)
Increase (decrease) in fair value:		
Treasury lock agreements	\$	\$ (5,869)
Forward commodity contracts	(51,014)	1,988
Recognition of (gains) losses in earnings due to settlements:		
Treasury lock agreements	3,442	3,155
Forward commodity contracts	6,181	10,386
Total other comprehensive income (loss) from hedging, net of tax (1)	<u>\$(41,391</u>)	\$ 9,660

⁽¹⁾ Utilizing an income tax rate of approximately 38 percent comprised of the effective rates in each taxing jurisdiction.

The following amounts, net of deferred taxes, represent the expected recognition into earnings for our derivative instruments, based upon the fair values of these derivatives as of September 30, 2006:

	Lock Agreements	Forward Contracts (In thousands)	Total
2007	\$ (3,442)	\$(24,100)	\$(27,542)
2008	(3,442)	(732)	(4,174)
2009	(3,442)	(38)	(3,480)
2010	(2,123)	(6)	(2,129)
2011	(2,003)		(2,003)
Thereafter	(6,088)		(6,088)
Total	\$ (20,540)	\$(24,876)	<u>\$(45,416</u>)

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

6. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at September 30, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following:

	2006	2005
	(In tho	usands)
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due October 2007	\$ 300,000	\$ 300,000
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000	400,000
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000	350,000
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303	2,303
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000	250,000
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000	500,000
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000	200,000
Medium term notes		
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000	10,000
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000	10,000
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000	150,000
First Mortgage Bonds Series P, 10.43% due 2013	8,750	10,000
Rental property, propane and other term notes due in installments through 2013	5,825	7,839
Total long-term debt	2,186,878	2,190,142
Less:		
Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures	(3,330)	(3,774)
Current maturities	(3,186)	(3,264)
	\$2,180,362	\$2,183,104

In December 2001, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$600.0 million in new common stock and/or debt. The registration statement was declared effective by the SEC in January 2002. In July 2004, we sold 9.9 million shares of our common stock. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with borrowings under a bridge financing facility to consummate the acquisition of TXU Gas operations and pay related fees and expenses. As a result of the offering, we exhausted the remaining availability under our December 2001 registration statement.

In August 2004, we filed another registration statement with the SEC, which was declared effective by the SEC in September 2004, under which we could issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option, under the new registration statement, generating net proceeds of \$382.5 million before other offering costs. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured debt under the registration statement consisting of \$400 million of 4.00% Senior Notes due 2009, \$500 million of 4.95% Senior Notes due 2014, \$200 million of 5.95% Senior Notes due 2034 and \$300 million of floating rate Senior Notes due 2007. The floating rate notes bear interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At September 30, 2006, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 5.882 percent. The net proceeds from the sale of these senior notes were \$1.39 billion.

The net proceeds from the October 2004 common stock and senior notes offerings, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to pay off the \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into in September 2004 for

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. Also, as a result of this refinancing in October 2004, we canceled the senior unsecured revolving credit facility. After issuing the debt and equity in October 2004 we had approximately \$401.5 million in availability remaining under the registration statement. However, we are no longer allowed to issue securities under that registration statement by applicable state regulatory commissions. See further discussion in the Liquidity section of Management's Discussion and Analysis.

In June 2005, we elected to utilize excess cash to repay \$72.5 million in principal on five series of our First Mortgage Bonds prior to their scheduled maturity. In connection with the repayment, we paid a \$25.0 million makewhole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements and accrued interest of approximately \$1.0 million. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and will be recognized over the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid.

Short-term debt

At September 30, 2006 and 2005, there was \$379.3 million and \$129.9 million outstanding under our commercial paper program and \$3.1 million and \$14.9 million outstanding under our bank credit facilities. As of September 30, 2006, our commercial paper had maturities of less than three months, with interest rates ranging from 5.47 percent to 5.51 percent.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

Committed credit facilities

As of September 30, 2006, we had three short-term committed revolving credit facilities totaling \$918 million. The first facility is a three-year unsecured facility, expiring October 2008, for \$600 million that bears interest at a base rate or at the LIBOR rate for the applicable interest period, plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings, and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600 million commercial paper program. At September 30, 2006, there was \$379.3 million outstanding under our commercial paper program.

We have a second unsecured facility in place which is a 364-day facility for \$300 million that bears interest at a base rate or the LIBOR rate for the applicable interest period, plus from 0.30 percent to 0.75 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings. This facility expired in November 2006 and was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2006, there were no borrowings under this facility.

We have a third unsecured facility in place for \$18 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired in March 2006 and was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2006, there was \$3.1 million outstanding under this facility.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently satisfy. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in our revolving credit facilities to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At September 30, 2006, our

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 63 percent. In addition, both the interest margin over the Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on unused amounts under our revolving credit facilities are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings. The revolving credit facilities each contain the same limitation with respect to our total-debt to-total capitalization ratio.

Uncommitted credit facilities

In November 2005, AEM amended its \$250 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. In March 2006, AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 2007.

Borrowings under the amended credit facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50 percent per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.25 percent. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR for the applicable interest period, plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.625 percent per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above, plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.00 percent to 1.875 percent per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$120 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$121 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding \$4 million to \$23 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At September 30, 2006, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.24 to 1.

At September 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. However, at September 30, 2006, AEM letters of credit totaling \$96.1 million had been issued under the facility, which reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$53.9 million at September 30, 2006. This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH.

We also have an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25 million that is used for working capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at September 30, 2006, but letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.5 million. This uncommitted line is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line. Borrowings under this line are made on a when-and-as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

AEH, the parent company of AEM, has a \$100 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with the Company which bears interest at the One Month LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. This facility has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2006. At September 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. In July 2006, this facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms.

In addition, AEM has a \$120 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at the One Month LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$580 million uncommitted demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$580 million credit facility. At September 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. In July 2006, this facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Debt Covenants

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, after November 2007, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985 plus \$9.0 million. At September 30, 2006 approximately \$203.3 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

As of September 30, 2006, a portion of the Mid-States Division utility plant assets, totaling \$394.2 million, was subject to a lien under the Indenture of Mortgage of the Series P First Mortgage Bonds.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of September 30, 2006. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as both our revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and remaining average maturities, the fair value of long-term debt at September 30, 2006 and 2005 is estimated, using discounted cash flow analysis, to be \$2,053.9 million and \$2,078.3 million.

Maturities of long-term debt at September 30, 2006 were as follows (in thousands):

2007	\$	3,186
2008		303,831
2009		2,034
2010		401,381
2011		361,381
Thereafter	_1	,115,065
	\$2	,186,878

7. Shareholders' Equity

Stock Issuances

During the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 we issued 1,200,115, 17,739,691 and 11,323,925 shares of common stock.

In February 2005, our shareholders approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares from 100 million to 200 million.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In October 2004, we completed the public offering of 16.1 million shares of our common stock including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares. The offering was priced at \$24.75 and generated net proceeds of approximately \$381.6 million. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with net proceeds of \$235.7 million from a public offering we conducted in July 2004 and \$1.39 billion received from the issuance of senior unsecured notes, to repay the \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper described in Note 3 and fund the remainder of the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition.

Shareholder Rights Plan

In November 1997, our Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of one right for each outstanding share of our common stock to shareholders of record at the close of business on May 10, 1998. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us a one-tenth share of our common stock at a purchase price of \$8.00 per share, subject to adjustment. The description and terms of the rights are set forth in a rights agreement between us and the rights agent.

Subject to exceptions specified in the rights agreement, the rights will separate from our common stock and a distribution date will occur upon the earlier of:

- ten business days following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock, other than as a result of repurchases of stock by us or specified inadvertent actions by institutional or other shareholders;
- ten business days, or such later date as our Board of Directors shall determine, following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group having acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock; or
- ten business days after our Board of Directors shall declare any person to be an adverse person within the meaning of the rights plan.

The rights expire on May 10, 2008, unless extended prior thereto by our board of directors or earlier if redeemed by us. The rights will not have any voting rights. The exercise price payable and the number of shares of our common stock or other securities or property issuable upon exercise of the rights are subject to adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution. We issue rights when we issue our common stock until the rights have separated from the common stock. After the rights have separated from the common stock, we may issue additional rights if the board of directors deems such issuance to be necessary or appropriate. The rights have "anti-takeover" effects and may cause substantial dilution to a person or entity that attempts to acquire us on terms not approved by our board of directors except pursuant to an offer conditioned upon a substantial number of rights being acquired. The rights should not interfere with any merger or other business combination approved by our board of directors because, prior to the time that the rights become exercisable or transferable, we can redeem the rights at \$.01 per right.

Other Agreements

In connection with our Mississippi Valley Gas Company acquisition in December 2002, we issued shares of common stock under an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. In the transaction, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the former stockholders of Mississippi Valley Gas Company that required us, on no more than two occasions, and with some limitations, to file a registration statement under the Securities Act within 60 days of their request for an offering designed to achieve a wide distribution of shares through underwriters selected by us. We also granted rights to these shareholders, subject to some limitations, to participate in future registered offerings of our securities until December 3, 2005. No

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

registration rights issued to the former stockholders of MVG, as discussed above, were exercised prior to the expiration of the registration rights agreement on December 3, 2005. The former stockholders of MVG also agreed, for up to five years from the closing of the acquisition, or until December 3, 2007, and with some exceptions, not to sell or transfer shares representing more than 1 percent of our total outstanding voting securities to any person or group or any shares to a person or group who would hold more than 9.9 percent of our total outstanding voting securities after the sale or transfer. This restriction, and other agreed restrictions on the ability of these shareholders to acquire additional shares, participate in proxy solicitations or act to seek control, may be deemed to have an "antitakeover" effect.

8. Stock and Other Compensation Plans

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In August 1998, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which became effective in October 1998 after approval by our shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan is a comprehensive, long-term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to certain employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock. We are authorized to grant awards for up to a maximum of four million shares of common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions. As of September 30, 2006, non-qualified stock options, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units had been issued under this plan, and 731,745 shares were available for future issuance. The option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over a service period ranging from one to three years.

We used the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of each option granted with the following weighted average assumptions for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

		Year Ended September 30			
	2006	2005	2004		
Valuation Assumptions (1)					
Expected Life (years) (2)	7	7	7		
Interest rate (3)	4.6%	4.2%	4.3%		
Volatility ⁽⁴⁾	20.3%	21.3%	22.8%		
Dividend yield	4.8%	4.8%	4.8%		

⁽¹⁾ Beginning on the date of adoption of SFAS 123(R), forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience. Prior to the date of adoption, forfeitures were recorded as they occurred.

⁽²⁾ The expected life of stock options is estimated based on historical experience.

⁽³⁾ The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options.

⁽⁴⁾ The volatility is estimated based on historical and current stock data for the Company.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

A summary of activity for grants of stock options under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan follows:

	2006		2005		2004	
	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price
Outstanding at beginning of year	964,704	\$ 22.20	1,492,177	\$ 22.10	1,827,310	\$ 21.91
Granted	93,196	26.19	23,432	25.95	8,118	24.44
Exercised	(40,582)	22.21	(547,907)	22.08	(342,252)	20.91
Forfeited	(166)	21.23	(2,998)	22.81	(999)	22.49
Outstanding at end of year (1)	1,017,152	\$ 22.57	964,704	\$ 22.20	1,492,177	\$ 22.10
Exercisable at end of year (2)	991,778	\$ 22.48	798,574	\$ 22.22	1,006,859	\$ 22.23

⁽¹⁾ The weighted-average remaining contractual life for outstanding options was 5.4 years, 6.0 years, and 7.0 years for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options was \$3.7 million, \$3.5 million and \$5.4 million for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Information about outstanding and exercisable options under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as of September 30, 2006, follows:

	O	ptions Outstanding			
		Weighted	Options Exercisable		
		Average	Weighted		Weighted
	Number of	Remaining	Average	Number of	Average
Range of Exercise Prices	Number of	Contractual	Exercise		Exercise
Range of Exercise Frices	Options	Life (In Years)	Price	Options	Price
\$15.65 to \$20.24	64,833	3.4	\$ 15.66	64,833	\$ 15.66
\$20.25 to \$22.99	547,414	5.8	\$ 21.87	547,414	\$ 21.87
\$23.00 to \$26.19	404,905	5.1	\$ 24.62	379,531	\$ 24.53
\$15.65 to \$26.19	1,017,152	5.4	\$ 22.57	991,778	\$ 22.48

The stock options had a weighted average fair value per share on the date of grant of \$3.74 in 2006, \$3.69 in 2005 and \$3.82 in 2004. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were \$0.9 million, \$12.1 million and \$7.2 million. The associated income tax benefit from stock options exercised during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were less than \$0.1 million, \$1.3 million and \$0.6 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were less than \$0.1 million, \$2.0 million and \$1.2 million.

As of September 30, 2006, there was less than \$0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years.

Restricted Stock Plans

As noted above, the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for discretionary awards of restricted stock to help attract, retain and reward employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. Certain of these awards vest based upon the passage of time and other awards vest based upon the passage of time

⁽²⁾ The weighted-average remaining contractual life for exercisable options was 5.3 years, 5.7 years, and 6.5 years for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options was \$3.6 million, \$2.9 million and \$3.7 million for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

and the achievement of specified performance targets. The associated expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period. The following summarizes information regarding the restricted stock plan:

	2006		2005		2004	
	Number of Restricted	Weighted Average Grant-Date	Number of Restricted	Weighted Average Grant-Date	Number of Restricted	Weighted Average Grant-Date
	Shares	Fair Value	Shares	Fair Value	Shares	Fair Value
Nonvested at beginning of year	592,490	\$ 25.32	345,519	\$ 23.72	107,837	\$ 21.19
Granted	440,016	26.80	294,834	26.78	240,686	24.78
Vested	(265,546)	24.42	(36,106)	21.97	(2,175)	15.65
Forfeited	(20,184)	26.95	(11,757)	24.70	(829)	23.83
Nonvested at end of year	746,776	\$ 26.49	592,490	\$ 25.32	345,519	\$ 23.72

As of September 30, 2006, there was \$12.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares granted under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years. The fair value of restricted stock vested during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was \$6.5 million, \$0.8 million and less than \$0.1 million.

Other Plans

Direct Stock Purchase Plan

We maintain a Direct Stock Purchase Plan which allows participants to have all or part of their cash dividends paid quarterly in additional shares of our common stock. Through March 2004, participants were permitted to reinvest their cash dividends at a three percent discount from market prices. Effective April 2004, the three percent discount on reinvested dividends was eliminated and the minimum initial investment required to join the plan was increased to \$1,250. Direct Stock Purchase Plan participants may purchase additional shares of Atmos common stock as often as weekly with voluntary cash payments of at least \$25, up to an annual maximum of \$100,000.

Outside Directors Stock-For-Fee Plan

In November 1994, the Board adopted the Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan which was approved by the shareholders of Atmos in February 1995 and was amended and restated in November 1997. The plan permits nonemployee directors to receive all or part of their annual retainer and meeting fees in stock rather than in cash.

Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

In November 1998, the Board of Directors adopted the Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors which was approved by the shareholders of Atmos in February 1999. This plan amended the Atmos Energy Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors adopted by the Company in May 1990 and replaced the pension payable under the Company's Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors. The plan provides non-employee directors of Atmos with the opportunity to defer receipt, until retirement, of compensation for services rendered to the Company, invest deferred compensation into either a cash account or a stock account and to receive an annual grant of share units for each year of service on the Board.

Other Discretionary Compensation Plans

We created the Variable Pay Plan in fiscal 1999 for our utility segment employees to give each employee an opportunity to share in the success of Atmos based on the achievement of key performance measures

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

considered critical to achieving business objectives for a given year. These performance measures may include earnings growth objectives, improved cash flow objectives or crucial customer satisfaction and safety results. We monitor progress towards the achievement of the performance measures throughout the year and record accruals based upon the expected payout using the best estimates available at the time the accrual is recorded.

We implemented the Annual Incentive Plan in October 2001 to give the employees in our nonutility segments an opportunity to share in the success of the nonutility operations. The plan is based upon the net earnings of the nonutility operations and has minimum and maximum thresholds. The plan must meet the minimum threshold in order for the plan to be funded and distributed to employees. We monitor the progress toward the achievement of the thresholds throughout the year and record accruals based upon the expected payout using the best estimates available at the time the accrual is recorded.

9. Retirement and Post-Retirement Employee Benefit Plans

We have both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined benefit plans that together cover substantially all of our employees. We also maintain post-retirement plans that provide health care benefits to retired employees. Finally, we sponsor defined contribution plans which cover substantially all employees. These plans are discussed in further detail below.

Defined Benefit Plans

Employee Pension Plans

As of September 30, 2006, we maintained two defined benefit plans: the Atmos Energy Corporation Pension Account Plan (the Plan) and the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union Employees (the Union Plan) (collectively referred to as the Plans). The Plans are held within the Atmos Energy Corporation Master Retirement Trust (the Master Trust).

The Plan is a cash balance pension plan, that was established effective January 1999 and covers substantially all employees of Atmos. Opening account balances were established for participants as of January 1999 equal to the present value of their respective accrued benefits under the pension plans which were previously in effect as of December 31, 1998. The Plan credits an allocation to each participant's account at the end of each year according to a formula based on the participant's age, service and total pay (excluding incentive pay).

The Plan also provides for an additional annual allocation based upon a participant's age as of January 1, 1999 for those participants who were participants in the prior pension plans. The Plan will credit this additional allocation each year through December 31, 2008. In addition, at the end of each year, a participant's account will be credited with interest on the employee's prior year account balance. A special grandfather benefit also applies through December 31, 2008, for participants who were at least age 50 as of January 1, 1999, and who were participants in one of the prior plans on December 31, 1998. Participants fully vest in their account balances after five years of service and may choose to receive their account balances as a lump sum or an annuity.

The Union Plan is a defined benefit plan that covers substantially all full-time union employees in our Mississippi Division. Under this plan, benefits are based upon years of benefit service and average final earnings. Participants vest in the plan after five years and will receive their benefit in an annuity.

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made from time to time as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future.

Actual Allocation

Table of Contents

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

During fiscal 2006, we voluntarily contributed \$2.9 million to the Union Plan. The current year contribution achieved a desired level of funding by satisfying the minimum funding requirements while maximizing the tax deductible contribution for this plan for plan year 2005. During fiscal 2005, we voluntarily contributed \$3.0 million to the Master Trust to maintain the level of funding we desire relative to our accumulated benefit obligation. We made the contribution because declining high yield corporate bond yields in the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date resulted in an increase in the present value of our plan liabilities. We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution during fiscal 2007 nor do we anticipate making any voluntary contributions during fiscal 2007.

We manage the Master Trust's assets with the objective of achieving a rate of return net of inflation of approximately four percent per year. We make investment decisions and evaluate performance on a medium term horizon of at least three to five years. We also consider our current financial status when making recommendations and decisions regarding the Master Trust's assets. Finally, we strive to ensure the Master Trust's assets are appropriately invested to maintain an acceptable level of risk and meet the Master Trust's long term asset allocation policy.

To achieve these objectives, we invest the Master Trust's assets in equity securities, fixed income securities, interests in commingled pension trust funds and cash and cash equivalents. Investments in equity securities are diversified among the market's various subsectors to diversify risk and maximize returns. Fixed income securities are invested in investment grade securities. Cash equivalents are invested in securities that either are short term (less than 180 days) or readily convertible to cash with modest risk.

The following table presents asset allocation information for the Master Trust as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	Targeted		
Security Class	Allocation Range	2006	2005
Domestic equities	35%-55%	44.3%	45.0%
International equities	10%-20%	15.6%	17.9%
Fixed income	10%-30%	18.8%	18.1%
Company stock	0%-10%	9.2%	9.1%
Other assets	5%-15%	10.7%	9.6%
Cash and equivalents	N/A	1.4%	0.3%

At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Plan held 1,169,700 shares of Atmos common stock, which represented 9.2 percent and 9.1 percent of total Master Trust assets. These shares generated dividend income for the Plan of approximately \$1.5 million during both fiscal 2006 and 2005.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Our employee pension plan expenses and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets and assumed discount rates and demographic data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our employee pension plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The development of our assumptions is fully described in our significant accounting policies in Note 2. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for the Plans were determined as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the Plans were determined as of June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003. These assumptions are presented in the following table:

	Pensi	on			
	Liabil	lity	Pension Cost		
	2006	2005	2006	2005	2004
Discount rate	6.30%	5.00%	5.00%	6.25%	6.00%
Rate of compensation increase	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%
Expected return on plan assets	8.25%	8.50%	8.50%	8.75%	9.00%

The following table presents the Plans' accumulated benefit obligation, projected benefit obligation and funded status as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	2006	2005
	(In thousands)	
Accumulated benefit obligation	<u>\$316,078</u>	<u>\$348,383</u>
Change in projected benefit obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$359,924	\$312,997
Service cost	13,465	10,401
Interest cost	17,932	19,412
Actuarial loss (gain)	(36,748)	43,313
Benefits paid	(28,109)	(26,199)
Benefit obligation at end of year	326,464	359,924
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	355,939	346,162
Actual return on plan assets	32,005	32,976
Employer contributions	2,879	3,000
Benefits paid	<u>(28,109</u>)	(26,199)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	362,714	355,939
Reconciliation:		
Funded status	36,250	(3,985)
Unrecognized prior service cost	(4,980)	(5,939)
Unrecognized net loss	65,646	<u>119,270</u>
Net amount recognized	\$ 96,916	<u>\$109,346</u>

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Net periodic pension cost for the Plans for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is recorded as operating expense and included the following components:

	Year Ended September 30			
	2006 2005		2004	
		(In thousands)		
Components of net periodic pension cost:				
Service cost	\$ 13,465	\$ 10,401	\$ 7,696	
Interest cost	17,932	19,412	19,691	
Expected return on assets	(25,598)	(27,541)	(30,097)	
Amortization of prior service cost	(959)	(1,028)	(1,028)	
Recognized actuarial loss	10,469	6,276	6,555	
Net periodic pension cost	<u>\$ 15,309</u>	<u>\$ 7,520</u>	\$ 2,817	

Supplemental Executive Benefits Plans

We have a nonqualified Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan which provides additional pension, disability and death benefits to the officers and certain other employees of Atmos. The Supplemental Plan was amended and restated in August 1998. In addition, in August 1998, we adopted the Performance-Based Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan which covers all employees who become officers or division presidents after August 12, 1998 or any other employees selected by our Board of Directors at its discretion.

Similar to our employee pension plans, we review the estimates and assumptions underlying our supplemental executive benefit plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date using the same techniques as our employee pension plans. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for the supplemental plans were determined as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the supplemental plans were determined as of June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003. These assumptions are presented in the following table:

	Pension Lia	вину Ре	nsion Cost	<u> </u>
	2006 2	005 2006	2005 20	004
Discount rate Rate of compensation increase		00% 5.00% 00% 4.00%		

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table presents the supplemental plans' accumulated benefit obligation, projected benefit obligation and funded status as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	2006	2005
	(In tho	usands)
Accumulated benefit obligation	<u>\$ 79,209</u>	\$ 86,661
Change in projected benefit obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 97,941	\$ 73,998
Service cost	3,001	2,144
Interest cost	4,955	4,658
Actuarial loss (gain)	(14,618)	20,637
Benefits paid	(3,780)	(3,496)
Benefit obligation at end of year	87,499	97,941
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year		
Employer contribution	3,780	3,496
Benefits paid	(3,780)	(3,496)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	A 164 May 17 Company 18 Company 1	***************************************
Reconciliation:		
Funded status	(87,499)	(97,941)
Unrecognized prior service cost	1,684	2,706
Unrecognized net loss	22,927	40,334
Accrued pension cost	\$(62,888)	<u>\$(54,901</u>)

Assets for the supplemental plans are held in separate rabbi trusts and comprise the following:

	Cost	Unrealized Holding Gain (In thousands)	Market Value
As of September 30, 2006:			
Domestic equity mutual funds	\$30,562	\$ 1,099	\$31,661
Foreign equity mutual funds	5,975	1,542	7,517
	\$36,537	\$ 2,641	\$39,178
As of September 30, 2005:			
Domestic equity mutual funds	\$28,902	\$ 897	\$29,799
Foreign equity mutual funds	5,133	328	5,461
	\$34,035	\$ 1,225	\$35,260

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

At September 30, 2006, we maintained investments in one domestic equity mutual fund and one domestic bond fund that were in unrealized loss positions as of September 30, 2006. Information concerning unrealized losses for our supplemental plan assets follows:

	Less Than	Less Than 12 Months		12 Months or Mor		ore	
		Unrea	ized			Unre	ealized
	<u>Fair Value</u>	Loss		Fair Value		Loss	
		(In tho	usands))		
Domestic equity mutual funds	<u>\$ 19,963</u>	\$	773	\$		\$	

Because these funds are only used to fund the supplemental plans, we evaluate investment performance over a long-term horizon. Based upon our intent and ability to hold these investments, the short-term nature of the impairment as of September 30, 2006 and our ability to direct the source of the payments in order to maximize the life of the portfolio, the improved investment returns in the last year and the fact that these funds continue to receive good ratings from mutual fund rating companies, we do not consider this impairment to be other-than-temporary.

Net periodic pension cost for the supplemental plans for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is recorded as operating expense and included the following components:

	Year Ended September 30		
	2006	2005	2004
		(In thousands)	
Components of net periodic pension cost:			
Service cost	\$ 3,001	\$2,144	\$2,037
Interest cost	4,955	4,658	4,324
Amortization of transition asset		4	96
Amortization of prior service cost	1,022	1,022	1,022
Recognized actuarial loss	2,789	1,290	1,516
Net periodic pension cost	\$11,767	\$9,118	\$8,995

Supplemental Disclosures For Defined Benefit Plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligations in Excess of Plan Assets

The following summarizes key information for our defined benefit plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets. For fiscal 2005 the accumulated benefit obligation for the MVG plan exceeded the fair value of plan assets. For fiscal 2006 and 2005 the accumulated benefit obligation for our supplemental plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets.

	Employee Pension Plans		Suppleme	ental Plans	
		2005		2005	
	(In thousands)				
Projected Benefit Obligation	\$	13,550	\$87,499	\$97,941	
Accumulated Benefit Obligation		10,738	79,209	86,661	
Fair Value of Plan Assets		6,465			

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments for our defined benefit plans, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in the following years:

	Pension	Supplemental
	Plans	Plans
	(In the	ousands)
2007	\$ 32,119	\$ 3,729
2008	27,923	4,242
2009	28,588	4,512
2010	29,811	5,262
2011	29,399	5,287
2012-2016	122,553	29,913

Postretirement Benefits

At September 30, 2006, we sponsored the Retiree Medical Plan for Retirees and Disabled Employees of Atmos Energy Corporation (the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan). Effective December 31, 2004, the Atmos Energy Corporation Retiree Welfare Benefits Plan for Certain MVG Non-Union Employees and the Atmos Energy Corporation Retiree Welfare Benefits Plan for MVG Union Employees merged into the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan.

This plan provides medical and prescription drug protection to all qualified participants based on their date of retirement. The Plan provides different levels of benefits depending on the level of coverage chosen by the participants and the terms of predecessor plans; however, we generally pay 80 percent of the projected net claims and administrative costs and participants pay the remaining 20 percent of this cost.

On October 1, 2004, in connection with the acquisition of TXU Gas, we transitioned certain employees from TXU Gas to Atmos Energy Corporation. Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we received a credit of \$18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan. The \$18.9 million credit approximated the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past service of the transitioned employees on the acquisition date.

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made annually as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future. We expect to contribute \$11.4 million to our postretirement benefits plans during fiscal 2007.

We maintain a formal investment policy with respect to the assets in our postretirement benefits plans to ensure the assets funding the postretirement benefit plans are appropriately invested to maintain an acceptable level of risk. We also consider our current financial status when making recommendations and decisions regarding the postretirement benefits plans. **Table of Contents**

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

We currently invest the assets funding our postretirement benefit plans in money market funds, equity mutual funds, fixed income funds and a balanced fund. The following table presents asset allocation information for the postretirement benefit plan assets as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

		Allocation mber 30
Security Class	2006	2005
Diversified investment fund (1)	100%	97.2%
Cash and cash equivalents		2.8%

⁽¹⁾ This fund invests in a diversified portfolio of common stocks, preferred stocks and fixed income securities. It may invest up to 75 percent of assets in common stocks and convertible securities.

Similar to our employee pension and supplemental plans, we review the estimates and assumptions underlying our supplemental executive benefit plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date using the same techniques as our employee pension plans. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for our postretirement plan were determined as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the postretirement plan were determined as of June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The assumptions are presented in the following table:

	Postretirement Liability		Postretirement C		Cost
	2006	2005	2006	2005	2004
Discount rate	6.30%	5.00%	5.00%	6.25%	6.19%
Expected return on plan assets	5.20%	5.30%	5.30%	5.30%	5.30%
Initial trend rate	8.00%	9.00%	9.00%	10.00%	9.00%
Ultimate trend rate	5.00%	5.00%	5.00%	5.00%	5.00%
Ultimate trend reached in	2010	2010	2010	2010	2008

Table of Contents

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table presents the postretirement plan's benefit obligation and funded status as of September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	2006	2005
	(In thou	sands)
Change in benefit obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 170,930	\$125,189
Service cost	13,083	9,968
Interest cost	8,840	9,369
Plan participants' contributions	1,340	2,131
Actuarial loss (gain)	(22,657)	16,449
Acquisition	***************************************	18,878
Benefits paid	(10,695)	(11,054)
Subsidy payments	60	
Benefit obligation at end of year	160,901	170,930
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	39,843	36,408
Actual return on plan assets	3,703	2,365
Employer contributions	10,609	9,993
Plan participants' contributions	1,340	2,131
Benefits paid	(10,695)	<u>(11,054</u>)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	44,800	39,843
Reconciliation:		
Funded status	(116,101	

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

ťΩ

Commission file number 1-10042

Atmos Energy Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Texas and Virginia (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

75-1743247 (IRS employer identification no.)

Three Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 5430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas (Address of principal executive offices)

75240 (Zip code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (972) 934-9227

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class

Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common stock, No Par Value

New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \square No \square

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check whether the recipient is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes \square No \square

Indicate by check whether the recipient is a shell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2). Yes \square No \boxtimes

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, March 31, 2005, was \$2,085,825,303.

As of November 11, 2005, the registrant had 80,613,517 shares of common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 8, 2006 are incorporated by reference into Part III of this report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Glossary	of Key Terms	3
	PART I	
Item 1.	Business	4
Item 2.	Properties	22
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	25
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	25
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholders Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	27
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	28
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	30
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk	59
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	61
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	122
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	122
Item 9B.	Other Information	124
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant	124
Item 11.	Executive Compensation.	124
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	124
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	124
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	125
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules	125

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

		_
AEC	Atmos Energy Corporation	ាន ស្រីប្រ ខ្លួនប្រែក្រុស
AEH	Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc.	, 384 C.7 24
AEM	Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC	L v v d
AES	Atmos Energy Services, LLC	· ·
APB	Accounting Principles Board	, ,4% 4
APS	Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC	$x \leftarrow (-\ell_{-1})$
ATO	Trading symbol for Atmos Energy Corporation common stock on the New York Stock Excha	inge - To the late
Bcf	Billion cubic feet	
Bcf	Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the T	Treadway
EITF	Emerging Issues Task Force	
FASB	Financial Accounting Standards Board, Accounting Standards	i i i i ja taa
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Commission	
FIN		n na sanara Ngjaran 1965 ting
Fitch	Fitch Ratings, Ltd.	
FSP	FASB Staff Position	
GRIP	Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program	the way
Heritage	Heritage Propane Partners, L.P.	t situation of the
iFERC	Inside FERC	
iFERCLGS	Louisiana Gas Service Company and LGS Natu Company, which were acquired July 1, 2001	ral Gas
LPSC	Louisiana Public Service Commission	
Mcf.,	Thousand cubic feet	
MDWQ	Maximum daily withdrawal quantity	12813-400-0
MMcf	Million cubic feet	* 172 mg *
Moody's	Moody's Investor Services, Inc.	
MPSC	The Mississippi Public Service Commission	es es
MVG	Mississippi Valley Gas Company, which was acq December 3, 2002	uired
NYMEX	New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc.	'n
NYSE	New York Stock Exchange	
RRC	Railroad Commission of Texas	1
S&P	Standard & Poor's	
SEC	United States Securities and Exchange Commiss	ion
SFAS HILL HOUSE AND	Statement of Financial Accounting Standards	
TXU Gas	TXU Gas Company, which was acquired on Oct	ober 1, 2004
USP VCC	U.S. Propane, L.P.	Ta Pro. A
VCC	The Virginia Corporation Commission	*
WNA	Weather Normalization Adjustment	
n de la companya de La companya de la co		

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion (after closing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We acquired approximately \$112 million of working capital and did not assume any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. TXU Gas retained certain assets, provided for the repayment of all of its indebtedness and redeemed all of its preferred stock prior to closing and retained and agreed to pay certain other liabilities under the terms of the acquisition agreement.

We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we repaid the commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004 which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.5 million before other offering costs.

We have experienced over 20 consecutive years of increasing dividends and earnings growth after giving effect to our acquisitions. We have achieved this record of growth while operating our utility operations efficiently by managing our operating and maintenance expenses, leveraging our technology, such as our 24-hour call centers, to achieve more efficient operations, focusing on regulatory rate proceedings to increase revenue as our costs increase and mitigating weather-related risks through weather-normalized rates in many of our service areas. Additionally, we have strengthened our nonutility business by increasing gross profit margins, actively pursuing opportunities to increase the amount of storage available to us and expanding commercial opportunities on our intrastate Texas pipeline.

Our core values include focusing on our employees and customers while conducting our business with honesty and integrity. We continue to strengthen our culture through ongoing communications with our employees and enhanced employee training.

Utility Segment Overview

We operate our utility segment through the following seven regulated natural gas utility divisions:

- · Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division,
- Atmos Energy Kentucky Division,
- · Atmos Energy Louisiana Division,
- Atmos Energy Mid-States Division, • Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division (acquired October 2004),
- · Atmos Energy Mississippi Division (formerly known as the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division) and
- · Atmos Energy West Texas Division.

Our natural gas utility distribution business is seasonal and dependent on weather conditions in our service areas. Gas sales to residential and commercial customers are greater during the winter months than during the remainder of the year. The volumes of gas sales during the winter months will vary with the temperatures during these months. The seasonal nature of our sales to residential and commercial customers is partially offset by our sales in the spring and summer months to our agricultural customers in Texas, Colorado and Kansas who use natural gas to operate irrigation equipment.

In addition to weather, our financial results are affected by the cost of natural gas and economic conditions in the areas that we serve. Higher gas costs, which we are generally able to pass through to our customers under purchased gas adjustment clauses, may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of The combination of base load, peaking and spot purchase agreements, coupled with the withdrawal of gas held in storage, allows us the flexibility to adjust to changes in weather, which minimizes our need to enter into firm commitments.

Also, to maintain our deliveries to high priority customers, we have the ability, and have exercised our right, to curtail deliveries to certain customers under the terms of interruptible contracts, applicable state statutes or regulations. Our customers' demand on our system is not necessarily indicative of our ability to meet current or anticipated market demands or immediate delivery requirements because of factors such as the physical limitations of gathering, storage and transmission systems, the duration and severity of cold weather, the availability of gas reserves from our suppliers, the ability to purchase additional supplies on a short-term basis and actions by federal and state regulatory authorities. Curtailment rights provide us the flexibility to meet the human-needs requirements of our customers on a firm basis. Priority allocations imposed by federal and state regulatory agencies, as well as other factors beyond our control, may affect our ability to meet the demands of our customers. We anticipate no problems with obtaining additional gas supply as needed for our customers.

We receive gas deliveries for all of our utility divisions, except for our Mid-Tex Division, through 37 pipeline transportation companies, both interstate and intrastate, to satisfy our natural gas needs. The pipeline transportation agreements are firm and many of them have "pipeline no-notice" storage service which provides for daily balancing between system requirements and nominated flowing supplies. These agreements have been negotiated with the shortest term necessary while still maintaining our right of first refusal. The natural gas supply for our Mid-Tex Division is delivered by our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, which was formed from the natural gas transmission and storage operations that we acquired in the TXU Gas acquisition.

The following is a brief description of our seven natural gas utility divisions. Additional information for our natural gas utility divisions is presented under the caption "Operating Statistics".

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division. Our Colorado-Kansas Division operates in Colorado, Kansas and the southwestern corner of Missouri and is regulated by each respective state's public service commission with respect to accounting, rates and charges, operating matters and the issuance of securities. We operate under terms of non-exclusive franchises granted by the various cities. Rates in our Kansas service area are subject to WNA. The principal transporters of the Colorado-Kansas Division's gas supply requirements are Colorado Interstate Gas Company, Northwest Pipeline, Public Service Company of Colorado and Southern Star Central Pipeline. Additionally, the Colorado-Kansas Division purchases substantial volumes from producers that are connected directly to its distribution system.

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. Our Kentucky Division operates in Kentucky and is regulated by the Kentucky Public Service Commission, which regulates utility services, rates, issuance of securities and other matters. We operate in various incorporated cities pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by these cities. The sale of natural gas for use as vehicle fuel in Kentucky is unregulated. We will operate under a performance-based rate program through March 2006. Under the performance-based program, we and our customers jointly share in any actual gas cost savings achieved when compared to pre-determined benchmarks. Our rates are also subject to WNA. The Kentucky Division's gas supply is delivered primarily by Midwestern Pipeline, Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company, Texas Gas Transmission LLC and Trunkline Gas Company.

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. Our Louisiana Division operates in Louisiana and includes the operations of the Louisiana Gas Service Company assets acquired in July 2001, which serves the metropolitan area of Monroe and the suburban areas of New Orleans, and our previously existing Trans La Division, which serves western Louisiana. Our Louisiana Division is regulated by the Louisiana Public Service Commission (LPSC), which regulates utility services, rates and other matters. We operate most of our service areas pursuant to a non-exclusive franchise granted by the governing authority of each area. Direct sales of natural gas to industrial customers in Louisiana, who use gas for fuel or in manufacturing processes, and sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel are exempt from regulation and are recognized in our natural gas marketing segment. The principal transporters of the Louisiana Division's gas supply requirements are Acadian Pipeline,

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. Our West Texas Division operates in Texas in three primary service areas: the Amarillo service area, the Lubbock service area and the West Texas service area. Similar to our Mid-Tex Division, the governing body of each municipality we serve has original jurisdiction over all utility rates, operations and services within its city limits, except with respect to sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel and agricultural use. We operate pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve, which are subject to renewal from time to time. The RRC has exclusive appellate jurisdiction over all rate and regulatory orders and ordinances of the municipalities and exclusive original jurisdiction over rates and services to customers not located within the limits of a municipality. During 2004, the West Texas Division received approval from the City of Lubbock, Texas and the 66 cities in our West Texas system, for WNA in these service areas, which is effective October through May of each year, beginning with the 2004-2005 winter heating season. We also have WNA in our Amarillo service area. Our West Texas Division receives transportation service from ONEOK Pipeline. In addition, the West Texas Division purchases a significant portion of its natural gas supply from Pioneer Natural Resources, which is connected directly to our Amarillo, Texas, distribution system.

Natural Gas Marketing Segment Overview

1 10 414!

Our natural gas marketing and other nonutility segments, which are organized under Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), have operations in 22 states. Through September 30, 2003, Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. and Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc., comprised our natural gas marketing segment. Effective October 1, 2003, our natural gas marketing segment was reorganized. The operations of Atmos Energy Marketing, L.L.C. and Trans Louisiana Industrial Gas Company, Inc. were merged into Woodward Marketing, L.L.C., which was renamed Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM).

We acquired a 45 percent interest in Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. in July 1997 as a result of the merger of Atmos and United Cities Gas Company, which had acquired that interest in May 1995. In April 2001, we acquired the remaining 55 percent interest that we did not own for 1,423,193 restricted shares of our common stock. THE COUNTY WHAT I A TO SEE THE

AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas consumers primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services primarily consist of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price management through the use of derivative products. We use proprietary and customerowned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as The transfer of the same of th revenues for services we deliver. 7: 5

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we participate in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to capture the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase or sell physical natural gas and then sell or purchase financial contracts at a price sufficient to cover our carrying costs and provide a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

+1'; i' 1,

AEM's management of natural gas requirements involves the sale of natural gas and the management of storage and transportation supplies under contracts with customers generally having one to two year terms. AEM also sells natural gas to some of its industrial customers on a delivered burner tip basis under contract terms from 30 days to two years. At September 30, 2005, AEM had a total of 558 industrial, 69 municipal and 210 other customers.

Operating Statistics

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for each of the five fiscal years from 2001 through 2005.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

ather week	• •	Year Ended Se		aber 30	i. ::
\mathcal{A}_{i} , \mathcal{A}_{i}	2005(1)	2004	2003(1)	2002	2001(1)
METERS IN SERVICE, end of year					- 1:
Residential		2 1,506,77	7 1,498,586	1,247,247	1,243,625
Commercial	. 274,536	151,38	. 151,008	122,156	122,274
Industrial	. 2,715	2,430	3,799	2,118	1,838
*Agricultural		8,397	9,514	10,576	11,182
Public authority and other	8,128	10,145	9,891	7,244	7,404
Total meters	3,157,840	1,679,136	1,672,798	1,389,341	1,386,323
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *				31 + 5 + 1 + 1
Actual (weighted average)	2,587	3,271	3,473	3,368	2.9. 4,124
Percent of normal	89%	96%	101%	94%	115%
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽³⁾					
Gas Sales Volumes					
Residential	162,016	92,208	97,953	77,386	79,000
Commercial	92,401	44,226	45,611	35,796	36,922
Industrial	29,434	22,330	23,738	14,499	19,243
Agricultural	3,348	4,642	7,884	10,988	7,070
Public authority and other	9,084	9,813	9,326	5,875	6,892
Total gas sales volumes	296,283	173,219	184,512	144,544	149,127
Utility transportation volumes	122,098	87,746	70,159	69,589	69,492
Total utility throughput	418,381	260,965	254,671	214,133	218,619
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's	s) ⁽³⁾				
Gas Sales Revenues					
Residential	\$1,791,172	\$ 923,773	\$ 873,375	\$ 535,981	\$ 788,902
Commercial	869,722	400,704	367,961	-221,728	342,945
Industrial	229,649	155,336	151,969	70,164	120,770
Agricultural	27,889	31,851	48,625	37,951	28,753
Public authority and other	86,853	77,178	65,921	31,731	58,539
Total utility gas sales revenues	3,005,285	1,588,842	1,507,851	897,555	1,339,909
Transportation revenues	59,996	31,714	30,461	28,786	28,750
Other gas revenues	37,859	17,172	15,770	11,185	11,489
Total utility operating revenues	\$3,103,140	\$1,637,728	\$1,554,082	\$ 937,526	\$1,380,148
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.49	\$ 0.36	\$ 0.43	\$ 0.41	\$ 0.41
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold		\$ 6.55	\$ 5.76	\$ 3.87	\$ 6.82
Employees ⁽⁵⁾	4,327	2,742	2,817	2,255	2,299

See footnotes following these tables.

	Year Ended September 30, 2004							
· LAST LAST LAST	Colorado- Kansas		Louisiana	Mid- States	West Texas	Mississippi	Other(4)	Total Utility
METERS IN SERVICE			-		-			
Residential	205,028	159,214	348,390	274,662	270,854	248,629	15	1,506,777
Commercial	19,190	,	22,754	•				151,381
Industrial	85			712		•		2,436
Agricultural	295		-		8,102			8,397
Public authority and other	1,757	1,655	931	880	2,158	2,764		10,145
Total	226,355	179,355	372,075	312,441	307,480	281,430		1,679,136
HEATING DEGREE DAYS(2)				:			e e	
Actual	5,490	4,283	1,515	3,631	3,252	2,734	41 -	3,271
Percent of normal	99%	98%	93%	95%	101%	90%	-	96%
SALES VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽³⁾					g ^a Ça :	,	1.1357	
Gas Sales Volumes								11 ()
Residential	16,271	10,980	14,997			14,301		92,208
Commercial	6,093	4,865	6,699	12,502		7,114		44,226
Industrial	- 304	1,713		7,852		9,068		22,330
Agricultural	526				4,116	7		4,642
Public authority and other	1,491	1,451	814	249	2,157	3,651		9,813
Total	24,685	19,009	22,510	37,860	35,021	34,134	 ,	173,219
Transportation Volumes	8,879	27,059	7,073	22,001	20,579	2,155		87,746
Total Throughput	33,564	46,068	29,583	59,861	55,600	36,289		260,965
OPERATING MARGIN (000's) (3)	\$ 65,539	\$ 52,567	\$106,184	\$112,904	\$ 85,805	\$ 80,135	\$ 100	\$ 503,134
OPERATING EXPENSES (000's) (3)		25. At	1,	1230 m			11.	
Operation and maintenance	\$ 25,934	\$ 16,077	35,084	\$ 40,806	\$ 47,134	\$ 29,128	\$ 1,308 \$	6 195,471
Depreciation and amortization	\$ 13,178	\$ 11,025	\$ 21,214	\$123,069	\$ 8,993	\$ 12,720	\$ 2,755	92,954
Taxes, other than income :	\$ 5,551	\$ 2,727	9,124	\$ 10,251	\$ 10,969	\$ 16,197	\$— \$	54,819
OPERATING INCOME (000's) (3)	\$ 20,876	\$ 22,738	40,762	\$ 38,778	\$ 18,709	\$ 22,090	\$ (4,063)\$	159,890
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (000's)	\$ 22,226	\$ 20,902	36,865	\$ 36,863	\$ 36,196	\$ 21,503 -	\$ 14,736 \$	189,291
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET (000's)	\$235,386		309,267		\$246,381	: \$199,443	\$104,052 \$	1,669,304
OTHER STATISTICS, at year end				-				
Miles of pipe	6,405	3,851	8,063	7,878	15,125	6,294		47,616
Employees ⁽⁵⁾	278	239	431	427	349	519	499	2,742
The state of the s	-		1				1.7	*1

See footnotes following these tables.

Ratemaking Activity

- Overview

The method of determining regulated rates varies among the states in which our natural gas utility divisions operate. The regulators have the responsibility of ensuring that utilities under their jurisdictions operate in the best interests of customers while providing utility companies the opportunity to earn a reasonable return on investment. Generally, each regulatory authority reviews our rate request and establishes a rate structure intended to generate revenue sufficient to cover our costs of doing business and provide a reasonable return on invested capital.

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to address all of the utility's non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price fluctuations compared to the utility's other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility's cost of service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through purchased gas adjustments, but they do provide a dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility gas costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we purchase, utility gross profit (which is defined as operating revenues less purchased gas cost) is generally not affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased gas adjustment mechanism. Additionally, certain jurisdictions have introduced performance-based ratemaking adjustments to provide incentives to natural gas utilities to minimize purchased gas costs through improved storage management and use of financial hedges to lock in gas costs. Under the performance-based ratemaking adjustment, purchased gas costs savings are shared between the utility and its customers.

The following table summarizes certain information regarding our ratemaking jurisdictions.

Jurisdictional Rate Summary

Division	Jurisdiction ·	Effective Date of Last Rate Action	Rate Base (thousands) (1)	Authorized Rate of Return(1)	Authorized Return on Equity
Atmos Pipeline — Texas	Texas	5/24/04	\$417,111	8.258%	10.00%
Colorado-Kansas	Colorado	7/1/05	84,711	8.95%	11.25%
	Kansas	3/1/04	(2)	(2)	(2)
Kentucky	Kentucky	12/21/99	(2)	(2)	(2)
Louisiana	Trans LA	10/1/04	81,645		10.50% - 11.50%
	LGS ;	10/1/04	170,358	9.23%	10.88% - 11.50%
Mid-States	Georgia	11/25/96	38,451	10.10%	11.50%
(s, s) = s(s) + s(t) s(s) +	Illinois	11/1/00 :	24,564	9.18%	11.56%
The state of the s	Iowa	3/1/01	5,000	(2)	11.00%
and the second s	Missouri	10/14/95	(2)	10.58%	12.15%
1 .	Tennessee	11/15/95	111,970	(2)	(2)
With the second second	Virginia	8/1/04	30,672	8.46% - 8.96%	9.50% - 110.50%
Mid-Tex	Texas	5/24/04	769,721	8.258%	10.00%
Mississippi	Mississippi	1/1/05	196,801	8.23%	9.80%
West Texas	Amarillo	9/1/03	36,844	9.88%	12.00%
	Lubbock	3/1/04	43,300	9.15%	11.25%
	West Texas	5/1/04	87,500	8.77%	10.50%
4					

See footnotes on the following page.

revenue increases resulting from ratemaking activity totaling \$6.3 million, \$16.2 million and \$18.6 million became effective in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 as summarized below:

10 to the second second	Most Recent Effective	Most Recent	ř.		(Decrease) to ear Ended Sept	
Division	Date	Rate Action	Jurisdiction	2005	2004	2003
	17		1 -		(In thousands	s).
Atmos Pipeline — Texas	4/1/05	GRIP ⁽¹⁾ ···	Texas	\$1,802	\$	\$ 110
Colorado-Kansas	4/1/04	Show Cause	Colorado		(1,900)	
Section 1	3/1/04	Rate Case	Kansas	-	2,500	:i • <u>**</u>
Louisiana	11/1/02	Stable Rate Filing	Trans La	-	· 41.	452 ⁽²⁾
	11/1/02	Stable Rate Filing	LGS			15,300 ⁽²⁾
Parties of Section	10/1/04	Stable Rate Filing	LGS	225.		
Mid-States: 11.18	8/1/04	Rate Case	Virginia		372	· Arthura
Mississippi	÷ '··(3)	Stable Rate Filing	Mississippi	4,300	10,545	No.
West Texas	9/1/03	Rate Case	Amarillo	.,		2,825
The State Committee of	3/1/04	Rate Case	Lubbock		1,525	
ा । स्वत्युक्त में स्वर्धित होंगे के ।	5/1/04	Rate Case	West Texas		3,200	w
J. T. Edward Land		1.4	45	\$6,327	\$16,242	\$18,577
ខុត្ត ខុំបូណុំ (៦៩) នៅ		P1			Ψ10,2-12	420,077

- (1) In 2003, the Texas Legislature approved the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) which allows natural gas utilities the opportunity to include in their rate base annually approved capital costs incurred in the prior calendar year. Natural gas utilities who enter the program will be required to file a complete rate case at least once every five years.
- (2) In 2002, we submitted our 2001 rate stabilization filing and received tariff revisions which resulted in an increase in annual revenues of \$0.5 million for our Trans La System and \$15.3 million in our LGS System during the first 24-month period beginning in November 2002. Subsequent to the first 24-month period, adjusted rates have provided an increase in annual revenues of \$0.4 million for our Trans La System and \$11.9 million for our LGS System.
- (3) The MPSC required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Through May 2005, rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effective in June and December. See further discussion under the recent ratemaking activity for our Atmos Energy Mississippi Division below.

Additionally, the following ratemaking efforts were initiated during fiscal 2005 but had not been completed as of September 30, 2005:

:	Division	Rate Action	Jurisdiction	Revenue Requested
	The state of the s			(In thousands)
75.	Atmos Pipeline — Texas	GRIP	Texas	\$ 1,919
		Stable Rate Filing	LGS ⁽¹⁾	3,326
:	Mid-States	Rate Case	Georgia -	4,023
	Mid-Tex	2003 GRIP	Texas	6,691
200	the same of the sa	2004 GRIP	Texas	0,731
rtgu.	West Texas	GRIP	Texas	3,803
	POTES CONTRACTOR OF STATE OF S	.iv		<u>\$26,493</u>

This rate increase was implemented during fiscal 2005; but has not been recognized in our results of the properations as it is subject to refund pending the final resolution of that filing.

changes in labor costs and customer growth. Since January 1, 2002, customers have been assured they will receive annual savings, which will be indexed for inflation, annual changes in labor costs and customer growth. The sharing mechanism will remain in place for 20 years, subject to established modification procedures.

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. During the third quarter of 2005, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4.0 million. We anticipate that the rate case will be finalized in November 2005.

In February 2004, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case with the Virginia Corporation Commission (VCC) to request a \$1.0 million increase in our base rates, WNA and recovery of the gas cost component of bad-debt expense. The VCC granted a rate increase in November 2004 of \$0.4 million that was retroactively effective to July 27, 2004. Additionally, the VCC authorized WNA beginning in July 2005 and the ability to recover the gas cost component of bad debt expense.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority that it was opening an investigation into allegations that we are overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10.0 million per year. We do not believe that we are overcharging our customers and we intend to participate fully in the investigation.

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. In December 2004, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$32.0 million of distribution capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which should result in additional revenues of approximately \$6.7 million. These capital costs will be recovered through a monthly customer charge that began in October 2005.

In September 2005, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$29.4 million of distribution capital costs incurred during calendar year 2004. It is anticipated that \$6.7 million in additional annual revenue will be authorized through this filing. The cities in this division's service area and the RRC must rule on this filing before January 4, 2006. If necessary, the RRC will rule on an appeal of any cities actions in the first quarter of calendar year 2006.

On September 1, 2005, the Mid-Tex Division filed its annual gas cost reconciliation with the RRC. The filing involves approximately \$14.0 million in refunds of amounts overcollected from customers between July 1, 2004 and June 30, 2005. The Mid-Tex Division has proposed to the RRC the accelerating of refunds to December through March rather than during the usual refund period of October through June to help offset higher gas costs for residential, commercial and industrial customers during the 2005 — 2006 heating season, which proposal is still under consideration.

In August 2005, we received a "show cause" order from the City of Dallas, which requires us to provide information that demonstrates good cause for showing that our existing distribution rates charged to customers in the city of Dallas should not be reduced. We are currently preparing our response to this order and anticipate filing it by the November 22, 2005 due date.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the RRC. This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the RRC in late June. No decision is expected from the RRC until the end of December 2005 or January 2006.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mid-Tex Division pursued a filing initiated by TXU Gas seeking authorization of a surcharge to recover the rate case expenses incurred by the Mid-Tex Division, Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the intervening cities in connection with their last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004. The filing also covered the estimated expenses to prosecute the aforementioned recovery docket and the severed dockets from the systemwide rate case. On January 25, 2005, the RRC issued an order authorizing the recovery of the \$10.2 million of expenses over a 3-year period with interest.

The Mid-Tex Division is also pursuing an appeal to the Travis County District Court of the Final Order in its last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004 to obtain a return of and on its investment associated with the Poly I replacement pipe that was originally disallowed in its most recent rate case completed in May 2004. Additionally, the Mid-Tex Division is seeking the right to surcharge for gas cost underrecoveries. The

Other Regulation

Each of our utility divisions is regulated by various state or local public utility authorities. We are also subject to regulation by the United States Department of Transportation with respect to safety requirements in the operation and maintenance of our gas distribution facilities. Our distribution operations are also subject to various state and federal laws regulating environmental matters. From time to time we receive inquiries regarding various environmental matters. We believe that our properties and operations substantially comply with and are operated in substantial conformity with applicable safety and environmental statutes and regulations. There are no administrative or judicial proceedings arising under environmental quality statutes pending or known to be contemplated by governmental agencies which would have a material adverse effect on us or our operations. Our environmental claims have arisen primarily from manufactured gas plant sites in Tennessee, Iowa and Missouri and mercury contamination sites in Kansas. These claims are more fully described in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline — Texas operations are wholly intrastate in character and are subject to regulation by municipalities in Texas and the Railroad Commission of Texas. These acquired operations do not include any certificated interstate transmission facilities subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) under the Natural Gas Act, any sales for resale under the rate jurisdiction of the FERC or any transportation service that is subject to FERC jurisdiction under the Natural Gas Act. Since 1988, the FERC has allowed, pursuant to Section 311 of the Natural Gas Policy Act, gas transportation services through the intrastate transmission facilities we acquired "on behalf of" interstate pipelines or local distribution companies served by interstate pipelines, without subjecting the acquired operations to the jurisdiction of the FERC. We did not acquire any manufactured gas plant sites in the TXU Gas acquisition. Our acquisition agreement with TXU Gas addresses other environmental matters, which we expect to have no material adverse effect on us or our operations.

Competition

Although our utility operations are not currently in significant direct competition with any other distributors of natural gas to residential and commercial customers within our service areas, we do compete with other natural gas suppliers and suppliers of alternative fuels for sales to industrial and agricultural customers. We compete in all aspects of our business with alternative energy sources, including, in particular, electricity. Electric utilities offer electricity as a rival energy source and compete for the space heating, water heating and cooking markets. Promotional incentives, improved equipment efficiencies and promotional rates all contribute to the acceptability of electrical equipment. The principal means to compete against alternative fuels is lower prices, and natural gas historically has maintained its price advantage in the residential, commercial and industrial markets. However, higher gas prices, coupled with the electric utilities' marketing efforts, have increased competition for residential and commercial customers. In addition, our Natural Gas Marketing segment competes with other natural gas brokers in obtaining natural gas supplies for our customers.

Employees

At September 30, 2005, we had 4,543 employees, consisting of 4,327 employees in our utility segment and 216 employees in our other segments. See "Operating Statistics — Utility Sales and Statistical Data by Division" for the number of employees by division.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and other reports, and amendments to those reports, that we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) are available free of charge at our website, www.atmosenergy.com, as soon as reasonably practicable, after we electronically file such reports with, or furnish such reports to, the SEC. We will also

Storage Assets

Our utility and pipeline and storage segments own underground gas storage facilities in several states to supplement the supply of natural gas in periods of peak demand. The following table summarizes key information regarding our underground gas storage facilities:

Facility	Location	Usable Capacity (Mcf)	Cushion Gas (Mef) (1)	Total Capacity (Mcf)	Maximum Daily Delivery Capability (Mcf)
Utility Segment	**				
Liberty North	Montgomery County, KS	2,800,000	2,000,000	4,800,000	40,000
St. Charles	Hopkins County, KY	2,685,196	3,422,283	6,107,479	44,600
Amory	Monroe County, MS	800,635	788,457	1,589,092	30,000
Bon Harbor	Daviess County, KY	778,600	1,300,000	2,078,600	24,000
Goodwin	Monroe County, MS	743,998	1,393,280	2,137,278	18,000
Hickory	Daviess County, KY	451,600	850,000	1,301,600	24,000
Columbus LNG Plant	Muscogee County, GA	450,000	50,000	500,000	30,000
Liberty South	Montgomery County, KS	439,000	300,000	739,000	5,000
Grandview	Daviess County, KY	305,400	350,000	655,400	4,500
Kirkwood	Hopkins County, KY	221,900	400,000	621,900	12,000
Buffalo	Wilson County, KS	200,000	180,000	380,000	5,000
Fredonia	Wilson County, KS	200,000	160,000	360,000	5,000
Total Utility Segment		10,076,329	11,194,020	21,270,349	242,100
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			, ,		
Pipeline and Storage Segment	4				
Tri-Cities ⁽²⁾	Malakoff, TX	19,993,475	5,660,000	25,653,475	275,000
Bethel ⁽²⁾	Howard, TX	7,100,000	3,000,000	10,100,000	600,000
New York City ⁽²⁾	Bellvue, TX.	5,650,000	2,083,025	7,733,025	120,000
Lapan ⁽²⁾	Bellvue, TX	3,425,000	1,070,000	4,495,000	120,000
Lake Dallas ⁽²⁾	Denton, TX	2,960,000	1,315,000	4,275,000	120,000
East Diamond	Hopkins County, KY	2,160,000	1,640,000	3,800,000	40,000
Barnsley	Hopkins County, KY	1,278,900	1,600,000	2,878,900	30,000
Napoleonville ⁽³⁾	Assumption Parish, LA	438,583	300,973	739,556	56,000
Crofton	Christian County, KY	54,000	55,000	109,000	1,000
Total Pipeline and Storage	Segment	43,059,958	16,723,998	59,783,956	1,362,000
Total	4 7 4 5 	53,136,287	27,918,018	81,054,305	1,604,100

⁽¹⁾ Cushion gas represents the volume of gas that must be retained in a facility to maintain reservoir pressure.

⁽²⁾ Acquired on October 1, 2004 in connection with the TXU Gas acquisition.

⁽³⁾ We own 25 percent of this facility and Acadian Gas Pipeline System owns the remaining 75 percent of this facility. Acadian Gas Pipeline System operates this facility.

:Division/Company	(a) (b) (c) (c) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d) (d	Maximum Daily Storage Withdrawal Quantity Quantity (MMBtu) (MMBtu)(1)
Natural Gas Marketing Segment		$\mathcal{J}^{(3)}=\varphi$
Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC		
	Gulf South	5,992,015 85,686
e de la companya della companya della companya de la companya della companya dell	Egan	1,500,000 90,000
4.	Atmos Pipeline — Texas	1,000,000 24,000
	Virginia Gas Pipeline Company	<u>170,000</u> <u>17,000</u>
Total Natural Gas Marketing Segmen	t d	8,662,015
	Section 1985	
Pipeline and Storage Segment	Age Constant of the Constant	70g. Det
Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline, Inc.	Gulf South Pipeline Company	750,000 20,000
 Company of the State State of State of F2 and the State of Sta	Bridgeline Gas Distribution LLC	300,000 30,000
Total Pipeline and Storage Segment.	,	1,050,000 50,000
	4 1914	

⁽¹⁾ Maximum daily withdrawal quantity (MDWQ) amounts will fluctuate depending upon the season and the month. Unless otherwise noted, MDWQ amounts represent the MDWQ amounts as of November 1, which is the beginning of the winter heating season.

Other facilities

Our utility segment owns and operates one propane peak shaving plant with a total capacity of approximately 180,000 gallons that can produce an equivalent of approximately 3,300 Mcf daily.

and the second will be the second

Offices

246.75, 11,

Our administrative offices are consolidated in a leased facility in Dallas, Texas. We also maintain field offices throughout our distribution system, the majority of which are located in leased facilities. Our nonutility operations are headquartered in Houston, Texas, with offices in Houston and other locations, primarily in leased facilities.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005.

We contract for storage service in two underground storage facilities, Wiseman and Ellis, from this company.

PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol "ATO." The high and low sale prices and dividends paid per share of our common stock for fiscal 2005 and 2004 are listed below. The high and low prices listed are the closing NYSE quotes for shares of our common stock:

q = q + q		2005	1		2004		
0	High	Low	Dividends Paid	High	Low	Dividends Paid	
Quarter ended:						•	
December 31	\$27.43	\$24.85	\$.310	\$24.99	\$24.15	\$.305	
March 31	29.09	26.19	.310	26.86	24.32	.305	
June 30	28.87	25.94	.310	26.05	23.68	.305	
September 30	29.76	28.23	310	25,86	24.61	305	
			<u>\$1.24</u>	ir gal		<u>\$1.22</u>	

Dividend payments are payable at the discretion of our Board of Directors out of legally available funds and are also subject to restriction under the terms of our First Mortgage Bond agreements. See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors typically declares dividends in the same fiscal quarter in which they are paid. The number of record holders of our common stock on October'31, 2005 was 26,170. Future payments of dividends, and the amounts of these dividends, will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors. We sold no securities during fiscal 2005 that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

The following table sets forth the number of securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans at September 30, 2005.

	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	Weighted- Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column(a))
and the property of the second	(a)	(b)	, (c) (, _a ;
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:			
Long-Term Incentive Plan	964,704	\$22,20	1,290,292
Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid- States Division	300	15.50	168,550
Total equity compensation plans approved by security holders	965,004	22,20	1,458,842
Equity compensation plans not			") ""I (i + 1)
approved by security holders			
Total	965,004	<u>\$22.20</u>	1,458,842

\$ \$ 91

- (1) Financial results for 2005 include the results of the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline Texas Division from October 1, 2004, the date of acquisition.
- (2) Financial results for 2004 include a \$5.9 million pre-tax gain on the sale of our interest in U.S. Propane, L.P. and Heritage Propane Partners, L.P.
- (3) Financial results for fiscal 2003 include the results of MVG from December 3, 2002, the date of acquisition.
- (4) Financial results for fiscal 2001 include the results of Louisiana Gas Service Company from July 1, 2001 and Woodward Marketing L.L.C. from April 1, 2001, the date of each acquisition, and the equity earnings from our 45 percent investment in Woodward Marketing L.L.C. for the period October 1, 2001 through March 31, 2002.
- Beginning in 2004, we reclassified our regulatory cost of removal obligation from accumulated depreciation to a liability. The amounts presented above for property, plant and equipment, working capital and total assets reflect this reclassification for all periods presented. These reclassifications did not impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows as of and for the years ended September 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001.
- (6) The capitalization ratio is calculated by dividing shareholders' equity by the sum of total capitalization and short-term debt, inclusive of current maturities of long-term debt. Beginning in 2004 we reclassified our original issue discount costs from deferred charges and other assets to long-term debt. This reclassification did not materially impact our capitalization or our capitalization ratio as of September 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001.
- (7) The return on average shareholders' equity is calculated by dividing current year net income by the average of shareholders' equity for the previous five quarters.

The following table presents a condensed income statement by segment for the year ended September 30, 2005.

-		' 'Y	ear Ended Sep	ptember 30, 2005			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage	Other Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated	
			(In thou	ısands) ,			
Operating revenues from external parties	\$3,102,041	\$1,783,926	\$85,333	\$2,026	\$	\$4,973,326	
Intersegment revenues	1,099	322,352	79,409	3,27.6	(406,136)	,	
,	3,103,140	2,106,278	164,742	5,302	(406,136)	4,973,326	
Purchased gas cost	2,195,774	2,044,305	6,811		(402,654)	3,844,236	
Gross profit	907,366	61,973	157,931	5,302	(3,482)	1,129,090	
Operating expenses	671,001	20,988	87,645	4,484	(3,683)	780,435	
Operating income	236,365	40,985	70,286	818	201	348,655	
Miscellaneous income	6,776	771	2,030	2,575	(10,131)	2,021	
Interest charges	112,382	3,405	24,579	2,222	(9,930)	132,658	
Income before income			ell Ef.	i.			
taxes	130,759	38,351	47,737	1,171	: ·	218,018	
Income tax expense	49,642	14,947	17,138	506	<u> </u>	82,233	
Net income	\$ 81,117	\$ 23,404	\$30,599	\$ 665	\$	\$ 135,785	
Capital expenditures	\$ 300,574	\$ 649	\$31,960	\$	\$	\$ 333,183	

West Texas and Kansas irrigation markets. Although weather normalized rates in effect in several of our jurisdictions should mitigate the adverse effects of warmer than normal weather on our utility operating results, approximately fifteen to twenty percent of our utility gross profit margin is sensitive to weather, particularly our Louisiana and Mid-Tex divisions. This means we will not be able to increase customers' bills to offset lower gas usage when the weather is warmer than normal.

Our Mid-Tex Division operations benefit from a rate structure that combines a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer than normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provides for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions. However, this rate structure is not as beneficial during periods where weather is significantly warmer than normal.

Finally, sustained cold weather could adversely affect our natural gas marketing operations as we may be required to purchase gas at spot rates in a rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill some customer contracts.

We are subject to regulation which can directly impact our operations.

Our natural gas utility business is subject to various regulated returns on its rate base in each of the 12 states in which we operate. We monitor the allowed rates of return, our effectiveness in earning such rates and initiate rate proceedings or operating changes as needed. In addition, in the normal course of the regulatory environment, assets are placed in service and historical test periods are established before rate cases can be filed. Once rate cases are filed, regulatory bodies have the authority to suspend implementation of the new rates while studying the cases. Because of this process, we must temporarily suffer the negative financial effects of having placed assets in service without the benefit of rate relief, which is commonly referred to as "regulatory lag". In addition, once our rates have been approved, they are still subject to challenge for their reasonableness by appropriate regulatory authorities. Also, our debt and equity financings are also subject to approval by regulatory bodies in certain states, which could limit our ability to take advantage of favorable short-term market conditions.

Our business could also be affected by deregulation initiatives, including the development of unbundling initiatives in the natural gas industry. Unbundling is the separation of the provision and pricing of local distribution gas services into discrete components. It typically focuses on the separation of the distribution and gas supply components and the resulting opening of the regulated components of sales services to alternative unregulated suppliers of those services. Because of our enhanced technology and distribution system infrastructures, we believe that we are now positively positioned should unbundling evolve. Consequently, we expect there would be no significant adverse effect on our business should unbundling or further deregulation of the natural gas distribution service business occur.

Finally, contractual limitations could adversely affect our ability to withdraw gas from storage, which could cause us to purchase gas at spot prices in a rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill customer contracts. We seek to minimize this risk by increasing our storage capacity and enhancing the flexibility of our natural gas marketing contracts.

Our operations are exposed to market risks that are beyond our control, which could result in financial losses.

Our risk management operations in our natural gas marketing segment are subject to market risks beyond our control including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness. Market liquidity is affected by the number of trading partners in the market.

Although we maintain a risk management policy, we may not be able to completely offset the price risk associated with volatile gas prices or the risk in our gas trading activities which could lead to financial losses. Physical trading also introduces price risk on any net open positions at the end of each trading day, as well as a risk of loss resulting from intra-day fluctuations of gas prices and the potential for daily price movements

unable to issue commercial paper, we intend to borrow under our bank credit facilities to meet our working capital needs. This would increase the cost of our working capital financing.

Inflation and increased gas costs could adversely impact our customer base and customer collections and increase our level of indebtedness.

Inflation has caused increases in certain operating expenses and has required assets to be replaced at higher costs. We have a process in place to continually review the adequacy of our utility gas rates in relation to the increasing cost of providing service and the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. Historically, we have been able to budget and control operating expenses and investments within the amounts authorized to be collected in rates and intend to continue to do so. The ability to control expenses is an important factor that will influence future results.

Rapid increases in the price of purchased gas, which has occurred recently and in some prior years, causes us to experience a significant increase in short-term debt because we must pay suppliers for gas when it is purchased, which can be significantly in advance of when these costs may be recovered through the collection of monthly customer bills for gas delivered. Increases in purchased gas costs also slow our utility collection efforts as customers are more likely to delay the payment of their gas bills, leading to higher than normal accounts receivable. This situation could result in higher short-term debt levels and increased bad debt expense. Due to the significant increase in natural gas prices resulting primarily from the impact of recent natural disasters, we are anticipating increases in our short-term debt, accounts receivable and bad debt expense during fiscal 2006.

Finally, higher costs of natural gas in recent years have already caused many of our utility customers to conserve in the use of our gas services and could lead to even more customers utilizing such conservation methods.

Our operations are subject to increased competition.

We are facing increased competition from other energy suppliers as well as electric companies and from energy marketing and trading companies. In the case of industrial customers, such as manufacturing plants, and agricultural customers, adverse economic conditions, including higher gas costs, could cause these customers to use alternative sources of energy, such as electricity, or bypass our systems in favor of special competitive contracts with lower per-unit costs. Our pipeline and storage operations currently face limited competition from other existing intrastate pipelines and gas marketers seeking to provide or arrange transportation, storage and other services for customers. However, competition may increase if new intrastate pipelines are constructed near our existing facilities.

We have only limited recourse under the acquisition agreement for losses relating to the TXU Gas acquisition.

The diligence conducted in connection with the TXU Gas acquisition and the indemnification provided in the acquisition agreement may not be sufficient to protect us from, or compensate us for, all losses resulting from the acquisition or TXU Gas's prior operations. For example, under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the first \$15 million of many indemnifiable losses are to be borne by us, and the agreement provides for sharing of losses with respect to unknown environmental matters that may affect the assets we acquired after we have borne \$10 million in costs relating to such matters. In addition, under the terms of the acquisition agreement, the maximum aggregate amount of such losses for which TXU Gas will indemnify us is approximately \$192.5 million. A material loss associated with the TXU Gas acquisition for which there is not adequate indemnification could negatively affect our results of operations, our financial condition and our reputation in the industry, thereby reducing the anticipated benefits of the acquisition.

Recent natural disasters, especially Hurricane Katrina, have adversely impacted our operations.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage in our eastern Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service area were in Jefferson, St. Tammany,

The TXU Gas acquisition essentially doubled the size of the Company as measured by assets, revenues and customers. The following table presents selected financial information for the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division operations for the year ended September 30, 2005:

Year Ended

of a second		: 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1	September	
and the desired	: •	And Charles	j - I+ -	Mid-Tex Division	Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division
				(In thousar	nds, unless e noted)
Operating revenues				\$1,326,940	\$154,405
Gross profit				398,234	149,487
Operation and mainte				146,449	60,102
Depreciation and amo				64,460	15,281
Taxes, other than inco				102,360	8,264
Operating income ?	a" (15, 11, 11)			84,965	65,840
and the first of the first of the second			<u> </u>	2,272	150
Interest charges				47,668	23,344
Income tax expense.				14,455	15,064
			• • • • • • • • • • •	\$ 25,114	\$ 27,582
Utility sales volumes -				127,497	N/A
Utility transportation				46,757	N/A
• •		en de la companya de		<u>174,254</u>	<u>N/A</u>
Pipeline transportation	volumės – MM	cf		<u> </u>	375,604
Heating Degree Days	1.27 1.35		31	80%	N/A

The impact of the TXU Gas acquisition, combined with continued strong performance in our natural gas marketing segment contributed to the following financial results during the year ended September 30, 2005:

- Our utility segment net income increased by \$18.0 million. The increase reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex operations (\$25.1 million) and the effect of rate increases in our West Texas and Mississippi jurisdictions that were not in effect during the first six months of fiscal 2004, partially offset by weather (adjusted for WNA) in our other utility operations that was five percent warmer than normal and one percent warmer than the prior year.
- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$6.8 million during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects favorable results from the management of our storage portfolio partially offset by an unfavorable movement in the forward indices used to value our storage financial instruments.
- Our pipeline and storage segment contributed \$30.6 million in net income for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with \$2.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2004, primarily reflecting the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline Texas Division (\$27.6 million).
- Our total debt to capitalization ratio at September 30, 2005 was 59.3 percent compared with 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004 reflecting the impact of the financing for the TXU Gas acquisition, partially offset by the repayment of \$72.5 million in principal of substantially all of our First Mortgage bonds in June 2005.

La destruire de la destruire d

Energy trading contracts resulting in the delivery of a commodity where we are the principal in the transaction are recorded as natural gas marketing sales or purchases at the time of physical delivery. Realized gains and losses from the settlement of financial instruments that do not result in physical delivery related to our natural gas marketing energy trading contracts and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the market value of open contracts are included as a component of natural gas marketing revenues.

Allowance for doubtful accounts — For the majority of our receivables, we establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our collections experience. On certain other receivables where we are aware of a specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay, we record an allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably expect to collect. However, if circumstances change, our estimate of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be different. Circumstances which could affect our estimates include, but are not limited to, customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices and general economic conditions.

Derivatives and hedging activities — In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage and financial derivatives to partially insulate us and our natural gas utility customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. The financial derivatives we use in our utility segment are accounted for under the mark-to-market method pursuant to SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Changes in the valuation of these derivatives primarily result from changes in the valuation of the pertfolio of contracts, maturity and settlement of contracts and newly originated transactions. However, because the costs of financial derivatives used in our utility segment will ultimately be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. The changes in the assets and liabilities from risk management activities are recognized in purchased gas cost in the income statement when the related costs are recovered through our rates.

Our natural gas marketing risk management activities are conducted through AEM. AEM is exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas, which we manage through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Option contracts provide the right, but not the requirement, to buy or sell the commodity at a fixed price. Swap contracts require receipt of payment for the commodity based on the difference between a fixed price and the market price on the settlement date. The use of these contracts is subject to our risk management policies, which are monitored for compliance daily.

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase or sell physical natural gas and then sell or purchase financial contracts at a price sufficient to cover our carrying costs and provide a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Under SFAS 133, natural gas inventory is the hedged item in a fair-value hedge and is marked to market monthly using the inside FERC (iFERC) price at the end of each month. Changes in fair value are recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas and deliver it out of the storage facility.

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the

life may warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through expected future cash flows. These cash flow projections consider various factors such as the timing of the future cash flows and the discount rate and are based upon the best information available at the time the estimate is made. Changes in these factors could materially affect the cash flow projections and result in the recognition of an impairment charge. An impairment charge is recognized as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value if the sum of the undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the related asset.

Pension and other postretirement plans — Pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and current demographic and actuarial mortality data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The assumed discount rate and the expected return are the assumptions that generally have the most significant impact on our pension costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate, the assumed health care cost trend rate and assumed rates of retirement generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement plan costs and liabilities.

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actuarial present value of our pension and postretirement obligation and net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our discount rate, we consider absolute high quality corporate bond rates based on Moody's Aa bond index, changes in those rates from the prior year and the implied discount rate that is derived from matching our projected benefit disbursements with a high quality corporate bond spot rate curve.

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is utilized in calculating the expected return on plan assets component of our annual pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the expected return on plan assets by evaluating expected bond returns, equity risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan management, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical performance. We also consider the guidance from our investment advisors in making a final determination of our expected rate of return on assets. To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized over the course of a year is greater than or less than the assumed rate, that year's annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not affected. Rather, this gain or loss reduces or increases future pension or postretirement plan cost over a period of approximately ten to twelve years.

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend rate used in determining our postretirement net expense based upon our actual health care cost experience, the effects of recently enacted legislation and general economic conditions. Our assumed rate of retirement is estimated based upon our annual review of our participant census information as of the measurement date.

Actual changes in the fair market value of plan assets and differences between the actual return on plan assets and the expected return on plan assets could have a material effect on the amount of pension cost ultimately recognized. A 0.25 percent change in our discount rate will impact our pension and postretirement cost approximately \$1.6 million. A 0.25 percent change in our expected rate of return will impact our pension and postretirement cost by approximately \$0.8 million.

The following table shows our operating income by utility division and by segment for the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2005. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	200)5	2004	1	200	3
in the second se	Operating	Heating Degree Days Percent of	Operating	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾	Operating Income	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾
· .	Income	Normal ⁽¹⁾	Income sands, except de			TOTHER
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 25,157	99%	\$ 20,876	99%	\$ 23,756	101%
Kentucky	18,657	98%	22,738	98%	21,841	101%
Louisiana	24,819	78%	40,762	93%	41,672	106%
Mid-States.		· 93% ⁱ i	38,778	95%	37,535	101%
Mid-Tex	84,965	80%				
Mississippi	19,045	96%	18,709	101%	17,617	101%
West Texas	27,520	99%	22,090	90%	19,650	97%
Other	. 1 515 ⁽²⁾		(4,063)	-	<u>(937</u>)	
Utility segment	236,365	89%	159,890	. 96%	161,134	101%
Natural gas marketing segment	40,985		27,726	,	13,569	
Pipeline and storage segment	70,286		5,293		11,814	
Other nonutility segment	1,019	:	786	NAME AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY O	1,323	
Consolidated operating income	\$348,655	89%	\$193,695	96%	<u>\$187,840</u>	101%

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations.

Year ended September 30, 2005 compared with year ended September 30, 2004

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 70 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public-authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 67 percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense and may require us to increase borrowings under our credit facilities resulting in higher interest expense.

interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004. On June 30, 2005, we repaid \$72.5 million in principal on five series of our First Mortgage Bonds prior to their scheduled maturities. The early repayment of these bonds resulted in savings of \$1.3 million in interest expense in fiscal 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment.

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in gross profit margins. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, and storage activities, which are derived from the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the year ended September 30, 2005 and 2004:

		Year Ended	September 30
		2005	2004
	and the second of the second o	(In thous storage	ands, except balances)
		ा संस्था	
Realized margin	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	\$ 28,008	\$ (1,900)
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Total Storage Activities		14,001	(1,543)
Marketing Activities		1	April 1995
Realized margin	annian dimminan finian.	59,971	51,347
Unrealized margin	and the second of the second o	(11,999)	(3,173)
Total Marketing Activities		47,972	48,174
Gross profit	in the second	\$ 61,973	\$ 46,631
Ending storage balance (Bcf)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	6.9	7 5.5
The American Commission of the	and the second of the second o		

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$62.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$46.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Gross

APS owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$157.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$10.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 563.9 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with 9.4 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 375.6 Bcf during the current year.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$149.5 million and 375.6 Bcf. Also contributing to Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division's results were higher transportation and related services margin due to significant basis differentials at its three major Texas hubs. The \$2.0 million decrease in the gross profit generated by APS primarily reflects a decrease in asset management fees received during fiscal 2005.

Operating expenses increased to \$87.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from \$5.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 due to the addition of \$83.6 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division is a regulated entity, franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no permanent effect on net income. Included in operating expense was \$8.9 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$8.3 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to \$70.3 million from \$5.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to \$24.6 million from \$1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC, and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services, which began April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. The revenues of AES represent charges to our utility divisions

Miscellaneous income (expense)

Miscellaneous income for the year ended September 30, 2004 was \$5.8 million, compared with expense of \$0.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The \$6.0 million change was attributable primarily to the absence in 2004 of weather insurance amortization totaling \$5.0 million, which was recognized in the prior year due to the termination of our weather insurance policy in the third quarter of fiscal 2003 and the recognition of a \$0.8 million gain on the sale of real property during fiscal 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges increased 3.5 percent for the year ended September 30, 2004 to \$65.4 million from \$63.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The increase was attributable primarily to a higher average outstanding debt balance resulting from the financing obtained to fund the acquisition of MVG in December 2002.

The design of the second of th

Natural gas marketing segment was the second of the second

Operating income

11 1-2

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003:

Vear Ended -

12

111

and the state of t	September 30
the control of the force of the control of the specific of the	2004 2003
reing and the second of the se	(In thousands, except storage balances)
Storage Activities	18 18 Garage 10 100 .
Realized margin Unrealized margin	\$(1,900) \$(7,250) . 357 -5,362
Total Storage Activities Marketing Activities	(1.543) \(\alpha (1.888) \)
Realized margin Unrealized margin	(3,173) 23,077
Total Marketing Activities	48,174 26,053
Gross profit:	\$46,631 \$24,165
Ending storage balance (Bcf)	5.5
Consider the Martin of Agametra perchange the same a seri	7 1 1 C 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit was \$46.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 compared to gross profit margin of \$24.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 265.1 Bcf during the current year compared with 294.8 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intercompany sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 222.6 Bcf during the current year compared with 226.0 Bcf in the prior year. The decrease in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes, was primarily due to overall warmer temperatures during the 2003-2004 heating season compared with the prior year. Our natural gas marketing gross profit margin for the year ended September 30, 2004 included an unrealized loss on open contracts of \$2.8 million compared with an unrealized gain on open contracts of \$6.3 million in the prior year.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a loss of \$1.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 compared to a loss of \$1.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The \$0.4 million improvement primarily was attributable to a \$5.4 million improvement in the realized storage contribution for the year ended September 30, 2004 compared to the prior year offset by a \$5.0 million decrease in unrealized income associated with our storage portfolio compared to the prior year. The improvement in the realized storage contribution for the year ended September 30, 2004 primarily was due to

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income for the year ended September 30, 2004 was \$8.3 million, compared with income of \$6.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. The \$1.8 million increase was attributable primarily to a \$5.9 million pretax gain associated with the sale in January 2004 of our general and limited partnership interests in USP and the sale in June 2004 of the remaining limited partnership units in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. formerly owned by USP. This increase was offset partially by lower equity earnings from our investment in USP resulting from the sale and the absence in 2004 of a \$3.9 million gain recorded in 2003 associated with a sales-type lease of a distributed electric generation plant.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditure and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for fiscal 2006. However, during fiscal 2006, we anticipate that higher natural gas prices primarily resulting from the recent natural disasters will increase our need to utilize our short-term credit facilities to temporarily finance the purchase of natural gas to fulfill our contractual obligations. These facilities are described in greater detail below and in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capitalization

The following presents our capitalization as of September 30, 2005 and 2004:

		Septem	ber 30	
	2005	1:	2004	
	(In the	ousands, exc	ept percentages)
Short-term debt	\$ 144,809	3.7%	\$	
Long-term debt		55.6%	867,219	43.3%
Shareholders' equity	1,602,422	40.7%	1,133,459	56.7%
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$3,933,599	100.0%	\$2,000,678	100.0%

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 59:3 percent and 43.3 percent at September 30, 2005 and 2004. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was attributable to the issuance of \$1.39 billion in senior unsecured long-term debt, partially offset by the issuance of 16.1 million shares of our common stock in October 2004 to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within three to five years from the closing of the TXU Gas acquisition, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows:

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the price for our products and services, the demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks and other factors.

For the year ended September 30, 2005, we incurred \$333.2 million for capital expenditures compared with \$190.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 and \$159.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2003. Capital expenditures for the year ended September 30, 2005 include approximately \$115.0 million for the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and \$31.4 million for the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division.

Our cash used for investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2005 reflects the \$1.9 billion cash paid for the TXU Gas acquisition including related transaction costs and expenses. Cash flow from investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2004 reflect the receipt of \$27.9 million from the sale of our limited and general partnership interests in USP and Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. and from the sale of a building.

Cash flows from financing activities

预防的 37.85

For the year ended September 30, 2005, our financing activities provided \$1.7 billion in cash compared with \$80.4 million and \$151.6 million provided for the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003. Our significant financing activities for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are summarized as follows:

- In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$381.6 million. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured debt under the registration statement consisting of \$400 million of 4.00% senior notes due 2009, \$500 million of 4.95% senior notes due 2014, \$200 million of 5.95% senior notes due 2034 and \$300 million of floating rate senior notes due 2007. The floating rate notes bear interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. The net proceeds received from the sale of these senior notes were \$1.39 billion. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to repay the approximately \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition.
- During the year ended September 30, 2005 we borrowed a net \$144.8 million under our short-term facilities whereas during the year ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, we repaid a net \$118.6 million and \$27.2 million under our short-term facilities. Borrowings under our short-term facilities during fiscal 2005 reflect the impact of seasonal natural gas purchases and the effect of higher natural gas prices than in prior years. Prior year repayments under our short-term facilities reflected the timing of cash receipts which enabled us to reduce our short-term debt.
- We repaid \$103.4 million of long-term debt during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with \$9.7 million during the year ended September 30, 2004 and \$73.2 million during the year ended September 30, 2003. Fiscal 2005 payments reflected the repayment of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds. In connection with this repayment we paid a \$25.0 million make-whole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements and accrued interest of approximately \$1.0 million. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and will be recognized over the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid. The early repayment of these bonds resulted in interest savings of \$1.3 million in fiscal 2005 and should result in interest savings of \$4.8 million in fiscal 2006.
- During the year ended September 30, 2005 we paid \$99.0 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$66.7 million and \$55.3 million for the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003. The increase in dividends paid over the prior year reflects the 17.7 million increase in the number of common shares outstanding and an increase in the dividend rate from \$1.22 per share during the year ended September 30, 2004 to \$1.24 per share during the year ended September 30, 2005.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures have increased substantially as a result of the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas. On October 22, 2004, we replaced our \$350.0 million credit facility with a new \$600.0 million committed credit facility that serves as a backup liquidity facility for our commercial paper program. We believe this facility, combined with our operating cash flow will be sufficient to fund these increased working capital needs. On March 30, 2005, AEM amended and extended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2006. At September 30, 2005, there was \$129.9 million outstanding under our commercial paper program and \$14.9 million outstanding under our bank credit facilities. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

In anticipation of increased short-term liquidity needs due to the recent increases in natural gas prices, we worked with our regulators, who approved an increase in the amounts available to our utility operations under short-term credit facilities to \$968.0 million, consisting of a new \$600.0 million 3-year revolving credit facility to replace our existing \$600.0 million 364-day credit facility that expired in October 2005, a new \$300.0 million 364-day revolving credit facility, a new \$25.0 million uncommitted facility and our existing \$25.0 million uncommitted and \$18.0 million committed credit facilities. Additionally, we are working with our lenders to obtain up to an additional \$330.0 million of capacity under our uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to provide additional short-term liquidity to support our natural gas marketing operations.

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation, Moody's Investors Service and Fitch Ratings, Inc. Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	Moody's	Fitch
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2

Currently, S&P and Moody's maintain a stable outlook and Fitch maintains a negative outlook. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. All of our current ratings for long-term debt are categorized as investment grade. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB—, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB—. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following tables provide information about contractual obligations and commercial commitments at September 30, 2005.

ı:	. 3	. 11. 40 S.A.				
	Total	L	ess Than 1 Year	1-3 Years	3-5 Years	More Than 5 Years
				(In thousands), , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	12 TEMES 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Contractual Obligations				1,		1. 14 2 31
Long-term debt ⁽¹⁾	\$2,190,142	\$	3,264	\$307,017	\$403,415	\$1,476,446
Short-term debt ⁽¹⁾			144,809			State of the state of
Interest charges	1,155,103	•	118,488	222,554	191,500	
Gas purchase commitments (2)	1,275,427		890,856	319,141	25,491	39,939
Capital lease obligations (3)	3,404		631	795	602	1,376
Operating leases (3)	163,434		15,327	- : 29,461	26,193	92,453
Demand' fees for contracted storage (4)		P_{\perp}	7,440	6,218		÷ di ≈ 311
Derivative obligations (5)	77,236	:	61,920	15,316		CONTRACTOR
Postretirement benefit plan contributions (6)	164,455		14,896	24,477	29,162	95,920
Total contractual obligations		\$1.	257,631	\$924,979	\$677,431	\$2,329,006
					27 t	59.1

⁽¹⁾ See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At September 30, 2005, AEM was committed to purchase 32.3 Bcf within one year, 29.2 Bcf between one to three years and 9.9 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM was committed to purchase 1.3 Bcf within one year and 0.4 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$5.24 to \$17.50.

With the exception of our Mid-Tex Division, our utility segment maintains supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract. Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contract terms as of September 30, 2005 are reflected in the table above.

In January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we expect to contribute \$45.0 million within two years of signing a definitive agreement. We expect to execute

Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices estimated based upon the index specified in the contract, adjusted for estimated basis differentials and contractual discounts as of September 30, 2005.

⁽³⁾ See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

⁽⁴⁾ Represents third party contractual demand fees for contracted storage in our natural gas marketing and other utility segments. Contractual demand fees for contracted storage for our utility segment are excluded as these costs are fully recoverable through our purchase gas adjustment mechanisms.

⁽⁵⁾ Represents liabilities for natural gas commodity derivative contracts that were valued as of September 30, 2005. The ultimate settlement amounts of these remaining liabilities are unknown because they are subject to continuing market risk.

⁽⁶⁾ Represents expected contributions to our postretirement benefit plans.

Storage and Hedging, Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in gross profit margins. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market monthly using the iFERC price at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the forecasted gross profit margin that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The forecasted gross profit margin, less the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements, provides a measure of the net increase or decrease in the gross profit margin that could occur in future periods if AEM's optimization efforts are fully successful.

As of September 30, 2005, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the forecasted gross profit margin was approximately \$13.0 million. Approximately \$14.8 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of September 30, 2005. Therefore, the projected increase in future gross profit margin is approximately \$27.8 million.

The forecasted gross profit margin calculation is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the forecasted gross profit margin is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the forecasted gross profit margin or the projected increase in future gross profit margin calculated as of September 30, 2005 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings may result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

Net Periodic Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, our total net periodic pension and other benefits costs was \$36.4 million, compared with \$26.1 million and \$28.0 million for the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003. A portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base, as these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates. Costs that are not capitalized are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during fiscal 2005 compared with the prior year primarily reflects an increase in our service cost associated with the increase in the number of employees covered by our plans due to the TXU Gas acquisition. Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, for purposes of determining our annual pension cost we agreed to give the transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan. With respect to our postretirement medical plan, we received a credit of \$18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under our retiree medical plan. The

We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution to our pension plans during fiscal 2006 nor, at this time, do we intend to make voluntary contributions during 2006. However, we anticipate contributing approximately \$11.9 million to our postretirement medical plans during fiscal 2006.

The projected pension liability, future funding requirements and the amount of pension expense or income recognized for the Plan are subject to change, depending upon the actuarial value of plan assets and the determination of future benefit obligations as of each subsequent actuarial calculation date. These amounts are impacted by actual investment returns, changes in interest rates and changes in the demographic composition of the participants in the plan.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial-contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt in October 2004 and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our non-regulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price non-regulated sales. Based on these projected non-regulated gas sales, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices based upon the September 30, 2005 three month market strip would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$5.9 million in fiscal 2006.

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at the end of each period. Because AEH did not have any net open positions (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at September 30, 2005, there would be no impact on our consolidated net income due to fluctuations in the forward NYMEX price.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index to financial statements and financial statement schedule:

;e
2
3
4
5
6
7
)
ŗ
3
3 4 5 6 7

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	Septem	iber 30
	2005	2004
	(In the except sh	usands, are data)
ASSETS		ny lit
Property, plant and equipment	\$4,631,684	\$2,595,374
Construction in progress	133,926	<u> 38,277</u>
	4,765,610	2,633,651
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	, ,	
Net property, plant and equipment		1,722,521
Current assets		TAI A CONTRACT
Cash and cash equivalents	40,116	201,932
Cash held on deposit in margin account	80,956	
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of		ar safer
\$15,613 in 2005 and \$7,214 in 2004	454,313	211,810
Gas stored underground	450,807	200,134
Other current assets	238,238	99,319
Total current assets	1,264,430	713,195
Goodwill and intangible assets	737,787	245,528
Deferred charges and other assets	276,943	231,383
	\$5,653,527	\$2,912,627
CARDINAL IZABIONI AND TAADII PUIC	F. 7.	Migration (Fra Model
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES		
Shareholders' equity Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share);		y government
200,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding:		i juli
2005 — 80,539,401 shares, 2004 — 62,799,710 shares	\$ 403	\$ 314
Additional paid-in capital	1,426,523	1,005,644
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	o A. (3,34F)	ា (14,529)
Retained earnings	178,837	142,030
Shareholders' equity	1,602,422	•
Long-term debt	2,183,104	861,311
Total capitalization	3,785,526	1,994,770
Commitments and contingencies		
Current liabilities	•	:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	461,314	185,295
Other current liabilities	503,368	238,682
Short-term debt	144,809	-71
Current maturities of long-term debt	3,264	5,908
Total current liabilities	1,112,755	429,885
Deferred income taxes	292,207	241,257
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	263,424	103,579
Deferred credits and other liabilities	199,615	143,136
en de la companya de La companya de la co	\$5,653,527	<u>\$2,912,627</u>
		•

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

$\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \partial x = 0$	Common Stock		Accumulated Additional Other			
202	Number of Shares	Stated Value		Comprehensive Loss	Retained Earnings	Total
	i i			s, except share o		* 4 12 W 1
Balance, September 30, 2002	41,675,932	\$208			\$106,142	\$ 573,235
Comprehensive income:	to dealers	_ *:	·	** :	71 688	71,688
Net income				39,432	71,000	39,432
Minimum pension liability, net	7 (3/4)			489	dia 2 m	489
Total comprehensive income				:	191.	-111,609
Cash dividends (\$1.20 per share)			-	_	(55,291)) _{5.m} (55,291)
Common stock issued:		.13	1 24		ī	00.100
Public offering	4,100,000		99,102			99,122
Acquisition of Mississippi Valley Gas Company	3,386,287	17	74,633			74,650
Contribution to Atmos Pension Account Plan	1,169,700	: 6	28,757	·	شد د	28,763
Direct stock purchase plan	585,743	3	13,209			13,212
Retirement savings plan	360,725	2	8,277			8,279
Long-term incentive plan	181,429	1	3,664	, I, 	· ; · · · · · · ·	3,665
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division	13,000	13	. 206	_		206
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan	2,969		<u>, , , 67</u>	<u> </u>		67
Balance, September 30, 2003	51,475,785	257	736,180	(1,459)	122,539	857,517
Comprehensive income:	,,-					
Net income 4				1 2	-, -, 86,227	86,227
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net				615		615
Treasury lock agreements, net				(21,268)		(21,268)
Cash flow hedges, net	رفيهر فا سسسس		2 . ()	7,583		7,583
			$r = \frac{1}{2} - f(r),$	i i ⊈w,i	1 2	73,157
Total comprehensive income			. 2.6 -	ui <u>ii</u> lig	(66.736)	(66,736)
Cash dividends (\$1.22 per share)				6.7	(00,750)	, 15
Common stock issued: Public offering	9,939,393	50	235,419	- <u>-</u>		235,469
Public offening		. 3	13,726	1		13,729
Direct stock purchase plan	556,856	. 2	8,300			8,302
Retirement savings plan	320,313					11,850
Long-term incentive plan	498,230	2	11,848			0.4
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division.	6,000	17	, 94	· · · · · · · · ·	3	,程: 94 77
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan	3,133		· <u> </u>			
Balance, September 30, 2004	62,799,710	;, 314 ₀	1,005,644	. (14,529)	142,030	1,133,459
Net income		<u>`</u>			135,785	135,785
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net	_			1,528		1,528
Treasury lock agreements, net				(2,714)	·	(2,714)
Cash flow hedges, net			t-	12,374		12,374
Total comprehensive income		, -	h			146,973
Cash dividends (\$1.24 per share)				-	(98,978)	(98,978)
Common stock issued:				. *		ा आहे
Public offering	16,100,000	80	381,271	* <u></u>	ं , जी <u>कुक</u>	381,351
and Direct stock purchase plan	450,212		12,486	-	, , 	12,489
	441,350	2	11,767			11,769
Retirement savings plan	745,788	<u>~</u> 4`	14,116	,	···-	14,120
- Amortization of restricted stock	7-12,700		1,175	San Carlotte	war e <u>la</u>	1,175
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan	2,341		64			64
10.00		d 402		e /2 241)	¢170 027	
Balance, September 30, 2005	80,539,401	<u>\$403</u>	\$1,426,523	\$ (3,341)	\$178,837	\$1,602,422

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. Through our natural gas utility business, we distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

	**************************************	. 11	Division	Service Area
				Colorado, Kansas, Missouri ⁽³⁾
ATTE:	Atmos	Energy	Kentucky Division	Kentucky
21.13	Atmos	Energy	Louisiana Division	Louisiana
to en lig	Atmos	Energy	Mid-States Division,	Georgia ⁽³⁾ , Illinois ⁽³⁾ , Iowa ⁽³⁾ , Missouri ⁽³⁾ ; Tennessee, Virginia ⁽³⁾
grafite.	in this	2	क राज्या है हा वर्ष संस्थान	Tennessee, Virginia ⁽³⁾
279	Atmos	Energy	Mid-Tex Division(1)	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth
٠.	£ 12.24,	74111	en committy prosperiment of the	metropolitan area and the second seco
	Atmos	Energy	Mississippi Division (2)	Mississippi The Common
. ,-	Atmos	Energy,	West Texas Division	West Texas. The factor of the property record
	£365,8365	77 m	make a property of the money	The first and a second service of the contract

⁽¹⁾ Acquired in October 2004.

company of a second of the second of a selection

TOUGHT PROPERTY OF THE STREET, AND THE

As further described in Note 3, on October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company. The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. We also acquired a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs, all within Texas. As a result of the TXU Gas acquisition, on October 1, 2004, we created the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, which provides gas distribution services to our approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also created the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division to manage and operate the TXU Gas pipeline and storage operations we acquired.

In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system. Our utility business is subject to:federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which the utility divisions operate. Our shared-services division is located in Dallas, Texas, and our customer support centers are located in Amarillo, Texas, and Metairie, Louisiana. In addition, on April 1, 2005, we took over the operations of a Waco, Texas customer support center, and all call center services formerly provided by TXU Gas under a transitional services agreement were terminated. We closed the purchase of the related assets on October 3, 2005 for approximately \$1.7 million.

Our nonutility businesses operate in 22 states and include our natural gas marketing operations, our pipeline and storage operations and our other nonutility operations. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc., which is wholly-owned by the Company.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas

⁽²⁾ The name of this division was changed from the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division in April 2005.

Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

recorded either on the face of the balance sheet or as a component of current liabilities, deferred income taxes or deferred credits and other liabilities when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 included the following:

						Septer	nber 30
*	,	:	1 1 - 1			2005	2004
	ŧ	i				(In tho	usands)
Regulatory assets:	1.			ip	. 217		1
UCG merger and						\$ —	\$ 1,992
Other merger and	integration c	osts, net .				9,150	9,442
Deferred gas costs			.,			38,173	8,756
Deferred MVG op	erating exper	ises					4,801
Environmental cos	ts					1,357	3,104
Rate case costs						11,314	537
Deferred franchise	fees	·. ·		: • • • • • • • • •		6,710	
Other						9,313	7,353
en e	- 14: 1	4,	*	*		\$ 76,017	\$ 35,985
Regulatory liabilities			-		. •		r in th
Deferred gas costs			 			\$134,048	\$ 54,514
Regulatory cost of	removal oblig	gation				274,989	111,232
Deferred income ta	ixes, net		"> ; • • • • •	التي الآن روميورومون		3,185	1,962
Other						8,084	5,479
14	Э-		•	150 m 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		\$420,306	\$173,187

⁽¹⁾ Fully amortized as of December 2004.

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on certain of our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. During the fiscal years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we recognized \$2.3 million; \$8.2 million and \$8.2 million in amortization expense related to these costs. Environmental costs have been deferred to future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

During the third quarter of 2005, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4.0 million. We anticipate that the rate case will be finalized in November 2005. During 2005, our Mid-Tex, West Texas and Atmos Pipeline — Texas divisions made GRIP filings to include \$94.6 million of capital expenditures in their rate base which should result in additional revenue of approximately \$19.1 million. Rulings on these filings are anticipated by January 4, 2006.

In September 2004, the Mississippi Public Service Commission authorized additional annualized revenue of \$4.7 million on our Mississippi Division's May 2004 filing, which became effective on June 1, 2004. However, the MPSC originally disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. In connection with the modification of our rate design, the MPSC reversed its decision regarding these costs, and we included these costs into our rates in October 2005.

Revenue recognition Sales of natural gas to our utility customers are billed on a monthly cycle basis; however, the billing cycle periods for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide with accounting

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

ratemaking purposes when the completed projects are placed in service. Interest expense of \$2.5 million, \$1.2 million and \$0.8 million was capitalized in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Major renewals, including replacement pipe, and betterments that are recoverable under our regulatory rate base are capitalized while the costs of maintenance and repairs that are not recoverable through rates are charged to expense as incurred. The costs of large projects are accumulated in construction in progress until the project is completed. When the project is completed, tested and placed in service, the balance is transferred to the utility plant in service account included in the rate base and depreciation begins.

Utility property, plant and equipment is depreciated at various rates on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. These rates are approved by our regulatory commissions and are comprised of two components, one based on average service life and one based on cost of removal. Accordingly, we recognize our cost of removal expense as a component of depreciation expense. The related cost of removal accrual is reflected as a regulatory liability on the consolidated balance sheet. At the time property, plant and equipment is retired, removal expenses less salvage, are charged to the regulatory cost of removal accrual. The composite depreciation rate was 4.0 percent for the year ended September 30, 2005 and 3.8 percent for the years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.

Nonutility property, plant and equipment — Nonutility property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is generally computed on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes based upon estimated useful lives ranging from 8 to 38 years.

Asset retirement obligations — SFAS 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations requires that we record a liability at fair value for an asset retirement obligation when the legal obligation to retire the asset has been incurred with an offsetting increase to the carrying value of the related asset. Accretion of the asset retirement obligation due to the passage of time is recorded as an operating expense. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, we have asset retirement obligations as defined under SFAS 143; however, we cannot determine when the legal obligation will be incurred. Accordingly, we have not recorded a liability for these obligations.

Impairment of long-lived assets — We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that other long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful life may warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's carrying value over its fair value is recorded. To date, no impairment has been recognized.

Goodwill and intangible assets — We annually evaluate our goodwill balances for impairment during our second fiscal quarter or more frequently as impairment indicators arise. We use a present value technique based on discounted cash flows to estimate the fair value of our reporting units. These calculations are dependent on several subjective factors including the timing of future cash flows, future growth rates and the discount rate. An impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its fair value.

Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of 10 years. These assets are reviewed for impairment as impairment indicators arise. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's carrying value over its fair value is recorded. To date, no impairment has been recognized.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

are recognized as unrealized gains and losses in revenue in the period of change. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas and deliver it out of the storage facility.

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction. In addition, we continually manage our positions to optimize value as market conditions and other circumstances change.

Similar to our inventory position, we attempt to mitigate substantially all of the commodity price risk associated with our fixed-price contracts with minimum volume requirements through the use of various offsetting derivatives. Prior to April 1, 2004, these derivatives were not designated as hedges under SFAS 133 because they naturally locked in the economic gross profit margin at the time we entered into the contract. The fixed-price forward and offsetting derivative contracts were marked to market each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses recorded in revenue in our consolidated statement of income. The unrealized gains and losses are realized as a component of revenue in the period in which we fulfill the requirements of the fixed-price contract and the derivatives are settled. To the extent that the unrealized gains and losses of the fixed-price forward contracts and the offsetting derivatives did not offset exactly, our earnings experienced some volatility. At delivery, the gains and losses on the fixed-price contracts are offset by gains and losses on the derivatives, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction.

Effective April 1, 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales. As a result, we ceased marking the fixed-price forward contracts to market. We have designated the offsetting derivative contracts as cash flow hedges of anticipated transactions. As a result of this change, unrealized gains and losses on these open derivative contracts are now recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes are sold. Hedge ineffectiveness, to the extent incurred, is reported as a component of revenues and is not material to our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, we continually manage our positions to optimize value as market conditions and other circumstances change.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, to the extent effective, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury lock agreements are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately \$11.6 million of the \$43.8 million obligation will be recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately \$32.2 million, will be recognized as a component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement.

The fair value of our financial derivatives is determined through a combination of prices actively quoted on national exchanges, prices provided by other external sources and prices based on models and other valuation methods. Changes in the valuation of our financial derivatives primarily result from changes in market prices, the valuation of the portfolio of our contracts, maturity and settlement of these contracts and

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

more fully described in Note 8. As permitted by SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we accounted for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in Accounting Principles Board (APB). Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees through September 30, 2005. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options is recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value.

Awards of restricted stock are valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation is amortized to operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock. As discussed below, beginning October 1, 2005 we will account for our stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment.

Had compensation expense for our stock options issued under the Long-Term Incentive Plan been recognized based on the fair value on the grant date under the methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

en fan it de groege fan de de groeg gegen de groeg fan de g	, Year E	nded Septem	ber 30
	2005	. 2004	2003.
5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(In thousand	s, except per	share data)
Net income — as reported	\$135,785	\$86,227	, \$71,688
Restricted stock compensation expense included in income, net	* "		* * * * # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # #
of tax	2,431	978	370
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined	7 (10)		
under fair-value-based method for all awards, net of taxes	<u>(3,161</u>)	(2,092)	(1,362)
Net income — pro forma	<u>\$135,055</u>	\$85,113	\$70,696
Earnings per share:	- 1	1.0	HT
Basic earnings per share — as reported	<u>\$ 1.73</u> .	\$ 1.60	\$ 1.55
Basic earnings per share — pro forma	\$ 1.72	\$ 1,57	\$.,1.53
Diluted earnings per share — as reported	\$ 1.72	\$ 1.58	\$ 1.54
Diluted earnings per share — pro forma	\$ 1.71	\$ 1.56	\$ 1.52

.: d

400

Accumulated other comprehensive loss — Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax; as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

# Market Control of the Control of t	Septem	ber 30 🚶 🦈 ᄸ
p(x) = p(x) ()	2005	2004
$\phi = \phi$. The second constant $\phi = \phi$. The second ϕ	(In tho	ısands) 😽 📑
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investments	\$ 684	\$ (844)
Treasury lock agreements		
Cash flow hedges	19,957	7,583
	<u>\$ (3,341)</u>	<u>\$(14,529</u>)

Recent accounting pronouncements — During 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) added to its agenda EITF Issue 03-01, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments, to address the meaning of "other-than-temporary" impairment and its application to certain investments carried at cost. In November 2003, the Task Force developed new disclosure requirements concerning unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt and equity securities accounted for under SFAS 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. We have adopted the disclosure

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion (after relosing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We acquired approximately \$112 million of working capital of TXU Gas after the final working capital and capital expenditures settlement was negotiated during the third quarter of 2005, which resulted in a net payment to TXU Corporation of approximately \$4.1 million. We did not assume any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. TXU Gas retained certain assets, provided for the repayment of all of its indebtedness and redeemed all of its preferred stock prior to closing and retained and agreed to pay certain other liabilities under 10 1 400 Charles 420 #821 # 129 Cher the terms of the acquisition agreement. Carl Hart H. M. Brondlur

We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1,,2004, of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 to provide bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion, and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of \$381.6 million. All and the state of the state

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 1, 2004 (in thousands):

	3 32 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Cash purchase price	\$1,908,999
Transaction mosts and expenses	1d darald av 4 7,69 7
Total purchase price	\$1,916,696 Tells
Net property: plant and equipment	\$1,471,643
I was not being a grantiment of the state of	7 1 - P 1816 #751814 GT.
Gas stored underground	137,877
Other current assets.	22,094
Deferred charges and other assets	42,069
Deferred income taxes	http:///925.pmg-
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at 17700 to a line of the	.v. ***
Other current liabilities	(77,756) ⁽¹
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	(138,991)
Regulatory cost of removal obligation. Deferred credits and other liabilities	(65,935)
Total	\$1,916,696
the state of the s	161 161 131 132 134

The sale of TXU Gas's assets was held through a competitive bid process. We believe the resulting goodwill is recoverable given the expected synergies we can achieve as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. To that end, the TXU Gas acquisition significantly expands our existing utility operations in Texas. The North Texas operations of TXU Gas bridge our geographic operations between our existing utility operations in West Texas and Louisiana. TXU Gas's headquarters and service area are centered in Dallas, Texas, which is also the location of our corporate headquarters. Further, the addition of the regulated pipelines and storage operations in North Texas may create additional gas marketing and other opportunities for our non-regulated subsidiaries, which include gas marketing and storage operations. The goodwill generated in the acquisition is deductible for tax purposes.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets were comprised of the following as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

- '	7			-	Septer	nber 30
4						
					(In tho	
Goodwill	 		 		\$734,280	\$241;368
Intangible assets	 	,	 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	3,507	4,160
Total						

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in the balance for the year ended September 30, 2005:

	Utility Segment	Natural Gas Marketing Segment	Pipeline and Storage Segment (In thousands)	Other Nonutility Segment	Total
7.1	4206676	44.44	(in thousands)		****
Balance as of September 30, 2004	\$206,656	\$24,282	\$	\$ 10,430	\$241,368
Intersegment transfer of assets ⁽¹⁾	321		10,430	(10,430)	i i i i i
TXU Gas acquisition (Note 3)	360,835 ¹²	1,	132,768		493,603
Other	(691)			-	(691)
Balance as of September 30, 2005	\$566,800	<u>\$24,282</u>	\$143,198	\$	\$734,280
				, * .	1 7 7 4 4 1 1 3 B

⁽¹⁾ Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division as well as the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, previously included in our other nonutility segment. Accordingly, goodwill allocable to Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC was transferred to the pipeline and storage segment.

Information regarding our intangible assets is included in the following table. As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, we had no indefinite-lived intangible assets.

	S	eptember 30, 200	05	September 30, 2004		
Useful Life (Years)	Gross Carrying Amount	Accumulated Amortization	Net(In thou		Accumulated Amortization	Net
Customer contracts 10	\$6.521	\$(3,014)	\$3,507		\$(2,361)	\$4.160
	4 ,	+ (-,01.)	42,50,	4-09-0	. 4 (, 0 1)	φ 1, 200

The following table presents actual amortization expense recognized during 2005 and an estimate of future amortization expense based upon our intangible assets at September 30, 2005.

Amortization expense (in thousands):	la de la companya de La companya de la co	and the second		
Actual for the fiscal year ending Septe	mber 30, 2005		والمرجنين والمتبادية	. \$653
Estimated for the fiscal year ending:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		•	
September 30, 2006				
September 30, 2007	5 N		54.#c#	585
September 30, 2008			6 (1369), 1365 	585
September 30, 2009		,		585
September 30, 2010			,	

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

Nonutility Hedging Activities

For the year ended September 30, 2005, the increase in the deferred hedging gain in accumulated other comprehensive loss was attributable to increases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts totaling \$2.0 million and the recognition of \$10.4 million in net deferred hedge losses in net income when the derivatives matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedge gains associated with open cash flow hedges remain subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging gain as of September 30, 2005 is expected to be recognized in net income within the next fiscal year.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. At the close of business on September 30, 2005, AEH had no net open positions (including existing storage).

Adoption of EITF 02-03

On October 25, 2002, EITF 02-03, Accounting for Contracts Involved in Energy Trading and Risk Management, was issued. It rescinded EITF 98-10, Accounting for Energy Trading and Risk Management Activities, and required that all energy trading contracts entered into after October 25, 2002 be accounted for pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Beginning January 1, 2003, we have no longer marked our storage and transportation contracts to market value each month in accordance with EITF 98-10 and adopted EITF 02-03. As a result, we recorded \$7.8 million, net of applicable income tax benefit, as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in fiscal 2003.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the-then anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt subsequent to September 30, 2004. This long-term debt was issued on October 22, 2004 and was used to repay a portion of the commercial paper used to fund the TXU Gas acquisition, as described in Note 3.

We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, to the extent effective, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury locks were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately \$11.6 million of the \$43.8 million obligation will be recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately \$32.2 million, will be recognized as a component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

6. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at September 30, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:

	2005	2004
	(In thou	sands)
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due 2007	\$ 300,000	\$
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000	
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000	350,000
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303:	2,303
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000	250,000
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000	: ::
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000	10-1
Medium term notes		1 2 4
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000	10,000
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000	10,000
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000	150,000
First Mortgage Bonds		: .
Series J, 9.40% due 2021	***************************************	17,000
Series P, 10.43% due 2013	10,000	11,250
Series Q, 9.75% due 2020		16,000
Series T, 9.32% due 2021	-	18,000
Series U, 8.77% due 2022		20,000
Series V, 7.50% due 2007		4,167
Rental property, propane and other term notes due in installments		
through 2013	7,839	9,830
Total long-term debt	2,190,142	868,550
Less:		1 4
Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures	(3,774)	(1,331)
Current maturities	(3,264)	(5,908)
	\$2,183,104	\$861,311

In December 2001, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$600.0 million in new common stock and/or debt. The registration statement was declared effective by the SEC on January 30, 2002. On January 16, 2003, we issued \$250.0 million of 5.125% Senior Notes due 2013 under the registration statement. The net proceeds of \$249.3 million were used to repay debt under an acquisition credit facility used to finance our acquisition of MVG, to repay \$54.0 million in unsecured senior notes held by institutional lenders and short-term debt under our commercial paper program and to provide funds for general corporate purposes. Additionally, we sold 4.1 million shares of our common stock in connection with our June and July 2003 Offering under the registration statement to provide additional funding for our Pension Account Plan. In July 2004, we sold 9.9 million shares of our common stock, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with borrowings under a bridge financing facility to consummate the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of TXU Gas and pay related fees and expenses.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

0.40% to 1.00%. Based upon our current credit ratings, borrowings would bear interest at our option of either a base rate or LIBOR plus 0.55%. Additionally, the facility is subject to quarterly commitment fees ranging from .075% to .200%, dependent on our credit ratings. Based upon our current credit ratings, the commitment fee is 0.100%. On November 10, 2005, a new \$300.0 million 364-day revolving credit facility became effective with substantially the same terms as our \$600.0 million facility.

We have a third unsecured facility in place for \$18.0 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired on March 31, 2005 and was renewed effective April 1, 2005 for an additional twelve months with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2005, \$14.9 million was outstanding under this facility.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently meet. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in both revolving credit facilities to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At September 30, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 61 percent. In addition, both the interest margin over the Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on unused amounts under both revolving credit facilities are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings. The new revolving credit facilities each contain the same limitation with respect to our total-debt to-total capitalization ratio.

Uncommitted credit facilities

AEM had a \$250.0 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility that bore interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 2.5 percent that was scheduled to expire on March 31, 2005. On March 30, 2005, the facility was amended and extended to March 31, 2006. This facility is guaranteed by AEH.

Borrowings under the amended facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50% per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.50%. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.375% to 1.75% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.125% to 2.00% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$50 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$51 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding \$4 million to \$10 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At September 30, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 2.18 to 1.

At September 30, 2005, no amounts were outstanding under this credit facility. However, at September 30, 2005, AEM letters of credit totaling \$123.6 million had been issued under the facility, which reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$26.3 million at September 30, 2005. This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH.

We also have an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25.0 million that is used for working capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at

ATMOS ENERGY, CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued):

Maturities of long-term debt at September 30, 2005 were as follows (in thousands):
2006\$ 37.3,264
3,186
2008
2009_{high}
$\frac{1}{1}$ 2010
Thereafter $\frac{1,476,446}{2}$ must $1,476,4$
we will be a first of the second of the second of the second of the second of \$2,190,142 of the
o a comparat de la c Osacione de la comparat de la compa
Shareholders' Equity of a great of the control of t
Stock Issuances
During the years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 we issued 17,739,691, 11,323,925, and
799,853 shares of common stock.

On February 9, 2005, our shareholders approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares from 100 million to 200 million.

On October 27, 2004, we completed the public offering of 16.1 million shares of our common stock including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares. The offering was priced at \$24.75 and generated net proceeds of approximately \$381.6 million. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with net proceeds of \$235.7 million from a public offering we conducted in July 2004 and \$1.39 billion received from the issuance of senior unsecured notes to repay the \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper described in Note 3 and fund the remainder of the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition.

on June 23, 2003; we completed a public offering of 4.0 million shares of our common stock, and we sold an additional 100,000 shares of our common stock in July 2003 when our underwriters exercised their overallotment option (the 2003 Offering). The 2003 Offering was priced at \$25:31 per share and generated net proceeds of approximately \$99.2 million. The proceeds were used to partially fund our pension plan; to repay short-term debt and for other general corporate purposes including the purchase of natural gas for storages.

Shareholder Rights Plan or the control of the contr

9,

On November 12, 1997, our Board of Directors déclared a dividend distribution of one right for each outstanding share of our common stock to shareholders of fecord at the close of business on May 10, 1998. Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from its a one-tenth share of our common stock at a purchase price of \$8.00 per share, subject to adjustment. The description and terms of the rights are set forth in a rights agreement between its and the rights agent.

Subject to exceptions specified in the rights agreement, the rights will separate from our common stock and a distribution date will occur upon the earlier of:

- ten business days following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock, other than as a result of repurchases of stock by us or specified inadvertent actions by institutional or other shareholders;
- ten business days, or such later date as our Board of Directors shall determine, following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group having

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

the Mid-States Division. Nonemployee directors are also eligible to receive such stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of these plans include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock.

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan

On August 12, 1998, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which became effective October 1, 1998 after approval by our shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan is a comprehensive, long-term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, restricted stock and performance-based stock to help attract, retain and reward certain employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. We are authorized to grant awards for up to a maximum of 4.0 million shares of common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions. As of September 30, 2005, non-qualified stock options, bonus stock and restricted stock have been issued under this plan, and 1,290,292 shares were available for issuance. The option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over a service period ranging from one to three years.

A summary of activity for grants of stock options under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan follows:

	2005	., :-	, 2004		2003	
	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price
Outstanding at beginning of year	1,492,177	\$22.10	1,827,310	\$21.91	1,557,606	\$21.87
Granted	23,432	25.95	8,118	24.44	411,860	21.37
Exercised	(547,907)	22.08	(342,252)	20.91	(92,989)	17.79
Forfeited	(2,998)	22.81	(999)	22.49	(49,167)	23.89
Outstanding at end of year	964,704	\$22.20	1,492,177	\$22.10	1,827,310	\$21.91
Exercisable at end of year	798,574	\$22.22	1,006,859	\$22.23	868,199	\$21.69

Information about outstanding and exercisable options under the Long-Term Incentive Plan, as of September 30, 2005, follows:

	Opt	tions Outstandi	ng		
	J. 1. "1	Weighted Average	N	Options Ex	cercisable
2.4 × 2.7 × 2.5 ×	12 1/2 1/2 1/2	Remaining Contractual	Weighted Average		Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices	Number of Options	Life (in Years)	Exercise Price	Number of Options	Exercise Price
\$15.65 to \$20.24	65,499	4.4	\$15.66	65,499	\$15.66
\$20.25 to \$22.99	580,422	6.8	\$21.87	444,536	\$22.03
\$23.00 to \$25.95	318,783	4.9	\$24.15	288,539	\$24.00
\$15.65 to \$25.95	964,704	6.0	\$22.20	798,574	\$22.22

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Outside Directors Stock-For-Fee Plan

In November 1994, the Board adopted the Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan which was approved by the shareholders of Atmos in February 1995 and was amended and restated in November 1997. The plan permits non-employee directors to receive all or part of their annual retainer and meeting fees in stock rather than in cash.

Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

In November 1998, the Board of Directors adopted the Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors which was approved by the shareholders of Atmos in February 1999. This plan amended the Atmos Energy Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors adopted by the Company on May 10, 1990 and replaced the pension payable under the Company's Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors. The plan provides non-employee directors of Atmos with the opportunity to defer receipt, until retirement, of compensation for services rendered to the Company, invest deferred compensation into either a cash account or a stock account and to receive an annual grant of share units for each year of service on the Board.

Variable Pay Plan

The Variable Pay Plan was created in fiscal 1999 to give each employee an opportunity to share in the success of Atmos based on the achievement of key performance measures considered critical to achieving business objectives for a given year. These performance measures may include earnings growth objectives, improved cash flow objectives or crucial customer satisfaction and safety results. We monitor progress towards the achievement of the performance measures throughout the year and record accruals based upon the expected payout using the best estimates available at the time the accrual is recorded.

9. Retirement and Post-Retirement Employee Benefit Plans

We have both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined benefit plans that together cover substantially all of our employees. We also maintain post-retirement plans that provide health care benefits to retired employees. Finally, we sponsor defined contribution plans which cover substantially all employees. These plans are discussed in further detail below.

Defined Benefit Plans

Employee Pension Plans

As of September 30, 2005, we maintained two defined benefit plans: the Atmos Energy Corporation Pension Account Plan and the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union Employees. Both plans are held within the Atmos Energy Corporation Master Retirement Trust (the Master Trust).

The Atmos Energy Corporation Pension Account Plan (the Plan) was established effective January 1, 1999 and covers substantially all employees of Atmos. Opening account balances were established for participants as of January 1, 1999 equal to the present value of their respective accrued benefits under the pension plans which were previously in effect as of December 31, 1998. The Plan credits an allocation to each participant's account at the end of each year according to a formula based on the participant's age, service and total pay (excluding incentive pay). Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we agreed to give certain transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table presents asset allocation information for the Master Trust as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

	Targeted	Actual A Septer	Illocation nber 30
Security Class	Allocation Range	2005	
Domestic equities		45.0%	40.8%
International equities	10% - 20%	17.9%	17.1%
Fixed income		18.1%	21.1%
Company stock	0% - 10%	9.1%	9.0%
Other assets	5% - 15%	9.6%	11.0%
Cash and equivalents	N/A	0.3%	1.0%

At September 30, 2005 and 2004, the Plan held 1,169,700 shares of Atmos common stock, which represented 9.1 percent and 9.0 percent of total Master Trust assets. These shares generated dividend income of approximately \$1.5 million and \$1.4 million during fiscal 2005 and 2004.

Our employee pension plan expenses and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets and assumed discount rates and demographic data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our employee pension plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The development of our assumptions is more fully described in our significant accounting policies in Note 2. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for the Master Trust were determined as of June 30, 2005 and 2004 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the Master Trust were determined as of June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002. These assumptions are presented in the following table:

;	Pension Liability		iability Pension Cost		
	2005	2004	2005	2004	2003
Discount rate	5.00%	6.25%	6.25%	6.00%	7.25%
Rate of compensation increase	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%
Expected return on plan assets	8.50%	8.75%	8.75%	9.00%	9.25%

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan which covers all employees who become officers or division presidents after August 12, 1998 or any other employees selected by our Board of Directors in its discretion.

Similar to our employee pension plans, we review the estimates and assumptions underlying our supplemental executive benefit plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date using the same techniques as our employee pension plans. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for the supplemental plans were determined as of June 30, 2005 and 2004 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the supplemental plans were determined as of June 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002. These assumptions are presented in the following table:

r ^r t	Pension	Pension Liability		Pension Cost		
•	2005	2004	2005	2004	2003	
Discount rate	5.00%	6.25%	6.25%	6.00%	,7.25%	
Rate of compensation increase						

The following table presents the supplemental plan's accumulated benefit obligation, projected benefit obligation and funded status as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

	2005	2004
	(In thou	ısands) -
Accumulated benefit obligation	\$ 86,661	\$ 64,754
Change in projected benefit obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 73,998	\$ 71,659
Service cost	2,144	2,037
Interest cost	4,658	4,324
Actuarial loss (gain)	20,637	(682)
Benefits paid	<u>(3,496</u>)	(3,340)
Benefit obligation at end of year	97,941	73,998
Change in plan assets:	to the state of	$\Gamma(\frac{r}{s})$: .
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	f	11 11
Employer contribution	3,496	3,340
Benefits paid	(3,496)	<u>(3,340</u>)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year		
Reconciliation:	•	
Funded status	(97,941)	(73,998)
Unrecognized transition obligation	enter T	4
Unrecognized prior service cost	2,706	-3,728
Unrecognized net loss	40,334	20,987
Accrued pension cost	<u>\$(54,901</u>)	<u>\$(49,279</u>)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Supplemental Disclosures For Defined Benefit Plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligations in Excess of Plan Assets

The following summarizes key information for our defined benefit plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets. For fiscal 2005 and 2004 the accumulated benefit obligation for the MVG plan and our supplemental plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets.

					Pensio	loyee n Plans	Suppleme	ntal Plans
	- L	$\mathbf{r}_{i,k} = \mathbf{r}_{i}^{k}$			2005	2004	2005	2004
1 11	4)10	1 4 2	.0	***	7	(In the	usands)	1-14.
Projected Be	enefit Obligation	ı. ^G	 		\$13,550	\$8,840	\$97,941	\$73,998
Accumulated	d Benefit Obliga	ation			10,738	6,555	86,661	64,754
Fair Value o	f Plan Assets				6,465	4,482	***	

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments for our defined benefit plans, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in the following years:

				Supplemental Plans
s survival and a surv	Land to the state of the state	: .	(In the	ousands)
2006			\$ 29,877	\$ 3,856
2007			27,991	4,008
2008			27,725	4,136
2009	ディング PD Mass A Community And	• • • •	28,747	4,400
2010		• • • •	29,440	5,026

Postretirement Benefits

At September 30, 2005, we sponsored the Retiree Medical Plan for Retirees and Disabled Employees of Atmos Energy Corporation (the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan). Effective December 31, 2004, the Atmos Energy Corporation Retiree Welfare Benefits Plan for Certain MVG Non-Union Employees and the Atmos Energy Corporation Retiree Welfare Benefits Plan for MVG Union Employees merged into the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan.

This plan provides medical and prescription drug protection to all qualified participants based on their date of retirement. The Plan provides different levels of benefits depending on the level of coverage chosen by the participants and the terms of predecessor plans; however, we generally pay 80 percent of the projected net claims and administrative costs and participants pay the remaining 20 percent of this cost.

On October 1, 2004, in connection with the acquisition of TXU Gas, we transitioned certain employees from TXU Gas to Atmos Energy Corporation. Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we received a credit of \$18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan. The \$18.9 million credit approximated the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past service of the transitioned employees on the acquisition date.

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made annually as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table presents the postretirement plan's benefit obligation and funded status as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

-	nga na salah sa	2005 (In thou	2004 usands)
	Change in benefit obligation:		
	Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 125,189	\$137,285
	Service cost	9,968	5,941
	Interest cost	9,369	7,355
•	Plan participants' contributions www And M. W. W. W. W	2,131	1,900
r	Actuarial loss (gain)	16,449	(17,038)
	Acquisition	18,878	ilo er si <u>la</u> bil
:	Benefits paid	(11,054)	(10,254)
-1	Benefit obligation at end of year	170,930	125,189
	Change in plan assets:		2 3 44
	Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	36,408	26,310
	Actual return on plan assets	2,365	4,695
	Employer contributions Tall Holders.	-9,993	13,757
	Plan participants' contributions	2,131	1,900
	Benefits paid	(11,054)	(10,254)
	Fair value of plan assets at end of year	39,843	36,408
	Reconciliation:		1
	Funded status	(131,087)	(88,781)
	Unrecognized transition obligation	12,665	14,176
	Unrecognized prior service cost	394	780
	Unrecognized net loss	28,513	12,981
	Accrued postretirement cost (A	<u>\$ (89,515</u>)	\$(60,844)

Net periodic postretirement cost for 2005, 2004 and 2003 is recorded as a component of operating expense and included the components presented below. The 2005 and 2004 amounts reflect the impact of adopting the provisions of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 as the plan is considered "actuarially equivalent" to Medicare Part D.

and the state of t	Year	Ended Septem	iber 30
the second of th	2005	2004	2003
	- ·	(In thousands)
Components of net periodic postretirement cost:	is the second		i Line Denis de
Service cost Sanga programmes	. \$ 9,968	\$ 5,941	\$ 5,902
Interest cost;	. 9,369	7,355	9,078
Expected return on assets	(2,070)	(1,523)	(1,012)
Amortization of transition obligation	. 1,511	1,511	1,511
Amortization of prior service cost	. 386	386	368
Recognized actuarial loss 14	622	635	1,778
Net periodic postretirement cost	. <u>\$19,786</u>	\$ <u>14,305</u>	<u>\$17,625</u>

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

50 percent of a participant's contribution, limited to six percent of the participant's eligible contribution. Participants are also permitted to take out loans against their accounts subject to certain restrictions.

Matching contributions to our defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred and amounted to \$5.7 million, \$4.6 million, and \$4.1 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003. The Board of Directors may also approve discretionary contributions, subject to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and applicable regulations of the Internal Revenue Service. No discretionary contributions were made for 2005, 2004 or 2003. At September 30, 2005 and 2004, the Retirement Savings Plan held 3.1 percent and 3.7 percent of our outstanding common stock.

10. Details of Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet Captions

The following tables provide additional information regarding the composition of certain of our balance sheet captions.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable was comprised of the following at September 30, 2005 and 2004:

	Septen	ber 30	
$\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{q}} = \mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{q}} + $	2005	2004	
	(In tho	usands)	
Billed accounts receivable	\$381,469	\$187,306 [†]	
Unbilled revenue			
Other accounts receivable	26,120	15,727	
Total accounts receivable	469,926	219,024	
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts	(15,613)	(7,214)	
Net accounts receivable	\$454,313	\$211,810	

Other current assets

Other current assets as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 were comprised of the following accounts.

	Septem	ber 30
(1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)	(In tho	isands)
Assets from risk management activities	\$107,913	\$44,440
Deferred gas cost	38,173	8,756
Current deferred tax asset	67,365	27,327
Prepaid expenses	13,334	9,194
Current portion of leased assets receivable	2,973	2,973
Materials and supplies	7,502	2,626
Other	978	4,003
Total	\$238,238	\$99,319

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 were comprised of the following accounts.

	Septen	aber 30
104	2005	2004
	(In tho	usands)
Customer deposits	\$ 89,918	\$ 44,474
Accrued employee costs	26,409	15,729
Deferred gas costs	134,048	54,514
Accrued interest	53,675	21,893
Liabilities from risk management activities	61,920	39,458
Taxes payable	66,083	22,930
Post-retirement obligations	5,300	5,300
Regulatory cost of removal accrual	11,565	7,653
Other	54,450	26,731
Total	<u>\$503,368</u>	\$238,682

Deferred credits and other liabilities

Deferred credits and other liabilities as of September 30, 2005 and 2004 were comprised of the following accounts.

	Septem	per 30
	2005	2004
	(In thou	sands)
Post-retirement obligations	\$ 84,215	\$ 55,544
Nonqualified retirement plan obligation	54,901 🚌	49,279
Customer advances for construction	18,872	14,120
Liabilities from risk management activities	15,316	1,138
Deferred revenue	5,488	7,021
Regulatory liabilities	8,084	5,479
Regulatory liabilities Other	12,739	10,555
Total	\$199,615	<u>\$143,136</u>

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)

12. Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense from continuing operations for 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

	2005	2004	2003
Dec.		(In thousands)
Current		n	
Federal	\$61,508	\$ 9,003	\$(13,446)
State	8,569	2,021	(441)
Deferred		,	7
Federal	11,453	35,970	54,656
State	1,217	5,079	6,690
Investment tax credits	(514)	(535)	(549)
	\$82,233	\$51,538	\$ 46,910

The provision (benefit) for income taxes is included in the consolidated financial statements as follows:

	2005	2004	2003
		(In thousands)	
Income tax before cumulative effect of accounting change	\$82,233	\$51,538	\$46,910
Cumulative effect of accounting change	-	*	(5,117)
Income tax expense	<u>\$82,233</u>	\$51,538	\$41,793

During 2003, we recorded a cumulative effect of accounting change to reflect the adoption of EITF 02-03, as described in Note 5. The \$5.1 million benefit on the cumulative charge reflects a federal and state tax benefit of 39.7 percent.

Reconciliations of the provision for income taxes before the cumulative effect of accounting change computed at the statutory rate to the reported provisions for income taxes from continuing operations for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are set forth below:

The second secon	2005	2004	2003
	**	(In thousands)	
Tax at statutory rate of 35%	\$76,306	\$48,218	\$44,230
Common stock dividends deductible for tax reporting	(1,088)	(985)	(993)
State taxes (net of federal benefit)	6,361	4,615	4,062
Other, net.	654	(310)	(389)
Income tax expense	\$82,233	\$51,538	\$46,910

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Litigation, which was remanded to the same court in January 2001. The plaintiffs in these two lawsuits that have now been consolidated, who purport to represent a class of royalty owners, allege that the defendants have underpaid royalties on gas taken from wells situated on non-federal and non-Indian lands in Kansas, Colorado, and Wyoming, predicated upon allegations that the defendants' gas measurements are inaccurate. The plaintiffs have not specifically alleged an amount of damages. The District Court denied an earlier motion in these proceedings to certify a class but gave plaintiffs permission to try to seek certification of a revised class, which we intend to oppose. We believe that the plaintiffs' claims are lacking in merit, and we intend to vigorously defend this action. While the results of this litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or net cash flows.

West Texas Division

We were the plaintiff in a case styled Energas Company, a Division of Atmos Energy Corporation v. ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company, L.P., ONEOK Westex Transmission, Inc. and ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company II, filed in December 2001, in the 72nd Judicial District in the District Court of Lubbock County, Texas. This case was filed to recover damages resulting from various claims involving the sale, measurement, transportation and balancing of natural gas. This case and all related claims have been settled. The settlement did not have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

United Cities Propane Gas, Inc.

United Cities Propane Gas, Inc., one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, is a party to an action filed in June 2000 that is pending in the Circuit Court of Sevier County, Tennessee. The plaintiffs' claims arise out of injuries alleged to have been caused by a low-level propane explosion. The plaintiffs seek to recover damages of \$13.0 million. Discovery activities continue in this case. We have denied any liability, and we intend to vigorously defend against the plaintiffs' claims. This case has been set for trial in December 2005. While the results of this litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

We are a party to other litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of our business, including certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company, the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations we acquired on October 1, 2004. While the results of such litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows:

Environmental Matters

Manufactured Gas Plant Sites

We are the owner or previous owner of manufactured gas plant sites in Johnson City and Bristol, Tennessee, and Hannibal, Missouri, which were used to supply gas prior to the availability of natural gas. The gas manufacturing process resulted in certain byproducts and residual materials, including coal tar. The manufacturing process used by our predecessors was an acceptable and satisfactory process at the time such operations were being conducted. Under current environmental protection laws and regulations, we may be responsible for response actions with respect to such materials if response actions are necessary.

United Cities Gas Company and the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation (TDEC) entered into a consent order effective January 23, 1997, to facilitate the investigation, removal and remediation of the Johnson City site. Prior to our merger with United Cities Gas Company in July 1997, United Cities Gas Company began the implementation of the consent order in the first quarter of fiscal 1997,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At September 30, 2005, AEM was committed to purchase 32.3 Bcf within one year, 29.2 Bcf within one to three years and 9.9 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 1.3 Bcf within one year and 0.4 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$5.24 to \$17.50. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$1,421.2 million, \$1,252.2 million and \$1,454.8 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Our utility divisions, except for our Mid-Tex Division, maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contracts as of September 30, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

2006	\$ 890,856
2007	196,501
2008	122,640
2009	13,532
2010	11,959
Thereafter	39,939
	\$1,275,427

Other

In January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we expect to contribute \$45.0 million within two years of signing of a definitive agreement. We expect to execute this agreement during the first quarter of fiscal 2006 and the pipeline is currently expected to be placed into service in fiscal 2006.

During the third quarter of 2005, we entered into two agreements with third parties to transport natural gas through our Texas intrastate pipeline system beginning in fiscal 2006. To handle the increased volumes for these projects, we will install compression equipment and other pipeline infrastructure. We expect to spend approximately \$32.0 million in 2006 for these projects.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage in our eastern Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service area were in Jefferson, St. Tammany, St. Bernard and Plaquemines parishes. In total, approximately 230,000 of our natural gas customers were affected in these areas. A significant number of these customers will not require gas service for some time because of sustained damages. We cannot predict with certainty how many of these customers will return to these service areas and over what time period. Additionally, we cannot accurately determine what regulatory actions, if any, may be taken by the regulators with respect to these areas. Finally, although we believe our insurance will cover all losses in excess of our deductible, it is possible that certain of these losses may not be fully recoverable.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The related future minimum lease payments at September 30, 2005 were as follows:

and the second of the second o	••					Leases (In the	Operating Leases ousands)	
2006							\$ 15,327	
2007	<i>.</i>					433	15,029	
2008						362	14,432	
2009						311	13,574	
, 2010	,,	1,110,111,1			.(; , , , , , , , , ,	291	12,619	
Thereafter	, 4	e eje ere eje e				1,376	92,453	4,1
Total minimum lease payments	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	d		····		3,404	\$163,434	1 0
Less amount representing intere	st		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · ·	1901) (1907) (190	(1,449)	20121 C	iliti GUŞ
Present value of net minimum I								
10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				11	1 1 .1		12 33 4	()

Consolidated lease and fental expense amounted to \$9.5 million, \$8.1 million and \$8.9 million for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003.

15. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in customer base. Due to minimal receivables, the credit risk for our other nonutility segment is not significant.

The diversification in AEM's customers helps mitigate its credit exposure. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains an allowance for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our allowance for credit losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of counterparty nonperformance.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by the credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investor Service and/or Standard & Poor's Rating Service. For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- · The utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- · The natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- The pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- · The other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment. Segment information for all prior year periods has been restated to reflect our new organizational structure.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units. Interest expense is allocated pro rata to each segment based upon our net investment in each segment. Income taxes are allocated to each segment as if each segment's taxes were calculated on a separate return basis.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Section 1		ear Ended Sept	ember 30, 200	1	
The second of th	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	, Pipeline and Storage	Other Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
tong gargin i The contribution of the	7, 1 31 33		(In thou			
Operating revenues from	#1 (2)((2) (. #1 970 424 s	. t. 1 617	\$2,360	\$ a	\$2,920,037
external parties		\$1,279,424			T	
Intersegment revenues		339,178 c		1,033	(359,444)	<u> </u>
と 優ではなる。 10g 5 5g s	1,637,728	1,618,602	19,758	3,393	(359,444)	
Purchased gas cost	1,134,594	1,571,971	9,383		(358,102)	2,357,846
Gross profit	503,134	46,631	10,375	3,393	(1,342)	562,191
Operating expenses						Same and the second
Operation and	105 471	15 600	2 533	- 2:150	(1 376)	214,470
maintenance	193,471	v 1.5,092 j	2,000) !	, 2,100		
Depreciation and amortization	92,954	2,089	1,488	116		96,647
Taxes, other than					101	to alrea
income	54,819	1,124	1,061	. 375	***************************************	- <u> 57,379</u>
Total operating expenses	. 343,244	<u>18,905</u>	6 5,082	2,641	(1,376)	368,496
Operating income	159,890	27,726	5,293	752	34 .	193,695
Miscellaneous income	5,847	843	289	8,290	; (5,762) ;	9,507
Interest charges	65,399	2,711	1,053	2,002	(5,728)	65,437
Income before income		i cij		1 N		
taxes	100,338	25,858	4,529	7,040	-	137,765
Income tax expense	37,242	9,225	1,762	3,309		51,538
Net income	\$.63,096	\$ 16,633	<u>\$ 2,767</u> ,	\$3,731	\$	\$ 86,227
Capital expenditures	\$ 189,291	\$ 520	\$ 474	- \$ <u>-</u>	\$	\$ 190,285
TOTAL CONTRACTOR CONTR					1 . 1 .	1
					£	1 *
	_	_				

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table summarizes our revenues by products and services for the year ended September 30.

The following those statistical of products	2005	2004	2003
Gg g		(In thousands)	
Utility revenues:			
Gas sales revenues:	ga.		
Residential	\$1,791,172	\$ 923,773	\$ 873,375
Commercial	869,722	400,704	367,961
Industrial	229,649	155,336	151,969
Agricultural	27,889	31,851	48,625
Public authority and other	86,853	77,178	65,921
Total gas sales revenues	3,005,285	1,588,842	1,507,851
Transportation revenues	58,897	30,622	29,236
Other gas revenues	37,859	17,172	15,770
Total utility revenues	3,102,041	1,636,636	1,552,857
Natural gas marketing revenues	1,783,926	1,279,424	1,234,447
Pipeline and storage revenues	85,333	1,617	.11,280
Other nonutility revenues	2,026	2,360	1,332
Total operating revenues	\$4,973,326	\$2,920,037	\$2,799,916

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

			Septemb	er 30, 2004		16 . 4: 1.
		Natural	Pipeline	Other		
$k = 2\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2} \cdot$	Utility .	Gas Marketing	and Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
the second second of the second			(In th	ousands)	** <u>1</u> :	i di
ASSETS	1		•1•		to a contract	
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$1,669,304	\$ 7,875	\$43,784	\$ 1,558	\$	\$1,722,521
Investment in subsidiaries	164,300	(1,484)	-		(162,816)	. ,
Current accets						
Cash and cash equivalents.	182,846	18,734	· /	352	f	201,932
Assets from fisk management					(5.661)	14 440
activities.		24,412	12,628		(5,664) (25,740)	1
Other current assets	284,474 1,995	176,623	12,020	1.6000	(18,074)	
					(49,478)	
- Total current assets	495,007	219,769 4,160		33,209		
Intangible assets Goodwill	206,656	24,282	10,430			241,368
Noncurrent assets from risk	200,030	24,202	10,450			241,500
management activities		734 '	, Dis	2 * <u>1</u> .	(172)	562
Deferred charges and other assets	206,424	1,661	25	22,711		230,821
and the state of t	\$2,741,691	\$256,997	\$66,867	\$59,538	\$(212,466)	\$2,912,627
CAPITALIZATION AND LÍABILIT	IES	-			e jing	(:
Shareholders' equity	\$1,133,459	\$103,376	\$28,499	\$32,425	\$(164,300)	\$1,133,459
Long-term debt	853,472			7,839		861,311
Total capitalization	1,986,931	103,376	28,499	40,264	(164,300)	1,994,770
Current liabilities						
Current maturities of long-term debt	3,917		warenessis	1,991	*	5,908
Short-term debt	Type Andrew Till	'		-	· · · · · ·	
Liabilities from risk management	24.204	11 407			(6.252)	20.450
activities	34,304	11,407 124,577	24 014	7,558	(6,253) (23,304)	39,458 384,519
Other current liabilities	251,674	9,906	24,014 8,168	7,.250	(18,074)	304,319
Intercompany payables	200.005			0.540	,	420.005
Total current liabilities	289,895	145,890.	32,182	-9,549		429,885
Deferred income taxes	230,214	2,900	6,116	2,000	27 3	241,257
management activities		1,700	·		(5.62)	1,138
Regulatory cost of removal			. i :"		war in a	
obligation	103,579	annes	*******	-	 ,	103,579
Deferred credits and other liabilities	131,072	3,131	70	7,725	-	141,998
	\$2,741,691	\$256,997	\$66,867	\$59,538	\$(212,466)	\$2,912,627

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

19. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data is presented below. The sum of net income per share by quarter may not equal the net income per share for the year due to variations in the weighted average shares outstanding used in computing such amounts. Our businesses are seasonal due to weather conditions in our service areas. For further information on its effects on quarterly results, see the "Results of Operations" discussion included in the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section herein.

	1 1 11	Quarter		
Total Control of the	December 31	March 31	June 30	September 30
$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{1}{2}$	The state of	n thousands, exce	pt per share da	ita)
Fiscal year 2005:	ir e.			f ()
Operating revenues	• •	1 21		50 (10) 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
Utility segment	\$- 913,681	\$1,235,377	\$501,735	\$ 452,347
Natural gas marketing segment	493,801	512,891	466,835	632,751
Pipeline and storage segment	46,039	48,235	36,524	33,944
Other nonutility segment	1,359	1,278	1,421	1,244
Intersegment eliminations	(83,907)	(110,007)	(96,563)	(115,659)
i Santa da Maria da M Maria da Maria da Ma	1,370,973	1,687,774	909,952	1,004,627
Gross profit	324,452	378,583		201,706
Operating income	128,674	172,181	39,468	8,332
Net income (loss)	59,599	88,502	4,486	-1 - (16,802)
Net income (loss) per basic share	\$ 10.79	\$ 1.12	\$ 0.06	\$ (0.21)
Net income (loss) per diluted share		\$ 1.11	\$ 0.06	\$ (0.21)
Fiscal year 2004:	,	The state of the s	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	
Operating revenues				
Utility segment	\$ 460,488	\$ 708,282	\$256,252	\$ 212,706
Natural gas marketing segment	373,829	517,218	364,339	363,216
Pipeline and storage segment	2,919	9,967	5,357	1,515
Other nonutility segment	709	687	,853	1,144
Intersegment eliminations	(74,329)	(118,669)	(80,743)	(85,703)
	763,616	1,117,485	546,058	492,878
Canac markit	159,053	206,126	107,492	89,520
Gross profit	•	-	•	•
Operating income	63,541	105,414	21,460	3,280
Net income (loss)	29,541	58,305	4,765	(6,384)
	\$ 0.57	\$ 1.12	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.11)
Net income (loss) per diluted share	\$ 0.57	\$ 1.12	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.11)

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Atmos Energy Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Atmos Energy Corporation's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Atmos Energy Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Atmos Energy Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2005 of Atmos Energy Corporation and our report dated November 16, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas November 16, 2005

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 8, 2006.

PART ΓV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) 1. and 2. Financial statements and financial statement schedules.

The financial statements and financial statement schedule listed in the Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 are filed as part of this Form 10-K.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibits Index are filed as part of this Form 10-K. The exhibits numbered 10.7(a) through 10.16(e) are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Robert W. Best and John P. Reddy, or either of them acting alone or together, as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power to act alone, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated:

/s/ ROBERT W. BEST Robert W. Best	Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer	November 18, 2005
/s/ JOHN P. REDDY John P. Reddy	Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	November 18, 2005
/s/ F.E. MEISENHEIMER F.E. Meisenheimer	Vice President and Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)	November 18, 2005
/s/ TRAVIS W. BAIN, II Travis W. Bain, II	Director	November 18, 2005
/s/ DAN BUSBEE Dan Busbee	Director	November 18, 2005
/s/ RICHARD W. CARDIN Richard W. Cardin	Director	November 18, 2005
/s/ THOMAS J. GARLAND Thomas J. Garland	Director	November 18, 2005
/s/ RICHARD K. GORDON Richard K. Gordon	Director	November 18, 2005
/s/ GENE C. KOONCE Gene C. Koonce	Director	November 18, 2005
/s/ THOMAS C. MEREDITH Thomas C. Meredith	Director	November 18, 2005

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Three Years Ended September 30, 2005

•		Add	ditions	
$\ W_{ij}^{(i)}(x) - x_{ij}^{(i)}(x) - x_{ij}^{(i)}(x) - \frac{\alpha}{2} \ W_{ij}^{(i)}(x) - \frac{\alpha}{2} \ W_{ij}^{(i)}(x) - W_{ij}^{(i$	Balance at Beginning of Period	Charged to Cost & Expenses	Charged to Other Accounts (In thousands)	Balance at End of Period
2005		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$ 7,214	\$20,293	\$4,563 ⁽¹⁾ \$16,457 ⁽²⁾	\$15,613
2004.			11 (12) (13) (13)	į.
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$13,051	\$ 5,379	\$ — \$11,216 ⁽²⁾	\$ 7,214
2003				
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$10,509	\$13,249	$$-$10,707^{(2)}$	\$13,051

⁽¹⁾ Represents allowance for doubtful accounts recorded in connection with the TXU Gas acquisition.

⁽²⁾ Uncollectible accounts written off.

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number or Incorporation by Reference to
4.9(a)	Indenture of Mortgage, dated as of July 15, 1959, from United Cities Gas Company to First Trust of Illinois, National Association, and M.J. Kruger, as Trustees, as amended and	
	supplemented through December 1, 1992 (the Indenture of Mortgage through the 20th Supplemental Indenture)	$\mathcal{L}^{(k)} = \mathcal{L}^{(k)} = \mathcal{L}^{(k)}$
4.9(b)	Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 5, 1997 by and among United	Exhibit 10.7(a) of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042)
	Cities Gas Company and Bank of America Illinois and First Trust National Association	
A Coffin di	and Russell C. Bergman supplementing Indenture of Mortgage dated as of July 15, 1959	gramment of the second of the
4.9(c)	Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 29, 1997 by and among Atmos.	Exhibit 4.10(c) of Form S-3 dated August 31, 2004 (File No. 333-118706)
	Energy Corporation and First Trust National Association and Russell C. Bergman supplementing Indenture of Mortgage dated as of July 15, 1959	The management of the Addition
.(4.10(a)	Indenture between United Cities Gas Company and Bank of America Illinois, as Trustee dated as of November 15, 1995	Exhibit 4.11(a) of Form S ₇₃ dated August 31, 2004 (File No. 333-118706)
4.10(b)	Energy Corporation and Bank of America	A Commence of the Commence of
	Material Contracts	Destallar
10.1(a)	Debenture Certificate for the 63/4% Debentures due 2028	Exhibit 99.2 of Form 8-K dated July 22, 1998 (File No. 1-10042)
10.1(b)	Global Security for the 7%% Senior Notes due 2011	Exhibit 99.2 of Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001 (File No. 1-10042)
10.1(c)	Global Security for the 51/8% Senior Notes due 2013	Exhibit 10(2)(c) of Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
10.1 (d)	Global Security for the Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2007	Exhibit 10(2)(d) of Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
10.1(e)	Global Security for the 4.00% Senior Notes due 2009	Exhibit 10(2) (e) of Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
10.1(f)	Global Security for the 4.95% Senior Notes due 2014	Exhibit 10(2)(f) of Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
10.1(g)	Global Security for the 5.95% Senior Notes due 2034	Exhibit 10(2)(g) of Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
10.2	dated as of October 18, 2005, among Atmos	Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K dated October 18, 2005 (File No. 1-10042)
no ii Magazi	Energy Corporation, SunTrust Bank, as Administrative Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank,	ing the main attention in Manager to the problem of the General Contraction of the Contraction of the Contra
S. G. S. At.	N.A., as Syndication Agent and Bank of America, N.A., Wachovia Bank, National Association and Societe Generale, as Co-	on a contract of the first term of the first ter
rii: Nadari Katarif (h. 1882)	Documentation Agents, and the lenders from time to time parties thereto	entropy (1867) entropy (1867)

ē,

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number or Incorporation by Reference to
10.9(b)*	Amendment No. 1 to the Atmos Energy Corporation Executive Retiree Life Plan	Exhibit 10.31(a) of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042)
10.10(a)*	Description of Financial and Estate Planning Program	Exhibit 10.25(b) of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042)
10.10(b)*	Description of Sporting Events Program	Exhibit 10.26(c) of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993 (File No. 1-10042)
10.11(a)*	Atmos Energy Corporation Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan, Amended and Restated in its Entirety August 12, 1998	Exhibit 10.26 of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042)
10.11(b)*	Atmos Energy Corporation Performance-Based Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan, Effective Date August 12, 1998	Exhibit 10.32 of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042)
10.11(c)*	Amendment No. One to the Atmos Energy Corporation Performance Based Supplemental Executive, Benefits Plan, Effective Date January 1, 1999	Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-Q for quarter ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-10042)
10.11 ⁻ (d)*	Atmos Energy Corporation Performance-Based Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan Trust Agreement, Effective Date December 1, 2000	Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q for quarter ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-10042)
10.11(e)*	Form of Individual Trust Agreement for the Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan	Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-Q for quarter ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-10042)
10.12*	Atmos Energy Corporation Executive Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan	Exhibit 10.33 of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042)
10.13(a)*	Mini-Med/Dental Benefit Extension Agreement dated October 1, 1994	Exhibit 10:28(f) of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 2001 (File No. 1-10042)
10.13(b)*	Amendment No. 1 to Mini-Med/Dental Benefit Extension Agreement dated August 14, 2001	Exhibit 10.28(g) of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 2001 (File No. 1-10042)
10.13(c)*	Amendment No. 2 to Mini-Med/Dental Benefit Extension Agreement dated December 31, 2002	Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q for quarter ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 1-10042)
10.14*	Atmos Energy Corporation Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non- Employee Directors	Exhibit C of Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed December 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042)
10.15*	Atmos Energy Corporation Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan (Amended and Restated as of November 12, 1997)	Exhibit 10.28 of Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042)
10.16(a)*	Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended and restated February 14, 2002)	Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q for quarter ended March 31, 2002 (File No. 1-10042)
10.16(b)*	Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan	•
10.16(c)*	Form of Award Agreement of Restricted Stock With Time-Lapse Vesting under the Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan	

(This page intentionally left blank)



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One) ☑	QUARTERLY REPORT PURS	UANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
	OF THE SECURITIES EXCHA For the quarterly period ended June 30	
		or
Ц	OF THE SECURITIES EXCHA	UANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) NGE ACT OF 1934
	For the transition period from to	
	Commission I	File Number 1-10042
	Atmos Energista	gy Corporation rant as specified in its charter)
	Texas and Virginia (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	75-1743247 (IRS employer identification no.)
7	Three Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800	75240
	5430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas (Address of principal executive offices)	(Zip code)
	`	2) 934-9227 e number, including area code)
of the Securi	ties Exchange Act of 1934 during the prece	as filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) eding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant ect to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes
	inition of "Accelerated filer and large accel	arge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated lerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one): erated filer Non-accelerated filer
Indicate Act). Yes 🏻		shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Number	of shares outstanding of each of the issuer	's classes of common stock, as of July 31, 2006.
	Class	Shares Outstanding
	No Par Value	81,595,723
Personal de la companya de la compa		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Item 6. Exhibits

SIGNATURES

EXHIBITS INDEX

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Letter Regarding Unaudited Interim Financial Information

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications

Section 1350 Certifications

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. **AEH** Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC **AEM** Atmos Energy Services, LLC **AES** Accounting Principles Board APB Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC APS Billion cubic feet Bcf **EITF** Emerging Issues Task Force **FASB** Financial Accounting Standards Board

FERC Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

FIN **FASB Interpretation** Fitch Fitch Ratings, Ltd.

GPSC Georgia Public Service Commission Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program **GRIP** Kentucky Public Service Commission **KPSC**

Louisiana Gas Service Company and LGS Natural Gas Company, LGS which were acquired July 1, 2001

LPSC Louisiana Public Service Commission Thousand cubic feet Mcf

Million cubic feet MMcf Moody's Investors Services, Inc. Moody's Mississippi Public Service Commission **MPSC** NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc. **RRC** Railroad Commission of Texas

RSC Rate Stabilization Clause S&P Standard & Poor's Corporation

United States Securities and Exchange Commission **SEC** Statement of Financial Accounting Standards **SFAS**

TLGP Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline Tennessee Regulatory Authority TRA

TXU Gas Company, which was acquired on October 1, 2004 TXU Gas

Weather Normalization Adjustment **WNA**

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	June 30, 2006	September 30, 2005
		ands, except e data)
ASSETS		
Property, plant and equipment	\$4,993,093	\$ 4,765,610
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	<u>1,414,010</u>	1,391,243
Net property, plant and equipment	3,579,083	3,374,367
Current assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	26,849	40,116
Cash held on deposit in margin account	58,176	80,956
Accounts receivable, net	409,087	454,313
Gas stored underground	437,069	450,807
Other current assets	118,990	238,238
Total current assets	1,050,171	1,264,430
Goodwill and intangible assets	737,349	737,787
Deferred charges and other assets	249,874	276,943
	\$5,616,477	\$ 5,653,527
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES		
Shareholders' equity		
Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share); 200,000,000 shares authorized; issued		
and outstanding:		
June 30, 2006 — 81,538,149 shares;		
September 30, 2005 — 80,539,401 shares	\$ 408	\$ 403
Additional paid-in capital	1,456,032	1,426,523
Retained earnings	243,956	178,837
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(35,840)	(3,341)
Shareholders' equity	1,664,556	1,602,422
Long-term debt	2,180,752	2,183,104
Total capitalization	3,845,308	3,785,526
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	306,805	461,314
Other current liabilities	407,575	503,368
Short-term debt	297,087	144,809
Current maturities of long-term debt	3,331	3,264
Total current liabilities	1,014,798	1,112,755
Deferred income taxes	283,757	292,207
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	275,955	263,424
Deferred credits and other liabilities	196,659	199,615
	\$5,616,477	\$ 5,653,527

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

		Three Months Ended June 30	
	2006	2005	
	(Unaud (In thousand per share	ls, except	
Operating revenues			
Utility segment	\$ 402,044	\$501,735	
Natural gas marketing segment	562,447	466,835	
Pipeline and storage segment	35,862	33,449	
Other nonutility segment Intersegment eliminations	1,413 (138,523)	1,421 (96,563)	
miersegment eminiations		906,877	
Purchased gas cost	863,243	900,877	
Utility segment	232,192	326,502	
Natural gas marketing segment	563,333	456,440	
Pipeline and storage segment	379	(1,733)	
Other nonutility segment		——————————————————————————————————————	
Intersegment eliminations	(137,161)	(95,606)	
•	658,743	685,603	
Gross profit	204,500	221,274	
Operating expenses	•	,	
Operation and maintenance	104,380	91,443	
Depreciation and amortization	46,838	43,448	
Taxes, other than income	<u>48,479</u>	46,915	
Total operating expenses	<u>199,697</u>	181,806	
Operating income	4,803	39,468	
Miscellaneous income	963	1,524	
Interest charges	<u>35,944</u>	33,689	
Income (loss) before income taxes	(30,178)	7,303	
Income tax expense (benefit)	(12,033)	2,817	
Net income (loss)	<u>\$ (18,145)</u>	<u>\$ 4,486</u>	
Basic net income (loss) per share	\$ (0.22)	\$ 0.06	
Diluted net income (loss) per share	\$ (0.22)	\$ 0.06	
Cash dividends per share	\$ 0.315	\$ 0.310	
Weighted average shares outstanding:			
Basic	80,840	79,683	
Diluted	80,840	80,144	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

	Nine Months Ended June 30	
	2006	2005
	(Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share data)	
Operating revenues		AA (#0 # 00
Utility segment	\$3,254,674	\$2,650,793
Natural gas marketing segment	2,482,921	1,473,527
Pipeline and storage segment	121,057	122,685
Other nonutility segment	4,500	4,058
Intersegment eliminations	(682,243)	(290,477)
	5,180,909	3,960,586
Purchased gas cost	0.400.006	1 005 101
Utility segment	2,488,906	1,895,181
Natural gas marketing segment	2,413,511	1,425,128
Pipeline and storage segment	590	8,895
Other nonutility segment	(678,591)	(287,889)
Intersegment eliminations		
	4,224,416	3,041,315
Gross profit	956,493	919,271
Operating expenses	205.005	205 640
Operation and maintenance	325,295	305,640
Depreciation and amortization	137,174	132,771
Taxes, other than income	158,691	140,537
Total operating expenses	621,160	578,948
Operating income	335,333	340,323
Miscellaneous income (expense)	(1,028)	2,867
Interest charges	107,625	99,304
Income before income taxes	226,680	243,886
Income tax expense	85,002	91,299
Net income	<u>\$ 141,678</u>	\$ 152,587
Basic net income per share	\$ 1.76	\$ 1.96
Diluted net income per share	<u>\$ 1.75</u>	\$ 1.94
Cash dividends per share	<u>\$ 0.945</u>	\$ 0.930
Weighted average shares outstanding:		
Basic	80,520	78,009
Diluted	81,013	78,478

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	Nine Months Ended June 30		
	2006	2005	
	(Unaudited) (In thousands)		
Cash Flows From Operating Activities			
Net income	\$ 141,678	\$ 152,587	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and amortization:			
Charged to depreciation and amortization	137,174	132,771	
Charged to other accounts	359	634	
Deferred income taxes	36,160	17,703	
Other	12,063	7,593	
Net assets / liabilities from risk management activities	(3,940)	14,276	
Net change in operating assets and liabilities	(100,051)	61,846	
Net cash provided by operating activities	223,443	387,410	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities	-		
Capital expenditures	(322,691)	(226,851)	
Acquisitions		(1,916,654)	
Other, net	(4,811)	(1,648)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(327,502)	(2,145,153)	
Cash Flows From Financing Activities			
Net increase in short-term debt	152,278		
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt		1,385,847	
Repayment of long-term debt	(2,618)	(102,801)	
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements		(43,770)	
Cash dividends paid	(76,559)	(74,048)	
Issuance of common stock	17,691	32,206	
Net proceeds from equity offering		382,014	
Net cash provided by financing activities	90,792	1,579,448	
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(13,267)	(178,295)	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	40,116	201,932	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 26,849	\$ 23,637	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) June 30, 2006

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as other natural gas nonutility businesses. Our natural gas utility business distributes natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

Division	Service Area
Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division	Colorado, Kansas, Missouri (1)
Atmos Energy Kentucky Division	Kentucky
Atmos Energy Louisiana Division	Louisiana
Atmos Energy Mid-States Division	Georgia (1), Illinois (1), Iowa (1),
	Missouri (1), Tennessee, Virginia (1)
Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth
	metropolitan area
Atmos Energy Mississippi Division	Mississippi
Atmos Energy West Texas Division	West Texas

⁽¹⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

Our nonutility businesses operate in 22 states and include our natural gas marketing operations, pipeline and storage operations and other nonutility operations. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by the Company.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States utility divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage business includes the regulated operations of our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and the nonregulated operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and to third parties, as well as manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES) and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are each wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide these services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have entered into agreements to lease these plants.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. Unaudited Interim Financial Information

In the opinion of management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the unaudited consolidated interim-period financial statements. These consolidated interim-period financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. Because of seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 are not indicative of expected results of operations for the full 2006 fiscal year, which ends September 30, 2006.

Basis of comparison

Certain prior-period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.

Significant accounting policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. Except for the Company's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123 (revised), *Share-Based Payment*, discussed below, there were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the nine months ended June 30, 2006.

Additionally, during the second quarter of fiscal 2006, we completed our annual goodwill impairment assessment. Based on the assessment performed, our goodwill was not considered to be impaired.

Stock-based compensation plans

Our 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to officers, division presidents and other key employees. Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire our common stock.

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123(R)). This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123(R), the Company is required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 included: (i) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123; and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. The impact of adoption on total stock-based compensation expense included in our statement of income for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 was less than \$0.1 million and \$0.4 million and was recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense. In accordance with the modified prospective method, financial results for prior periods have not been restated.

Prior to October 1, 2005, we accounted for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in APB Opinion 25, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options was recognized

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock were valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation was amortized as a component of operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock.

Total stock-based compensation expense for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 was \$2.1 million and \$4.3 million as compared to \$0.9 million and \$2.4 million for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2005. Had compensation expense for our stock-based awards been recognized as prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2005 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Jun	Aonths Ended e 30, 2005	Ju	Months Ended ne 30, 2005
	(In thousands, except per share data)			are data)
Net income — as reported	\$	4,486	\$	152,587
Restricted stock compensation expense included in income, net of tax		542		1,514
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under				
fair-value-based method for all awards, net of taxes		<u>(676</u>)		(2,114)
Net income — pro forma	\$	4,352	\$	151,987
Earnings per share:				
Basic earnings per share — as reported	\$	0.06	\$	1.96
Basic earnings per share — pro forma	\$	0.05	\$	1.95
Diluted earnings per share — as reported	\$	0.06	\$	1.94
Diluted earnings per share — pro forma	\$	0.05	\$	1.94

Regulatory assets and liabilities

We record certain costs as regulatory assets in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, when future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Substantially all of our regulatory assets are recorded as a component of deferred charges and substantially all of our regulatory liabilities are recorded as a component of deferred credits and other liabilities. Deferred gas costs are recorded either in other current assets or liabilities and the regulatory cost of removal obligation is separately reported.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 included the following:

	June 30, 	September 30, 2005
	(In thousands)	
Regulatory assets:		
Merger and integration costs, net	\$ 8,895	\$ 9,150
Deferred gas cost	24,645	38,173
Environmental costs	1,234	1,357
Rate case costs	8,986	11,314
Deferred franchise fees	1,202	6,710
Other	8,921	9,313
	\$ 53,883	\$ 76,017
Regulatory liabilities:		
Deferred gas costs	\$ 69,542	\$ 134,048
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	290,604	274,989
Deferred income taxes, net	3,185	3,185
Other	6,570	8,084
	\$369,901	\$ 420,306

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on certain of our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. Environmental costs have been deferred to be included in future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various state regulatory commissions.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Comprehensive income

The following table presents the components of comprehensive income, net of related tax, for the three and ninemonth periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Three Months Ended June 30		Nine Mon Jun	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
		(In the	ousands)	
Net income (loss)	\$(18,145)	\$ 4,486	\$141,678	\$152,587
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investments, net of tax expense (benefit) of \$(187) and \$(7) for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 and of \$355 and \$722 for the nine months ended	, , ,	·	·	
June 30, 2006 and 2005	(304)	(11)	580	1,178
Amortization and unrealized losses on interest rate hedging transactions, net of tax expense (benefit) of \$528 and \$528 for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 and \$1,583 and \$(2.100) for the prince provides unled June 30, 2006 and 2005	970	940	2 501	(2.575)
\$(2,190) for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005	860	860	2,581	(3,575)
Net unrealized losses on commodity hedging transactions, net of tax benefit of \$4,182 and \$2,675 for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 and \$21,858 and \$2,672 for the nine months				
ended June 30, 2006 and 2005	(6,821)	(4,366)	(35,660)	(4,361)
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$(24,410)	\$ 969	\$109,179	\$145,829

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

	June 30, <u>2006</u> (In th	 2005 nds)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:		
Unrealized holding gains on investments	\$ 1,264	\$ 684
Treasury lock agreements	(21,401)	(23,982)
Cash flow hedges	(15,703)	19,957
•	\$(35,840)	\$ (3,341)

Recent accounting pronouncements

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47), which clarifies that an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when the obligation is incurred — generally upon acquisition, construction or development and/or through the normal operation of the asset, if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. A conditional asset retirement obligation is a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. Uncertainty about the timing and/or method of settlement is required to be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

obligation. We will be required to apply the provisions of FIN 47 by September 30, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact that FIN 47 may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments , which amends SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities . SFAS 155 (a) permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, (b) clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS 133, (c) establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, (d) clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives and (e) amends SFAS 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument. SFAS 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued by us after October 1, 2006 but is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 156, Accounting for Servicing Financial Assets, which amends SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 156 (a) revises guidance on when a servicing asset and servicing liability should be recognized, (b) requires all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities to be initially measured at fair value, if practicable, (c) permits an entity to choose to measure servicing assets and servicing liabilities under the amortization method or fair value measurement method, (d) at initial adoption, permits a one-time reclassification of available-for-sale securities to trading securities by entities with recognized servicing rights, without calling into question the treatment of other available-for-sale securities under SFAS 115, provided that the available-for-sale securities are identified as offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value of servicing assets or liabilities that the servicer elects to subsequently measure at fair value and (e) requires separate presentation of servicing assets and servicing liabilities subsequently measured at fair value in the statement of financial position and additional footnote disclosure. We will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 156 beginning October 1, 2006 but such application is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In March 2006, the FASB issued the exposure draft Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). The exposure draft, if adopted in its current form, would make a significant change to the existing rules by requiring recognition in the balance sheet of the overfunded or underfunded positions of defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans, along with a corresponding noncash, after-tax adjustment to stockholders' equity. The proposed standard, if adopted, will be effective for fiscal 2007. We are monitoring the status of the exposure draft and assessing the impact it will have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) ratified EITF Issue No. 06-3, *How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation)*. The EITF reached a consensus that the scope of this issue includes any tax assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer and may include sales, use, value added, and some excise taxes. The EITF also reached a consensus that entities may present these taxes on either a gross or net basis. If the taxes are significant, an entity should disclose its policy of presenting taxes and the amounts of taxes that are recognized on a gross basis in interim and annual financial statements. We will be required to apply the provisions of EITF 06-3 beginning January 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by establishing standards for measurement and recognition in financial statements of positions taken by an entity in its income tax returns. This interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition of income tax assets and

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

liabilities, classification of current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities, accounting for interest and penalties, accounting for income taxes in interim periods and income tax disclosures. We will be required to apply the provisions of FIN 48 beginning October 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

3. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its mark to market measurement from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change did not have a material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption.

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005:

	Utility	Natural Gas <u>Marketing</u> (In thousands)	Total
June 30, 2006:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$11,930	\$ 4,589	\$ 16,519
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent		38	38
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(4,299)	(25,351)	(29,650)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent	***************************************	(9,073)	(9,073)
Net assets (liabilities)	<u>\$ 7,631</u>	<u>\$ (29,797)</u>	<u>\$ (22,166)</u>
September 30, 2005:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$93,310	\$ 14,603	\$107,913
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent	-	735	735
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	***********	(61,920)	(61,920)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		(15,316)	(15,316)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$93,310	\$ (61,898)	\$ 31,412

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. Because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment ultimately will be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. Our utility hedging activities also include the cost of our Treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Nonutility Hedging Activities

AEM manages its exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our financial derivative activities include fair value hedges to offset changes in the fair value of our natural gas inventory and cash flow hedges to offset anticipated purchases and sales of gas in the future. AEM also utilizes basis swaps and other non-hedge derivative instruments to manage its exposure to market volatility.

For the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive loss was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts, and the recognition for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 of \$3.4 million in net deferred hedging gains (\$4.8 million in net deferred hedging losses during the three months ended June 30, 2006) in net income when the derivative contracts matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging loss associated with open cash flow hedges remains subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. The majority of the deferred hedging balance as of June 30, 2006 is expected to be recognized in net income in fiscal 2006 along with the corresponding hedged purchases and sales of natural gas. The remainder of the deferred hedging balance is expected to be recognized in net income in fiscal 2007 and beyond.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We may also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. At the close of business on June 30, 2006, AEH had no net open positions (including existing storage).

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the then anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt in October 2004. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This payment was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a period of five to ten years. During the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006, we recognized approximately \$1.4 million and \$4.2 million of this amount as a component of interest expense.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

4. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 consisted of the following:

	June 30, September 2006 2005		
	(In thousands)		
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due October 2007	\$ 300,000	\$ 300,000	
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000	400,000	
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000	350,000	
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303	2,303	
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000	250,000	
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000	500,000	
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000	200,000	
Medium term notes			
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000	10,000	
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000	10,000	
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000	150,000	
First Mortgage Bonds Series P, 10.43% due 2013	8,750	10,000	
Other term notes due in installments through 2013	6,471	7,839	
Total long-term debt	2,187,524	2,190,142	
Less:			
Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures	(3,441)	(3,774)	
Current maturities	(3,331)	(3,264)	
	\$2,180,752	\$ 2,183,104	

Our unsecured floating rate debt bears interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At June 30, 2006, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 5.452 percent.

Short-term debt

At June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005, there was \$297.1 million and \$144.8 million outstanding under our commercial paper program and bank credit facilities.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the banks. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

Committed credit facilities

As of June 30, 2006, we had three short-term committed revolving credit facilities totaling \$918 million. The first facility is a three-year unsecured facility, expiring October 2008, for \$600 million that bears interest at a base rate or at the LIBOR rate plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings, and serves

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600 million commercial paper program. At June 30, 2006, there was \$281.9 million outstanding under our commercial paper program.

We have a second unsecured facility in place which is a 364-day facility expiring November 2006, for \$300 million that bears interest at a base rate or the LIBOR rate plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings. At June 30, 2006, there were no borrowings under this facility.

We have a third unsecured facility in place for \$18 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired on March 31, 2006 and was renewed effective April 1, 2006 for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At June 30, 2006, there was \$15.2 million outstanding under this facility.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently satisfy. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in both our \$600 million three-year credit facility and \$300 million 364-day credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At June 30, 2006, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 62 percent. In addition, the fees that we pay on unused amounts under both the \$600 million and \$300 million credit facilities are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings.

Uncommitted credit facilities

On November 28, 2005, AEM amended its \$250 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. On March 31, 2006, AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2007.

Borrowings under the credit facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50 percent per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.25 percent. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.625 percent per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above, plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.00 percent to 1.875 percent per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$120 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$121 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding \$4 million to \$23 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At June 30, 2006, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.00 to 1.

At June 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. However, at June 30, 2006, AEM letters of credit totaling \$70.4 million had been issued under the facility, which reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$129.6 million at June 30, 2006. This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH.

The Company also has an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25 million that is used for working-capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at June 30, 2006, but letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.5 million. This uncommitted line is renewed

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line. Borrowings under this line are made on a when-and-as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

AEH, the parent company of AEM, has a \$100 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with the Company which bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. This facility has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2006. At June 30, 2006, \$88.4 million was outstanding under this facility. On July 1, 2006, this facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms.

In addition, AEM has a \$120 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$580 million uncommitted demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$580 million credit facility. At June 30, 2006, \$82.0 million was outstanding under this facility. On July 1, 2006, this facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms.

Debt Covenants

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, after November 2007, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985 plus \$9 million. At June 30, 2006 approximately \$223.0 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of June 30, 2006. If we were unable to comply with our debt covenants, we could be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600 million and \$300 million revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity, based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

5. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

On August 12, 1998, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which became effective October 1, 1998 after approval by our shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan is a comprehensive, long-term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to certain employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock. We are authorized to grant awards for up to a maximum of four million shares of common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions. As of June 30, 2006, non-qualified stock options, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units had been issued

Nine Months Ended

Table of Contents

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

under this plan and 715,699 shares were available for issuance. The option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over a service period ranging from one to three years.

We used the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of each option granted with the following weighted average assumptions:

Valuation Assumptions (1)	June	
	2006	2005
Expected Life (years) (2)	7	7
Interest rate (3)	4.6%	4.2%
Volatility (4)	20.3%	21.3%
Dividend yield	4.8%	4.8%

⁽¹⁾ Beginning on the date of adoption of SFAS 123(R), forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience. Prior to the date of adoption, forfeitures were recorded as they occurred.

A summary of option activity as of June 30, 2006, and changes during the nine months then ended, is presented below:

	Number of Options	Weighted- Average Exercise Price	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term (In years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (In thousands)
Outstanding at September 30, 2005	964,704	\$ 22.20		
Granted	93,196	26.19		
Exercised	(23,186)	22.36		
Forfeited	(166)	21.23		
Outstanding at June 30, 2006	1,034,548	\$ 22.56	5.6	\$ 3,764
Exercisable at June 30, 2006	1,009,174	\$ 22.47	5.5	\$ 3,665

The stock options had a weighted-average fair value per share on the date of grant of \$3.74 and \$3.69 for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. There were no stock options granted during the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$0.5 million and \$10.1 million and during the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$0.5 and \$1.0 million. The associated income tax benefit from stock options exercised during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and \$1.1 million, and during the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and \$1.7 million, and during the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million.

As of June 30, 2006, there was less than \$0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.5 years.

⁽²⁾ The expected life of stock options is estimated based on historical experience.

⁽³⁾ The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options.

⁽⁴⁾ The volatility is estimated based on historical and current stock data for the Company.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Restricted Stock Plans

As noted above, the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for discretionary awards of time-lapse restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units to help attract, retain and reward employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. Certain of these awards vest based upon the passage of time and other awards vest based upon the passage of time and the achievement of specified performance targets. The associated expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period.

A summary of the status of the Company's nonvested restricted shares as of June 30, 2006, and changes during the nine months then ended, is presented below:

	Number of Restricted Shares	A Gr:	eighted- verage ant-Date ir Value	
Nonvested at September 30, 2005	592,490	\$	25.32	
Granted	440,016		26.80	
Vested	(110,347)		22.66	
Forfeited	(10,983)		26.79	
Nonvested at June 30, 2006	911,176	\$	26.34	

As of June 30, 2006, there was \$16.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares granted under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years. The total fair value of restricted stock vested during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 was \$2.5 million and \$0.5 million, and during the three months ended June 30, 2006 was \$0.9 million. There were no restricted stock grants that vested during the three months ended June 30, 2005.

6. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 are calculated as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended June 30		For the Nine Months Ended June 30			
	2006	2005	2006	2005		
	(In th	ousands, exce	pt per share am			
Net income (loss)	<u>\$(18,145</u>)	<u>\$ 4,486</u>	<u>\$141,678</u>	<u>\$152,587</u>		
Denominator for basic income per share — weighted average common shares Effect of dilutive securities:	80,840	79,683	80,520	78,009		
Restricted and other shares	*******	330	394	325		
Stock options	Parameteris	131	99	144		
Denominator for diluted income per share — weighted average common shares	80,840	80,144	81,013	78,478		
Income (loss) per share — basic	\$ (0.22)	\$ 0.06	\$ 1.76	\$ 1.96		
Income (loss) per share — diluted	\$ (0.22)	\$ 0.06	\$ 1.75	\$ 1.94		

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

There were approximately 396,000 restricted and other shares and approximately 102,000 stock options that were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended June 30, 2006 as their inclusion in the computation would be anti-dilutive.

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 as their exercise price was less than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

7. Interim Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Information

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other postretirement benefit plans for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 are presented in the following tables. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

	T	Three Months Ended June 30				
	Pension	Benefits	Other Benefits			
	2006	2005	2006	2005		
		(In thou	sands)	-		
Components of net periodic pension cost:						
Service cost	\$ 4,117	\$ 3,136	\$3,271	\$2,478		
Interest cost	5,722	6,017	2,210	2,366		
Expected return on assets	(6,400)	(6,885)	(547)	(518)		
Amortization of transition asset	With the same	1	378	378		
Amortization of prior service cost	16	(2)	90	96		
Amortization of actuarial loss	3,299	1,891	320	151		
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 6,754	\$ 4,158	\$5,722	\$4,951		
	NineNine	Months End	ed June 30			
	Pension Ben	efits	Other Benefits			
	2006	(In thousan	2006 (ds)	2005		
Components of net periodic pension cost:						
Service cost	\$ 12,351 \$	9,408	\$ 9.813	\$ 7,434		

	Pension	Pension Benefits		
	2006	2005	2006	2005
		(In thou	sands)	
Components of net periodic pension cost:				
Service cost	\$ 12,351	\$ 9,408	\$ 9,813	\$ 7,434
Interest cost	17,166	18,051	6,630	7,098
Expected return on assets	(19,200)	(20,655)	(1,641)	(1,554)
Amortization of transition asset	-	3	1,134	1,134
Amortization of prior service cost	48	(6)	270	288
Amortization of actuarial loss	9,897	5,673	960	453
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 20,262	\$ 12,474	<u>\$17,166</u>	\$14,853

The assumptions used to develop our net periodic pension cost for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

	Pension B	Pension Benefits		
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Discount rate	5.00%	6.25%	5.00%	6.25%
Rate of compensation increase	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%
Expected return on plan assets	8.50%	8.75%	5.30%	5.30%

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. During the nine months ended June 30, 2006, we contributed \$2.8 million to the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union Employees. The current year contribution achieved a desired level of funding by satisfying the minimum funding requirements while maximizing the tax deductible contribution for this plan for plan year 2005. We anticipate making no additional contributions to our pension plans for the remainder of fiscal 2006. However, we contributed \$7.9 million to our other postretirement plans, and we expect to contribute approximately \$12 million to these plans during fiscal 2006.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Environmental Matters

With respect to the specific litigation and environmental-related matters or claims that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005, there were no material changes in the status of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims during the nine months ended June 30, 2006. We continue to believe that the final outcome of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

In addition, we are involved in other litigation and environmental-related matters or claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. While the ultimate results of such litigation and response actions to such environmental-related matters or claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and response actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At June 30, 2006, AEM was committed to purchase 64.8 Bcf within one year, 53.7 Bcf within one to three years and 3.1 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 2.7 Bcf within one year and 0.2 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$5.45 to \$12.00. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$398.9 million and \$294.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 and \$1,718.4 million and \$999.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005.

Our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division, maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated fiscal year commitments under these contracts as of June 30, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

2006	\$ 70,864
2007	346,837
2008	115,004
2009	12,795
2010	12,479
Thereafter	39,812
	\$597,791

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Regulatory Matters

In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint with the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our rates were producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. On February 2, 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss and on March 3, 2006 set a procedural schedule for the case. The Attorney General is currently conducting discovery. A hearing should be scheduled for early 2007. We believe that the Attorney General will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

In May 2006, the Mid-Tex Division filed a Statement of Intent seeking incremental annual revenues of \$60 million and several rate design changes including Weather Normalization Adjustment (WNA), revenue stabilization, and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt. The Statement of Intent consolidated "show cause" resolutions that had been filed in approximately 80 cities served by the Mid-Tex Division, including the City of Dallas, which requires the Mid-Tex Division to demonstrate that existing distribution rates are just and reasonable.

In July 2006, the Mid-Tex Division and the Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) agreed to implement WNA on both an interim and permanent basis, effective October 1, 2006. The agreement provided that the interim WNA will use 30 years of weather history, while the permanent WNA would allow the parties to contest the appropriate period of weather data to use in calculating normal weather. The permanent WNA would also be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the RRC ultimately approves in the case, which is anticipated no later than the first quarter of calendar 2007. Any rate increase will be effective prospectively from the date of the final order; however, any rate decrease will be effective from May 31, 2006.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) that it was opening an investigation into allegations by the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division of the Tennessee Attorney General's Office that we are overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10 million per year. We have responded to numerous data requests from the TRA Staff. On April 24, 2006, the TRA Staff filed a Report and Recommendation in which it recommended that the TRA convene a contested case procedure for the purpose of establishing a fair and reasonable return. The TRA convened to consider the Staff's recommendation on May 15, 2006 and set a procedural schedule. All parties filed direct testimony on July 17, 2006, with rebuttal due August 18, 2006. A hearing is scheduled for August 29, 2006. We believe that the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. Information was provided to the city on February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

In May 2006, Atmos began receiving "show cause" ordinances from several of the cities in the West Texas Division. The ordinances request a filing to be made no later than September 15, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the West Texas cities that our rates are just and reasonable.

Other

On November 30, 2005, we entered into an agreement with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex (North Side Loop). Under the terms of the agreement, we are responsible for contributing no more than \$42.5 million to the construction costs of the pipeline. We are also responsible for 50 percent of the costs of the compression facilities. The North Side Loop was fully placed into service in May 2006. As of June 30, 2006, we had spent \$46.1 million for the North Side Loop project and expect to spend approximately \$5.3 million in the remainder of fiscal 2006 for this project.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we entered into two agreements with third parties to transport natural gas through our Texas intrastate pipeline system beginning in fiscal 2006. To handle the increased volumes for these projects, we installed compression equipment and other pipeline infrastructure. We have spent approximately \$30 million in fiscal 2006 for these projects, which were placed in service at the end of the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage to our eastern Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service territory were in Jefferson, St. Tammany, St. Bernard and Plaquemines parishes. In total, approximately 230,000 of our natural gas customers were affected in these areas. Although service has been restored for many of our customers, a significant number of customers will not require gas service for some time because of sustained damages. We cannot predict with certainty how many of these customers will return to these service areas and over what time period they may return. Additionally, we cannot accurately determine what regulatory actions, if any, may be taken by the regulators with respect to these areas. We are implementing new rates, subject to refund, in August 2006 that reflect the reduced customer count and enable us to recoup costs attributable to Hurricane Katrina.

In May 2006, we announced plans to form a joint venture with a local natural gas producer to construct a natural gas gathering system in Eastern Kentucky that will originate in Floyd County, Kentucky, and extend north approximately 65 miles to interconnect with the Tennessee Gas Pipeline in Carter County, Kentucky. Tennessee Gas Pipeline's interstate system delivers natural gas to the northeastern United States, including New York City and Boston. The new system is expected to relieve severe gas gathering and transportation constraints that historically have burdened natural gas producers in the area and should improve delivery reliability to natural gas customers. More than a dozen other producers have signed memoranda of understanding to commit gas volumes to the new system and to enter into agreements on commercially reasonable terms.

The project is expected to cost between \$75 million to \$80 million. Upon receiving all required regulatory approvals, construction is expected to begin in the first half of fiscal 2007, with operations expected to begin in fiscal 2008. Final terms of the joint venture are still under negotiation; however, we anticipate that we will have the ability to consolidate the joint venture.

9. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in our customer base.

Customer diversification also helps mitigate AEM's exposure to credit risk. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of nonperformance by any single counterparty.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable,

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by AEM's credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investors Service Inc. (Moody's) and/or Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P). For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-guaranteed industrial and commercial customers is non-investment grade. The following table shows the percentages related to the investment ratings as of June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005.

	June 30, 	September 30, 2005
Investment grade	41%	49%
Non-investment grade	59%	51%
Total	100%	100%

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of June 30, 2006. Investment grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by S&P; or Baa3, assigned by Moody's. Noninvestment grade counterparties are composed of counterparties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individually significant.

		June 30, 2006				
	Utility Segment ⁽¹⁾		Consolidated			
Investment grade counterparties Non-investment grade counterparties	\$ 11,930 — <u>\$ 11,930</u>	\$ 843 3,784 \$ 4,627	\$ 12,773 3,784 \$ 16,557			

⁽¹⁾ Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through to our customers.

10. Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies found in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units.

Income statements for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 by segment are presented in the following tables:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2006						
			Pipeline				
	Trees.	Natural Gas	and	Other	William to a 4 to man	Concellidated	
	Utility	Marketing	Storage	Nonutility (1997)	Eliminations	Consolidated	
			(III ti	iousanus)			
Operating revenues from external							
parties	\$401,896	\$ 441,418	\$19,597	\$ 332	\$	\$ 863,243	
Intersegment revenues	<u> 148</u>	<u>121,029</u>	<u>16,265</u>	1,081	(138,523)		
	402,044	562,447	35,862	1,413	(138,523)	863,243	
Purchased gas cost	232,192	563,333	<u>379</u>		(137,161)	658,743	
Gross profit	169,852	(886)	35,483	1,413	(1,362)	204,500	
Operating expenses							
Operation and maintenance	85,372	5,725	13,485	1,227	(1,429)	104,380	
Depreciation and amortization	41,537	466	4,807	28		46,838	
Taxes, other than income	45,853	273	2,272	81		48,479	
Total operating expenses	172,762	6,464	20,564	1,336	(1,429)	199,697	
Operating income (loss)	(2,910)	(7,350)	14,919	77	67	4,803	
Miscellaneous income	3,022	556	309	1,372	(4,296)	963	
Interest charges	30,892	1,716	6,384	1,181	(4,229)	35,944	
Income (loss) before income taxes	(30,780)	(8,510)	8,844	268		(30,178)	
Income tax expense (benefit)	(11,809)	(3,341)	3,012	105		(12,033)	
Net income (loss)	\$(18,971)	\$ (5,169)	\$ 5,832	\$ 163	<u> </u>	<u>\$ (18,145</u>)	
Capital expenditures	\$ 75,973	\$ 500	\$32,988	\$	\$	\$ 109,461	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2005								
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing		Pipeline <u>d Storage</u> (In tho	Other <u>Nonutility</u> usands)	<u>E</u>	liminations	Cons	solidated
Operating revenues from external parties	\$501,481	\$ 387,999	\$	16,854	\$ 543	\$		\$ 9	06,877
Intersegment revenues	254	78,836		16,595	878		(96,563)		
	501,735	466,835		33,449	1,421		(96,563)	9	06,877
Purchased gas cost	_326,502	456,440		(1,733)		_	(95,606)	6	85,603
Gross profit	175,233	10,395		35,182	1,421		(957)	2	21,274
Operating expenses									
Operation and maintenance	76,862	4,948		9,573	1,067	'	(1,007)		91,443
Depreciation and amortization	38,775	458		4,189	26	•			43,448
Taxes, other than income	44,555	242		2,064	54				46,915
Total operating expenses	160,192	5,648		15,826	1,147		(1,007)	1	81,806
Operating income	15,041	4,747		19,356	274	ļ	50		39,468
Miscellaneous income	3,122	153		613	578	}	(2,942)		1,524
Interest charges	28,520	<u>957</u>		6,169	935	<u> </u>	<u>(2,892</u>)		33,689
Income (loss) before income taxes	(10,357)	3,943		13,800	(83	(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		7,303
Income tax expense (benefit)	(3,689)	1,583		4,958	(35	9 _			2,817
Net income (loss)	<u>\$ (6,668</u>)	\$ 2,360	\$	8,842	\$ (48) \$		\$	4,486
Capital expenditures	\$ 80,336	\$ 219	\$	8,830	<u>\$</u>	\$		\$	89,385

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Nine Months Ended June 30, 2006								
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage (In thou	Other <u>Nonutility</u> sands)	Eliminations	Consolidated			
Operating revenues from external parties	\$3,254,078	\$1,866,768	\$ 58,716	\$ 1,347	\$	\$5,180,909			
Intersegment revenues	596	616,153	62,341	3,153	(682,243)	4			
	3,254,674	2,482,921	121,057	4,500	(682,243)	5,180,909			
Purchased gas cost	2,488,906	2,413,511	590		(678,591)	4,224,416			
Gross profit	765,768	69,410	120,467	4,500	(3,652)	956,493			
Operating expenses									
Operation and maintenance	272,501	15,898	36,846	3,853	(3,803)				
Depreciation and amortization	121,708	1,411	13,978	77		137,174			
Taxes, other than income	150,456	864	7,086	285		158,691			
Total operating expenses	544,665	18,173	57,910	4,215	(3,803)	621,160			
Operating income	221,103	51,237	62,557	285	151	335,333			
Miscellaneous income (expense)	6,014	1,754	1,846	3,216	(13,858)	(1,028)			
Interest charges	92,783	6,575	<u> 18,978</u>	2,996	(13,707)	107,625			
Income before income taxes	134,334	46,416	45,425	505		226,680			
Income tax expense	50,264	18,201	16,339	<u>198</u>		85,002			
Net income	\$ 84,070	\$ 28,215	\$ 29,086	\$ 307	\$	\$ 141,678			
Capital expenditures	\$ 232,137	\$ 1,067	\$ 89,487	\$	<u>\$</u>	\$ 322,691			

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Nine Months Ended June 30, 2005							
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage (In thou	Other <u>Nonutility</u> sands)	Eliminations	Consolidated		
Operating revenues from external parties	\$2,649,979	\$1,250,507	\$ 58,433	\$ 1,667	\$	\$3,960,586		
Intersegment revenues	814	223,020	64,252	2,391	(290,477)	-		
	2,650,793	1,473,527	122,685	4,058	(290,477)	3,960,586		
Purchased gas cost	1,895,181	1,425,128	8,895		(287,889)	3,041,315		
Gross profit	755,612	48,399	113,790	4,058	(2,588)	919,271		
Operating expenses								
Operation and maintenance	259,884	12,410	33,077	3,007	(2,738)	305,640		
Depreciation and amortization	119,007	1,436	12,244	84		132,771		
Taxes, other than income	133,395	412	6,510	220		140,537		
Total operating expenses	512,286	14,258	51,831	3,311	(2,738)	578,948		
Operating income	243,326	34,141	61,959	747	150	340,323		
Miscellaneous income	6,068	600	1,220	1,787	(6,808)	2,867		
Interest charges	83,841	2,037	18,568	1,516	(6,658)	99,304		
Income before income taxes	165,553	32,704	44,611	1,018		243,886		
Income tax expense	61,547	13,291	16,047	414		91,299		
Net income	\$ 104,006	\$ 19,413	\$ 28,564	\$ 604	<u> </u>	\$ 152,587		
Capital expenditures	\$ 209,392	\$ 586	\$ 16,873	\$	\$	\$ 226,851		

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Balance sheet information at June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005 by segment is presented in the following tables:

		Natural	Pipeline			
	Utility	Gas Marketing	and Storage	Other Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
		Markening		ousands)	Emmations	Consolidated
ASSETS			(2			
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$3,055,306	\$ 7,381	\$515,076	\$ 1,320	\$	\$3,579,083
Investment in subsidiaries	253,289	(2,092)	Ψ313,070	Ψ 1,520	(251,197)	Ψ5,577,065
Current assets	200,200	(2,072)			(231,177)	
Cash and cash equivalents	8,865	17,456		528		26,849
Cash held on deposit in margin	0,005	17,100		220		20,0 .5
account		58,176				58,176
Assets from risk management activities	11,930	10,388	2,698		(8,497)	16,519
Other current assets	661,342	356,506	37,974	86,003	(193,198)	948,627
Intercompany receivables	555,423		,	30,437	(585,860)	~
Total current assets	1,237,560	442,526	40,672	116,968	(787,555)	1,050,171
Intangible assets		3,069				3,069
Goodwill	566,800	24,282	143,198			734,280
Noncurrent assets from risk management	,		, , , , , ,			,
activities	· comments.	38	2,405		(2,405)	38
Deferred charges and other assets	225,647	1,334	5,232	17,623		249,836
-	\$5,338,602	\$476,538	\$706,583	\$135,911	\$(1,041,157)	\$5,616,477
CAPITALIZATION AND						
LIABILITIES						
Shareholders' equity	\$1,664,556	\$127,682	\$ 92,210	\$ 33,397	\$ (253,289)	\$1,664,556
Long-term debt	2,176,362			4,390		2,180,752
Total capitalization	3,840,918	127,682	92,210	37,787	(253,289)	3,845,308
Current liabilities	2,010,210	127,002	, 2 ,210	3,,,,,,,	(=00,=00)	2,3 .2,2 00
Current maturities of long-term debt	1,250		***************************************	2,081		3,331
Short-term debt	297,087	82,000		88,407	(170,407)	297,087
Liabilities from risk management	•	,		•	, , ,	
activities	4,299	28,049	5,795		(8,493)	29,650
Other current liabilities	460,479	181,275	63,386	293	(20,703)	684,730
Intercompany payables		61,236	524,624		(585,860)	
Total current liabilities	763,115	352,560	593,805	90,781	(785,463)	1,014,798
Deferred income taxes	280,987	(15,434)	16,178	2,026		283,757
Noncurrent liabilities from risk						
management activities		11,478	*****		(2,405)	9,073
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	275,955					275,955
Deferred credits and other liabilities	<u>177,627</u>	<u>252</u>	4,390	5,317		187,586
	<u>\$5,338,602</u>	\$476,538	\$706,583	\$135,911	<u>\$(1,041,157)</u>	<u>\$5,616,477</u>

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	September 30, 2005					
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage (In the	Other Nonutility Ousands)	Eliminations	Consolidated
ASSETS			,	-		
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$2,926,096	\$ 7,278	\$439,574	\$ 1,419	\$	\$3,374,367
Investment in subsidiaries	231,342	(1,896)			(229,446)	—
Current assets	-01,0:-	(2,000)			(,	
Cash and cash equivalents	10,663	28,949		504		40,116
Cash held on deposit in margin account	4,170	76,786				80,956
Assets from risk management activities	93,310	39,528	1,739		(26,664)	107,913
Other current assets	666,081	421,777	36,208	63,820	(152,441)	1,035,445
Intercompany receivables	505,728	´ 	·	20,133	(525,861)	
Total current assets	1,279,952	567,040	37,947	84,457	(704,966)	1,264,430
Intangible assets		3,507				3,507
Goodwill	566,800	24,282	143,198			734,280
Noncurrent assets from risk management	,	,	•			,
activities		2,073	1,338		(2,676)	735
Deferred charges and other assets	249,179	1,461	5,737	19,831		276,208
_	\$5,253,369	\$603,745	\$627,794	\$105,707	\$ (937,088)	\$5,653,527
CAPITALIZATION AND						
LIABILITIES						
Shareholders' equity	\$1,602,422	\$144,827	\$ 53,426	\$ 33,089	\$ (231,342)	\$1,602,422
Long-term debt	2,177,279		-	5,825		2,183,104
Total capitalization	3,779,701	144,827	53,426	38,914	(231,342)	3,785,526
Current liabilities	3,775,701	144,027	33,420	50,514	(231,342)	5,705,520
Current maturities of long-term debt	1,250			2,014		3,264
Short-term debt	144,809	60,000	***************************************	51,320	(111,320)	144,809
Liabilities from risk management		,		,	(,,	· ,
activities		63,936	25,038		(27,054)	61,920
Other current liabilities	623,300	217,777	95,557	4,963	(38,835)	902,762
Intercompany payables		87,968	437,893	·	(525,861)	
Total current liabilities	769,359	429,681	558,488	58,297	(703,070)	1,112,755
Deferred income taxes	268,108	12,369	9,563	2,167		292,207
Noncurrent liabilities from risk	·	,	•			
management activities	-	16,654	1,338		(2,676)	15,316
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	263,424					263,424
Deferred credits and other liabilities	172,777	<u>214</u>	4,979	6,329		184,299
	\$5,253,369	\$603,745	\$627,794	\$105,707	\$ (937,088)	\$5,653,527
					-	

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of June 30, 2006, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein, and in our report dated November 16, 2005, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas August 7, 2006

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by the Company and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of the Company's documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "estimate", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to the Company's strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in the Company's gas utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness; national, regional and local economic conditions; the Company's ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; risks relating to the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations, including without limitation, the Company's increased indebtedness resulting from the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations; the impact of recent natural disasters on our operations, especially Hurricane Katrina; and other uncertainties, which may be discussed herein, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company. A more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties may be found in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. Accordingly, while the Company believes these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of its forwardlooking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management, transportation, storage and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

• the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,

- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

The following summarizes the results of our operations and other significant events for the nine months ended June 30, 2006:

- Our utility segment net income decreased by \$19.9 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The decrease reflects the impact of weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was three percent warmer than the prior-year period and 13 percent warmer than normal, coupled with higher operating expenses.
- In May 2006, the Louisiana Public Service Commission (LPSC) approved a settlement that provides for, among other things, a modified Weather Normalization Adjustment (WNA) which provides a partial decoupling mechanism to stabilize margins and renewal of the Rate Stabilization Clause (RSC) with provisions that will reduce regulatory lag. The settlement also allowed the recognition of \$6.2 million of margin that had been previously deferred as it was subject to refund.
- In May 2006, the Mid-Tex Division filed a Statement of Intent seeking incremental annual revenues of \$60 million and several rate design changes including WNA, revenue stabilization, and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt. In July 2006, the Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) approved an interim WNA, effective October 1, 2006.
- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$8.8 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects our ability to capture higher margins in a volatile natural gas market. These increases were partially offset by a \$28.2 million increase in unrealized losses reflected in this segment's gross profit, increased operating expenses and increased interest charges resulting from increased short-term borrowings to fund working capital needs.
- Our pipeline and storage segment net income increased \$0.5 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with the nine months ended June 30, 2005. Increased gross profit margin resulting from higher transportation and related services margins coupled with increased throughput on our Atmos Pipeline-Texas system and Atmos Pipeline & Storage, LLC's ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads in its asset management contracts were essentially offset by higher operating expenses.
- Our total-debt-to-capitalization ratio at June 30, 2006 was 59.9 percent compared with 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005 reflecting the impact of increased short-term debt borrowings to fund working capital needs partially offset by current-year net income.
- For the nine months ended June 30, 2006, we generated \$223.4 million in operating cash flow compared with \$387.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005, reflecting the adverse impact of high natural gas costs on our working capital.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$322.7 million in the nine months ended June 30, 2006 from \$226.9 million in the prior-year period, primarily reflecting increased capital spending for various pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division, all of which were completed during the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that

we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and particement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Actual results may differ from such estimates.

Our critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005 and include the following:

- Regulation
- Revenue Recognition
- Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
- Derivatives and Hedging Activities
- Impairment Assessments
- Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Our critical accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting policies during the nine months ended June 30, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three-month and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Three Months Ended June 30				Nine Montl June	ıdeđ		
	2	006		2005		2006		2005
			(In	housands, u	nless (otherwise noted)		
Operating revenues	\$86	3,243	\$9	06,877	\$	5,180,909	\$	3,960,586
Gross profit	20	4,500	2	21,274		956,493		919,271
Operating expenses	19	9,697	1	81,806		621,160		578,948
Operating income		4,803		39,468		335,333		340,323
l ellaneous income (expense)		963		1,524		(1,028)		2,867
Interest charges	3	5,944		33,689		107,625		99,304
Income (loss) before income taxes	(3	0,178)		7,303		226,680		243,886
Income tax expense (benefit)	(1	2,033)		2,817		85,002		91,299
Net income (loss)	\$ (1	8,145)	\$	4,486	\$	141,678	\$	152,587
Utility sales volumes — MMcf	3	2,653		43,925		239,562		263,077
Utility transportation volumes — MMcf	2	9,630		28,753		91,384		88,635
Total utility throughput — MMcf	6	2,283		72,678		330,946	-	351,712
Natural gas marketing sales volumes — MMcf	6	6,472		52,739	-	207,418	-	179,679
Pipeline transportation volumes — MMcf	10	4,680		97,567		277,721		254,528
Heating degree days (1)								
Actual (weighted average)		119		167		2,507		2,580
Percent of normal		69%		97%		87%		89%
Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$	0.46	\$	0.48	\$	0.53	\$	0.53
Consolidated utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$	7.11	\$	7.43	\$	10.39	\$	7.20

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations.

The following table shows our operating income by segment for the three-month and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	Three Months Ended June 30									
	2006				2005					
		rating come	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal (1)	Operating <u>Income</u>		Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾				
	(In thousands, except degree day information)									
Colorado-Kansas		163	87%	\$	2,451	105%				
Kentucky		(371)	101%		1,260	105%				
Louisiana		8,715	14%		4,358	63%				
Mid-States	(2,734)	85%		1,600	99%				
Mid-Tex	(1	2,819)	7%		2,432	87%				
Mississippi	(1,265)	115%	((2,455)	100%				
West Texas		4,383	98%		4,992	100%				
Other		1,018	Administration	_	403					
Utility segment	(2,910)	69%	1	15,041	97%				
Natural gas marketing segment	(7,350)	ANNUAL PROPERTY.		4,747					
Pipeline and storage segment	1	4,919		1	19,356	***************************************				
Other nonutility segment and other		144	ATAMANANA .		324					
Consolidated operating income	\$	4,803	69%	\$ 3	39,468	97%				

	Nine Months Ended June 30								
		2006		2005					
	Operating Income	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal (1)	Operating Income	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal (1)					
		(In thousands, except de	legree day information)						
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 23,423	98%	\$ 26,934	99%					
Kentucky	14,876	100%	17,863	98%					
Louisiana	25,202	78%	26,941	78%					
Mid-States	36,459	95%	37,443	94%					
Mid-Tex	67,423	72%	82,002	80%					
Mississippi	25,480	102%	24,661	96%					
West Texas	24,053	100%	26,080	100%					
Other	4,187		1,402	A					
Utility segment	221,103	87%	243,326	89%					
Natural gas marketing segment	51,237	AMADONIA	34,141						
Pipeline and storage segment	62,557	acconstance	61,959						
Other nonutility segment and other	436	*****	897						
Consolidated operating income	\$335,333	87%	\$340,323	89%					

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2006 compared with Three Months Ended June 30, 2005

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 65 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 67 percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are partially offset through weather normalization adjustments, or WNA, in certain of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. As of June 30, 2006, we had, or received regulatory approvals for, WNA covering approximately 1.3 million customer meters in the following service areas for the following periods.

Georgia Kansas Kentucky Louisiana (1) Mississippi Tennessee Amarillo, Texas West Texas Lubbock, Texas Virginia October – May October – May November – April December – March November – April November – April October – May October – May October – May January – December

Our Mid-Tex Division did not have WNA as of June 30, 2006. However, its operations benefited from a rate structure that combined a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provided for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions. However, this rate structure was not as beneficial during periods where weather was significantly warmer than normal.

In July 2006, the RRC approved an interim WNA, effective October 1, 2006 for the Mid-Tex Division. The approved WNA period will be October through May. After we filed our May 2006 Statement of Intent, the parties to the case reached an agreement to implement WNA on both an interim and permanent basis. The agreement provided that the interim WNA will use 30 years of weather history, while the permanent WNA will allow the parties to

⁽¹⁾ Effective beginning for the 2006-2007 winter heating season.

contest the appropriate period of weather data to use in calculating normal weather. The permanent WNA will also be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the RRC ultimately approves in the case. With the addition of this interim settlement in the Mid-Tex Division and the LPSC's May 2006 settlement to authorize our Louisiana Division to implement WNA, we will have weather protection for over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters for the 2006-2007 winter heating season.

Operating income

Utility gross profit margin decreased \$5.3 million to \$169.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 from \$175.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. Total throughput for our utility business was 62.3 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current-year period compared to 72.7 Bcf in the prior-year period.

The decrease in utility gross profit margin and throughput primarily reflects continued warmer-than-normal weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, primarily in our Mid-Tex and Louisiana divisions, where we did not have weather-normalized rates during the third quarter. Although the heating load is typically smaller during the third fiscal quarter, warmer-than-normal weather can still adversely affect gross profit. Weather was 29 percent warmer than the prior-year quarter and 31 percent warmer than normal. The impact of warmer weather resulted in a \$16.2 million reduction in gross profit margin compared with the prior-year quarter. Additionally, our Louisiana division experienced a \$1.3 million reduction in gross profit margin during the current-year quarter due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina compared with the prior-year quarter. Finally, continued customer conservation contributed to the decrease. These decreases were partially offset by a \$3.9 million increase arising from the Company's fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 filings under Texas's Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) and the recognition of \$6.2 million that had been previously deferred in Louisiana following the LPSC's ratification of our 2003 RSC in May 2006.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$172.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 from \$160.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005.

Operation and maintenance expense, excluding the provision for doubtful accounts, increased \$10.4 million primarily due to higher employee costs associated with increased headcount to fill positions that were previously outsourced to a third party, higher medical and dental claims and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. Increased line locate and facilities costs also contributed to the increase. These increases were partially offset by lower third-party costs associated with formerly outsourced administrative and meter reading functions that were in-sourced during the first quarter of fiscal 2006 and the reversal of a \$2.0 million charge for Hurricane Katrina losses that was originally recorded during the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The accrual was reversed based upon the improved outlook to fully recover our losses from insurance recoveries and from increased rates that we are implementing, subject to refund, in August 2006.

The provision for doubtful accounts decreased \$1.9 million to \$2.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The decrease primarily was attributable to lower revenues than the prior-year quarter coupled with solid customer account collection efforts. In the utility segment, the average cost of natural gas for the three months ended June 30, 2006 was \$7.11 per thousand cubic feet (Mcf), compared with \$7.43 per Mcf for the three months ended June 30, 2005.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment incurred an operating loss of \$2.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared to operating income of \$15.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the three months ended June 30, 2006 increased to \$30.9 million from \$28.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices coupled with a 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our \$300 million unsecured floating rate Senior Notes due 2007

due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were partially offset by \$1.2 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds in June 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at advantageous prices to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of storage activities, which are comprised of the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets and marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin for the three months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 is summarized as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30				
			2005		
	(In t	housands, except	physica	l position)	
Storage Activities					
Realized margin	\$	7,717	\$	(1,777)	
Unrealized margin	************	(21,873)		961	
Total Storage Activities		(14,156)		(816)	
Marketing Activities					
Realized margin		12,691		12,347	
Unrealized margin		<u>579</u>	-	(1,136)	
Total Marketing Activities		13,270		11,211	
Gross profit	\$	(886)	\$	10,395	
Net physical position (Bcf)	-	19.0		14.1	

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was a loss of \$0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared to gross profit of \$10.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended June 30, 2006 included an unrealized loss of \$21.3 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$0.2 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas

marketing sales volumes were 79.9 Bcf during the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared with 62.8 Bcf for the prior-year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 66.5 Bcf during the current-year period compared with 52.7 Bcf in the prior-year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was attributable to successfully executed marketing strategies into new market areas.

Our storage activities incurred a loss of \$14.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared to a loss of \$0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. Our marketing activities generated \$13.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared with \$11.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. Higher unrealized losses primarily were attributable to unfavorable movements in market prices used to value our physical storage. These unrealized losses were offset by higher realized storage activities due to captured spread arbitrage opportunities that were realized during the current-year quarter.

The \$11.3 million decrease in our natural gas marketing gross profit margin was primarily due to unfavorable movements during the three months ended June 30, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory and our fixed-price forward contracts. These results in our storage operations were magnified by a 4.9 Bcf increase in our net physical position at June 30, 2006 compared to the prioryear quarter. We have elected to exclude the forward/spot differential from our hedge effectiveness assessment. Subsequent to the hurricanes, which occurred in the fall of 2005, the forward/spot differential has been volatile and may continue to cause material volatility in our unrealized margin. However, the economic gross profit we have captured in the original transactions will remain essentially unchanged.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$6.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 from \$5.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. The increase in operating expense primarily was attributable to an increase in personnel costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The decrease in gross profit margin, combined with higher operating expenses, resulted in a decrease in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to a loss of \$7.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared with operating income of \$4.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended June 30, 2006 increased to \$1.7 million from \$1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, blending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gasproducing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are believed to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation

requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$35.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 from \$35.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 133.3 Bcf during the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared with 128.5 Bcf for the prior-year quarter. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 104.7 Bcf during the current year quarter compared with 97.6 Bcf in the prior-year quarter. The increase was primarily attributable to higher transportation and related services margins in our Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division partially offset by higher unrealized losses recorded by Atmos Pipeline & Storage, LLC.

Operating expenses increased to \$20.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006 from \$15.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with an increase in headcount, higher medical and dental claims and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. Higher pipeline integrity and facilities costs also contributed to the increased level of operating expenses.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2006 decreased to \$14.9 million from \$19.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have entered into agreements to lease these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the three months ended June 30, 2006 compared with the prior-year quarter.

Nine Months Ended June 30, 2006 compared with Nine Months Ended June 30, 2005

Utility segment

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased \$10.2 million to \$765.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 from \$755.6 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. Total throughput for our utility business was 330.9 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current-year period compared to 351.7 Bcf in the prior-year period.

The increase in utility gross profit, despite lower throughput, primarily reflects higher franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, which are paid by utility customers and have no permanent effect on net income. Additionally, margins increased \$8.3 million due to rate increases received from the Company's fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 GRIP filings and the recognition of \$6.2 million that had been previously deferred in Louisiana following the LPSC's ratification of our agreement in May 2006. These increases were partially offset by an approximate \$4.8 million

decrease in the Louisiana Division due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina compared with the prior-year period. For the nine months ended June 30, 2006, weather was 13 percent warmer than normal, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations and three percent warmer than the prior-year period. In the Mid-Tex and Louisiana Divisions, which did not have weather-normalized rates during the 2005-2006 winter heating season, weather was 28 percent and 22 percent warmer than normal. The impact of the warmer weather resulted in a \$22.1 million reduction in gross profit margin compared with the prior-year period.

Operating expenses increased to \$544.7 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 from \$512.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase reflects a \$17.1 million increase in taxes, primarily related to franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, both of which are calculated as a percentage of revenue, and are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are included as a component of revenue in accordance with our tariffs, timing differences between when these amounts are billed to our customers and when we recognize the associated expense may affect net income favorably or unfavorably on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

Operation and maintenance expense, excluding the provision for bad debt, increased \$8.4 million primarily due to higher employee costs associated with increased headcount to fill positions that were previously outsourced to a third party, higher medical and dental claims and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. Increased line locate and facilities costs also contributed to the overall increase. These increases were partially offset by a reduction in third-party costs for outsourced administrative and meter reading functions that were in-sourced during fiscal 2006. Operation and maintenance expense for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 was also favorably impacted by the absence of \$2.1 million of United Cities merger and integration cost amortization, as these costs were fully amortized by December 2004.

The provision for doubtful accounts increased \$4.2 million to \$17.5 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006, compared with \$13.3 million in the prior-year period. The increase was primarily attributable to increased collection risk associated with higher natural gas prices. In the utility segment, the average cost of natural gas for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 was \$10.39 per Mcf, compared with \$7.20 per Mcf for the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Additionally, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Mississippi Public Service Commission, in connection with the modification of our rate design described below under Recent Ratemaking Activity, decided to allow \$2.8 million of deferred costs, which it had originally disallowed in its September 2004 decision. This ruling decreased our depreciation expense during the nine months ended June 30, 2006. This decrease was offset by increased depreciation expense associated with the placement of various capital projects into service during the fiscal vear.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 decreased to \$221.1 million from \$243.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 increased to \$92.8 million from \$83.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices coupled with a 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our \$300 million unsecured floating rate Senior Notes due 2007 due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were partially offset by \$3.6 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds in June 2005.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 remained essentially unchanged at \$6.0 million compared to \$6.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. However, during the fiscal 2006 second quarter, we recorded a \$3.3 million charge associated with an adverse ruling in Tennessee related to the calculation of a performance-based rate mechanism associated with gas purchases. This charge was offset by increased interest

income associated with intercompany borrowings to our natural gas marketing segment to fund its working capital needs.

Natural gas marketing segment

Operating income

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 is summarized as follows:

		Nine Months Ended June 30			
	2006	2005			
	(In thousands, exce	pt physical position)			
Storage Activities					
Realized margin	\$ 44,600	\$ 15,482			
Unrealized margin	(42,924)	(7,065)			
Total Storage Activities	1,676	8,417			
Marketing Activities					
Realized margin	63,263	43,182			
Unrealized margin	4,471	(3,200)			
Total Marketing Activities	67,734	39,982			
Gross profit	\$ 69,410	<u>\$ 48,399</u>			
Net physical position (Bcf)	19.0	<u>14.1</u>			

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$69.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared to gross profit of \$48.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 included an unrealized loss of \$38.5 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$10.3 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 250.1 Bcf during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with 203.8 Bcf for the prior-year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 207.4 Bcf during the current-year period compared with 179.7 Bcf in the prior-year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin opportunities partially offset by warmer-than-normal weather across our market areas.

Our storage activities generated \$1.7 million in gross profit margin for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared to \$8.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. Increased realized margins in our storage operations were primarily due to our ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads that arose from increased market volatility. These increases were offset by an increase in the unrealized loss associated with these operations due to an unfavorable movement during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory and our fixed-price forward contracts. These results were magnified by a 4.9 Bcf increase in our net physical position at June 30, 2006 compared to the prior-year period. As noted above, we have elected to exclude this forward/spot differential from our hedge effectiveness assessment. We continually seek opportunities to increase the amount of our storage capacity. To the extent we obtain and utilize new capacity and experience price volatility, the amount of our unrealized storage contribution could increase in future periods.

Our marketing activities generated \$67.7 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with \$40.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. This increase reflects increased realized margins coupled with a favorable unrealized margin variance compared with the prior-year period. The increase in our realized marketing operations was primarily attributable to successfully capturing increased margins in certain market areas that experienced higher market volatility. The favorable unrealized margin variance was primarily due to favorable

movement during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices associated with financial derivatives used in these activities.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$18.2 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 from \$14.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase in operating expense primarily was attributable to an increase in personnel costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The improved gross profit margin partially offset by higher operating expenses resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$51.2 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with operating income of \$34.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the natural gas marketing segment for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 increased to \$6.6 million from \$2.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices.

Pipeline and storage segment

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$120.5 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 from \$113.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 431.2 Bcf during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with 417.4 Bcf for the prior-year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 277.7 Bcf during the current year period compared with 254.5 Bcf in the prior-year period. The increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to higher transportation and related services margins coupled with increased throughput on our Atmos Pipeline-Texas system and Atmos Pipeline & Storage, LLC's ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads in its asset management contracts. These increases were partially offset by the absence of inventory sales of \$3.0 million realized in the prior-year period.

Operating expenses increased to \$57.9 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 from \$51.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with the increase in headcount, increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs and higher facilities costs.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 increased to \$62.6 million from \$62.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Other nonutility segment

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with the prior-year period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for the remainder of fiscal 2006. Additionally, from time to time, we raise funds from the public debt and equity capital markets to fund our liquidity needs.

Capitalization

The following table presents our capitalization as of June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2005:

	June 30, 2006		September 3	, 2005	
	(In thousands, exc				
Short-term debt	\$ 297,087	7.2%	\$ 144,809	3.7%	
Long-term debt	2,184,083	52.7%	2,186,368	55.6%	
Shareholders' equity	<u>1,664,556</u>	40.1%	1,602,422	40.7%	
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$4,145,726	100.0%	\$3,933,599	100.0%	

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 59.9 percent at June 30, 2006, and 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was primarily attributable to an increase in our short-term debt borrowings to fund our working capital needs partially offset by current-year net income. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within two to four years, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, prices for our products and services, demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Period-over-period changes in our operating cash flows primarily are attributable to changes in net income, working capital changes, particularly within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the nine months ended June 30, 2006, we generated operating cash flow of \$223.4 million from operating activities compared with \$387.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. Period over period, our operating cash flow was adversely impacted by significantly higher natural gas prices, which have increased the levels of accounts payable and undercollected deferred gas costs recorded on our balance sheet as of June 30, 2006. However, we are beginning to see the adverse impact of this situation decline somewhat as declines in accounts receivable and natural gas inventories improved operating cash flow by \$79.7 million compared with the prior-year period. Additionally, favorable movements in the market indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities reduced the amount that we were required to deposit in a margin account and therefore favorably affected operating cash flow by \$45.4 million. However, these improvements in cash flow were offset by an unfavorable timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (\$251.4 million) and unfavorable timing differences between when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates (\$54.3 million). Finally, other working capital and other changes increased operating cash flow by \$16.6 million.

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions, our ongoing construction program and improvements to information systems. Our ongoing construction program enables us to provide natural gas distribution services to our existing customer base, to expand our natural gas distribution services into new markets, to enhance the integrity of our pipelines and, more recently, to expand our intrastate pipeline network. In executing our current rate strategy, we are directing discretionary capital spending to

jurisdictions that permit us to earn a return on our investment timely. Currently, our Mid-Tex, Louisiana, Mississippi and West Texas utility divisions and our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division have rate designs that provide the opportunity to include in their rate base approved capital costs on a periodic basis without having to file a rate case.

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2006 are expected to range from \$400 million to \$415 million. For the nine months ended June 30, 2006, we incurred \$322.7 million for capital expenditures compared with \$226.9 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase in capital expenditures primarily reflects increased spending associated with our Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex North Side Loop project and other pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, which were completed during the fiscal 2006 third quarter. Increased capital spending in our Mid-Tex Division for various projects contributed to the increase in our capital expenditures.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the nine months ended June 30, 2006, our financing activities provided \$90.8 million in cash compared with \$1.6 billion provided in the prior-year period. Our significant financing activities for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 are summarized as follows. The adoption of SFAS 123(R) did not materially affect our cash flows from financing activities.

- In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million shares of common stock, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382 million. Additionally, we issued \$1.39 billion of senior unsecured debt under our shelf registration statement. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline — Texas divisions and settle Treasury lock agreements, into which we entered to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with \$875 million of the \$1.39 billion long-term debt we issued in October 2004 to fund the acquisition.
- During the nine months ended June 30, 2006 we increased our borrowings under our credit facilities by \$152.3 million. All amounts borrowed under our credit facilities were repaid during the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase reflects borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and other working capital needs.
- · We repaid \$2.6 million of long-term debt during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 compared with \$102.8 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The prior-year payments reflect the repayment of \$72.5 million on our First Mortgage Bonds and a \$25.0 million make-whole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements.
- During the nine months ended June 30, 2006 we paid \$76.6 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$74 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. The increase in dividends paid over the prioryear period reflects the increase in our dividend rate from \$0.930 per share during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 to \$0.945 per share during the nine months ended June 30, 2006 combined with new share issuances under our various plans.

Nine Months Ended

Table of Contents

• During the nine months ended June 30, 2006 we issued 0.7 million shares of common stock which generated net proceeds of \$17.7 million. In addition, we granted 0.3 million shares of common stock under our Long-Term Incentive Plan. The following table summarizes the issuances for the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005.

	June 30		
	2006	2005	
Shares issued:			
Retirement Savings Plan	344,573	338,520	
Direct Stock Purchase Plan	302,501	353,512	
Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan	1,865	1,769	
Long-Term Incentive Plan	349,509	655,684	
Long-Term Stock Plan for Mid-States Division	300		
Public Offering		16,100,000	
Total shares issued	998,748	17,449,485	

Shelf Registration

In August 2004, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective on September 15, 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares and issued \$1.4 billion in unsecured senior notes to partially finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline — Texas divisions. After these issuances, we have approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under the registration statement.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the banks. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital have increased substantially as a result of the significant increase in the price of natural gas.

In October 2005, our \$600 million 364-day committed credit facility expired and was replaced with a new \$600 million three-year revolving credit facility that became effective October 18, 2005. In addition, on November 10, 2005, we entered into a new \$300 million 364-day revolving credit facility with substantially the same terms as our \$600 million credit facility.

On November 28, 2005, AEM amended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. On March 31, 2006, AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2007. At June 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this facility.

On April 1, 2006, our \$18 million committed unsecured credit facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At June 30, 2006, there was \$15.2 million outstanding under this facility.

As of June 30, 2006, the amount available to us under our credit facilities, net of outstanding letters of credit, was \$770.6 million. We believe these credit facilities, combined with our operating cash flows will be sufficient to fund our increased working capital needs. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 4 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Fitch

BBB+

F-2

Table of Contents

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

Unsecured senior long-term debt
Commercial paper

BBB
Baa3

P-3

Currently, with respect to our unsecured senior long-term debt, S&P, Moody's and Fitch maintain their stable outlook. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB-, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB-. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of June 30, 2006. Our debt covenants are described in Note 4 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Significant commercial commitments are described in Note 8. There were no significant changes in our contractual obligations and commercial commitments during the nine months ended June 30, 2006.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to reduce our exposure to unusually large winter-period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could experience ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting, resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following tables show the components of the change in the fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing commodity derivative contracts for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005:

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2006			onths Ended 30, 2005
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period	\$12,352	(In thou \$ (3,414)	\$24,367	\$ (5,896)
Contracts realized/settled	(1,099)	(20,923)	163	(7,843)
Fair value of new contracts	(2,577)		(155)	
Other changes in value	(1,045)	(5,460)	1,081	5,684
Fair value of contracts at end of period	<u>\$ 7,631</u>	<u>\$ (29,797)</u>	<u>\$25,456</u>	<u>\$ (8,055)</u>

		ths Ended 0, 2006		oths Ended 30, 2005
	Utility	Natural Gas <u>Marketing</u> (In thou	<u>Utility</u> sands)	Natural Gas Marketing
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period	\$ 93,310	\$ (61,898)	\$ (8,612)	\$ 13,018
Contracts realized/settled	25,799	2,099	(45,234)	(24,377)
Fair value of new contracts	(7,337)	—	(3,009)	—
Other changes in value Fair value of contracts at end of period	(104,141)	30,002	82,311	3,304
	\$ 7,631	\$ (29,797)	\$ 25,456	\$ (8,055)

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at June 30, 2006, is segregated below by time period and fair value source:

	Fair Value of Contracts at June 30, 200				
		Maturity in Y	ears (
				Greater	Total Fair
Source of Fair Value	Less than 1	1-3	4-5	Than 5	Value
		(In	thousand	s)	
Prices actively quoted	\$ (15,365)	\$(8,715)	\$	\$ —	\$(24,080)
Prices provided by other external sources	2,519	(50)			2,469
Prices based on models and other valuation methods	(285)	(270)			<u>(555</u>)
Total Fair Value	<u>\$ (13,131)</u>	<u>\$(9,035)</u>	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$ — </u>	<u>\$(22,166)</u>

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at advantageous prices to lock in a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its mark to market measurement from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change had no material impact to the Company on the date of adoption. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the economic gross profit that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The economic gross profit, combined with the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements in prior periods, provides a measure of the gross profit that could occur in future periods if AEM's optimization efforts are fully successful. The following table presents, by quarter during fiscal 2006, AEM's economic gross profit and its potential gross profit.

Period Ending	Net Physical Position (Bcf)	Gro	onomic ss Profit millions)	Un	ciated Net realized Losses millions)	Gro	stential ss Profit millions)
September 30, 2005	6.9	\$	13.1	\$	(14.8)	\$	27.9
December 31, 2005	12.8	\$	7.1	\$	(38.6)	\$	45.7
March 31, 2006	23.6	\$	30.8	\$	(35.8)	\$	66.6
June 30, 2006	19.0	\$	28.4	\$	(57.7)	\$	86.1

As of June 30, 2006, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the economic gross profit was \$28.4 million. In addition, \$57.7 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of June 30, 2006. Therefore, the potential gross profit was \$86.1 million.

The economic gross profit is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the economic gross profit is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot ensure that the economic gross profit or the potential gross profit calculated as of June 30, 2006 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings could result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

For the nine months ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 our total net periodic pension and other benefits cost was \$37.4 million and \$27.3 million. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during the current-year period compared with the prior-year period primarily reflects changes in assumptions we made during our annual pension plan valuation completed June 30, 2005. The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates were declining, which resulted in a 125 basis point reduction in our discount rate to 5.0 percent. This reduction has the effect of increasing the present value of our plan liabilities and associated expenses. Additionally, we reduced the expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points to 8.5 percent, which also has the effect of increasing our pension and postretirement benefit cost.

During the nine months ended June 30, 2006, we contributed \$2.8 million to the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union Employees. The current year contribution achieved a desired level of funding by satisfying the minimum funding requirements while maximizing the tax deductible contribution for this plan for plan year 2005. We anticipate making no additional contributions to our pension plans for the remainder of fiscal 2006. However, we contributed \$7.9 million to our other postretirement plans, and we expect to contribute a total of approximately \$12 million to these plans during fiscal 2006.

OPERATING STATISTICS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended June 30		Nine Montl June	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
METERS IN SERVICE, end of period				
Residential	2,889,470	2,866,950	2,889,470	2,866,950
Commercial	276,492	275,878	276,492	275,878
Industrial	3,056	3,090	3,056	3,090
Agricultural	8,924	9,822	8,924	9,822
Public-authority and other	8,210	8,172	8,210	8,172
Total meters	3,186,152	3,163,912	3,186,152	3,163,912
INVENTORY STORAGE BALANCE — Bef	46.7	40.0	46.7	40.0
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (1)				
Actual (weighted average)	119	167	2,507	2,580
Percent of normal	69%	97%	87%	89%
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (2)				
Gas sales volumes	10.156	20.520	120 754	140 774
Residential	13,176	20,528	132,754	149,774
Commercial	11,719	15,148	74,691	80,059 23,886
Industrial	4,161	5,995 787	21,224 3,115	913
Agricultural	2,759 838	1,467	7,778	8,445
Public authority and other		······································	239,562	263,077
Total gas sales volumes	32,653 20,725	43,925 30,420	95,329	94,006
Utility transportation volumes	30,735	AAAA MAAAAA		
Total utility throughput	63,388	74,345	334,891	357,083
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (2)				
Gas sales revenues	A 000 164	0.071.152	#1 0 <i>mm</i> (2)	01 <i>575</i> 10 <i>6</i>
Residential	\$ 208,164	\$ 271,153	\$1,875,636	\$1,575,186
Commercial	112,100	141,465 46,932	944,591 237,274	731,762 182,854
Industrial	31,417 18,940	5,830	22,576	7,092
Agricultural	8,094	13,160	95,305	75,332
Public-authority and other				2,572,226
Total utility gas sales revenues	378,715 13,662	478,540 14,095	3,175,382 48,721	47,839
Transportation revenues	9,667	9,100	30,571	30,728
Other gas revenues				\$2,650,793
Total utility operating revenues	\$ 402,044	\$ 501,735	\$3,254,674	
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.44	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.51	\$ 0.51
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$ 7.11	\$ 7.43	\$ 10.39	\$ 7.20

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended June 30			ths Ended e 30
	2006	2005	2006	2005
CUSTOMERS, end of period				
Industrial	679	659	679	659
Municipal	73	79	73	79
Other	444	431	444	431
Total	1,196	1,169	1,196	1,169
INVENTORY STORAGE BALANCE — Bcf				
Natural gas marketing	20.1	15.2	20.1	15.2
Pipeline and storage	2.5	2.8	2.5	2.8
Total	22.6	18.0	22.6	18.0
NATURAL GAS MARKETING SALES VOLUMES —				-
MMcf (2)	79,850	62,798	250,056	203,770
PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION VOLUMES — MMcf (2)	133,306	128,453	431,185	417,370
OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (2)				
Natural gas marketing	\$562,447	\$466,835	\$2,482,921	\$1,473,527
Pipeline and storage	35,862	33,449	121,057	122,685
Other nonutility	1,413	1,421	4,500	4,058
Total operating revenues	\$599,722	<u>\$501,705</u>	\$2,608,478	<u>\$1,600,270</u>

Notes to preceding tables:

Recent Ratemaking Activity

Our ratemaking activities during fiscal 2006 are described in the following discussion. The amounts described below represent the gross revenues that were requested or received in the rate filing, which may not necessarily reflect the increase in operating income obtained, as certain operating costs may have increased as a result of a commission's final ruling.

Atmos Pipeline-Texas. In April 2006, Atmos Pipeline-Texas made a filing under Texas' Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include in rate base approximately \$22.1 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.4 million. Atmos Pipeline-Texas subsequently agreed to reduce the capital investment in this filing by approximately \$0.5 million. It is anticipated that this reduction will not materially affect the annual revenues. The Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) approved this filing in July 2006 and these new charges will be included in the monthly customer charge beginning in August 2006.

⁽¹⁾ A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. Degree day information for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2006 and 2005 is adjusted for the Kentucky Division, the Mississippi Division and certain service areas included within the Colorado-Kansas Division, the Mid-States Division and the West Texas Division, which have weathernormalized operations.

⁽²⁾ Sales volumes and revenues reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.

In September 2005, Atmos Pipeline-Texas made a filing under Texas' GRIP to include in rate base approximately \$10.6 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004 which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$1.9 million. The RRC approved this filing in December 2005 and these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in January 2006.

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division. In December 2005, Atmos filed its second annual ad valorem tax surcharge for \$1.6 million. The surcharge is designed to collect Kansas property taxes in excess of the amount included in Atmos' most recent general rate case. We began to bill this surcharge in January 2006.

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint with the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our rates were producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. On February 2, 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss but stated that the Attorney General had not met their burden of proof concerning their complaint. On March 3, 2006, the KPSC set a procedural schedule for the case. The Attorney General is currently conducting discovery. A hearing should be scheduled for early 2007. We believe that the Attorney General will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

In February 2006, the KPSC approved the Company's request to continue its Performance Based Ratemaking (PBR) mechanism for an additional five year period. The PBR establishes predetermined gas cost benchmarks and provides incentives to the Company for purchasing gas supply below those benchmark costs. This mechanism has produced more than \$20 million in gas cost savings since its inception in July 1998, with the Kentucky Division retaining over \$8 million during that period. Atmos has filed for KPSC approval of a proposed supply agreement, which resulted from a request for proposal to prospective suppliers.

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase in its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our Rate Stabilization Clause (RSC) filing in 2004 and was subject to refund, pending the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase was subject to refund, we did not recognize this rate increase in our results of operations during fiscal 2005 or 2006.

In September 2005, the Louisiana Public Service Commission (LPSC) consolidated several then-existing dockets. These dockets included a separate proceeding for the renewal of the RSC for each of the LGS and TransLa Gas service areas; resolution of the outstanding 2003 RSC filing for the LGS service area; and our request for approval of a decoupling mechanism to stabilize margins in both the LGS and TransLa service areas.

A proposed settlement was filed with the LPSC in May 2006. The settlement provided for, among other things, a modified WNA which provides for partial decoupling, renewal of the RSC for both the LGS and TransLa service areas with provisions that will reduce regulatory lag and a refund to customers of approximately \$0.4 million for the LGS service areas that had been previously deferred.

On May 25, 2006, the LPSC voted to approve the settlement. The first RSC filing to result will be in August 2006, based on a test year ended December 31, 2005, for the LGS service area. The effective date for any rate adjustment resulting from that filing will be August 12, 2006. The first filing for the TransLa service area will be made by December 31, 2006, for the test period ending September 30, 2006, with an effective rate adjustment of April 1, 2007. WNA for both service areas will be in effect for an initial three-year period beginning with the winter of 2006-2007. In the third quarter of fiscal 2006, \$6.2 million in deferred revenue associated with the 2003 RSC rate adjustment was recognized.

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Atmos filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4 million. In December 2005, the Georgia Public Service Commission (GPSC) approved a \$0.4 million increase. In January 2006, we filed an appeal of the GPSC's decision in the Superior Court of Fulton County. Oral arguments are scheduled for September 7, 2006 before the Fulton County Superior Court.

On April 7, 2006, Atmos filed a rate case in its Missouri service area seeking a rate increase of \$3.4 million. The Company is proposing to consolidate the rates for its Missouri properties into three sets of regional rates and consolidate the current purchased gas adjustment (PGA) into one statewide PGA. The Company is also proposing a

WNA mechanism. An evidentiary hearing is scheduled to begin on November 27, 2006, with an order expected to be issued February 22, 2007.

In March 2006, we received notification from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) that it disagreed with the way we calculated amounts under its performance-based rate mechanism, which resulted in a \$3.3 million charge during the second quarter of fiscal 2006. We believe the original calculations were correct, and we will appeal the TRA's decision.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the TRA that it was opening an investigation into allegations by the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division of the Tennessee Attorney General's Office that we are overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10 million per year. We have responded to numerous data requests from the TRA Staff. On April 24, 2006, the TRA Staff filed a Report and Recommendation in which it recommended that the TRA convene a contested case procedure for the purpose of establishing a fair and reasonable return. The TRA convened to consider the Staff's recommendation on May 15, 2006 and set a procedural schedule. All parties filed direct testimony on July 17, 2006, with rebuttal testimony due August 18, 2006. A hearing is scheduled for August 29, 2006. We believe that the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. In May 2006, the Mid-Tex Division filed a Statement of Intent seeking incremental annual revenues of \$60 million and several rate design changes including WNA, revenue stabilization, and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt. The Statement of Intent consolidated "show cause" resolutions that had been filed in approximately 80 cities served by the Mid-Tex Division, including the City of Dallas, which requires the Mid-Tex Division to demonstrate that existing distribution rates are just and reasonable.

In July 2006, the Mid-Tex Division and the RRC agreed to implement WNA on both an interim and permanent basis, effective October 1, 2006. The agreement provided that the interim WNA will use 30 years of weather history, while the permanent WNA will allow the parties to contest the appropriate period of weather data to use in calculating normal weather. The permanent WNA will also be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the RRC ultimately approves in the case, which is anticipated no later than the first quarter of calendar 2007. Any rate increase will be effective prospectively from the date of the final order; however, any rate decrease will be effective from May 31, 2006.

In March 2006, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$63.6 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005 which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$12.1 million. The Mid-Tex Division subsequently agreed to reduce the capital investment in this filing by approximately \$1.5 million. It is anticipated that this reduction will not materially affect the annual revenues. The implementation date of this filing has been delayed until September 1, 2006 because of delays related to municipal appeals.

In September 2005, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$29.4 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$6.7 million. The RRC approved this filing in January 2006, and these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in February 2006.

On September 1, 2005, the Mid-Tex Division filed its annual gas cost reconciliation with the RRC. The filing reflects approximately \$14 million in refunds of amounts that were overcollected from customers between July 1, 2004 and June 30, 2005. The Mid-Tex Division refunded substantially all of the overcollected amounts to customers between December 2005 and March 2006 to help offset higher gas costs for residential, commercial and industrial customers.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the RRC. This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the RRC in June 2005. A Proposal for Decision has been issued recommending a disallowance. Exceptions and Replies to Exceptions have been filed. The case is currently scheduled for presentation to the RRC on August 8, 2006, but a decision is not expected until August 22, 2006. Additionally, all parties are currently conducting settlement negotiations.

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Through the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effective in the following July and January.

Effective October 1, 2005, our rate design was modified to substitute the original agreed-upon benchmark with a sharing mechanism to allow the sharing of cost savings above an allowed return on equity level. Further, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual filing process. Additionally, our WNA period now begins on November 1 instead of November 15, and will end on April 30 instead of May 15. Also, we now have a fixed monthly customer base charge which makes a portion of our earnings less susceptible to variations in usage. We will make our first annual filing under this new structure in September 2006.

In September 2004, the MPSC originally disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. In connection with the modification of our rate design described above, the MPSC decided to allow these costs, and we included these costs in our rates in October 2005.

On June 30, 2006, the MPSC approved a pilot program whereby Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline (TLGP) will provide asset management services to the Mississippi Division. The asset management pilot allows TLGP to market certain off-peak gas supply assets, such as company-owned or leased storage and pipeline capacity, on a recallable basis. In exchange for this TLGP will share net positive benefits of the asset management program with Mississippi ratepayers. The pilot program runs from June 1, 2006 to April 30, 2007 and may be extended by the MPSC upon application by Atmos.

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. In September 2005, Atmos made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$22.6 million of distribution capital costs incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.8 million. The filings were approved for all jurisdictions except for the inside city limits customers in the West Texas service area, who rejected the filings. We filed an appeal of such matters with the RRC, which appeal was granted by the RRC in March 2006. New charges for the approved filings were included in the monthly customer charge beginning May 1, 2006. Atmos expects to make its 2005 GRIP filing for the West Texas Division in September 2006.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. The requested information was provided to the city on February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

In May 2006, Atmos began receiving "show cause" ordinances from several of the cities in the West Texas Division. The ordinances request a filing to be made no later than September 15, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the West Texas cities that our rates are just and reasonable.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business activities.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are

described in further detail in Note 3 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our nonregulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price nonregulated sales. Based on projected nonregulated gas sales for the remainder of fiscal 2006, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices, based upon the June 30, 2006 three-month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$1.8 million for the remainder of fiscal 2006.

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at the end of each period. Because AEH had no net open positions (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at June 30, 2006, a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have no impact on our consolidated net income.

However, changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our net physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) can result in volatility in our reported net income; but, over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges. Based upon our net physical position at June 30, 2006 and assuming our hedges would still qualify as highly effective, a \$0.50 change in the difference between the Gas Daily and NYMEX indices could impact our reported net income by approximately \$6.5 million.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$3.7 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2006.

We also assess market risk for our fixed and floating rate long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$128.6 million.

As of June 30, 2006 we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As indicated in the certifications in Exhibit 31 of this report, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2006. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that material information required to be disclosed in this quarterly report is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In addition, there were no changes during the Company's last fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the nine months ended June 30, 2006, there were no material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental-related matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. We continue to believe that the final outcome of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Item 6. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibits Index, which immediately precedes such exhibits.

56

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Atmos Energy Corporation (Registrant) /s/ JOHN P. REDDY By: John P. Reddy Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Duly authorized signatory) Date: August 9, 2006 57

EXHIBITS INDEX Item 6(a)

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number
12	Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges	
15	Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information	
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
32	Section 1350 Certifications*	

These certifications, which were made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, will not be deemed to be filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference.

Atmos Energy Corporation Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges June 30, 2006

	Three Months Ended June 30		Nine Months Ended June 30	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes per statement of income Add:	\$(30,178)	\$ 7,303	\$226,680	\$243,886
Portion of rents representative of the interest factor	1,485	1,040	4,350	3,236
Interest on debt & amortization of debt expense	35,944	33,689	107,625	99,304
Income as adjusted	\$ 7,251	\$42,032	\$338,655	\$346,426
Fixed charges:				
Interest on debt & amortization of debt expense (1)	\$ 35,944	\$33,689	\$107,625	\$ 99,304
Capitalized interest (2)	1,201	563	2,984	1,914
Rents	4,456	3,120	13,049	9,707
Portion of rents representative of the interest factor (3)	1,485	1,040	4,350	3,236
Fixed charges (1)+(2)+(3)	\$ 38,630	\$35,292	\$114,959	\$104,454
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	0.19	1.19	2.95	3.32

Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We are aware of the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-3, No. 33-37869; Form S-3 D/A, No. 33-70212; Form S-3, No. 33-58220; Form S-3, No. 33-56915; Form S-3/A, No. 333-03339; Form S-3/A, No. 333-32475; Form S-3/A, No. 333-50477; Form S-3/A, No. 333-93705; Form S-3, No. 333-95525; Form S-3, No. 333-75576; Form S-3D, No. 333-113603; Form S-3, No. 333-118706; Form S-4, No. 333-13429; Form S-8, No. 33-68852; Form S-8, No. 33-57687; Form S-8, No. 33-57695; Form S-8, No. 333-32343; Form S-8, No. 333-73143; Form S-8, No. 333-73145; Form S-8, No. 333-63738; Form S-8, No. 333-88832; and Form S-8, No. 333-116367) of Atmos Energy Corporation and in the related Prospectuses of our report dated August 7, 2006, relating to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation, which are included in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas August 7, 2006

RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATIONS

I, Robert W. Best, certify that:

- I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Atmos Energy Corporation;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 2. make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 3. respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 4. defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:
 - Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provided reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's (d) most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or in reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which (a) are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's (b) internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2006

/s/ ROBERT W. BEST

Robert W. Best

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

I, John P. Reddy, certify that:

- 1 I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Atmos Energy Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provided reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2006

/s/ JOHN P. REDDY

John P. Reddy

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Atmos Energy Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Robert W. Best, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 9, 2006
/s/ ROBERT W. BEST
Robert W. Best
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Atmos Energy Corporation and will be retained by Atmos Energy Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Atmos Energy Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, John P. Reddy, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 9, 2006

/s/ JOHN P. REDDY John P. Reddy Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Atmos Energy Corporation and will be retained by Atmos Energy Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)		
Ø	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	
	For the quarterly period ended March 3	
or TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from to		
	Commission F	ile Number 1-10042
	Atmos Energ	gy Corporation ant as specified in its charter)
	Texas and Virginia	75-1743247
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	(IRS employer identification no.)
	Three Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 6430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas (Address of principal executive offices)	75240 (Zip code)
		934-9227 number, including area code)
of the Securi	ties Exchange Act of 1934 during the preced	is filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) ding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant of the such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes
Indicate filer. See def	inition of "Accelerated filer and large accele	arge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated erated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one): rated filer Non-accelerated filer
Indicate Act). Yes C		nell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Number	of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's	s classes of common stock, as of April 28, 2006.
	Class	Shares Outstanding
No Par Value		81,151,592

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Item 6. Exhibits

SIGNATURES

EXHIBITS INDEX

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Letter Regarding Unaudited Interim Financial Information

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

AEH	Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc.
AEM	Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC
AES	Atmos Energy Services, LLC
APB	Accounting Principles Board
APS	Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC
Bcf	Billion cubic feet
FASB	Financial Accounting Standards Board
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
FIN	FASB Interpretation
Fitch	Fitch Ratings, Ltd.
GPSC	Georgia Public Service Commission
GRIP	Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program
KPSC	Kentucky Public Service Commission
LGS	Louisiana Gas Service Company and LGS Natural Gas Company,
	which were acquired July 1, 2001
LPSC	Louisiana Public Service Commission
Mcf	Thousand cubic feet
MMcf	Million cubic feet
Moody's	Moody's Investors Services, Inc.
MPSC	Mississippi Public Service Commission
NYMEX	New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc.
RRC	Railroad Commission of Texas
RSC	Rate Stabilization Clause
S&P	Standard & Poor's Corporation
SEC	United States Securities and Exchange Commission
SFAS	Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
TRA	Tennessee Regulatory Authority
TXU Gas	TXU Gas Company, which was acquired on October 1, 2004
WNA	Weather Normalization Adjustment
	-

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	March 31, 2006 (Unaudited)	September 30, 2005
		e data)
ASSETS		
Property, plant and equipment	\$4,943,329	\$ 4,765,610
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	1,432,287	1,391,243
Net property, plant and equipment	3,511,042	3,374,367
Current assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	48,899	40,116
Cash held on deposit in margin account	13,537	80,956
Accounts receivable, net	793,019	454,313
Gas stored underground	440,946	450,807
Other current assets	195,412	238,238
Total current assets	1,491,813	1,264,430
Goodwill and intangible assets	737,495	737,787
Deferred charges and other assets	256,701	276,943
	<u>\$5,997,051</u>	\$ 5,653,527
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES		
Shareholders' equity		
Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share); 200,000,000 shares		
authorized; issued and outstanding:		
March 31, 2006 — 81,077,197 shares;		
September 30, 2005 — 80,539,401 shares	\$ 405	\$ 403
Additional paid-in capital	1,447,734	1,426,523
Retained earnings	287,727	178,837
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(29,575)	(3,341)
Shareholders' equity	1,706,291	1,602,422
Long-term debt	2,181,120	2,183,104
Total capitalization	3,887,411	3,785,526
Current liabilities	-00444	161.01.4
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	708,134	461,314
Other current liabilities	380,026	503,368
Short-term debt	262,315	144,809
Current maturities of long-term debt	3,308	3,264
Total current liabilities	1,353,783	1,112,755
Deferred income taxes	287,841	292,207
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	275,209	263,424
Deferred credits and other liabilities	192,807	199,615
	\$5,997,051	\$ 5,653,527

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

		Three Months Ended March 31	
	2006	2005	
	(Unauc (In thousan per shar	ds, except	
Operating revenues			
Utility segment	\$1,447,620	\$1,235,377	
Natural gas marketing segment	818,629	512,891	
Pipeline and storage segment	45,483	45,546	
Other nonutility segment	1,595	1,278	
Intersegment eliminations	(279,481)	(110,007)	
	2,033,846	1,685,085	
Purchased gas cost	1 121 005	012 200	
Utility segment	1,131,885	912,309	
Natural gas marketing segment	774,652 211	501,731 4,407	
Pipeline and storage segment	211	4,407	
Other nonutility segment	(278,305)	(109,256)	
Intersegment eliminations			
_	1,628,443	1,309,191	
Gross profit	405,403	375,894	
Operating expenses	112 600	103,420	
Operation and maintenance	112,698 47,076	45,326	
Depreciation and amortization	64,796	54,967	
Taxes, other than income		203,713	
Total operating expenses	224,570	·	
Operating income	180,833	172,181	
Miscellaneous (expense) income	(2,439)	958 33.073	
Interest charges	35,492	33,073	
Income before income taxes	142,902	140,066	
Income tax expense	54,106	51,564	
Net income	<u>\$ 88,796</u>	\$ 88,502	
Basic net income per share	<u>\$ 1.10</u>	\$ 1.12	
Diluted net income per share	<u>\$ 1.10</u>	<u>\$ 1.11</u>	
Cash dividends per share	<u>\$ 0.315</u>	\$ 0.310	
Weighted average shares outstanding:			
Basic	80,573	<u>79,270</u>	
Diluted	81,040	79,760	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

		Six Months Ended March 31	
	2006	2005	
	(Unau (In thousar per shai	nds, except	
Operating revenues			
Utility segment	\$2,852,630	\$2,149,058	
Natural gas marketing segment	1,920,474	1,006,692	
Pipeline and storage segment	85,195	89,236	
Other nonutility segment	3,087	2,637	
Intersegment eliminations	(543,720)	(193,914)	
	4,317,666	3,053,709	
Purchased gas cost	0.054.514	1 560 650	
Utility segment	2,256,714	1,568,679	
Natural gas marketing segment	1,850,178	968,688	
Pipeline and storage segment	211	10,628	
Other nonutility segment	(541 420)	(102 292)	
Intersegment eliminations	(541,430)	(192,283)	
	3,565,673	2,355,712	
Gross profit	751,993	697,997	
Operating expenses	220.015	014107	
Operation and maintenance	220,915	214,197	
Depreciation and amortization	90,336	89,323	
Taxes, other than income	110,212	93,622	
Total operating expenses	421,463	397,142	
Operating income	330,530	300,855	
Miscellaneous (expense) income	(1,991)	1,343	
Interest charges	71,681	65,615	
Income before income taxes	256,858	236,583	
Income tax expense	97,035	88,482	
Net income	<u>\$ 159,823</u>	\$ 148,101	
Basic net income per share	\$ 1.99	\$ 1.92	
Diluted net income per share	<u>\$ 1.98</u>	\$ 1.90	
Cash dividends per share	\$ 0.63	\$ 0.62	
Weighted average shares outstanding:			
Basic	80,444	77,290	
Diluted	80,911	77,769	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	Six Months Ended March 31		
	2006	2005	
	(Unaudited) (In thousands)		
Cash Flows From Operating Activities			
Net income	\$ 159,823	\$ 148,101	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and amortization:			
Charged to depreciation and amortization	90,336	89,323	
Charged to other accounts	334	477	
Deferred income taxes	58,199	42,605	
Other	7,587	3,315	
Net assets/liabilities from risk management activities	(24,041)	20,247	
Net change in operating assets and liabilities	(143,847)	96,025	
Net cash provided by operating activities	148,391	400,093	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities	,		
Capital expenditures	(213,230)	(137,466)	
Acquisitions		(1,912,532)	
Other, net	(2,842)	(1,957)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(216,072)	(2,051,955)	
Cash Flows From Financing Activities	•		
Net increase in short-term debt	117,506		
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt		1,385,847	
Repayment of long-term debt	(2,162)	(3,849)	
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements		(43,770)	
Cash dividends paid	(50,933)	(49,211)	
Issuance of common stock	12,053	26,025	
Net proceeds from equity offering		382,014	
Net cash provided by financing activities	76,464	1,697,056	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	8,783	45,194	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	40,116	201,932	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 48,899	\$ 247,126	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) March 31, 2006

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as other natural gas nonutility businesses. Our natural gas utility business distributes natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

Division	Service Area
Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division	Colorado, Kansas, Missouri (1)
Atmos Energy Kentucky Division	Kentucky
Atmos Energy Louisiana Division	Louisiana
Atmos Energy Mid-States Division	Georgia (1), Illinois (1), Iowa (1), Missouri (1),
	Tennessee, Virginia (1)
Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan
	area
Atmos Energy Mississippi Division	Mississippi
Atmos Energy West Texas Division	West Texas

⁽¹⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

Our nonutility businesses operate in 22 states and include our natural gas marketing operations, pipeline and storage operations and other nonutility operations. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by the Company.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States utility divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage business includes the regulated operations of our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and the nonregulated operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and to third parties, as well as manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES) and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are each wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide these services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct gas-fired electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. Unaudited Interim Financial Information

In the opinion of management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the unaudited consolidated interim-period financial statements. These consolidated interim-period financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. Because of seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 are not indicative of expected results of operations for the full 2006 fiscal year, which ends September 30, 2006.

Basis of Comparison

Certain prior-period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.

Significant accounting policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. Except for the Company's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123 (revised), *Share-Based Payment*, discussed below, there were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the six months ended March 31, 2006.

Additionally, during the second quarter of fiscal 2006, we completed our annual goodwill impairment assessment. Based on the assessment performed, our goodwill was not considered to be impaired.

Stock-based compensation plans

Our 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to officers and key employees. Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire our common stock.

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123(R)). This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123(R), the Company is required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 included: (i) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123; and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. The impact of adoption on total stock-based compensation expense included in our statement of income for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 was \$0.3 million and \$0.4 million and was recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense. In accordance with the modified prospective method, financial results for prior periods have not been restated.

Prior to October 1, 2005, we accounted for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in APB Opinion 25, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options was recognized

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock were valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation was amortized as a component of operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock.

Total stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 was \$0.8 million and \$2.2 million as compared to \$0.7 million and \$1.5 million for the three and six months ended March 31, 2005. Had compensation expense for our stock-based awards been recognized as prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the three and six months ended March 31, 2005 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2005		Six Months Ended March 31, 2005	
	(In thousands, except per share data)			are data)
Net income — as reported	\$	88,502	\$	148,101
Restricted stock compensation expense included in income, net of tax		469		962
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under				
fair-value- based method for all awards, net of taxes		(684)		(1,427)
Net income — pro forma	\$	88,287	\$	147,636
Earnings per share:				
Basic earnings per share — as reported	\$	1.12	\$	1.92
Basic earnings per share — pro forma	\$	1.11	\$	1.91
Diluted earnings per share — as reported	\$	1.11	\$	1.90
Diluted earnings per share — pro forma	\$	1.11	\$	1.90

Regulatory assets and liabilities

We record certain costs as regulatory assets in accordance with SFAS 71, *Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation*, when future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Substantially all of our regulatory assets are recorded as a component of deferred charges and substantially all of our regulatory liabilities are recorded as a component of deferred credits and other liabilities. Deferred gas costs are recorded either in other current assets or liabilities and the regulatory cost of removal obligation is separately reported.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005 included the following:

	March 31, 2006	September 30, 2005
	(In th	ousands)
Regulatory assets:		
Merger and integration costs, net	\$ 8,980	\$ 9,150
Deferred gas cost	108,130	38,173
Environmental costs	1,268	1,357
Rate case costs	9,256	11,314
Deferred franchise fees	142	6,710
Other	9,019	9,313
	<u>\$136,795</u>	<u>\$ 76,017</u>
Regulatory liabilities:		
Deferred gas costs	\$ 29,258	\$ 134,048
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	286,894	274,989
Deferred income taxes, net	3,185	3,185
Other	7,075	8,084
	\$326,412	\$ 420,306

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on certain of our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. Environmental costs have been deferred to be included in future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Comprehensive income

The following table presents the components of comprehensive income, net of related tax, for the three and sixmonth periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:

	Three Months Ended March 31		Six Mont Marc	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
		(In thousands)		
Net income	\$88,796	\$ 88,502	\$159,823	\$148,101
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net of tax expense of \$294 and \$80 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 and of \$542 and \$729 for the six months ended March 31,				
2006 and 2005	479	132	884	1,189
Amortization and unrealized losses on interest rate hedging transactions, net of tax expense (benefit) of \$527 and \$527 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 and \$1,055 and \$(2,718) for the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005	861	861	1,721	(4,435)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on commodity hedging transactions, net of tax expense (benefit) of \$(2,927) and \$7,915 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 and \$(17,676) and \$3 for			•	
the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005	(4,776)	12,913	(28,839)	5
Comprehensive income	\$85,360	\$102,408	\$133,589	\$144,860

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

	March 31, <u>2006</u> (In th	 2005 ads)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:		
Unrealized holding gains on investments	\$ 1,568	\$ 684
Treasury lock agreements	(22,261)	(23,982)
Cash flow hedges	(8,882)	19,957
-	<u>\$(29,575)</u>	\$ (3,341)

Recent accounting pronouncements

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47), which clarifies that an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when the obligation is incurred — generally upon acquisition, construction or development and/or through the normal operation of the asset, if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. A conditional asset retirement obligation is a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. Uncertainty about the timing and/or method of settlement is required to be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)

obligation. We will be required to apply the provisions of FIN 47 by September 30, 2006. We are currently evaluating the impact that FIN 47 may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments , which amends SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities and SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 155 (a) permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, (b) clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS 133, (c) establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, (d) clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives and (e) amends SFAS 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument. SFAS 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued by us after October 1, 2006 and is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 156, Accounting for Servicing Financial Assets, which amends SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 156 (a) revises guidance on when a servicing asset and servicing liability should be recognized, (b) requires all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities to be initially measured at fair value, if practicable, (c) permits an entity to choose to measure servicing assets and servicing liabilities under the amortization method or fair value measurement method, (d) at initial adoption, permits a one-time reclassification of available-for-sale securities to trading securities for securities which are identified as offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value of servicing assets or liabilities that the servicer elects to subsequently measure at fair value and (e) requires separate presentation of servicing assets and servicing liabilities subsequently measured at fair value in the statement of financial position and additional footnote disclosure. We will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 156 beginning October 1, 2006 but such application is not expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

3. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its mark to market measurement from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change did not have a material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005:

	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing (In thousands)	Total
March 31, 2006:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$13,419	\$ 15,977	\$ 29,396
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent			***************************************
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(1,067)	(17,530)	(18,597)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		(1,861)	(1,861)
Net assets (liabilities)	<u>\$12,352</u>	<u>\$ (3,414)</u>	\$ 8,938
September 30, 2005:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$93,310	\$ 14,603	\$107,913
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent		735	<i>7</i> 3 <i>5</i>
Liabilities from risk management activities, current		(61,920)	(61,920)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		(15,316)	(15,316)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$93,310	<u>\$ (61,898</u>)	<u>\$ 31,412</u>

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. Because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment ultimately will be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. Our utility hedging activities also include the cost of our Treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

Nonutility Hedging Activities

AEM manages its exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our financial derivative activities include fair value hedges to offset changes in the fair value of our natural gas inventory and cash flow hedges to offset anticipated purchases and sales of gas in the future. AEM also utilizes basis swaps and other non-hedge derivative instruments to manage its exposure to market volatility.

For the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive loss was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts, and the recognition for the six months ended March 31, 2006 of \$8.2 million in net deferred hedging gains (\$7.1 million in net deferred hedging losses during the three months ended March 31, 2006) in net income when the derivative contracts matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging loss associated with open cash flow hedges remains subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging balance as of March 31, 2006 is expected to be recognized in net income in fiscal 2006 along with the corresponding hedged purchases and sales of natural gas.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We may also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. At the close of business on March 31, 2006, AEH had a net open position (including existing storage) of 0.3 Bcf.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt in October 2004. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This payment was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a period of five to ten years. During the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006, we recognized approximately \$1.4 million and \$2.8 million of this amount as a component of interest expense.

4. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005 consisted of the following:

	March 31, 2006	September 30, 2005	
	(In thousands)		
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due October 2007	\$ 300,000	\$ 300,000	
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000	400,000	
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000	350,000	
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303	2,303	
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000	250,000	
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000	500,000	
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000	200,000	
Medium term notes			
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000	10,000	
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000	10,000	
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000	150,000	
First Mortgage Bonds			
Series P, 10.43% due 2013	8,750	10,000	
Other term notes due in installments through 2013	6,927	7,839	
Total long-term debt	2,187,980	2,190,142	
Less:			
Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures	(3,552)	(3,774)	
Current maturities	(3,308)	(3,264)	
	\$2,181,120	<u>\$ 2,183,104</u>	

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (Continued)

Our unsecured floating rate debt bears interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At March 31, 2006, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 4.975 percent.

Short-term debt

At March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005, there was \$262.3 million and \$144.8 million outstanding under our commercial paper program and bank credit facilities.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the banks. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

Committed credit facilities

As of March 31, 2006, we had three short-term committed revolving credit facilities totaling \$918 million. The first facility is a three-year unsecured facility, expiring October 2008, for \$600 million that bears interest at a base rate or at the LIBOR rate plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings, and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600 million commercial paper program. At March 31, 2006, there was \$262.3 million outstanding under our commercial paper program.

We have a second unsecured facility in place which is a 364-day facility expiring November 2006, for \$300 million that bears interest at a base rate or the LIBOR rate plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings. At March 31, 2006, there were no borrowings under this facility.

We have a third unsecured facility in place for \$18 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired on March 31, 2006 and was renewed effective April 1, 2006 for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. There were no borrowings outstanding under this facility at March 31, 2006.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently meet. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in both our \$600 million three-year credit facility and \$300 million 364-day credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At March 31, 2006, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 62 percent. In addition, the fees that we pay on unused amounts under both the \$600 million and \$300 million credit facilities are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings.

Uncommitted credit facilities

On November 28, 2005, AEM amended its \$250 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. On March 31, 2006, AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2007.

Borrowings under the credit facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50 percent per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.25 percent. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

1.25 percent to 1.625 percent per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above, plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.00 percent to 1.875 percent per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$120 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$121 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding \$4 million to \$23 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At March 31, 2006, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.21 to 1.

At March 31, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. However, at March 31, 2006, AEM letters of credit totaling \$151.8 million had been issued under the facility, which reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$174.2 million at March 31, 2006. This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH.

The Company also has an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25 million that is used for working-capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at March 31, 2006, but letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.5 million. This uncommitted line is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line. Borrowings under this line are made on a when-and-as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

AEH, the parent company of AEM, has a \$100 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with the Company which bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. This facility has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2006. At March 31, 2006, \$65.1 million was outstanding under this facility.

In addition, AEM has a \$120 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$580 million uncommitted demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$580 million credit facility. At March 31, 2006, \$62 million was outstanding under this facility.

Debt Covenants

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, after November 2007, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985 plus \$9 million. At March 31, 2006 approximately \$266.8 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of March 31, 2006. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600 million and \$300 million revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other

Six Months Ended

Table of Contents

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity, based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

5. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

On August 12, 1998, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which became effective October 1, 1998 after approval by our shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan is a comprehensive, long-term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to certain employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock. We are authorized to grant awards for up to a maximum of four million shares of common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions. As of March 31, 2006, non-qualified stock options, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units have been issued under this plan and 1,064,624 shares were available for issuance. The option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over a service period ranging from one to three years.

We used the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of each option granted with the following weighted average assumptions:

	March	31
Valuation Assumptions (1)	2006	2005
Expected Life (years) (2)	7	7
Interest rate (3)	4.6%	4.2%
Volatility (4)	20.3%	21.3%
Dividend yield	4.8%	4.8%

⁽¹⁾ Beginning on the date of adoption of SFAS 123(R), forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience. Prior to the date of adoption, forfeitures were recorded as they occurred.

⁽²⁾ The expected life of stock options is estimated based on historical experience.

⁽³⁾ The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options.

⁽⁴⁾ The volatility is estimated based on historical and current stock data for the Company.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

A summary of option activity as of March 31, 2006, and changes during the six months then ended, is presented below:

	Number of Options	Weighted- Average Exercise Price	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term (In years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (In thousands)
Outstanding at September 30, 2005	964,704	\$ 22.20		
Granted	93,196	26.19		
Exercised	(2,166)	20.18		
Forfeited	(166)	21.23		
Outstanding at March 31, 2006	1,055,568	\$ 22.56	5.9	\$ 3,840
Exercisable at March 31, 2006	1,028,794	\$ 22.48	5.8	\$ 3,741

The stock options had a weighted-average fair value per share on the date of grant of \$3.74 and \$3.69 for the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. There were no stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options during the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 were less than \$0.1 million and \$9.1 million and during the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 were less than \$0.1 and \$8 million. The associated income tax benefit from stock options exercised during the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and \$1 million, and during the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and \$1.5 million, and during the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and \$1.3 million.

As of March 31, 2006, there was less than \$0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Restricted Stock Plans

As noted above, the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for discretionary awards of time-lapse restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units to help attract, retain and reward employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. Certain of these awards vest based upon the passage of time and other awards vest based upon the passage of time and the achievement of specified performance targets. The associated expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period.

A summary of the status of the Company's nonvested restricted shares as of March 31, 2006, and changes during the six months then ended, is presented below:

	Number of Restricted Shares	Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Nonvested at September 30, 2005	592,490	\$ 25.32
Granted	83,941	26.19
Vested	(76,190)	21.33
Forfeited	(1,428)	25.55
Nonvested at March 31, 2006	598,813	\$ 25.95

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

As of March 31, 2006, there was \$8.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares granted under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years. The total fair value of restricted stock vested during the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was \$1.6 million and \$0.5 million, and during the three months ended March 31, 2006 was \$1.2 million. There were no restricted stock grants that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2005.

6. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 are calculated as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended March 31		Six M En	For the C Months Ended Larch 31	
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
	(In ti	iousands, exce	pt per share am		
Net income	<u>\$88,796</u>	\$88,502	<u>\$159,823</u>	<u>\$148,101</u>	
Denominator for basic income per share — weighted average common shares Effect of dilutive securities:	80,573	79,270	80,444	77,290	
Restricted and other shares	369	335	369	330	
Stock options	98	<u>155</u>	98	149	
Denominator for diluted income per share — weighted average common shares	81,040	79,760	80,911	<u>77,769</u>	
Income per share — basic	\$ 1.10	<u>\$ 1.12</u>	\$ 1.99	\$ 1.92	
Income per share — diluted	\$ 1.10	\$ 1.11	\$ 1.98	\$ 1.90	

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 as their exercise price was less than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

7. Interim Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Information

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other postretirement benefit plans for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 are presented in the following tables. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

		Three Months Ended March 31			
	Pens	ion Benefits	Other	Benefits	
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
		(In the	ousands)		
Components of net periodic pension cost:					
Service cost	\$ 4,11	7 \$ 3,136	\$3,271	\$2,478	
Interest cost	5,72	2 6,017	2,210	2,366	
Expected return on assets	(6,40			(518)	
Amortization of transition asset		_ 1	378	378	
Amortization of prior service cost	1	6 (2)	90	96	
Amortization of actuarial loss	3,29		320	151	
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 6,75	\$ 4,158	\$5,722	\$4,951	
	Pension	Six Months End	ed March 31 Other B	constite	
	2006	2005	2006	2005	
	2006	(In thous		2003	
Control de Control de la contr		(211 111043			
Components of net periodic pension cost:	\$ 8,234	\$ 6,272	\$ 6,542	\$ 4,956	
Service cost	- · · · · ·				
Interest cost	11,444				
Expected return on assets	(12,800)	(13,770)	(1,094)	(1,036)	
Amortization of transition asset		2	756	756	
Amortization of prior service cost	32	(4)	180	192	
Amortization of actuarial loss	6,598	3,782	640	302	
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 13,508	<u>\$ 8,316</u>	<u>\$11,444</u>	\$ 9,902	

The assumptions used to develop our net periodic pension cost for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

	Pension B	Pension Benefits		enefits
	2006	2005	2006	2005
Discount rate Rate of compensation increase	5.00% 4.00%	6.25% 4.00%	5.00% 4.00%	6.25% 4.00%
Expected return on plan assets	8.50%	8.75%	5.30%	5.30%

The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. During the six months ended March 31, 2006, we did not make a voluntary contribution to our pension plans. However, we contributed \$5.3 million to our other postretirement plans and we expect to contribute approximately \$12 million to these plans during fiscal 2006.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Environmental Matters

With respect to the specific litigation and environmental-related matters or claims that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005, there were no material changes in the status of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims during the six months ended March 31, 2006. We continue to believe that the final outcome of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

In addition, we are involved in other litigation and environmental-related matters or claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. While the ultimate results of such litigation and response actions to such environmental-related matters or claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and response actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At March 31, 2006, AEM was committed to purchase 64.2 Bcf within one year, 33.1 Bcf within one to three years and 5.4 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 1.6 Bcf within one year and 0.2 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$6.00 to \$12.00. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$531.8 million and \$345.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 and \$1,319.5 million and \$705.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005.

Our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division, maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated fiscal year commitments under these contracts as of March 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

2006	\$136,543
2007	241,031
2008	121,079
2009	12,022
2010	11,263
Thereafter	37,616
	<u>\$559,554</u>

Regulatory Matters

In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint at the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our present rates are producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. On February 2, 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss and on March 3, 2006 set a procedural schedule for the case. The Attorney General is currently conducting discovery. A hearing should be scheduled for early 2007. We believe that the Attorney General will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In August 2005, we received a "show cause" order from the City of Dallas, which requires us to provide information that demonstrates good cause for showing that our existing distribution rates charged to customers in the City of Dallas should not be reduced. In addition, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, approximately 80 other cities in the Mid-Tex Division passed resolutions requesting that we "show cause" why existing distribution rates are just and reasonable and required a filing by us on a system-wide basis. We filed our response to these orders during the first quarter of fiscal 2006. Discovery has been conducted by the City of Dallas and the other cities. The 80 cities that acted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006 have begun adopting resolutions requiring a reduction in the Mid-Tex Division's residential and commercial rates. We will be appealing these city actions to the Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) where we believe that we will be able to demonstrate that our rates are just and reasonable.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) that it was opening an investigation into allegations by the Consumer Advocate Division of the Tennessee Attorney General's Office that we are overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10 million per year. We have responded to numerous data requests from the TRA Staff. On April 24, 2006, the TRA Staff filed a Report and Recommendation in which it recommended that the TRA convene a contested case procedure for the purpose of establishing a fair and reasonable return. The TRA is scheduled to consider the Staff's recommendation on May 15, 2006. We believe that we are not overcharging our customers, and we intend to participate fully in the investigation.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. Information was provided to the city on February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

Other

On November 30, 2005, we entered into an agreement with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex (North Side Loop). Under terms of the agreement, we are responsible for contributing no more than \$42.5 million to the construction costs of the pipeline. We are also responsible for 50 percent of the costs of the compression facilities. Approximately 21 miles of the pipeline was placed in service as of March 31, 2006. The remainder of the pipeline and the associated compressors are expected to be placed in service by the end of May 2006. As of March 31, 2006, we had spent \$26.2 million for the North Side Loop project and expect to spend approximately \$23.6 million in the remainder of fiscal 2006 for this project.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we entered into two agreements with third parties to transport natural gas through our Texas intrastate pipeline system beginning in fiscal 2006. To handle the increased volumes for these projects, we will install compression equipment and other pipeline infrastructure. We expect to spend approximately \$32 million in fiscal 2006 for these projects, which are expected to be in service by the end of the fiscal year.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage to our eastern Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service territory were in Jefferson, St. Tammany, St. Bernard and Plaquemines parishes. In total, approximately 230,000 of our natural gas customers were affected in these areas. Although service has been restored for many of our customers, a significant number of customers will not require gas service for some time because of sustained damages. We cannot predict with certainty how many of these customers will return to these service areas and over what time period. Additionally, we cannot accurately determine what regulatory actions, if any, may be taken by the regulators with respect to these areas. As of March 31, 2006, we believe adequate provision has been made for any losses that may not be fully recovered through insurance or for which we do not receive rate relief.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

9. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in our customer base.

Customer diversification also helps mitigate AEM's exposure to credit risk. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of nonperformance by any single counterparty.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by AEM's credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investors Service Inc. (Moody's) and/or Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P). For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-guaranteed industrial and commercial customers is non-investment grade. The following table shows the percentages related to the investment ratings as of March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005.

	2006	2005
Investment grade	42%	49%
Non-investment grade	58%	51%
Total	100%	<u>100</u> %

March 31,

March 21 2006

September 30,

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of March 31, 2006. Investment grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by S&P; or Baa3, assigned by Moody's. Non-investment grade counterparties are composed of counterparties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individually significant.

	Utility Segment (1)		
Investment grade counterparties Non-investment grade counterparties	\$ 13,419 —	\$ 11,232 4,745	\$ 24,651 4,745
	\$ 13,419	\$ 15,977	\$ 29,396

⁽¹⁾ Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through to our customers.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

10. Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies found in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Income statements for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 by segment are presented in the following tables:

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2006					
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage (In the	Other Nonutility ousands)	Eliminations	Consolidated
Operating revenues from external parties	\$1,447,376	\$ 564,737	\$21,238	\$ 495	\$ —	\$2,033,846
Intersegment revenues	244	253,892	24,245	1,100	<u>(279,481</u>)	
_	1,447,620	818,629	45,483	1,595	(279,481)	2,033,846
Purchased gas cost	1,131,885	774,652	211		(278,305)	1,628,443
Gross profit	315,735	43,977	45,272	1,595	(1,176)	405,403
Operating expenses						
Operation and maintenance	94,363	5,821	12,363	1,361	(1,210)	112,698
Depreciation and amortization	41,907	475	4,669	25		47,076
Taxes, other than income	61,701	348	2,654	93		64,796
Total operating expenses	197,971	6,644	19,686	1,479	(1,210)	224,570
Operating income	117,764	37,333	25,586	116	34	180,833
Miscellaneous income (expense)	155	608	132	1,183	(4,517)	(2,439)
Interest charges	30,303	1,997	6,621	1,054	(4,483)	35,492
Income before income taxes	87,616	35,944	19,097	245		142,902
Income tax expense	32,988	14,012	7,010	96		54,106
Net income	\$ 54,628	\$ 21,932	\$12,087	<u>\$ 149</u>	\$	<u>\$ 88,796</u>
Capital expenditures	\$ 83,749	\$ 235	\$26,781	\$	<u>\$</u>	\$ 110,765

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2005					
			Pipeline			
		Natural Gas	and	Other	****	
	Utility	Marketing	Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In the	ousands)		
Operating revenues from external parties	\$1,235,092	\$ 429,598	\$19,827	\$ 568	\$ —	\$1,685,085
Intersegment revenues	285	83,293	25,719	710	(110,007)	
	1,235,377	512,891	45,546	1,278	(110,007)	1,685,085
Purchased gas cost	912,309	501,731	4,407		(109,256)	1,309,191
Gross profit	323,068	11,160	41,139	1,278	(751)	375,894
Operating expenses						
Operation and maintenance	86,469	4,016	12,843	893	(801)	103,420
Depreciation and amortization	41,181	474	3,642	29		45,326
Taxes, other than income	52,220	261	2,398	88		54,967
Total operating expenses	179,870	4,751	18,883	1,010	(801)	203,713
Operating income	143,198	6,409	22,256	268	50	172,181
Miscellaneous income	1,974	201	292	616	(2,125)	958
Interest charges	28,062	679	6,228	179	(2,075)	33,073
Income before income taxes	117,110	5,931	16,320	705		140,066
Income tax expense	43,459	2,140	5,682	283		51,564
Net income	\$ 73,651	\$ 3,791	\$10,638	\$ 422	\$	\$ 88,502
Capital expenditures	\$ 63,129	\$ 228	\$ 6,908	\$	\$	\$ 70,265

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Six Months Ended March 31, 2006					
			Pipeline			
		Natural Gas	and	Other	Y221	C11.1-41
	<u> Utility</u>	Marketing	Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			,	usands)		
Operating revenues from external parties	\$2,852,182	\$1,425,350	\$39,119	\$ 1,015	\$ —	\$4,317,666
Intersegment revenues	448	495,124	46,076	2,072	_(543,720)	
	2,852,630	1,920,474	85,195	3,087	(543,720)	
Purchased gas cost	2,256,714	1,850,178	211		_(541,430)	3,565,673
Gross profit	595,916	70,296	84,984	3,087	(2,290)	751,993
Operating expenses						
Operation and maintenance	187,129	10,173	23,361	2,626	(2,374)	220,915
Depreciation and amortization	80,171	945	9,171	49		90,336
Taxes, other than income	104,603	591	4,814	204		110,212
Total operating expenses	371,903	11,709	37,346	2,879	(2,374)	421,463
Operating income	224,013	58,587	47,638	208	84	330,530
Miscellaneous income (expense)	2,992	1,198	1,537	1,844	(9,562)	
Interest charges	61,891	4,859	12,594	1,815	<u>(9,478</u>)	71,681
Income before income taxes	165,114	54,926	36,581	237	****	256,858
Income tax expense	62,073	21,542	13,327	93		97,035
Net income	\$ 103,041	\$ 33,384	\$23,254	<u>\$ 144</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$ 159,823
Capital expenditures	\$ 156,164	\$ 567	\$56,499	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$ 213,230

${\bf ATMOS\ ENERGY\ CORPORATION}$ NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Six Months Ended March 31, 2005					
			Pipeline			
		Natural Gas	and	Other	¥71¥4	C
	<u> Utility</u>	Marketing	Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			`	usands)		
Operating revenues from external parties	\$2,148,498	\$ 862,508	\$41,579	\$ 1,124	\$ —	\$3,053,709
Intersegment revenues	560	144,184	47,657	1,513	<u>(193,914</u>)	
J	2,149,058	1,006,692	89,236	2,637	(193,914)	
Purchased gas cost	1,568,679	968,688	10,628		(192,283)	2,355,712
Gross profit	580,379	38,004	78,608	2,637	(1,631)	697,997
Operating expenses						
Operation and maintenance	183,022	7,462	23,504	1,940	(1,731)	214,197
Depreciation and amortization	80,232	978	8,055	58		89,323
Taxes, other than income	88,840	170	4,446	166		93,622
Total operating expenses	352,094	8,610	36,005	2,164	(1,731)	397,142
Operating income	228,285	29,394	42,603	473	100	300,855
Miscellaneous income	2,946	447	607	1,209	(3,866)	1,343
Interest charges	55,321	1,080	12,399	581	(3,766)	65,615
Income before income taxes	175,910	28,761	30,811	1,101		236,583
Income tax expense	65,236	11,708	11,089	449		88,482
Net income	\$ 110,674	\$ 17,053	\$19,722	\$ 652	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$ 148,101</u>
Capital expenditures	\$ 129,056	\$ 367	\$ 8,043	<u>\$</u>	\$	\$ 137,466

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Balance sheet information at March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005 by segment is presented in the following tables:

	March 31, 2006					
		Natural Gas	Pipeline and	Other		
	Utility	Marketing	Storage		Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In the	usands)		
ASSETS					•	00 511 040
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$3,015,227		\$487,264	\$ 1,348		\$3,511,042
Investment in subsidiaries	259,284	(2,086)			(257,198)	
Current assets				£10		40 000
Cash and cash equivalents	26,849	21,532		518		48,899 13,537
Cash held on deposit in margin account		13,537	4 217		(0.722)	
Assets from risk management activities	13,419	21,392	4,317		(9,732)	•
Other current assets	1,014,883	420,241	44,985	66,200	(146,328)	
Intercompany receivables	534,920			26,534	(561,454)	
Total current assets	1,590,071	476,702	49,302	93,252	(717,514)	1,491,813
Intangible assets		3,215				3,215
Goodwill	566,800	24,282	143,198			734,280
Noncurrent assets from risk management						
activities		1 250	5 206	10 224		256,701
Deferred charges and other assets	231,699	1,372	5,296	18,334	A (054 510)	
	\$5,663,081	\$510,688	\$685,060	\$112,934	<u>\$ (974,712)</u>	\$5,997,051
CARATE AT YOU ARELONDARY AND						
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES						
Shareholders' equity	\$1,706,291	\$139,625	\$ 86,425	\$ 33,234	\$ (259,284)	\$1,706,291
Long-term debt	2,176,251			4,869		2,181,120
Total capitalization	3,882,542	139,625	86,425	38,103	(259,284)	3,887,411
Current liabilities	5,002,512	100,020	,	,	, , ,	
Current maturities of long-term debt	1,250			2,058		3,308
Short-term debt	262,315			65,105	(127,105)	
Liabilities from risk management activities	1,067	21,847	5,421	_	(9,738)	
Other current liabilities	779,514		55,584		(17,131)	1,069,563
Intercompany payables	,	44,801	516,653		(561,454)	
Total current liabilities	1,044,146	380,244	577,658	67,163	(715,428)	1,353,783
Deferred income taxes	280,746	•	16,352	2,025		287,841
Noncurrent liabilities from risk management		(,,	•			
activities	Married Williams	1,861	******			1,861
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	275,209					275,209
Deferred credits and other liabilities	180,438	240	4,625	5,643		190,946
TATOLIAN ALAMIM MILE ANIAL WALLAND	\$5,663,081		\$685,060	\$112,934	\$ (974,712)	\$5,997,051
	-5,005,001					

${\bf ATMOS\ ENERGY\ CORPORATION}$ NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	September 30, 2005						
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Other Storage Nonutility (In thousands)		Eliminations	Consolidated	
ASSETS							
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$2,926,096	\$ 7,278	\$439,574	\$ 1,419	\$	\$3,374,367	
Investment in subsidiaries	231,342	(1,896)		MARTIN PARK	(229,446)		
Current assets							
Cash and cash equivalents	10,663	28,949	*******	504		40,116	
Cash held on deposit in margin account	4,170	76,786		-		80,956	
Assets from risk management activities	93,310	39,528	1,739		(26,664)	107,913	
Other current assets	666,081	421,777	36,208	63,820	(152,441)	1,035,445	
Intercompany receivables	505,728			20,133	(525,861)		
Total current assets	1,279,952	567,040	37,947	84,457	(704,966)	1,264,430	
Intangible assets	, ,	3,507				3,507	
Goodwill	566,800	24,282	143,198			734,280	
Noncurrent assets from risk management	•	•					
activities		2,073	1,338		(2,676)	735	
Deferred charges and other assets	249,179	1,461	5,737	19,831		276,208	
	\$5,253,369	\$603,745	\$627,794	\$105,707	\$ (937,088)	\$5,653,527	
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES							
Shareholders' equity	\$1,602,422	\$144,827	\$ 53,426	\$ 33,089	\$ (231,342)	\$1,602,422	
Long-term debt	2,177,279			5,825		2,183,104	
Total capitalization	3,779,701	144,827	53,426	38,914	(231,342)	3,785,526	
Current liabilities	-,,,,,,,,	,	,		, , ,		
Current maturities of long-term debt	1,250			2,014		3,264	
Short-term debt	144,809	60,000		51,320	(111,320)	144,809	
Liabilities from risk management activities		63,936	25,038	-	(27,054)	61,920	
Other current liabilities	623,300	217,777	95,557	4,963	(38,835)	902,762	
Intercompany payables		87,968	437,893		(525,861)		
Total current liabilities	769,359	429,681	558,488	58,297	(703,070)	1,112,755	
Deferred income taxes	268,108	12,369	9,563	2,167		292,207	
Noncurrent liabilities from risk management	ŕ	,					
activities		16,654	1,338		(2,676)	15,316	
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	263,424					263,424	
Deferred credits and other liabilities	172,777	214	4,979	6,329		184,299	
	\$5,253,369	\$603,745	\$627,794	\$105,707	\$ (937,088)	\$5,653,527	

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of March 31, 2006, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income for the three-month and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein, and in our report dated November 16, 2005, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas May 2, 2006

30

ATMOS ENERGY CORP (Form: 10-Q, Received: 05/09/2006 14:53:53)

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by the Company and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of the Company's documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "estimate", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to the Company's strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in the Company's gas utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness; national, regional and local economic conditions; the Company's ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; risks relating to the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations, including without limitation, the Company's increased indebtedness resulting from the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations; the impact of recent natural disasters on our operations, especially Hurricane Katrina; and other uncertainties, which may be discussed herein, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company. A more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties may be found in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. Accordingly, while the Company believes these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of its forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management, transportation, storage and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

The following summarizes the results of our operations for the six months ended March 31, 2006:

- Our utility segment net income decreased by \$7.6 million during the six months ended March 31, 2006. The decrease reflects the impact of weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was one percent warmer than the prior-year period and 12 percent warmer than normal, coupled with higher operating expenses.
- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$16.3 million during the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects our ability to capture higher margins in a volatile natural gas market. These increases were partially offset by an unfavorable unrealized margin variance and an increase in interest charges resulting from increased short-term borrowings to fund working capital needs.
- Our pipeline and storage segment net income increased \$3.5 million during the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2005, primarily reflecting Atmos Pipeline & Storage LLC's ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads in connection with its asset management contracts coupled with increased throughput on the Atmos Pipeline Texas system and higher transportation and related services margins.
- Our total-debt-to-capitalization ratio at March 31, 2006 was 58.9 percent compared with 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005 reflecting the impact of current-year net income partially offset by an increase in short-term debt borrowings to fund working capital needs.
- For the six months ended March 31, 2006, we generated \$148.4 million in operating cash flow compared with \$400.1 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005, reflecting the adverse impact of high natural gas costs on our working capital.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$213.2 million in the six months ended March 31, 2006 from \$137.5 million in the prior-year period primarily reflecting increased capital spending for various pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Actual results may differ from such estimates.

Table of Contents

Our critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005 and include the following:

- · Regulation
- Revenue Recognition
- · Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
- · Derivatives and Hedging Activities
- · Impairment Assessments
- Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Our critical accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting policies during the six months ended March 31, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three-month and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:

		Three Months Ended March 31			Six Months Ended March 31			ded
		2006		2005		2006		2005
			(In	thousands, unles	s othe	rwise noted)		
Operating revenues	\$	2,033,846	\$	1,685,085	\$	4,317,666	\$	3,053,709
Gross profit		405,403		375,894		751,993		697,997
Operating expenses		224,570		203,713		421,463		397,142
Operating income		180,833		172,181		330,530		300,855
Miscellaneous income (expense)		(2,439)		958		(1,991)		1,343
Interest charges		35,492		33,073		71,681		65,615
Income before income taxes		142,902		140,066		256,858		236,583
Income tax expense		54,106		51,564		97,035		88 192
Net income	\$	88,796	\$	88,502	\$	159,823	\$	14 1
Utility sales volumes — MMcf		111,721		128,195		206,909		219,152
Utility transportation volumes — MMcf		31,152		31,904		61,754		59,882
Total utility throughput — MMcf		142,873		160,099		268,663	-	279,034
Natural gas marketing sales volumes — MMcf		69,450		66,644	-	140,946	-	126,940
Pipeline transportation volumes — MMcf		83,428		84,208		173,041		156,961
Heating degree days (1)	-							
Actual (weighted average)		1,330		1,422		2,387		2,415
Percent of normal		84%		90%		88%		89%
Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$	0.61	\$	0.53	\$	0.56	\$	0.55
Consolidated utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$	10.13	\$	7.12	\$	10.91	\$	7.16

Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations.

ATMOS ENERGY CORP (Form: 10-Q, Received: 05/09/2006 14:53:53)

Table of Contents

The following table shows our operating income by segment for the three-month and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005.

T' resentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

		Three Months Ended March 31					
	***************************************	2006		2005			
	Operating Heating Degree Days Income Percent of Normal (1)		Operating Income	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal (1)			
		(In thousands, except de	egree day informa	tion)			
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 14,650	100%	\$ 16,248	97%			
Kentucky	9,055	100%	10,758	100%			
Louisiana	8,596	70%	16,250	74%			
Mid-States	24,895	93%	24,705	95%			
Mid-Tex	29,455	68%	41,022	82%			
Mississippi	16,752	100%	18,509	100%			
West Texas	13,539	100%	15,302	99%			
Other	822		404				
Utility segment	117,764	84%	143,198	90%			
Natural gas marketing segment	37,333		6,409				
Pipeline and storage segment	25,586		22,256	STP-punkster			
Other nonutility segment and other	150	***************************************	318	-			
Consolidated operating income	\$ 180,833	84%	\$ 172,181	90%			

		Six Months Ended March 31							
		2006		2005					
	Operating Income			Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal (1)					
		(In thousands, except de	gree day informa	ation)					
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 23,260	100%	\$ 24,483	98%					
Kentucky	15,247	100%	16,603	98%					
siana	16,487	80%	22,583	78%					
-States	39,193	96%	35,843	93%					
Mid-Tex	80,242	74%	79,570	80%					
Mississippi	26,745	101%	27,116	95%					
West Texas	19,670	100%	21,088	100%					
Other	3,169		999	V Manufaller					
Utility segment	224,013	88%	228,285	89%					
Natural gas marketing segment	58,587		29,394	atom-with					
Pipeline and storage segment	47,638		42,603	AnnakAppenin					
Other nonutility segment and other	292		573	***************************************					
Consolidated operating income	\$ 330,530	88%	\$ 300,855	89%					

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations.

ATMOS ENERGY CORP (Form: 10-Q, Received: 05/09/2006 14:53:53)

Table of Contents

Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 compared with Three Months Ended March 31, 2005

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 65 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 67 percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are partially offset through weather normalization adjustments, or WNA, in certain of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. As of March 31, 2006, WNA covered approximately 1.1 million customer meters in the following service areas for the following periods.

Georgia Kansas Kentucky Mississippi Tennessee Amarillo, Texas West Texas Lubbock, Texas Virginia October – May
October – May
November – April
November – April
November – April
October – May
October – May
October – May
January – December

Our Mid-Tex Division does not have WNA. However, its operations benefit from a rate structure that combines a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provides for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions. However, this rate structure is not as beneficial during periods where weather is significantly warmer than normal.

Operating income

Utility gross profit margin decreased \$7.4 million to \$315.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from \$323.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. Total throughput for our utility business was 142.9 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current-year period compared to 160.1 Bcf in the prior-year period.

The decrease in utility gross profit margin and throughput primarily reflects weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was six percent warmer than the prior-year quarter and 16 percent

warmer than normal. Weather in our Mid-Tex and Louisiana divisions, where we currently do not have weather-normalized rates, was armoximately 30 percent warmer than normal during the quarter. During the three months ended March 31, 2006, our Mid-Tex and Louisiana ons were 17 and four percent warmer than the prior-year quarter. The impact of warmer weather resulted in a \$14.7 million reduction in gross profit margin compared with the prior-year quarter. Additionally, our Louisiana division experienced a \$1.4 million reduction in gross profit margin during the current-year quarter due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina compared with the prior-year quarter. These decreases were partially offset by a \$2.9 million increase arising from the Company's fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005 filings under Texas's Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP).

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$198 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from \$179.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The increase reflects a \$9.5 million increase in taxes, primarily related to franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, both of which are calculated as a percentage of revenue, which are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are included as a component of revenue in accordance with our tariffs, timing differences between when these amounts are billed to our customers and when we recognize the associated expense may affect net income favorably or unfavorably on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

Operation and maintenance expense, excluding the provision for doubtful accounts, increased \$3 million primarily due to higher employee costs associated with increased headcount to fill positions that were previously outsourced to a third party and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. These increases were partially offset by lower third-party costs associated with formerly outsourced administrative and meter reading functions that were in-sourced during the first quarter of fiscal 2006.

The provision for doubtful accounts increased \$4.9 million to \$7.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006. The increase was primarily attributable to increased collection risk associated with higher natural gas prices. In the utility segment, the average cost of natural gas for the three months ended March 31, 2006 was \$10.13 per thousand cubic feet (Mcf), compared with \$7.12 per Mcf for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2006 decreased to \$117.8 million from \$143.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

terest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the three months ended March 31, 2006 increased to \$30.3 million from \$28.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices coupled with a 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our \$300 million unsecured floating rate Senior Notes due 2007 due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were partially offset by \$1.2 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds in June 2005.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income for the three months ended March 31, 2006 decreased to \$0.2 million compared to \$2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The \$1.8 million decrease was primarily due to a \$3.3 million charge recorded during the quarter associated with an adverse regulatory ruling in our Mid-States Division related to the calculation of a performance-based rate mechanism in Tennessee. Under the performance-based rate program, we and our customers jointly share in any actual gas cost savings achieved when compared to pre-determined benchmarks.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we

utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas products are supplied through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at advantageous prices to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of storage activities, which are comprised of the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets and marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 is summarized as follows:

		Iarch 31		
	2006	2005		
	(In thousands, ex	cept physical position)		
Storage Activities				
Realized margin	\$ 10,611	\$ 14,669		
Unrealized margin	<u>2,741</u>	(20,545)		
Total Storage Activities	13,352	(5,876)		
Marketing Activities		(
Realized margin	21,005	36ــر . د		
Unrealized margin	9,620	(200)		
Total Marketing Activities	30,625	17,036		
Gross profit	<u>\$ 43,977</u>	<u>\$11,160</u>		
Net physical position (Bcf)	23.6	12.5		

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$44 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared to gross profit of \$11.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended March 31, 2006 included an unrealized gain of \$12.4 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$20.7 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 82.4 Bcf during the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with 74.8 Bcf for the prior-year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 69.5 Bcf during the current-year period compared with 66.6 Bcf in the prior-year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was attributable to successfully executed marketing strategies into new market areas.

Our storage activities generated \$13.4 million in gross profit margin for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared to incurring a lose of \$5.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. Our marketing activities generated \$30.6 million for the three months ended 1 in 31, 2006 compared with \$17 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. Higher realized marketing activities attributable to successfully capturing increased margins in certain market areas that experienced higher market volatility were offset by lower realized storage activities due to warmer weather during the current-year quarter, which resulted in fewer withdrawal opportunities than the prior-year quarter.

The \$32.8 million increase in our natural gas marketing gross profit margin was primarily due to favorable movement during the three months ended March 31, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory and our fixed-price forward contracts. These results in our storage operations were magnified by an 11.1 Bcf increase in our net physical position at March 31, 2006 compared to the prior-year quarter. We have elected to exclude this forward/spot differential from our hedge effectiveness assessment. Subsequent to the hurricanes, which occurred in the fall of 2005, the forward/spot differential has been volatile and may continue to cause material volatility in our unrealized margin. However, the economic gross profit we have captured in the original transactions will remain essentially unchanged.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$6.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from \$4.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in operating expense primarily was attributable to an increase in personnel costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The increase in gross profit margin, partially offset by higher operating expenses, resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$37.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with operating income of \$6.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended March 31, 2006 increased to \$2 million from \$0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, blending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are believed to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our

Table of Contents

Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$45.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from \$41.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 150.9 Bcf during the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with 158.9 Bcf for the prior-year quarter. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 83.4 Bcf during the current year quarter compared with 84.2 Bcf in the prior-year quarter. The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin was primarily attributable to Atmos Pipeline & Storage, LLC capturing more favorable arbitrage spreads around its asset management contracts and higher transportation and related services margins in the Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division. These increases were partially offset by decreased throughput on the Atmos Pipeline — Texas system attributable to the warmer than normal weather in the Mid-Tex Division coupled with the absence of one-time inventory sales realized in the prior-year period of approximately \$3 million.

Operating expenses increased to \$19.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from \$18.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with the increase in headcount and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2006 increased to \$25.6 million from \$22.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed gas-fired electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the prior-year quarter.

Six Months Ended March 31, 2006 compared with Six Months Ended March 31, 2005

Utility segment

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased \$15.5 million to \$595.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 from \$580.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. Total throughput for our utility business was 268.7 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current-year period compared to 279 Bcf in the prior-year period.

The increase in utility gross profit, despite lower throughput, primarily reflects higher franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, which are paid by utility customers and have no permanent effect on net income. Additionally, margins increased \$4.5 million due to rate increases received from the Company's fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005 GRIP filings. These increases were partially offset by an approximate \$3.5 million decrease in the Louisiana Division due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina compared with the prior-year period. For the six months ended March 31, 2006, weather was 12 percent warmer than normal, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations and

one percent warmer than the prior-year period. In the Mid-Tex and Louisiana Divisions, which do not have weather-normalized rates, weather war 2.6 percent and 20 percent warmer than normal. The impact of the warmer weather resulted in a \$5.9 million reduction in gross profit margin a red with the prior-year period.

Operating expenses increased to \$371.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 from \$352.1 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase reflects a \$15.8 million increase in taxes, primarily related to franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, both of which are calculated as a percentage of revenue, and are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are included as a component of revenue in accordance with our tariffs, timing differences between when these amounts are billed to our customers and when we recognize the associated expense may affect net income favorably or unfavorably on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

Partially offsetting these increases was a \$2 million decrease in operation and maintenance expense, excluding the provision for bad debt. The decrease was primarily attributable to a reduction in third-party costs for outsourced administrative and meter reading functions that were in-sourced during fiscal 2006 combined with overall cost containment efforts across the utility divisions. These decreases were partially offset by higher employee costs associated with increased headcount to fill positions that were previously outsourced to a third party and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. Operation and maintenance expense for the six months ended March 31, 2006 reflects the absence of \$2.1 million of United Cities Gas merger and integration cost amortization, as these costs were fully amortized by December 2004. However, this decrease was offset by a \$2 million charge recorded during the first quarter for Hurricane Katrina-related losses.

The provision for doubtful accounts increased \$6.1 million to \$15.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006, compared with \$9.3 million in the prior-year period. The increase was primarily attributable to increased collection risk associated with higher natural gas prices. In the utility segment, the average cost of natural gas for the six months ended March 31, 2006 was \$10.91 per Mcf, compared with \$7.16 per Mcf for the six months ended March 31, 2005.

Additionally, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Mississippi Public Service Commission, in connection with the modification of our rate design described below under Recent Ratemaking Activity, decided to allow \$2.8 million of deferred costs, which it had originally disallowed in its September 2004 decision. This ruling decreased our depreciation expense during the six months ended March 31, 2006.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the six months ended March 31, 2006 decreased to \$224 million from \$228.3 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the six months ended March 31, 2006 increased to \$61.9 million from \$55.3 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices coupled with a 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our \$300 million unsecured floating rate Senior Notes due 2007 due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were partially offset by \$2.4 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds in June 2005.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income for the six months ended March 31, 2006 remained unchanged compared to the six months ended March 31, 2005. However, the aforementioned \$3.3 million charge recorded during the second quarter associated with an adverse regulatory ruling in our Mid-States Division was offset by an increase in intercompany interest income.

40

Natural gas marketing segment

Operating income

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin for the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 is summarized as follows.

		nths Ended arch 31 2005 cept physical position)	
	2006		
	(In thousands, exce	pt physical position)	
Storage Activities			
Realized margin	\$ 36,883	\$ 17,259	
Unrealized margin	(21,051)	(8,027)	
Total Storage Activities	15,832	9,232	
Marketing Activities			
Realized margin	50,572	30,835	
Unrealized margin	3,892	(2,063)	
Total Marketing Activities	54,464	<u>28,772</u>	
Gross profit	<u>\$ 70,296</u>	\$ 38,004	
Net physical position (Bcf)	23.6	12.5	

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$70.3 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared to gross profit of \$38 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the six months ended March 31, 2006 included an unrealized loss of \$17.2 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$10.1 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 170.2 Bcf during the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with 141 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 140.9 Bcf during the current year period compared with 126.9 Bcf in the prior year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin opportunities partially offset by warmer-than-normal weather across our market areas.

Our storage activities generated \$15.8 million in gross profit margin for the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared to \$9.2 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. Increased realized margins in our storage operations were primarily due to our ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads that arose from increased market volatility. These increases were partially offset by an increase in the unrealized associated with these operations due to an unfavorable movement during the six months ended March 31, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory and our fixed-price forward contracts. These results were magnified by an 11.1 Bcf increase in our net physical position at March 31, 2006 compared to the prior-year period. As noted above, we have elected to exclude this forward/spot differential from our hedge effectiveness assessment. We continually seek opportunities to increase the amount of our storage capacity. To the extent we obtain and utilize new capacity and experience price volatility, the amount of our unrealized storage contribution could increase in future periods.

Our marketing activities generated \$54.5 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with \$28.8 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. This increase reflects increased realized margins coupled with a favorable unrealized margin variance compared with the prior-year period. The increase in our realized marketing operations was primarily attributable to successfully capturing increased margins in certain market areas that experienced higher market volatility. The favorable unrealized margin variance was primarily due to favorable movement during the six months ended March 31, 2006 in the forward natural gas prices associated with financial derivatives used in these activities.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$11.7 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 from \$8.6 million for the six n is ended March 31, 2005. The increase in operating expense primarily was attributable to an increase in personnel costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The improved gross profit margin partially offset by higher operating expenses resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$58.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with operating income of \$29.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the natural gas marketing segment for the six months ended March 31, 2006 increased to \$4.9 million from \$1.1 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices.

Pipeline and storage segment

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$85 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 from \$78.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 297.9 Bcf during the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with 288.9 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 173 Bcf during the current year period compared with 157 Bcf in the prior-year period. The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin was primarily attributable to Atmos Pipeline & Storage LLC capturing more favorable arbitrage spreads around its asset management contracts coupled with increased throughput on the Atmos Pipeline — Texas system and higher transportation and related services margins. These increases were partially offset by the absence of one-time inventory sales realized in the prior-year period of approximately \$3 million.

Operating expenses increased to \$37.3 million for the six months ended March 31, 2006 from \$36 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with the increase in headcount and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the six months ended March 31, 2006 inc. eased to \$47.6 million from \$42.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005.

Other nonutility segment

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the prior-year period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for the remainder of fiscal 2006. Additionally, from time to time, we raise funds from the public debt and equity capital markets to fund our liquidity needs.

Table of Contents

Capitalization

The following table presents our capitalization as of March 31, 2006 and September 30, 2005:

	March 31, 20	006	September 30, 2005		
	(In	thousands, exc	ept percentages)		
Short-term debt	\$ 262,315	6.3%	\$ 144,809	3.7%	
Long-term debt	2,184,428	52.6%	2,186,368	55.6%	
Shareholders' equity	1,706,291	<u>41.1</u> %	1,602,422	<u>40.7</u> %	
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$ 4,153,034	100.0%	\$ 3,933,599	100.0%	

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 58.9 percent at March 31, 2006, and 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005. The decrease in the debt to capitalization ratio was primarily attributable to current-year net income partially offset by an increase in our short-term debt borrowings to fund our natural gas purchases. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within two to four years, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, prices for our products and services, demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attributable primarily to changes in net income, working capital changes, particularly within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the six months ended March 31, 2006, we realized a \$148.4 million cash inflow from operating activities compared with a \$400.1 million cash inflow from operations for the six months ended March 31, 2005. Period over period, our operating cash flow was adv...sely impacted by significantly higher natural gas prices, which have increased the levels of accounts receivable, natural gas inventories, accounts payable and undercollected deferred gas costs recorded on our balance sheet as of March 31, 2006. Specifically, favorable movements in the market indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities reduced the amount that we were required to deposit in a margin account and therefore favorably affected operating cash flow by \$84.4 million. However, the reduction in cash held on deposit in a margin account was offset by the following cash outflows: (i) \$85.1 million arising from accounts receivable changes; (ii) \$58.1 million arising from a twenty-four percent increase in our weighted average cost of gas held in inventory coupled with a 14.9 Bcf increase in natural gas stored underground; (iii) \$83.9 million related to deferred gas costs arising from timing differences between when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates; and (iv) \$102.8 million caused by the unfavorable timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities. Finally, other working capital and other changes reduced operating cash flow by \$6.2 million. The changes primarily related to a decrease in risk management assets and liabilities offset by various other working capital changes.

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions, our ongoing construction program and improvements to information systems. Our ongoing construction program

enables us to provide natural gas distribution services to our existing customer base, to expand our natural gas distribution services into new months, to enhance the integrity of our pipelines and, more recently, to expand our intrastate pipeline network. In executing our current rate suggestion, we are directing discretionary capital spending to jurisdictions that permit us to earn a return on our investment timely. Currently, our Mid-Tex, Louisiana, Mississippi and West Texas utility divisions and our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division have rate designs that provide the opportunity to include in their rate base approved capital costs on a periodic basis without having to file a rate case.

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2006 are expected to range from \$400 million to \$415 million. For the six months ended March 31, 2006, we incurred \$213.2 million for capital expenditures compared with \$137.5 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in capital expenditures primarily reflects increased spending associated with our Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex North Side Loop project and other pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and various capital projects in our Mid-Tex Division.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the six months ended March 31, 2006, our financing activities provided \$76.5 million in cash compared with \$1.7 billion provided in the prior-year period. Our significant financing activities for the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 are summarized as follows. The adoption of SFAS 123(R) did not materially affect our cash flows from financing activities.

- In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382 million. Additionally, we issued \$1.39 billion of senior unsecured debt under our shelf registration statement. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline Texas divisions and settle Treasury lock agreements, into which we entered to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with \$875 million of the \$1.39 billion long-term debt we issued in October 2004 to fund the acquisition.
- During the six months ended March 31, 2006 we increased our borrowings under our credit facilities by \$117.5 million. All amounts borrowed under our credit facilities were repaid during the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase reflects seasonal borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and the impact of higher gas prices.
- We repaid \$2.2 million of long-term debt during the six months ended March 31, 2006 compared with \$3.8 million during the six months ended March 31, 2005. The decreased payments during the current quarter reflected the timing of our various debt maturities.
- During the six months ended March 31, 2006 we paid \$50.9 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$49.2 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in dividends paid over the prior-year period reflects the increase in our dividend rate from \$0.62 per share during the six months ended March 31, 2005 to \$0.63 per share during the six months ended March 31, 2006 combined with new share issuances under our various plans.

• During the six months ended March 31, 2006 we issued 0.5 million shares of common stock which generated net proceeds of \$12.1 million. The following table summarizes the issuances for the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005.

		March 31	
	2006	2005	
Shares issued:			
Retirement Savings Plan	224,881	242,810	
Direct Stock Purchase Plan	206,762	240,910	
Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan	1,268	1,242	
Long-Term Incentive Plan	104,585	492,801	
Long-Term Stock Plan for Mid-States Division	300		
Public Offering		16,100,000	
Total shares issued	537,796	17,077,763	

Shelf Registration

In August 2004, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective on September 15, 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares and issued \$1.4 billion in unsecured senior notes to partially finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline — Texas divisions. After these issuances, we have approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under the registration statement.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the banks. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital have increased substantially as a result of the significant increase in the price of natural gas.

In October 2005, our \$600 million 364-day committed credit facility expired and was replaced with a new \$600 million three-year revolving credit facility that became effective October 18, 2005. In addition, on November 10, 2005, we entered into a new \$300 million 364-day revolving credit facility with substantially the same terms as our \$600 million credit facility.

On November 28, 2005, AEM amended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. On March 31, 2006, AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2007. At March 31, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this facility.

On April 1, 2006, our \$18 million committed unsecured credit facility was renewed for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. There were no borrowings outstanding under this facility at March 31, 2006.

As of March 31, 2006, the amount available to us under our credit facilities, net of outstanding letters of credit, was \$850.2 million. We believe these credit facilities, combined with our operating cash flows will be sufficient to fund our increased working capital needs. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 4 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	Moody's	Fitch
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2

Currently, with respect to our long-term debt, S&P and Moody's maintain their stable outlook. Additionally, during the second quarter of fiscal 2006, Fitch upgraded their outlook from negative to stable. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. All of our current ratings for long-term debt are categorized as investment grade. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB-, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB-. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of March 31, 2006. Our debt covenants are described in Note 4 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

C rtractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Significant commercial commitments are described in Note 8. There were no significant changes in our contractual obligations and commercial commitments during the six months ended March 31, 2006.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to reduce our exposure to unusually large winter-period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could experience ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting, resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following tables show the components of the change in the fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing commodity derivative contracts for the three and six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005:

	Three Mo March	onths E 1 31, 20		Three M Marci	onths E h 31, 20	
	Utility		itural Gas Iarketing (In thou	Utility		tural Gas arketing
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period	\$ 38,273	\$	(59,368)	\$ (9,412)	Φ.	5,214
Contracts realized/settled	(3,057)	Ф	50,691	(6,276)	Ψ	(4,907)
Fair value of new contracts	(2,659)		According	(173)		
Other changes in value	(20,205)		5,263	40,228		(6,203)
Fair value of contracts at end of period	\$ 12,352	\$	(3,414)	<u>\$ 24,367</u>	\$	(5,896)

		Six Mon March	ths End 31, 200			Six Mor March	ths End 31, 200	
	-	Utility		tural Gas [arketing (In thou	sands	Utility ()		tural Gas larketing
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period Contracts realized/settled Fair value of new contracts Other changes in value	\$	93,310 26,898 (4,760) (103,096)	\$	(61,898) 23,022 — 35,462	\$	(8,612) (45,397) (2,854) 81,230	\$	13,018 (16,534) ————————————————————————————————————
Fair value of contracts at end of period	\$	12,352	\$	(3,414)	\$	24,367	\$	(5,896)

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at March 31, 2006, is segregated below by time period and fair value source:

]	Fair Value of Cor	tracts at M	arch 31, 2006	
			Maturity in Ye	ears	_	
Source of Fair Value	Le	ess than 1	(In	<u>4-5</u> thousands)	Greater than 5	Totai air Value
Prices actively quoted	\$	6,607	\$ (1,396)	\$	\$ —	\$ 5,211
Prices provided by other external sources		4,492	(196)			4,296
Prices based on models and other valuation methods		(300)	<u>(269</u>)			(569)
Total Fair Value	\$	10,799	<u>\$ (1,861</u>)	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$ 8,938

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at advantageous prices to lock in a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its mark to market measurement from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change had no material impact to the Company on the date of adoption. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX

price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of the analysis and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the forecasted gross profit margin that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The forecasted gross profit margin, less the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements, provides a measure of the net increase or decrease in the gross profit margin that could occur in future periods if AEM's optimization efforts are fully successful.

As of March 31, 2006, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the forecasted gross profit margin was approximately \$30.8 million. Approximately \$35.8 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of March 31, 2006. Therefore, the projected increase in future gross profit margin is approximately \$66.6 million.

The forecasted gross profit margin calculation is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the forecasted gross profit margin is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the forecasted gross profit margin or the projected increase in future gross profit margin calculated as of March 31, 2006 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings may result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

For the six months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 our total net periodic pension and other benefits cost was \$25 million and \$18.2 million. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate by The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during the current-year period compared with the prior-year period primarily reflects changes in assumptions we made during our annual pension plan valuation completed June 30, 2005. The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates were declining, which resulted in a 125 basis point reduction in our discount rate to 5.0 percent. This reduction has the effect of increasing the present value of our plan liabilities and associated expenses. Additionally, we reduced the expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points to 8.5 percent, which also has the effect of increasing our pension and postretirement benefit cost.

During the six months ended March 31, 2006, we did not make a voluntary contribution to our pension plans. However, we contributed \$5.3 million to our other postretirement plans and we expect to contribute a total of approximately \$12 million to these plans during fiscal 2006.

OPERATING STATISTICS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended March 31		Six Month Marci	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
METERS IN SERVICE, end of period				
Residential	2,929,613	2,884,807	2,929,613	2,884,807
Commercial	278,657	279,194	278,657	279,194
Industrial	3,070	2,789	3,070	2,789
Agricultural	9,152	10,070	9,152	10,070
Public-authority and other	8,216	8,752	<u>8,216</u>	8,752
Total meters	3,228,708	3,185,612	3,228,708	3,185,612
INVENTORY STORAGE BALANCE — Bcf	38.8	35.1	38.8	35.1
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (1)				
Actual (weighted average)	1,330	1,422	2,387	2,415
Percent of normal	84%	90%	88%	89%
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (2)				
Gas sales volumes		70.187	110 550	100.046
Residential	65,869	78,477	119,578	129,246
Commercial	33,833	37,048	62,972	64,911
Industrial	8,054	9,648	17,063	17,891
Agricultural	316	60	356	126
Public authority and other	3,649	2,962	6,940	6,978
Total gas sales volumes	111,721	128,195	206,909	219,152
Utility transportation volumes	32,838	33,845	64,594	63.586
Total utility throughput	<u>144,559</u>	162,040	271,503	<u> 28.</u> <u>3</u>
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (2)				
Gas sales revenues		# # 00.000	D1 667 470	#1 204 022
Residential	\$ 884,126	\$ 780,890	\$1,667,472	\$1,304,033
Commercial	408,153	325,305	832,491 205,857	590,297 135,922
Industrial	77,386 2,850	69,422 587	3,636	1,262
Agricultural	43,240	29,742	87,211	62,172
Public-authority and other			2,796,667	2,093,686
Total utility gas sales revenues	1,415,755	1,205,946 17,312	2,790,007 35,059	33,744
Transportation revenues	19,192 12,673	12,119	20,904	21,628
Other gas revenues				
Total utility operating revenues	<u>\$1,447,620</u>	\$1,235,377	\$2,852,630	\$2,149,058
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.58	\$ 0.51	\$ 0.54	\$ 0.53
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$ 10.13	\$ 7.12	\$ 10.91	\$ 7.16

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended March 31			hs Ended ch 31
	2006	2005	2006	2005
CUSTOMERS, end of period				
Industrial	665	632	665	632
Municipal	70	78	70	78
Other	412	<u>474</u>	412	474
Total	1,147	1,184	1,147	1,184
INVENTORY STORAGE BALANCE — Bcf	-			
Natural gas marketing	23.2	11.4	23.2	11.4
Pipeline and storage	2.1	2.7	2.1	<u>2.7</u>
Total	25.3	14.1	25.3	14.1
NATURAL GAS MARKETING SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (2)	82,384	74,834	170,206	140,972
PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION VOLUMES — MMcf (2)	150,925	158,923	297,879	288,917
OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (2)				
Natural gas marketing	\$ 818,629	\$ 512,891	\$1,920,474	\$1,006,692
Pipeline and storage	45,483	45,546	85,195	89,236
Other nonutility	<u>1,595</u>	1,278	3,087	2,637
Total operating revenues	<u>\$ 865,707</u>	<u>\$ 559,715</u>	<u>\$2,008,756</u>	\$1,098,565

Notes to preceding tables:

Recent Ratemaking Activity

Our ratemaking activities during fiscal 2006 are described in the following discussion. The amounts described below represent the gross revenues that were requested or received in the rate filing, which may not necessarily reflect the increase in operating income obtained, as certain operating costs may have increased as a result of a commission's final ruling.

Atmos Pipeline-Texas. In September 2005, Atmos Pipeline-Texas made a filing under Texas' Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include in rate base approximately \$10.6 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004 which should result in additional revenues of approximately \$1.9 million. The Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) approved this filing in December 2005 and these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in January 2006.

⁽¹⁾ A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. Degree day information for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 is adjusted for the Kentucky Division, the Mississippi Division and certain service areas included within the blorado-Kansas Division, the Mid-States Division and the West Texas Division, which have weather-normalized operations.

⁽²⁾ Sales volumes and revenues reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.

Table of Contents

In April 2006, Atmos Pipeline-Texas made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$22.1 million of capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.4 million.

Atmos Energy Colorado/Kansas Division. In December 2005, Atmos filed its second annual ad valorem tax surcharge for \$1.6 miles archarge is designed to collect Kansas property taxes in excess of the amount included in Atmos' most recent general rate case. We began to bill this surcharge in January 2006.

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint at the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our present rates are producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. On February 2, 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss and on March 3, 2006 set a procedural schedule for the case. The Attorney General is currently conducting discovery. A hearing should be scheduled for early 2007. We believe that the Attorney General will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase in its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our Rate Stabilization Clause (RSC) filing in 2004 and is subject to refund, pending the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase is subject to refund, we have not recognized the effects of this increase in our results of operations during the first six months of fiscal 2006. As of March 31, 2006, the total amount of the deferred rate increase subject to final approval is approximately \$6 million.

In September 2005, the Louisiana Public Service Commission (LPSC) consolidated several then-existing dockets. These dockets included a separate proceeding for the renewal of the RSC for each of the LGS and TransLa Gas service areas; resolution of the outstanding 2003 RSC filing for the LGS service area; and our request for approval of a decoupling mechanism to stabilize margins in both the LGS and TransLa Service areas. The Company and the LPSC Staff have been engaged in negotiations and have reached an agreement resolving all of the issues in the consolidated docket. A stipulation was filed with the LPSC in May 2006. The settlement provides for, among other things, a modified Weather Normalization Adjustment which provides for partial decoupling, renewal of the RSC for both the LGS and TransLa service areas with provisions that will reduce regulatory lag and a refund to customers of approximately \$0.4 million for the LGS service areas. The LPSC should consider the settlement in late May 2006.

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Atmos filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4 million. In December 2005, the Georgia Public Service Commission (GPSC) approved a \$0.4 million increase. In January 2006, we filed an appeal of the GPSC's decision in the Superior Court of Fulton County. We are currently awaiting a procedural schedule from the Court to hear the appeal.

On April 7, 2006, Atmos filed a rate case in its Missouri service area seeking a rate increase of \$3.4 million. We are currently answering data requests from the Missouri staff.

In March 2006, we received notification from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) that it disagreed with the way we calculated amounts under its performance-based rate mechanism, which resulted in a \$3.3 million charge during the second quarter of fiscal 2006. We believe the original calculations were correct, and we will appeal the TRA's decision.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the TRA that it was opening an investigation into allegations by the Consumer Advocate Division of the Tennessee Attorney General's Office that we are overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10 million per year. We have responded to numerous data requests from the TRA Staff. On April 24, 2006, the TRA Staff filed a Report and Recommendation in which it recommended that the TRA convene a contested case procedure for the purpose of establishing a fair and reasonable return. The TRA is scheduled to consider the Staff's recommendation on May 15, 2006. We believe that we are not overcharging our customers, and we intend to participate fully in the investigation.

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. In September 2005, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$2° 4 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional revenues of all cimately \$6.7 million. The RRC approved this filing in January 2006, and these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in February 2006.

In March 2006, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$63.6 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$12.1 million. This filing has a proposed implementation date of May 30, 2006.

On September 1, 2005, the Mid-Tex Division filed its annual gas cost reconciliation with the RRC. The filing reflects approximately \$14 million in refunds of amounts that were overcollected from customers between July 1, 2004 and June 30, 2005. The Mid-Tex Division refunded substantially all of the overcollected amounts to customers between December 2005 and March 2006 to help offset higher gas costs for residential, commercial and industrial customers. Refunds are expected to be finalized in April 2006.

In August 2005, we received a "show cause" order from the City of Dallas, which requires us to provide information that demonstrates good cause for showing that our existing distribution rates charged to customers in the City of Dallas should not be reduced. In addition, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, approximately 80 other cities in the Mid-Tex Division passed resolutions requesting that we "show cause" why existing distribution rates are just and reasonable and required a filing by us on a system-wide basis. We filed our response to these orders during the first quarter of fiscal 2006. Discovery has been conducted by the City of Dallas and the other cities. The 80 cities that acted in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006 have begun adopting resolutions requiring a reduction in the Mid-Tex Division's residential and commercial rates. We will be appealing these city actions to the RRC where we believe that we will be able to demonstrate that our rates are just and reasonable.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the RRC. This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the RRC in June 2005. Briefs have been exchanged, and we are currently waiting for a decision from the RRC.

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Through the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effective in the following July and January.

Effective October 1, 2005, our rate design was modified to substitute the original agreed-upon benchmark with a sharing mechanism to a' the sharing of cost savings above an allowed return on equity level. Further, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual f. process. Additionally, our WNA period now begins on November 1 instead of November 15, and will end on April 30 instead of May 15. Also, we now have a fixed monthly customer base charge which makes a portion of our earnings less susceptible to variations in usage. We will make our first annual filing under this new structure in September 2006.

In September 2004, the MPSC originally disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. In connection with the modification of our rate design described above, the MPSC decided to allow these costs, and we included these costs in our rates in October 2005.

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. In September 2005, Atmos made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$22.6 million of distribution capital costs incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.8 million. The filings were approved for all jurisdictions except for the inside city limits customers in the West Texas service area, who rejected the filings. We filed an appeal of such matters with the RRC, which appeal was granted by the RRC in March 2006. New charges for the approved filings will be included in the monthly customer charge beginning May 1, 2006.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. The requested information was provided to the city on February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note ? to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business activities.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 3 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our nonregulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price nonregulated sales. Based on projected nonregulated gas sales for the remainder of fiscal 2006, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices, based upon the March 31, 2006 three-month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$2.8 million for the remainder of fiscal 2006.

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at the end of each period. Based on AEH's net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at March 31, 2006 of 0.3 Bcf, a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had less than a \$0.1 million impact on our consolidated net income.

However, changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our net physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) can result in volatility in our reported net income; but, over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges. Based upon our net physical position at March 31, 2006 and assuming our hedges would still qualify as highly effective, a \$0.50 change in the difference between the Gas Daily and NYMEX indices could impact our reported net income by approximately \$7.8 million.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one

percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$4 million during the six months ended N 131, 2006.

We also assess market risk for our fixed and floating rate long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$134.8 million.

As of March 31, 2006 we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As indicated in the certifications in Exhibit 31 of this report, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2006. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that material information required to be disclosed in this quarterly report is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In addition, there were no changes during the Company's last fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the six months ended March 31, 2006, there were no material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental-related matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. We continue to believe that the final outcome of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Atmos Energy Corporation on February 8, 2006, 68,617,301 votes were cast as follows:

	Votes For	Votes Withheld
Class II Directors:		
Richard W. Cardin	67,005,089	1,612,212
Thomas C. Meredith	66,612,547	2,004,754
Nancy K. Quinn	66,634,678	1,982,623
Stephen R. Springer	67,283,213	1,334,088
Richard Ware II	64,904,567	3,712,734
Richard W. Cardin Thomas C. Meredith Nancy K. Quinn Stephen R. Springer	66,612,547 66,634,678 67,283,213	2,004,75 1,982,62 1,334,08

The other directors will continue to serve until the expiration of their terms. The term of the Class I directors, Travis W. Bain II, Dan Busbee, Richard K. Gordon and Gene C. Koonce, will expire in 2008. The term of the Class II directors, Richard W. Cardin, Thomas C. Meredith, Nancy K. Quinn, Stephen R. Springer and Richard Ware II will expire in 2009. The term of the Class III directors, Robert W. Best, Thomas J. Garland, Phillip E. Nichol and Charles K. Vaughan, will expire in 2007.

Item 6. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibits Index, which immediately precedes such exhibits.

I GEO JJ OL A	Page	59	of	7	(
---------------	------	----	----	---	---

Table of Contents

SIGN	٨	TT	TD	F	C
DILLIA.	А		/ IX	.P.	П

513.1.	TI CICED		
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1 the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.	934, the reg	istrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its be	'nу
	ATMOS ENE (Registrant)	rgy Corporation	
	By:	/s/ John P. Reddy	
	*Academic and company	John P. Reddy Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Duly authorized signatory)	
Date: May 9, 2006			

55

Table of Contents

EXHIBITS INDEX Item 6(a)

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number
12	Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges	
15	Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information	
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
32	Section 1350 Certifications*	

^{*} These certifications, which were made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, will not be deemed to be filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference.

Exhibit 12

Atmos Energy Corporation Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges March 31, 2006

	Three Months Ended March 31		Six Months Ended March 31	
	2006	2005	2006	2005
	(Dollars in thousands)			
Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes				
per statement of income	\$142,902	\$140,066	\$256,858	\$236,583
Add:				
Portion of rents representative of the interest factor	1,385	1,138	2,864	2,196
Interest on debt & amortization of debt expense	35,492	33,073	71,681	65,615
Income as adjusted	\$179,779	\$174,277	\$331,403	\$304,394
Fixed charges:				
Interest on debt & amortization of debt expense (1)	\$ 35,492	\$ 33,073	\$ 71,681	\$ 65,615
Capitalized interest (2)	881	807	1,783	1,351
Rents	4,154	3,414	8,593	6,587
Portion of rents representative of the interest factor (3)	1,385	1,138	2,864	2,196
Fixed charges $(1)+(2)+(3)$	\$ 37,758	\$ 35,018	\$ 76,328	\$ 69,162
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges	4.76	4.98	4.34	4.40

Exhibit 15

B 1 of Directors

A s Energy Corporation

We are aware of the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-3, No. 33-37869; Form S-3 D/A, No. 33-70212; Form S-3, No. 33-58220; Form S-3, No. 33-56915; Form S-3/A, No. 333-03339; Form S-3/A, No. 333-32475; Form S-3/A, No. 333-50477; Form S-3/A, No. 333-93705; Form S-3, No. 333-95525; Form S-3, No. 333-75576; Form S-3D, No. 333-113603; Form S-3, No. 333-118706; Form S-4, No. 333-13429; Form S-8, No. 33-68852; Form S-8, No. 33-57687; Form S-8, No. 33-57695; Form S-8, No. 333-32343; Form S-8, No. 333-73143; Form S-8, No. 333-73145; Form S-8, No. 333-63738; Form S-8, No. 333-88832; and Form S-8, No. 333-116367) of Atmos Energy Corporation and in the related Prospectuses of our report dated May 2, 2006, relating to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation, which are included in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas May 2, 2006

Militaria (il litter) pri sa interpreta de la compania de la compania de la compania de la compania de la comp

Exhibit 31

RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATIONS

I, Robert W. Best, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Atmos Energy Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provided reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 9, 2006

/s/ ROBERT W. BEST

Robert W. Best Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

I, John P. Reddy, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Atmos Energy Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary was make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provided reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 9, 2006

/s/ JOHN P. REDDY

John P. Reddy Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Atmos Energy Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Robert W. Best, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 9, 2006

/s/ ROBERT W. BEST

Robert W. Best Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Atmos Energy Corporation and will be retained by Atmos Energy Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350)

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Atmos Energy Corporation (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, John P. Reddy, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 9, 2006

/s/ JOHN P. REDDY

John P. Reddy Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Atmos Energy Corporation and will be retained by Atmos Energy Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)		
	ORT PURSUANT TO S ES EXCHANGE ACT (
For the quarterly period e	nded December 31, 2005	
	or	
	ORT PURSUANT TO S ES EXCHANGE ACT (
For the transition period	from to	
Co	mmission File Number 1-100)42
	Energy Corp	
Texas and Virginia		75-1743247
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		(IRS employer identification no.)
Three Lincoln Centre, Suite 5430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, T (Address of principal executive offi	'exas	75240 (Zip code)
(Registr	(972) 934-9227 ant's telephone number, including an	ea code)
Indicate by check mark whether the or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act that the registrant was required to file so the past 90 days. Yes ☑ No □	t of 1934 during the precedin	
Indicate by check mark whether the accelerated filer. See definition of "A Exchange Act. (Check one):		ated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non ecclerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of th
Large accelerated filer ☑	Accelerated filer □	Non-accelerated filer □
Indicate by check mark whether texchange Act) Yes □ No ☑	he registrant is a shell comp	pany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Number of shares outstanding of e	ach of the issuer's classes of	common stock, as of January 31, 2006
Class		Shares Outstanding

No Par Value

80,922,830

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS

AEH Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC **AEM AES** Atmos Energy Services, LLC Accounting Principles Board APB Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC **APS**

Billion cubic feet Bcf

Financial Accounting Standards Board **FASB** Federal Energy Regulatory Commission **FERC**

FASB Interpretation FIN Fitch Ratings, Ltd. Fitch

GPSC Georgia Public Service Commission Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program **GRIP** Kentucky Public Service Commission **KPSC**

Louisiana Gas Service Company and LGS Natural Gas Company, which were acquired LGS

July 1, 2001

Thousand cubic feet Mcf MMcf Million cubic feet

Moody's Investor Services, Inc. Moody's

Mississippi Public Service Commission **MPSC** New York Mercantile Exchange, Inc. NYMEX

Railroad Commission of Texas **RRC**

Standard & Poor's S&P

United States Securities and Exchange Commission SEC Statement of Financial Accounting Standards **SFAS**

TXU Gas Company, which was acquired on October 1, 2004 TXU Gas

Weather Normalization Adjustment **WNA**

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	December 31, 2005	September 30, 2005
	(Unaudited) (In thousands, except share data)	
ASSETS		
Property, plant and equipment	\$4,853,016	\$4,765,610
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	<u>1,413,082</u>	1,391,243
Net property, plant and equipment	3,439,934	3,374,367
Current assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	49,451	40,116
Cash held on deposit in margin account	74,076	80,956
Accounts receivable, net	1,229,190	454,313
Gas stored underground	583,572	450,807
Other current assets	239,992	238,238
Total current assets	2,176,281	1,264,430
Goodwill and intangible assets	737,641	737,787
Deferred charges and other assets	265,146	<u>276,943</u>
	\$6,619,002	<u>\$5,653,527</u>
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES		
Shareholders' equity		
Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share); 200,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding:		
December 31, 2005 — 80,852,898 shares;		
September 30, 2005 — 80,539,401 shares	\$ 404	\$ 403
Additional paid-in capital	1,438,917	1,426,523
Retained earnings	224,435	178,837
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(26,139)	(3,341)
Shareholders' equity	1,637,617	1,602,422
Long-term debt	2,181,497	2,183,104
Total capitalization	3,819,114	3,785,526
Current liabilities		461.014
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	1,170,402	461,314
Other current liabilities	401,948	503,368
Short-term debt	474,059 3,286	144,809 3,264
Current maturities of long-term debt		
Total current liabilities	2,049,695	1,112,755
Deferred income taxes	284,196 268,999	292,207 263,424
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	268,999 196,998	263,424 199,615
Deferred credits and other liabilities		
	\$6,619,002	\$5,653,527

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

	Three Months Ended December 31	
	2005	2004
	(Unaudited) (In thousands, except per share data)	
Operating revenues		
Utility segment	\$1,405,010	\$ 913,681
Natural gas marketing segment	1,101,845	493,801
Pipeline and storage segment	39,712	43,690
Other nonutility segment	1,492	1,359
Intersegment eliminations	(264,239)	(83,907)
	2,283,820	1,368,624
Purchased gas cost		
Utility segment	1,124,829	656,370
Natural gas marketing segment	1,075,526	466,957
Pipeline and storage segment		6,221
Other nonutility segment		
Intersegment eliminations	(263,125)	(83,027)
	1,937,230	1,046,521
Gross profit	346,590	322,103
Operating expenses		
Operation and maintenance	108,217	110,777
Depreciation and amortization	43,260	43,997
Taxes, other than income	45,416	38,655
Total operating expenses	<u>196,893</u>	193,429
Operating income	149,697	128,674
Miscellaneous income	448	385
Interest charges	36,189	32,542
Income before income taxes	113,956	96,517
Income tax expense	42,929	36,918
Net income	\$ 71,027	\$ 59,599
Basic net income per share	\$ 0.88	\$ 0.79
Diluted net income per share	\$ 0.88	\$ 0.79
Cash dividends per share	\$ 0.315	\$ 0.310
Weighted average shares outstanding:		
Basic	80,259	75,306
Diluted	80,722	75,725

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

	Three Months Ended December 31	
	2005	2004
		udited) ousands)
Cash Flows From Operating Activities		
Net income	\$ 71,027	\$ 59,599
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization:		
Charged to depreciation and amortization	43,260	43,997
Charged to other accounts	147	254
Deferred income taxes	20,448	8,308
Other	3,680	977
Net assets/liabilities from risk management activities	13,695	22,088
Net change in operating assets and liabilities	(347,626)	(67,319)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities	(195,369)	67,904
Cash Flows From Investing Activities	,	
Capital expenditures	(102,465)	(67,201)
Acquisitions		(1,912,532)
Other, net	(1,121)	(1,051)
Net cash used in investing activities	(103,586)	(1,980,784)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities		
Net increase in short-term debt	329,250	28,797
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	********	1,385,847
Repayment of long-term debt	(1,695)	(3,373)
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements		(43,770)
Cash dividends paid	(25,429)	(24,521)
Issuance of common stock	6,164	11,116
Net proceeds from equity offering		382,014
Net cash provided by financing activities	308,290	1,736,110
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	9,335	(176,770)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	40,116	201,932
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 49,451	\$ 25,162

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) December 31, 2005

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as other natural gas nonutility businesses. Our natural gas utility business distributes natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

Division	Service Area
Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division	Colorado, Kansas, Missouri ⁽¹⁾
Atmos Energy Kentucky Division	Kentucky
Atmos Energy Louisiana Division	Louisiana
Atmos Energy Mid-States Division	Georgia ⁽¹⁾ , Illinois ⁽¹⁾ , Iowa ⁽¹⁾ , Missouri ⁽¹⁾ , Tennessee, Virginia ⁽¹⁾
Atmos Energy Mississippi Division	Mississippi
Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area
Atmos Energy West Texas Division	West Texas

⁽¹⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

Our nonutility businesses operate in 22 states and include our natural gas marketing operations, our pipeline and storage operations and our other nonutility operations. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by the Company.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States utility divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage business includes the regulated operations of our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and the nonregulated operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas to third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES) and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are each wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide these services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct gas-fired electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. Unaudited Interim Financial Information

In the opinion of management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the unaudited consolidated interim-period financial statements. These consolidated interim-period financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. Because of seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the three-month period ended December 31, 2005 are not indicative of expected results of operations for the full 2006 fiscal year, which ends September 30, 2006.

Basis of Comparison

Certain prior-period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.

Significant accounting policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. Except for the Company's adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123 (revised), *Share-Based Payment*, discussed below, there were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the three months ended December 31, 2005.

Stock-based compensation plans

Our 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to officers and key employees. Nonemployee directors are also eligible to receive stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire our common stock.

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123(R)). This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123(R), the Company is required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award.

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended December 31, 2005 includes: (i) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123; and (ii) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. Total stock-based compensation expense included in our statement of income for the three months ended December 31, 2005 was less than \$0.1 million and was recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense. In accordance with the modified prospective method, financial results for prior periods have not been restated.

Prior to October 1, 2005, we accounted for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in APB Opinion 25, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options was recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock were

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation was amortized to operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock.

Had compensation expense for our stock-based awards been recognized as prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the three months ended December 31, 2004 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Three Months Ended December 31, 2004 (In thousands, except per share amounts)
Net income — as reported	\$59,599
Restricted stock compensation expense included in income, net of tax	489
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair- value-based method for all awards, net of tax	(741)
Net income — pro forma	\$59,347
Earnings per share:	
Basic earnings per share — as reported	\$ 0.79
Basic earnings per share pro forma	<u>\$ 0.79</u>
Diluted earnings per share — as reported	\$ 0.79
Diluted earnings per share — pro forma	\$ 0.78

Regulatory assets and liabilities

We record certain costs as regulatory assets in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, when future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Substantially all of our regulatory assets are recorded as a component of deferred charges and substantially all of our regulatory liabilities are recorded as a component of deferred credits and other liabilities. Deferred gas costs are recorded either in other current assets or liabilities and the regulatory cost of removal obligation is separately reported.

Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005 included the following:

	December 31, 2005	September 30, 2005
	(In thousands)	
Regulatory assets:		
Merger and integration costs, net	\$ 9,065	\$ 9,150
Deferred gas cost	124,269	38,173
Environmental costs	1,312	1,357
Rate case costs	10,796	11,314
Deferred franchise fees	3,208	6,710
Other	9,168	9,313
	\$157,818	\$ 76,017

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	December 31, 2005	September 30, 2005
	(In thousands)	
Regulatory liabilities:		
Deferred gas costs	\$ 39,143	\$134,048
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	280,564	274,989
Deferred income taxes, net	3,185	3,185
Other	7,580	8,084
	\$330,472	\$420,306

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on certain of our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. Environmental costs have been deferred to future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

Comprehensive income

The following table presents the components of comprehensive income, net of related tax, for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

	Three Months Ended December 31	
	2005	2004
	(In thousands)	
Net income	\$ 71,027	\$ 59,599
Unrealized holding gains on investments, net of tax expense of \$248 and \$649	405	1,057
Amortization and unrealized losses on interest rate hedging transactions, net of tax expense (benefit) of \$528 and \$(3,245)	860	(5,296)
Net unrealized losses on commodity hedging transactions, net of tax benefit of \$14,749 and \$7,912	(24,063)	(12,908)
Comprehensive income	\$ 48,229	<u>\$ 42,452</u>

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

	December 31, 2005	September 30, 2005	
	(In thousands)		
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:			
Unrealized holding gains on investments	\$ 1,089	\$ 684	
Treasury lock agreements	(23,122)	(23,982)	
Cash flow hedges	<u>(4,106</u>)	19,957	
	\$(26,139)	<u>\$ (3,341)</u>	

Recent accounting pronouncements

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47), which clarifies that an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation when the obligation is

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

incurred — generally upon acquisition, construction or development and/or through the normal operation of the asset, if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. A conditional asset retirement obligation is a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. Uncertainty about the timing and/or method of settlement is required to be factored into the measurement of the liability when sufficient information exists. FIN 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 is effective for us by the end of the 2006 fiscal year. We are currently evaluating the impact that FIN 47 may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

3. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its mark to market measurement from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity.

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005:

	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing (In thousands)	Total
December 31, 2005:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$38,780	\$ 6,424	\$ 45,204
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent		653	653
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(507)	(55,251)	(55,758)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		<u>(11,194</u>)	(11,194)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$38,273	<u>\$(59,368)</u>	<u>\$(21,095</u>)
September 30, 2005:			
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$93,310	\$ 14,603	\$107,913
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent		735	735
Liabilities from risk management activities, current		(61,920)	(61,920)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent		(15,316)	(15,316)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$93,310	<u>\$(61,898</u>)	\$ 31,412

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. Because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment ultimately will be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Regulation. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. For the 2005-2006 heating season, we hedged approximately 46 percent of our anticipated winter flowing gas requirements at a weighted average cost of approximately \$9.11 per Mcf. Our utility hedging activities also include the cost of our Treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

Nonutility Hedging Activities

AEM manages its exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our financial derivative activities include fair value hedges to offset changes in the fair value of our natural gas inventory and cash flow hedges to offset anticipated purchases and sales of gas in the future. AEM also utilizes basis swaps and other non-hedge derivative instruments to manage its exposure to market volatility.

For the three-month period ended December 31, 2005, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive loss was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts, and the recognition for the three months ended December 31, 2005 of \$15.3 million in net deferred hedging gains in net income when the derivative contracts matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging loss associated with open cash flow hedges remains subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging balance as of December 31, 2005 is expected to be recognized in net income in fiscal 2006 along with the corresponding hedged purchases and sales of natural gas.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. At the close of business on December 31, 2005, AEH had a net open position (including existing storage) of 0.1 Bcf.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt in October 2004. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This payment was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a period of five to ten years. During the three-month period ended December 31, 2005, we recognized approximately \$1.4 million of this amount as a component of interest expense.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

4. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005 consisted of the following:

	December 31, 2005		September 30, 2005			
	(In thousands)			is)		
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due 2007	\$	300,000	\$	300,000		
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009		400,000		400,000		
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011		350,000		350,000		
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011		2,303		2,303		
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013		250,000		250,000		
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014		500,000		500,000		
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034		200,000		200,000	200,000	
Medium term notes						
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010		10,000		10,000		
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025		10,000		10,000		
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028		150,000		150,000		
First Mortgage Bonds						
Series P, 10.43% due 2013		8,750		10,000		
Other term notes due in installments through 2013		7,394		7,839		
Total long-term debt	2	,188,447	2	,190,142		
Less:						
Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures		(3,664)		(3,774)		
Current maturities		(3,286)		(3,264)		
	<u>\$2</u>	,181,497	\$2	,183,104		

Our unsecured floating rate debt bears interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At December 31, 2005, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 4.525 percent.

Short-term debt

At December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005, there was \$474.1 million and \$144.8 million outstanding under our commercial paper program and bank credit facilities.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Committed credit facilities

As of December 31, 2005, we had three short-term committed revolving credit facilities totaling \$918 million. The first facility is a three-year unsecured facility, expiring October 2008, for \$600 million that bears interest at a base rate or at the LIBOR rate plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings, and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600 million commercial paper program. At December 31, 2005, there was \$381.7 million outstanding under our commercial paper program.

We have a second unsecured facility in place which is a 364-day facility expiring November 2006, for \$300 million that bears interest at a base rate or the LIBOR rate plus from 0.40 percent to 1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings. At December 31, 2005, there were no borrowings under this facility.

We have a third unsecured facility in place for \$18 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expires on March 31, 2006. There was \$17.4 million outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2005.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently meet. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in both our \$600 million three-year credit facility and \$300 million 364-day credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At December 31, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 61 percent. In addition, the fees that we pay on unused amounts under both the \$600 million and \$300 million credit facilities are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings.

Uncommitted credit facilities

On November 28, 2005, AEM amended its \$250 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. The credit facility will expire on March 31, 2006.

Borrowings under the credit facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50% per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.50%. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.375% to 1.75% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above, plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.125% to 2.00% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$120 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$121 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding \$4 million to \$23 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At December 31, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 2.68 to 1.

At December 31, 2005, \$75 million was outstanding under this credit facility. In addition, at December 31, 2005, AEM letters of credit totaling \$276.9 million had been issued under the facility, which reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$48.1 million at December 31, 2005. This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH.

The Company also has an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25 million that is used for working-capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at December 31, 2005, but letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.4 million. This uncommitted line is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line. Borrowings under this line are made on a when-and-as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

AEH, the parent company of AEM, has a \$100 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with the Company which bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%. This facility has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2006. At December 31, 2005, \$96.4 million was outstanding under this facility.

In addition, AEM has a \$120 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at the LIBOR rate plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$580 million uncommitted demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$580 million credit facility. At December 31, 2005, there was \$94 million outstanding under this facility.

Debt Covenants

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, after November 2007, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985 plus \$9 million. At December 31, 2005 approximately \$203.5 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of December 31, 2005. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600 million and \$300 million revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity, based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

5. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

On August 12, 1998, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which became effective October 1, 1998 after approval by our shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan is a comprehensive, long-term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock,

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to certain employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock. We are authorized to grant awards for up to a maximum of four million shares of common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions. As of December 31, 2005, non-qualified stock options, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units have been issued under this plan and 1,090,754 shares were available for issuance. The option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant. These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over a service period ranging from one to three years.

We used the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of each option granted with the following weighted average assumptions:

	End Decemi	led
Valuation Assumptions ⁽¹⁾	2005	2004
Expected Life (years) (2)		
Interest rate ⁽³⁾	4.6%	4.2%
Volatility ⁽⁴⁾	20.3%	21.3%
Dividend yield	4.8%	4.8%

⁽¹⁾ Beginning on the date of adoption of SFAS 123(R), forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience. Prior to the date of adoption, forfeitures were recorded as they occurred.

A summary of option activity as of December 31, 2005, and changes during the three months then ended, is presented below:

,	Number of Options	Weighted-Average Exercise Price	Weighted-Average Remaining Contractual Term (In years)	Aggregate Intrinsic Value (In thousands)
Outstanding at September 30, 2005	964,704	\$22.20		
Granted	93,196	26.19		
Exercised	(1,334)	22.32		
Forfeited	(166)	21.23		
Outstanding at December 31, 2005	1,056,400	\$22.55	6.1	\$3,843
Exercisable at December 31, 2005	855,044	<u>\$22.22</u>	5.5	\$3,131

The stock options had a weighted-average fair value per share on the date of grant of \$3.74 and \$3.69 for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options during the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were less than \$0.1 million and \$1.1 million. The associated income tax benefit from stock options exercised during the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was less than \$0.1 million for both periods. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was \$4,696 and \$176,354.

⁽²⁾ The expected life of stock options is estimated based on historical experience.

⁽³⁾ The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected life of the stock options.

⁽⁴⁾ The volatility is estimated based on historical and current stock data for the Company.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

As of December 31, 2005, there was \$0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.41 years.

Restricted Stock Plans

As noted above, the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for discretionary awards of time-lapse restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units to help attract, retain and reward employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. Certain of these awards vest based upon the passage of time and other awards vest based upon the passage of time and the achievement of specified performance targets. The associated expense is recognized ratably over the vesting period.

A summary of the status of the Company's nonvested restricted shares as of December 31, 2005, and changes during the three months then ended, is presented below:

	Number of Restricted Shares	Weighted-Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Nonvested at September 30, 2005	592,490	\$25.32
Granted	83,941	26.19
Vested	(20,290)	21.59
Forfeited	(1,428)	25.55
Nonvested at December 31, 2005	654,713	\$25.55

As of December 31, 2005, there was \$10.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares granted under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.86 years. The total fair value of restricted stock vested during the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was \$0.4 million and \$0.5 million.

6. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are calculated as follows:

		nths Ended aber 31
	2005	2004
		nds, except amounts)
Net income	<u>\$71,027</u>	\$59,599
Denominator for basic income per share — weighted average common		
shares	80,259	75,306
Effect of dilutive securities:		
Restricted and other shares	365	275
Stock options	98	144
Denominator for diluted income per share — weighted average common		
shares	80,722	75,725
Income per share — basic	\$ 0.88	\$ 0.79
Income per share — diluted	\$ 0.88	\$ 0.79

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 as their exercise price was less than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

7. Interim Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Information

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other postretirement benefit plans for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are presented in the following table. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

	Three Months Ended December 31				
	Pension	Benefits	Other Benefits		
	2005	2004	2005	2004	
		(In thou	usands)		
Components of net periodic pension cost:					
Service cost	\$4,117	\$3,136	\$3,271	\$2,478	
Interest cost	5,722	6,017	2,210	2,366	
Expected return on assets	(6,400)	(6,885)	(547)	(518)	
Amortization of transition asset		1	378	378	
Amortization of prior service cost	16	(2)	90	96	
Amortization of actuarial loss	3,299	1,891	320	<u>151</u>	
Net periodic pension cost	<u>\$6,754</u>	<u>\$4,158</u>	<u>\$5,722</u>	<u>\$4,951</u>	

The assumptions used to develop our net periodic pension cost for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

	Pens Bene		Other Benefits	
	2005	2004	2005	2004
Discount rate	5.00%	6.25%	5.00%	6.25%
Rate of compensation increase	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%
Expected return on plan assets	8.50%	8.75%	5.30%	5.30%

The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. During the three months ended December 31, 2005, we did not make a voluntary contribution to our pension plans. However, we contributed \$2.5 million to our other postretirement plans and we expect to contribute approximately \$11.9 million to these plans during fiscal 2006.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Environmental Matters

With respect to the specific litigation and environmental-related matters or claims that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005, there were no material changes in the status of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims during the three months ended December 31, 2005. We continue to believe that the final outcome of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In addition, we are involved in other litigation and environmental-related matters or claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. While the ultimate results of such litigation and response actions to such environmental-related matters or claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and response actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At December 31, 2005, AEM was committed to purchase 45.3 Bcf within one year, 23.5 Bcf within one to three years and 17.6 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 1.3 Bcf within one year and 0.3 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$6.00 to \$15.08. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$787.7 million and \$360.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division, maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contracts as of December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

2006	\$ 561,927
2007	511,915
2008	139,845
2009	
2010	11,061
2010	<u>36,940</u>
	\$1,273,494

Regulatory Matters

In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint at the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our present rates are producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. On February 2, 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss and establishing an informal conference to be held on February 14, 2006 for the purpose of developing a procedural schedule and simplification of issues. We do not believe that the Attorney General will be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

In August 2005, we received a "show cause" order from the City of Dallas, which requires us to provide information that demonstrates good cause for showing that our existing distribution rates charged to customers in the City of Dallas should not be reduced. We filed our response to this order in November 2005 and we are responding to requests for information by the City of Dallas. In addition, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, approximately 80 other cities in the Mid-Tex Division passed resolutions requesting that we "show cause" why existing distribution rates are just and reasonable and required a filing by us on a system-wide basis. We made the required filing on December 30, 2005. We are responding to requests for information by the cities'

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

consultant. We believe that we will be able to demonstrate in all these "show cause" proceedings that our rates are just and reasonable.

In November 2005, we received a notice from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority that it was opening an investigation into allegations that we are overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately \$10 million per year. We believe that we are not overcharging our customers and we intend to participate fully in the investigation.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. We will provide information to the city on or before February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

Other

On November 30, 2005, we entered into an agreement with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex (North Side Loop). Under terms of the agreement, we are responsible for contributing no more than \$42.5 million to the construction costs of the pipeline. We are also responsible for 50% of the costs of the compression facilities. Approximately 21 miles of the pipeline was placed in service by December 31, 2005 with the remainder of the pipeline expected to be placed in service by March 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2005, we have spent \$19.2 million for the North Side Loop project and expect to spend approximately \$29.7 million in the remainder of fiscal 2006 for this project.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, we entered into two agreements with third parties to transport natural gas through our Texas intrastate pipeline system beginning in fiscal 2006. To handle the increased volumes for these projects, we will install compression equipment and other pipeline infrastructure. We expect to spend approximately \$32 million in fiscal 2006 for these projects.

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage to our eastern Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service territory were in Jefferson, St. Tammany, St. Bernard and Plaquemines parishes. In total, approximately 230,000 of our natural gas customers were affected in these areas. A significant number of these customers will not require gas service for some time because of sustained damages. We cannot predict with certainty how many of these customers will return to these service areas and over what time period. Additionally, we cannot accurately determine what regulatory actions, if any, may be taken by the regulators with respect to these areas. As of December 31, 2005, we believe adequate provision has been made for any losses that may not be fully recovered through insurance or for which we do not receive rate relief.

9. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in our customer base.

Customer diversification also helps mitigate AEM's credit exposure. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of nonperformance by any single counterparty.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by AEM's credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investor Service Inc. and/or Standard & Poor's. For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-guaranteed industrial and commercial customers is non-investment grade. The table below shows the percentages related to the investment ratings as of December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005.

	December 31, 2005	September 30, 2005
Investment grade	48%	49%
Non-investment grade	_52%	_51%
Total	100%	<u>100</u> %

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of December 31, 2005. Investment grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by Standard & Poor's; or Baa3, assigned by Moody's Investor Service. Non-investment grade counterparties are composed of counterparties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individually significant.

	December 31, 2005			
	Utility Segment ⁽¹⁾	Natural Gas Marketing Segment (In thousands)	Consolidated	
Investment grade counterparties	\$38,780	\$2,071	\$40,851	
Non-investment grade counterparties		5,006	5,006	
	\$38,780	<u>\$7,077</u>	<u>\$45,857</u>	

⁽¹⁾ Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through to our customers.

10. Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally,

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- · the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies found in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units.

Summarized income statements for the three-month period ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 by segment are presented in the following tables:

		Three Months Ended December 31, 2005					
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage	Other Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated	
			(In thou	usands)			
Operating revenues from	#1 40 4 00 c	# 0C0 C10	#1 # 001	# COO	Φ.	#0 000 000	
external parties	\$1,404,806	\$ 860,613	\$17,881	\$ 520	\$ —	\$2,283,820	
Intersegment revenues	204	<u>241,232</u>	<u>21,831</u>	972	(264,239)		
	1,405,010	1,101,845	39,712	1,492	(264,239)	2,283,820	
Purchased gas cost	1,124,829	1,075,526			(263,125)	1,937,230	
Gross profit	280,181	26,319	39,712	1,492	(1,114)	346,590	
Operating expenses							
Operation and maintenance	92,766	4,352	10,998	1,265	(1,164)	108,217	
Depreciation and							
amortization	38,264	470	4,502	24		43,260	
Taxes, other than income	42,902	243	2,160	111	American	45,416	
Total operating expenses	173,932	5,065	17,660	1,400	(1,164)	196,893	
Operating income	106,249	21,254	22,052	92	50	149,697	
Miscellaneous income	2,837	590	1,405	661	(5,045)	448	
Interest charges	31,588	2,862	5,973	761	(4,995)	36,189	
Income (loss) before income							
taxes	77,498	18,982	17,484	(8)		113,956	
Income tax expense (benefit)	29,085	7,530	<u>6,317</u>	(3)	-	42,929	
Net income (loss)	\$ 48,413	<u>\$ 11,452</u>	\$11,167	<u>\$ (5)</u>	\$	\$ 71,027	
Capital expenditures	\$ 72,415	\$ 332	<u>\$29,718</u>	<u>\$</u>	<u> </u>	\$ 102,465	

${\bf ATMOS~ENERGY~CORPORATION}$ NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Three Months Ended December 31, 2004							
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage (In th	Other Nonutility ousands)	Eliminations	Consolidated		
Operating revenues from external parties	\$913,406	\$432,910	\$21,752	\$ 556	\$ —	\$1,368,624		
Intersegment revenues	275	60,891	21,938	803	(83,907)			
	913,681	493,801	43,690	1,359	(83,907)	1,368,624		
Purchased gas cost	656,370	466,957	6,221		(83,027)	1,046,521		
Gross profit	257,311	26,844	37,469	1,359	(880)	322,103		
Operating expenses								
Operation and maintenance	96,553	3,446	10,661	1,047	(930)	110,777		
Depreciation and amortization	39,051	504	4,413	29	-	43,997		
Taxes, other than income	36,620	(91)	2,048	78		38,655		
Total operating expenses	172,224	3,859	17,122	1,154	(930)	193,429		
Operating income	85,087	22,985	20,347	205	50	128,674		
Miscellaneous income	972	246	315	593	(1,741)	385		
Interest charges	27,259	401	6,171	<u>402</u>	(1,691)	32,542		
Income before income taxes	58,800	22,830	14,491	396		96,517		
Income tax expense	21,777	9,568	5,407	166		36,918		
Net income	\$ 37,023	\$ 13,262	\$ 9,084	<u>\$ 230</u>	<u> </u>	\$ 59,599		
Capital expenditures	\$ 65,927	\$ 139	\$ 1,135	<u> </u>	<u>\$</u>	\$ 67,201		

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Balance sheet information at December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005 by segment is presented in the following tables:

			Decem	ber 31, 2005		
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage	Other Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
ASSETS			i nx)	.nousanus j		
Property, plant and equipment,						
net	\$2,966,223	\$ 7,298	\$465,038	\$ 1,375	\$ —	\$3,439,934
Investment in subsidiaries	229,892	(1,997)			(227,895)	
Current assets						
Cash and cash equivalents	18,793	30,248		410		49,451
Cash held on deposit in margin		74.076				74.076
account	-	74,076			-	74,076
Assets from risk management activities	38,780	18,316	4,649		(16,541)	45,204
Other current assets	1,469,586	672,230	42,134	98,155	(274,555)	
Intercompany receivables	509,998			27,156	(537,154)	
Total current assets	2,037,157	794,870	46,783	125,721	(828,250)	
Intangible assets	2,037,137	3,361		120,1201	(020,250)	3,361
Goodwill	566,800	24,282	143,198		-	734,280
Noncurrent assets from risk	,		,			
management activities		1,432	779		(1,558)	653
Deferred charges and other assets	238,628	1,454	5,327	19,084		264,493
	\$6,038,700	\$830,700	\$661,125	\$146,180	\$(1,057,703)	\$6,619,002
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES						
Shareholders' equity	\$1,637,617	\$127,180	\$ 72,006	\$ 30,706	\$ (229,892)	\$1,637,617
Long-term debt	2,176,140			5,357		2,181,497
Total capitalization	3,813,757	127,180	72,006	36,063	(229,892)	3,819,114
Current liabilities						
Current maturities of long-						
term debt	1,250	1.60.000		2,036	(100,100)	3,286
Short-term debt	399,059	169,000		96,400	(190,400)	474,059
management activities	507	59,900	11,902		(16,551)	55,758
Other current liabilities	1,105,783	372,803	116,131	4,023	(82,148)	1,516,592
Intercompany payables		96,194	440,960		(537,154)	
Total current liabilities	1,506,599	697,897	568,993	102,459	(826,253)	2,049,695
Deferred income taxes	274,552	(6,578)	14,544	1,678	(020,233)	284,196
Noncurrent liabilities from risk		(0,- / 0)	- 1,5	2,070		20 1,27 0
management activities		11,973	779	*****	(1,558)	11,194
Regulatory cost of removal					, , ,	
obligation	268,999			*********		268,999
Deferred credits and other	1774 700	200	4.000	£ 000		100.00
liabilities	174,793	228	4,803	5,980		185,804
	\$6,038,700	<u>\$830,700</u>	\$661,125	<u>\$146,180</u>	<u>\$(1,057,703)</u>	\$6,619,002

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	September 30, 2005					
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Pipeline and Storage (In th	Other Nonutility ousands)	Eliminations	Consolidated
ASSETS						
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$2,926,096 231,342	\$ 7,278 (1,896)	\$439,574 —	\$ 1,419 —	\$ — (229,446)	\$3,374,367 —
Current assets Cash and cash equivalents	10,663	28,949	*****	504	. ——	40,116
Cash held on deposit in margin account	4,170	76,786				80,956
Assets from risk management activities Other current assets Intercompany receivables	93,310 666,081 505,728	39,528 421,777 ———	1,739 36,208	63,820 20,133	(26,664) (152,441) (525,861)	107,913 1,035,445
Total current assets Intangible assets	1,279,952	567,040 3,507	37,947 —	84,457 —	(704,966) —	1,264,430 3,507
Goodwill	566,800	24,282	143,198	***************************************		734,280
management activities		2,073	1,338		(2,676)	735
Deferred charges and other assets	249,179 \$5,253,369	1,461 \$603,745	5,737 \$627,794	19,831 \$105,707		276,208 \$5,653,527
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES						
Shareholders' equity Long-term debt	\$1,602,422 2,177,279	\$144,827 —	\$ 53,426 	\$ 33,089 5,825	\$(231,342) —	\$1,602,422 2,183,104
Total capitalization	3,779,701	144,827	53,426	38,914	(231,342)	3,785,526
Current liabilities Current maturities of long-term debt	1,250	**************************************		2,014		3,264
Short-term debt Liabilities from risk	144,809	60,000		51,320	(111,320)	144,809
management activities Other current liabilities	623,300	63,936 217,777	25,038 95,557	 4,963	(27,054) (38,835)	61,920 902,762
Intercompany payables		87,968	437,893		(525,861)	*******
Total current liabilities Deferred income taxes	769,359 268,108	429,681 12,369	558,488 9,563	58,297 2,167	(703,070)	1,112,755 292,207
Noncurrent liabilities from risk management activities		16,654	1,338		(2,676)	15,316
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	263,424			*****		263,424
Deferred credits and other liabilities	172,777	214	4,979	6,329		184,299
	\$5,253,369	\$603,745	\$627,794	\$105,707	<u>\$(937,088</u>)	<u>\$5,653,527</u>

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of December 31, 2005, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein, and in our report dated November 16, 2005, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas February 3, 2006

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by the Company and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of the Company's documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "estimate", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to the Company's strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in the Company's gas utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness; national, regional and local economic conditions; the Company's ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; risks relating to the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations, including without limitation, the Company's increased indebtedness resulting from the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations; the impact of recent natural disasters on our operations, especially Hurricane Katrina; and other uncertainties, which may be discussed herein, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company. A more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties may be found in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. Accordingly, while the Company believes these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of its forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Overview

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers throughout our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management, transportation, storage and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations.

The following summarizes the results of our operations for the three months ended December 31, 2005:

- Our utility segment net income increased by \$11.4 million during the three months ended December 31, 2005. The increase reflects the impact of weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was seven percent colder than the prior-year quarter coupled with lower O&M expenses.
- Our natural gas marketing segment net income decreased \$1.8 million during the three months ended
 December 31, 2005 compared with the three months ended December 31, 2004. The decrease in
 natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects increased unrealized losses which offset increases
 resulting from improved storage optimization efforts. Also contributing to the decrease in natural gas
 marketing net income was an increase in interest charges resulting from higher third party borrowings
 to fund working capital needs.
- Our pipeline and storage segment net income increased \$2.1 million during the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared with the three months ended December 31, 2004, primarily reflecting increased throughput and higher transportation and other related services margins in our Atmos Pipeline Texas Division.
- Our total-debt-to-capitalization ratio at December 31, 2005 was 61.9 percent compared with 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005 reflecting the impact of increased short-term debt borrowings to fund working capital needs.
- For the three months ended December 31, 2005, we realized a \$195.4 million cash outflow from operating activities compared with a \$67.9 million cash inflow from operations for the three months ended December 31, 2004, reflecting the adverse impact of high natural gas costs on our working capital.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$102.5 million in the current quarter from \$67.2 million in the prioryear quarter primarily reflecting increased capital spending for various pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Actual results may differ from such estimates.

Our critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005 and include the following:

- Regulation
- · Revenue Recognition
- · Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
- · Derivatives and Hedging Activities
- Impairment Assessments
- Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Our critical accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting policies during the three months ended December 31, 2005.

Results of Operations

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

	Three Months Ended December 31			
		2005		2004
		(In thousands, unless otherwise noted)		
Operating revenues	\$2,	283,820	\$1	,368,624
Gross profit		346,590		322,103
Operating expenses		196,893		193,429
Operating income		149,697		128,674
Miscellaneous income		448		385
Interest charges		36,189		32,542
Income before income taxes		113,956		96,517
Income tax expense		42,929		36 , 918
Net income	\$	71,027	\$	59,599
Utility sales volumes — MMcf		95,188		90,957
Utility transportation volumes — MMcf		30,602		27,978
Total utility throughput — MMcf	===	125,790	===	118,935
Natural gas marketing sales volumes — MMcf	==	71,496	-	60,296
Pipeline transportation volumes — MMcf		89,613		72,753
Heating degree days ⁽¹⁾				
Actual (weighted average)		1,056		988
Percent of normal		93%		88%
Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$	0.51	\$	0.58
Consolidated utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$	11.82	\$	7.22

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations.

The following table shows our operating income by segment for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	Three Months Ended December 31				
		2005	2004		
	Operating Income	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾	Operating Income	Heating Degree Days Percent of Normal ⁽¹⁾	
		(In thousands, except	degree day information)		
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 8,610	99%	\$ 8,235	99%	
Kentucky	6,192	100%	5,845	94%	
Louisiana	7,891	95%	6,333	85%	
Mid-States	14,298	99%	11,138	91%	
Mid-Tex	50,787	83%	38,548	78%	
Mississippi	9,993	103%	8,607	89%	
West Texas	6,131	100%	5,786	100%	
Other	2,347	_	<u>595</u>		
Utility segment	106,249	93%	85,087	88%	
Natural gas marketing segment	21,254		22,985	*****	
Pipeline and storage segment	22,052		20,347	wassammy.	
Other nonutility segment and other	142		255	, que qui maine	
Consolidated operating income	<u>\$149,697</u>	93%	<u>\$128,674</u>	88%	

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations.

Three Months Ended December 31, 2005 compared with Three Months Ended December 31, 2004 Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 65 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 67 percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are partially offset through weather normalization adjustments, or WNA, in certain of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of

customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. As of December 31, 2005, we had WNA in the following service areas for the following periods, which covered approximately 1.0 million customer meters:

Georgia	October - May
Kansas	October - May
Kentucky	November - April
Mississippi	November - April
Tennessee	November - April
Amarillo, Texas	October - May
West Texas	October - May
Lubbock, Texas	October - May
Virginia	January - December

Our Mid-Tex Division does not have WNA. However, its operations benefit from a rate structure that combines a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provides for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions. However, this rate structure is not as beneficial during periods where weather is significantly warmer than normal.

Operating income

Utility gross profit margin increased to \$280.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 from \$257.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 125.8 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current-year period compared to 118.9 Bcf in the prior-year period.

The increase in utility gross profit margin and throughput primarily reflects weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was seven percent colder than the prior-year quarter. Additionally, our Mississippi Division benefited from an increase in its WNA coverage during the three months ended December 31, 2005 and colder than normal weather prior to the beginning of its WNA period. Offsetting these increases was a \$2.1 million reduction in gross profit in our Louisiana Division due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina. Additionally, gross profit increases were partially offset by weather that was seven percent warmer than normal primarily as a result of 17 percent warmer than normal weather in our Mid-Tex Division, which does not have weather-normalized rates.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$173.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 from \$172.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. The increase reflects a \$6.3 million increase in taxes, primarily related to franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, both of which are calculated as a percentage of revenue, which are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are included as a component of revenue in accordance with our tariffs, timing differences between when these amounts are billed to our customers and when we recognize the associated expense may affect net income favorably or unfavorably on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

Offsetting these increases was a \$3.8 million decrease in operation and maintenance expense attributable to a reduction in third-party costs for outsourced administrative and meter reading functions that were insourced during the first quarter of fiscal 2006. Additionally, the decrease in operation and maintenance expense reflects the absence of \$2.1 million of UCG merger and integration cost amortization as these costs were fully amortized by December 2004. These decreases were partially offset by a \$2 million charge for Hurricane Katrina related losses, increased employee headcount and higher benefit costs associated with the

increase in headcount and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs.

Additionally, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Mississippi Public Service Commission, in connection with the modification of our rate design described below under Recent Ratemaking Activity, decided to allow \$2.8 million of deferred costs, which it had originally disallowed in its September 2004 decision. This ruling decreased our depreciation expense during the three months ended December 31, 2005.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the three months ended December 31, 2005 increased to \$106.2 million from \$85.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the three months ended December 31, 2005 increased to \$31.6 million from \$27.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. The increase was attributable to higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices coupled with a 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our \$300 million unsecured floating rate Senior Notes due 2007 due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were partially offset by \$1.2 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of \$72.5 million of our First Mortgage Bonds in June 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at advantageous prices to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of storage activities, which are comprised of the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets and marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 is summarized as follows:

	Three Months Ended December 31	
	2005	2004
	(In thousands, except physical position)	
Storage Activities		
Realized margin	\$ 26,272	\$ 4,776
Unrealized margin	(23,792)	12,519
Total Storage Activities	2,480	17,295
Marketing Activities		
Realized margin	29,567	11,414
Unrealized margin	(5,728)	(1,865)
Total Marketing Activities	23,839	9,549
Gross profit	\$ 26,319	<u>\$26,844</u>
Net physical position (Bcf)	<u> 12.8</u>	6.4

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$26.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$26.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended December 31, 2005 included an unrealized loss of \$29.5 million compared with an unrealized gain of \$10.7 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 87.8 Bcf during the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared with 66.1 Bcf for the prior-year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 71.5 Bcf during the current-year period compared with 60.3 Bcf in the prior-year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was attributable to successfully executed marketing strategies into new market areas.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a gain of \$2.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared to a gain of \$17.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. This \$14.8 million decrease in gross profit from storage activities was comprised of a \$21.5 million increase in realized storage contribution primarily due to our ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads that arose from increased market volatility offset by a \$36.3 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution primarily due to an unfavorable movement during the three months ended December 31, 2005 between the current spot market prices used to mark to fair value the physical inventory designated as a hedged item in a fair value hedge and the forward natural gas prices used to value the offsetting financial hedges. This effect was magnified by a 6.4 Bcf increase in our net physical position at December 31, 2005 compared to the prior-year quarter. We have elected to exclude this forward/spot differential from our hedge effectiveness assessment. Subsequent to the hurricanes, which occurred in the fall of 2005, the forward/spot differential has been volatile and may continue to cause material volatility in our unrealized margin. However, the economic gross profit we have captured in the original transactions will remain essentially unchanged. We may further increase the amount of our storage capacity during the remainder of fiscal 2006; therefore, the impact of price volatility on our unrealized storage contribution could increase in future periods.

Our marketing activities contributed \$23.8 million to our gross profit for the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared to \$9.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. The increase in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to successfully capturing increased margins in certain market areas that experienced higher market volatility.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$5.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 from \$3.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004.

The increase in operating expense was attributable primarily to an increase in labor costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The decrease in gross profit margin, combined with higher operating expenses, resulted in a decrease in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$21.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared with operating income of \$23 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC. The Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, blending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are believed to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$39.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 from \$37.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 147 Bef during the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared with 130 Bef for the prior-year quarter. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 89.6 Bef during the current year quarter compared with 72.8 Bef in the prior-year quarter. The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects increased throughput on our Atmos Pipeline — Texas system coupled with higher transportation and related services margins.

Operating expenses increased to \$17.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 from \$17.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with the increase in headcount and increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the three months ended December 31, 2005 increased to \$22.1 million from \$20.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct gas-fired electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared with the prior-year quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for the remainder of fiscal 2006.

Capitalization

The following table presents our capitalization as of December 31, 2005 and September 30, 2005:

	December 31	, 2005	September 3	, 2005		
	(In thousands, except percentages)					
Short-term debt	\$ 474,059	11.0%	\$ 144,809	3.7%		
Long-term debt	2,184,783	50.9%	2,186,368	55.6%		
Shareholders' equity	1,637,617	38.1%	1,602,422	40.7%		
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$4,296,459	100.0%	\$3,933,599	100.0%		

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 61.9 percent at December 31, 2005, and 59.3 percent at September 30, 2005. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was primarily attributable to seasonal increases in our short-term debt borrowings to fund our natural gas purchases. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within two to four years, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the prices for our products and services, the demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attributable primarily to changes in net income, working capital changes within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the three months ended December 31, 2005, we realized a \$195.4 million cash outflow from operating activities compared with a \$67.9 million cash inflow from operations for the three months ended December 31, 2004. Overall, our operating cash flow was adversely impacted by significantly higher natural gas prices, which have increased the levels of accounts receivable, natural gas inventories, accounts payable and undercollected deferred gas costs recorded on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2005. Specifically, working capital management efforts, which affected the timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, favorably affected operating cash flow by \$284.2 million. However, these efforts were offset by cash outflow of \$427.1 million arising from accounts receivable changes, an outflow of \$84.9 million arising from a 42 percent increase in our weighted average cost of gas held in inventory coupled with a 4.2 Bcf increase in natural gas stored underground and a \$55.1 million cash outflow related to deferred gas costs arising from timing differences between when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates. Finally, other working capital and other changes improved operating cash flow by \$19.6 million. The changes primarily related to increased net income and deferred tax expense partially offset by various other working capital changes.

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions, our ongoing construction program and improvements to information systems. Our ongoing construction program enables us to provide natural gas distribution services to our existing customer base, to expand our natural gas distribution services into new markets, to enhance the integrity of our pipelines and, more recently, to expand our intrastate pipeline network. In executing our current rate strategy, we are directing discretionary capital spending to jurisdictions that permit us to recover our investment in a timely manner. Currently, our Mid-Tex, Louisiana, Mississippi and West Texas utility divisions and our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division have rate designs that provide the opportunity to include in their rate base approved capital costs on a periodic basis without having to file a rate case.

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2006 are expected to range from \$400 million to \$415 million. For the three months ended December 31, 2005, we incurred \$102.5 million for capital expenditures compared with \$67.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. The increase in capital expenditures primarily reflects increased spending associated with our Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex North Side Loop project and other pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline — Texas Division and various capital projects in our Mid-Tex Division.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the three months ended December 31, 2005, our financing activities provided \$308.3 million in cash compared with \$1.7 billion provided in the prior-year period. Our significant financing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows. The adoption of SFAS 123(R) did not materially affect our cash flows from financing activities.

- In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382 million. Additionally, we issued \$1.39 billion of senior unsecured debt under our shelf registration statement. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline Texas divisions and settle Treasury lock agreements we entered into to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with \$875 million of the \$1.39 billion long-term debt we issued in October 2004 to fund the acquisition.
- During the three months ended December 31, 2005 we increased our borrowings under our credit facilities by \$329.3 million compared with \$28.8 million in the prior-year quarter. The increase reflects seasonal borrowings to fund natural gas purchases, including \$75 million by our natural gas marketing segment.

- We repaid \$1.7 million of long-term debt during the three months ended December 31, 2005 compared with \$3.4 million during the three months ended December 31, 2004. The decreased payments during the current quarter reflected the timing of our various debt obligations.
- During the three months ended December 31, 2005 we paid \$25.4 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$24.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004. The increase in dividends paid over the prior-year period reflects the increase in our dividend rate from \$0.31 per share during the three months ended December 31, 2004 to \$0.315 per share during the three months ended December 31, 2005.
- During the three months ended December 31, 2005 we issued 0.3 million shares of common stock which generated net proceeds of \$6.2 million. The following table summarizes the issuances for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

		lonths Ended ember 31
	2005	2004
Shares issued:		
Retirement Savings Plan	105,875	115,399
Direct Stock Purchase Plan	103,202	114,839
Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan	667	571
Long-Term Incentive Plan	103,753	127,237
Public Offering		16,100,000
Total shares issued	313,497	<u>16,458,046</u>

Shelf Registration

In August 2004, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective on September 15, 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares and issued \$1.4 billion in unsecured senior notes to partially finance the acquisition of our Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline — Texas divisions. After these issuances, we have approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under the registration statement.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital have increased substantially as a result of the significant increase in the price of natural gas.

In October 2005, our \$600 million 364-day committed credit facility expired and was replaced with a new \$600 million three-year revolving credit facility that became effective October 18, 2005. In addition, on November 10, 2005, we entered into a new \$300 million 364-day revolving credit facility with substantially the same terms as our \$600 million credit facility.

On November 28, 2005, AEM amended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the amount of credit available from \$250 million to a maximum of \$580 million. At December 31, 2005 AEM had \$75 million outstanding under this facility.

As of December 31, 2005, the amount available to us under our credit facilities, net of outstanding letters of credit, was \$587.2 million. We believe these credit facilities, combined with our operating cash flows will be

sufficient to fund our increased working capital needs. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 4 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	Moody's	Fitch
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2

Currently, with respect to our long-term debt, S&P and Moody's maintain their stable outlook. Additionally, during the second quarter of fiscal 2006, Fitch upgraded their outlook from negative to stable. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. All of our current ratings for long-term debt are categorized as investment grade. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB—, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB—. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

We are required by the financial covenants in our \$600 million and \$300 million credit facilities to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At December 31, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined in such facility, was 61 percent.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in its uncommitted demand working capital facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$120 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$121 million, and its maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 cannot exceed \$4 million to \$23 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At December 31, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined in such facility, was 2.68 to 1.

Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985, may not exceed the sum of our accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985, plus \$9 million. At December 31, 2005, approximately \$203.5 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of December 31, 2005. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and

debentures, as well as our revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Significant commercial commitments are described in Note 8. There were no significant changes in our contractual obligations and commercial commitments during the three months ended December 31, 2005.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter-period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could experience ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting, resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following table shows the components of the change in the fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing commodity derivative contracts for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

	Three Months Ended December 31, 2005		Three Months Ended December 31, 2004		
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing	
	-	(In tho			
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period	\$ 93,310	\$(61,898)	\$ (8,612)	\$ 13,018	
Contracts realized/settled	29,955	(27,669)	(39,121)	(11,627)	
Fair value of new contracts	(2,101)		(2,681)		
Other changes in value	(82,891)	30,199	41,002	3,823	
Fair value of contracts at end of period	\$ 38,273	<u>\$(59,368</u>)	\$ (9,412)	\$ 5,214	

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at December 31, 2005, is segregated below by time period and fair value source:

	Fair Value of Contracts at December 31, 2005					
	Maturity in Years					Total Fair
Source of Fair Value	Less than 1	1-3	4-5	Greate	er Than 5	Value
			(In thous:	ands)		
Prices actively quoted	\$(14,784)	\$(10,449)	\$ -	- \$		\$(25,233)
Prices provided by other external sources	4,323	388			******	4,711
Prices based on models and other valuation methods	(93)	(480)		_		(573)
Total Fair Value	<u>\$(10,554</u>)	<u>\$(10,541</u>)	\$ _	<u>\$</u>		<u>\$(21,095</u>)

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at advantageous prices to lock in a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its mark to market measurement from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the forecasted gross profit margin that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The forecasted gross profit margin, less the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements, provides a measure of the net increase or decrease in the gross profit margin that could occur in future periods if AEM's optimization efforts are fully successful.

As of December 31, 2005, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the forecasted gross profit margin was approximately \$7.1 million. Approximately \$38.6 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of December 31, 2005. Therefore, the projected increase in future gross profit margin is approximately \$45.7 million.

The forecasted gross profit margin calculation is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the forecasted gross profit margin is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the forecasted gross profit margin or the projected increase in future gross profit margin calculated as of December 31, 2005 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings may result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

For the three months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 our total net periodic pension and other benefits cost was \$12.5 million and \$9.1 million. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during the current-year period compared with the prior-year period primarily reflects changes in assumptions we made during our annual pension plan valuation completed June 30, 2005. The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates were declining, which resulted in a 125 basis point reduction in our discount rate to 5.0 percent. This reduction has the effect of increasing the present value of our plan liabilities and associated expenses. Additionally, we reduced the expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points to 8.5 percent, which also has the effect of increasing our pension and postretirement benefit cost.

During the three months ended December 31, 2005, we did not make a voluntary contribution to our pension plans. However, we contributed \$2.5 million to our other postretirement plans and we expect to contribute a total of \$11.9 million to these plans during fiscal 2006.

Operating Statistics and Other Information

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended December 31	
	2005	2004
METERS IN SERVICE, end of period		
Residential	2,910,467	2,886,511
Commercial	279,263	277,531
Industrial	3,074	2,298
Agricultural	9,470	8,299
Public authority and other	8,202	10,088
Total meters	3,210,476	3,184,727
HEATING DEGREE DAYS ⁽¹⁾		
Actual (weighted average)	1,056	988
Percent of normal	93%	88%
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽²⁾		
Gas sales volumes		
Residential	53,709	50,769
Commercial	29,139	27,863
Industrial	9,009	8,243
Agricultural	40	66
Public authority and other	3,291	4,016
Total gas sales volumes	95,188	90,957
Utility transportation volumes	31,756	29,741
Total utility throughput	126,944	120,698
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (2)		
Gas sales revenues		-
Residential	\$ 783,346	\$ 523,143
Commercial	424,338	264,992
Industrial	128,471	66,500
Agricultural	786	675
Public authority and other	43,971	32,430
Total utility gas sales revenues	1,380,912	887,740
Transportation revenues	15,867	16,432
Other gas revenues	8,231	9,509
Total utility operating revenues	\$1,405,010	\$ 913,681
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.50	\$ 0.55
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$ 11.82	\$ 7.22

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Mon Decemi	
	2005	2004
CUSTOMERS, end of period		
Industrial	657	625
Municipal	71	· 77
Other	395	389
Total	1,123	1,091
NATURAL GAS MARKETING SALES VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽²⁾	87,822	66,138
PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽²⁾	146,954	129,994
OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (2)		
Natural gas marketing	\$1,101,845	\$493,801
Pipeline and storage	39,712	43,690
Other nonutility	1,492	1,359
Total operating revenues	<u>\$1,143,049</u>	\$538,850

Notes to preceding tables:

Recent Ratemaking Activity

Our ratemaking activities during fiscal 2006 are described in the following discussion. The amounts described below represent the gross revenues that were requested or received in the rate filing, which may not necessarily reflect the increase in operating income obtained, as certain operating costs may have increased as a result of a commission's final ruling.

Atmos Pipeline — Texas. In September 2005, Atmos Pipeline — Texas made a filing under Texas' Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include in rate base approximately \$10.6 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004 which should result in additional revenues of approximately \$1.9 million. The Railroad Commission of Texas (RRC) approved this filing in December 2005 and these new charges will be included in the monthly customer charge beginning in January 2006.

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint at the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our present rates are producing revenues in excess of reasonable levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. On February 2, 2006, the KPSC issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss and establishing an informal conference to be held on February 14, 2006 for the purpose of developing a procedural schedule and simplification of issues. We do not believe that the Attorney General will be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable levels.

⁽¹⁾ A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. Degree day information for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 is adjusted for the Kentucky Division, the Mississippi Division and certain service areas included within the Colorado-Kansas Division, the Mid-States Division and the West Texas Division, which have weather-normalized operations.

⁽²⁾ Sales volumes and revenues reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase in its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our Rate Stabilization Clause filing in 2004 and is subject to refund, pending the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase is subject to refund, we have not recognized the effects of this increase in our results of operations during the first quarter of fiscal 2006. As of December 31, 2005, the total amount of the deferred rate increase subject to final approval is approximately \$5 million.

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4 million. In December 2005, the Georgia Public Service Commission (GPSC) approved a \$0.4 million increase. In January 2006, we filed a Petition for Review of the GPSC's decision in the Superior Court of Fulton County. The parties are awaiting a procedural schedule from the court.

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. In September 2005, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$29.4 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional revenues of approximately \$6.7 million. The RRC approved this filing in January 2006 and these new charges will be included in the monthly customer charge beginning in February 2006.

On September 1, 2005, the Mid-Tex Division filed its annual gas cost reconciliation with the RRC. The filing reflects approximately \$14 million in refunds of amounts that were overcollected from customers between July 1, 2004 and June 30, 2005. The Mid-Tex Division has received approval from the RRC to accelerate the refunds to December through March rather than during the usual refund period of October through June to help offset higher gas costs for residential, commercial and industrial customers during the 2005 - 2006 heating season.

In August 2005, we received a "show cause" order from the City of Dallas, which requires us to provide information that demonstrates good cause for showing that our existing distribution rates charged to customers in the City of Dallas should not be reduced. We filed our response to this order in November 2005 and we are responding to requests for information by the City of Dallas. In addition, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, approximately 80 other cities in the Mid-Tex Division passed resolutions requesting that we "show cause" why existing distribution rates are just and reasonable and required a filing by us on a system-wide basis. We made the required filing on December 30, 2005. We are responding to requests for information by the cities' consultant. We believe that we will be able to demonstrate in all these "show cause" proceedings that our rates are just and reasonable.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the RRC. This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the RRC in late June 2005. We are currently waiting for a decision from the RRC.

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Through the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effective in the following July and January.

Effective October 1, 2005, our rate design was modified to substitute the original agreed-upon benchmark with a sharing mechanism to allow the sharing of cost savings above an allowed return on equity level. Further, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual filing process. Additionally, our WNA period now begins on November 1 instead of November 15, and will end on April 30 instead of May 15. Also, we now have a fixed monthly customer base charge which makes a portion of our earnings less susceptible to variations in usage. We will make our first annual filing under this new structure in September 2006.

In September 2004, the MPSC originally disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. In connection with the modification of our rate design described above, the MPSC decided to allow these costs, and we included these costs in our rates in October 2005.

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. In September 2005, the West Texas Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately \$22.6 million of distribution capital costs incurred during calendar year 2004, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately \$3.8 million. The filings were approved for all jurisdictions except for the inside city limits customers in the West Texas service area, who rejected the filings. An appeal was subsequently filed with the RRC, which is currently pending. New charges for the approved filings will be included in the monthly customer charge beginning in January 2006. We expect the inside city limit filing in the West Texas service area to be approved by the RRC in March 2006.

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they are just and reasonable. We will provide information to the city on or before February 28, 2006. We believe that we will be able to demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable.

Recent Accounting Developments

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business activities.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 3 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our nonregulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price nonregulated sales. Based on projected nonregulated gas sales for the remainder of fiscal 2006, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices, based upon the December 31, 2005 three month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$4.6 million for the remainder of fiscal 2006.

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward

NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at the end of each period. Based on AEH's net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at December 31, 2005 of 0.1 Bcf, a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had less than a \$0.1 million impact on our consolidated net income.

However, changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our net physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) can result in volatility in our reported net income; but, over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges. Based upon our net physical position at December 31, 2005 and assuming our hedges would still qualify as highly effective, a \$0.50 change in the difference between the Gas Daily and NYMEX indices could impact our reported net income by approximately \$4.4 million.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$3.9 million during the three months ended December 31, 2005.

We also assess market risk for our long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$148.6 million.

As of December 31, 2005 we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As indicated in the certifications in Exhibit 31 of this report, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2005. Based on that evaluation, these officers have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that material information required to be included in this quarterly-report is accumulated and communicated to them on a timely basis. In addition, there were no changes during the Company's last fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the three months ended December 31, 2005 there were no material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental-related matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2005. We continue to believe that the final outcome of such litigation and environmental-related matters or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Item 6. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibits Index, which immediately precedes such exhibits.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Atmos Energy Corporation (Registrant)

By: /s/ John P. Reddy

John P. Reddy
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly authorized signatory)

Date: February 8, 2006

EXHIBITS INDEX Item 6(a)

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number
12	Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges	
15	Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information	
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
3.2	Section 1350 Certifications*	

^{*} These certifications, which were made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, will not be deemed to be filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference.

4
*
•

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark Or	ne)				
[X]	[X] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934				
For the qu	uarterly period ended June 30, 2005				
	OR				
[]	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1				
For the tra	ansition period from to				
Commiss	ion File Number 1-10042				
	ATMOS ENERGY COR (Exact name of registrant as spec				
(S	TEXAS AND VIRGINIA tate or other jurisdiction of corporation or organization)	75-1743247 (IRS employer identification no.)			
5430	e Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas ss of principal executive offices)	75240 (Zip code)			
	(972) 934-922 (Registrant's telephone number, i				
by Section months (c	by check mark whether the registrant (1) had 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange A for such shorter period that the registrant en subject to such filing requirements for	Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 t was required to file such reports), and			
	y check mark whether the registrant is an he Exchange Act) Yes X No	accelerated filer (as defined in Rule			
Number of 29, 2005.	of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's	s classes of common stock, as of July			
	Class	Shares Outstanding			

80,354,478

No Par Value

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	June 30, 2005	September 30, 2004
	(In thousands, (Unaudited)	except share data)
ASSETS		
Property, plant and equipment	\$ 4,687,891	\$ 2,633,651
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	1,383,080	911,130
Net property, plant and equipment	3,304,811	1,722,521
Current assets	22.625	201.022
Cash and cash equivalents	23,637	201,932
Cash held on deposit in margin account	22,660	
Accounts receivable, net	299,954	211,810
Gas stored underground	334,245	200,134
Other current assets	75,958	63,236
Total current assets	756,454	677,112
Goodwill and intangible assets	709,980	238,272
Deferred charges and other assets	286,699	231,978
	\$ 5,057,944	\$ 2,869,883
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES Shareholders' equity Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share); 200,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding: June 30, 2005 — 80,249,195 shares; September 30, 2004 — 62,799,710 shares	\$ 401	\$ 314
Additional paid-in capital	1,416,327	1,005,644
Retained earnings	220,569	142,030
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(21,287)	(14,529)
Shareholders' equity	1,616,010	1,133,459
Long-term debt	2,183,639	861,311
Total capitalization	3,799,649	1,994,770
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	231,881	185,295
Other current liabilities	342,408	223,265
Current maturities of long-term debt	3,242	5,908
Total current liabilities	577,531	414,468
Deferred income taxes	222,699	213,930
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	254,988	103,579
Deferred credits and other liabilities	203,077	143,136
	\$ 5,057,944	\$ 2,869,883

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

	Three months ended				
	June 30				
		2005		2004	
	(In	thousands, e	xcept p	er share data)	
Operating revenues	C	501 725	ď	256 252	
Utility segment	\$	501,735	\$.	256,252	
Natural gas marketing segment		466,835		364,339	
Pipeline and storage segment		36,524 1,421		5,357 853	
Other nonutility segment		(96,563)		(80,743)	
Intersegment eliminations	•	909,952		546,058	
Durchaged and east		909,932		340,036	
Purchased gas cost Utility segment		326,502		163,093	
Natural gas marketing segment		456,440		352,708	
Pipeline and storage segment		(1,733)		3,150	
Other nonutility segment		(1,735)		5,150	
Intersegment eliminations		(95,606)		(80,385)	
intersegment emmations		685,603		438,566	
Gross profit		224,349		107,492	
Gross prom		,		201,122	
Operating expenses					
Operation and maintenance		94,518		50,467	
Depreciation and amortization		43,448		23,268	
Taxes, other than income		46,915		12,297	
Total operating expenses		184,881		86,032	
Operating income		39,468		21,460	
Miscellaneous income		1,524		2,187	
Interest charges		33,689		16,011	
Income before income taxes		7,303		7,636	
Income tax expense		2,817		2,871	
Net income	\$	4,486	\$	4,765	
Basic net income per share	\$	0.06	\$	0.09	
Diluted net income per share	\$	0.06	\$	0.09	
Cash dividends per share	\$	0.310	\$	0.305	
Weighted average shares outstanding:					
Basic		79,683		52,220	
Diluted		80,144		52,617	
Dituicu		00,177		,017	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

	Nine months ended June 30				
	2005 2004				
	(In thousands, e	xcept per share data)			
Operating revenues					
Utility segment	\$ 2,650,793	\$ 1,425,022			
Natural gas marketing segment	1,473,527	1,255,386			
Pipeline and storage segment	130,798	18,243			
Other nonutility segment	4,058	2,249			
Intersegment eliminations	(290,477)	(273,741)			
	3,968,699	2,427,159			
Purchased gas cost					
Utility segment	1,895,181	1,003,977			
Natural gas marketing segment	1,425,128	1,214,395			
Pipeline and storage segment	8,895	9,158			
Other nonutility segment	(207.000)	(0.00.0.40)			
Intersegment eliminations	(287,889)	(273,042)			
	3,041,315	1,954,488			
Gross profit	927,384	472,671			
Operating expenses					
Operation and maintenance	313,753	166,476			
Depreciation and amortization	132,771	69,879			
Taxes, other than income	140,537	45,901			
Total operating expenses	587,061	282,256			
Operating income	340,323	190,415			
Miscellaneous income	2,867	7,850			
Interest charges	99,304	49,506			
Income before income taxes	243,886	148,759			
Income tax expense	91,299	56,148			
Net income	\$ 152,587	\$ 92,611			
Basic net income per share	\$ 1.96	\$ 1.79			
Diluted net income per share	\$ 1.94	\$ 1.78			
Cash dividends per share	\$ 0.930	\$ 0.915			
Weighted average shares outstanding:					
Basic	78,009	51,788			
Diluted	78,478	52,166			

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

		onths ended ine 30	
	2005 200		
	(In th	nousands)	
Cash Flows From Operating Activities	A 150 505	ф 00 (11	
Net income	\$ 152,587	\$ 92,611	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash			
provided by operating activities:		(6.700)	
Gain on the sale of assets		(6,700)	
Depreciation and amortization:	120 771	(0.970	
Charged to depreciation and amortization	132,771	69,879	
Charged to other accounts	634	1,270	
Deferred income taxes	17,703	5,750	
Other	7,593	(1,405)	
Net assets / liabilities from risk management activities	14,276	4,469	
Net change in operating assets and liabilities	61,846	193,388	
Net cash provided by operating activities	387,410	359,262	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities			
Capital expenditures	(226,851)	(129,508)	
Acquisitions	(1,916,654)	(1,957)	
Proceeds from the sale of assets		27,919	
Other	(1,648)	(505)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(2,145,153)	(104,051)	
G. 1 Floor From Financia Adding			
Cash Flows From Financing Activities Net decrease in short-term debt		(118,595)	
	1,385,847	5,000	
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	(102,801)	(9,079)	
Repayment of long-term debt	(43,770)	(2,075)	
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements	(74,048)	(47,615)	
Cash dividends paid	32,206	26,290	
Issuance of common stock	382,014	20,270	
Net proceeds from equity offering	1,579,448	(143,999)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	(178,295)	111,212	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	201,932	15,683	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		\$ 126,895	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 23,637	φ 120,093	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) JUNE 30, 2005

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. Through our natural gas utility business, we distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, publicauthority and industrial customers through our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

Service Area
Colorado, Kansas, Missouri ⁽³⁾
Kentucky
Louisiana
Georgia ⁽³⁾ , Illinois ⁽³⁾ , Iowa ⁽³⁾ , Missouri ⁽³⁾ , Tennessee, Virginia ⁽³⁾
Missouri ⁽³⁾ , Tennessee, Virginia ⁽³⁾
Mississippi
Texas, including the Dallas/Fort
Worth metropolitan area
West Texas

⁽¹⁾ The name of this division was changed from the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division in April 2005.

(2) Acquired in October 2004.

As further described in Note 3, on October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. We also acquired a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs, all within Texas. As a result of the TXU Gas acquisition, on October 1, 2004, we created the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, which provides gas distribution services to our approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also created the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division to manage and operate the TXU Gas pipeline and storage operations we acquired.

In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system. Our utility business is subject to federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which the utility divisions operate. Our shared-services division is located in Dallas, Texas, and our customer support centers are located in Amarillo, Texas, and Metairie, Louisiana. In addition, on April 1, 2005, we took over the operations of a

⁽³⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

Waco, Texas customer support center, and all call center services formerly provided by TXU Gas under a transitional services agreement were terminated. We intend to close the purchase of the related assets on October 1, 2005 for approximately \$1.7 million.

Our nonutility businesses include our natural gas marketing operations, our pipeline and storage operations and our other nonutility operations which are provided in 22 states. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by the Company.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Colorado-Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage operations consist of the operations of our Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division was purchased from TXU Gas and transports natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas to third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES) and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations. These services, which began on April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct gas-fired electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

2. Unaudited Interim Financial Information

In the opinion of management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the unaudited consolidated interim-period financial statements. These consolidated interim-period financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Because of seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the three and

nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 are not indicative of expected results of operations for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2005. Further, the impact of the TXU Gas acquisition on the statement of cash flows is reflected in the acquisitions line item; therefore, the net changes in operating assets and liabilities will not reflect balance sheet changes attributable solely to that acquisition.

Significant accounting policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. There were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Stock-based compensation plans

We have two stock-based compensation plans that provide for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units to officers and key employees: the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid-States Division. Nonemployee directors are also eligible to receive such stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of these plans include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock.

As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we account for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options is recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock are valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation is amortized to operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock. As discussed below, beginning October 1, 2005 we will account for our stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment.

Had compensation expense for our stock options issued under the Long-Term Incentive Plan been recognized based on the fair value on the grant date under the methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the three and ninemonths ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Three Months Ended June 30		Nine Months Ended June 30					
		2005		2004	2	2005	2	2004
		(In thou	sano	łs, except	t per	share a	mou	nts)
Net income – as reported	\$	4,486	\$	4,765	\$15	52,587	\$ 9	92,611
Restricted stock compensation expense included in income, net of tax		542		384		1,514		580
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair-value-		(===)		/ - \		· 114		(1.400)
based method for all awards, net of tax		(676)		(651)		(2,114)		<u>(1,428)</u>
Net income – pro forma	\$	4,352	\$	4,498	\$15	1,987	\$ 9	91,763
Earnings per share:	ď.	0.06	r.	0.00	ď	1.06	ď	1.70
Basic earnings per share – as reported	\$	0.06	\$	0.09	\$	1.96	\$	1.79
Basic earnings per share – pro forma	_\$_	0.05	\$	0.09	\$	1.95	\$	1.77
Diluted earnings per share – as reported	\$	0.06	\$	0.09	\$	1.94	\$	1.78
Diluted earnings per share – pro forma	\$	0.05	\$	0.09	\$	1.94	\$	1.76

At June 30, 2005, there were 300 options outstanding under the Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid-States Division, all of which were fully vested. Because of the limited activities of this plan, the pro forma effects of applying SFAS 123 would have less than a \$0.01 per diluted share effect on earnings per share.

Regulatory assets and liabilities

We record certain costs as regulatory assets in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, when future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Substantially all of our regulatory assets are recorded as a component of deferred charges and substantially all of our regulatory liabilities are recorded as a component of deferred credits and other liabilities. Deferred gas costs are recorded either in other current assets or liabilities and the regulatory cost of removal obligation is separately reported.

Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004 included the following:

	June 30, 2005	Se	ptember 30, 2004
	 (In th	ousar	ids)
Regulatory assets: UCG merger and integration costs, net Other merger and integration costs, net Deferred MVG operating expenses Environmental costs Rate case costs Deferred franchise fees Other	\$ 12,034 	\$	1,992 14,644 751 3,104 537 3,705 24,733
Regulatory liabilities: Deferred gas costs Regulatory cost of removal obligation Deferred income taxes, net Other	\$ 44,906 266,553 1,962 3,325 316,746	\$ \$	39,097 111,232 1,962 ————————————————————————————————————

⁽¹⁾ Fully amortized as of December 2004.

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs through our rates. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. Certain environmental costs have been deferred to future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

Comprehensive income

The following table presents the components of comprehensive income, net of related tax, for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

	T	hree Moi Jun		Nine Mon Jun	
		2005	2004	2005	2004
			(In thou	isands)	
Net income	\$	4,486	\$ 4,765	\$152,587	\$ 92,611
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on					
investments, net of tax expense (benefit)					
of \$(7) and \$(270) for the three months					
ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 and of \$722 and \$654 for the nine months ended					
June 30, 2005 and 2004		(11)	(441)	1,178	1,067
Net unrealized gains (losses) on commodity		(11)	(, , , ,	-,	,
hedging transactions, net of tax expense					
(benefit) of \$(2,675) and \$829 for the					
three months ended June 30, 2005 and					
2004 and of \$(2,672) and \$829 for the					
nine months ended June 30, 2005 and		(4.266)	1 252	(4.261)	1 252
2004		(4,366)	1,353	(4,361)	1,353
Net unrealized gains (losses) and reclassification of unrealized losses into					
inco on interest rate hadging					
transactions, net of tax expense (benefit)					
of \$528 and \$(2,684) for the three months					
ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 and of					
\$(2,190) and \$(2,684) for the nine months					
ended June 30, 2005 and 2004		860	 (4,377)	(3,575)	(4,377)
Comprehensive income	\$	969	\$ 1,300	\$145,829	\$ 90,654

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

		June 30, 2005	Se	ptember 30, 2004	
	(In thousands)				
Accumulated other comprehensive loss: Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investments Treasury lock agreements Cash flow hedges	\$	334 (24,843) 3,222	\$	(844) (21,268) 7,583	
	\$	(21,287)	\$	(14,529)	

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123 (R)). This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123 (R), public companies will be required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) deferred the required effective date of SFAS 123 (R) until the beginning of a registrant's next fiscal year. Accordingly, SFAS 123 (R) will become effective for the Company for fiscal 2006 beginning on October 1, 2005.

We will adopt SFAS 123 (R) as of October 1, 2005 using the modified prospective method. Under this method, we will recognize compensation cost, on a prospective basis, for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered as of October 1, 2005, based upon the grant-date fair value of those awards calculated under SFAS 123 for pro forma disclosure purposes. We expect that the adoption of SFAS 123 (R) will reduce our fiscal 2006 net income by approximately \$0.5 million.

3. TXU Gas Acquisition

On October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company. The purchase was accounted for as an asset purchase. The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. Through these newly acquired operations, we provide gas distribution services to approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also now own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs in Texas.

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion (after closing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We acquired approximately \$112 million of working capital of TXU Gas after the final working capital and capital expenditures settlement was negotiated during the third quarter of 2005, which resulted in a net payment to TXU Corporation of approximately \$4.1 million. We did not assume any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. TXU Gas retained certain assets, provided for the repayment of all of its indebtedness and redeemed all of its preferred stock prior to closing and retained and agreed to pay certain other liabilities under the terms of the acquisition agreement.

We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common

stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 to provide bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion, and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of \$382.0 million.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 1, 2004 (in thousands):

Cash purchase price	\$1,908,999
Transaction costs and expenses	7,655
Total purchase price	\$1,916,654
Net property, plant and equipment	\$1,471,643
Accounts receivable	62,212
Gas stored underground	138,818
Other current assets	21,743
Goodwill	472,215
Deferred charges and other assets	42,069
Deferred income taxes	4,794
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(21,799)
Other current liabilities	(70,087)
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	(138,991)
Deferred credits and other liabilities	(65,963)
Total	\$1,916,654

The sale of TXU Gas's assets was held through a competitive bid process. We believe the resulting goodwill is recoverable given the expected synergies we can achieve as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. To that end, the TXU Gas acquisition significantly expands our existing utility operations in Texas. The North Texas operations of TXU Gas bridge our geographic operations between our existing utility operations in West Texas and Louisiana. TXU Gas's headquarters and service area are centered in Dallas, Texas, which is also the location of our corporate headquarters. Further, the addition of the regulated pipelines and storage operations in North Texas may create additional gas marketing and other opportunities for our non-regulated subsidiaries, which include gas marketing and storage operations. The goodwill generated in the acquisition is deductible for tax purposes.

Our allocation of the purchase price is preliminary and is subject to change due to our continuing review of the acquired assets and liabilities. The amount currently allocated to property, plant and equipment represents our estimate of the fair value of the assets acquired. We have based that estimate on the amount we believe will ultimately be approved as rate base for rate setting purposes.

The table below reflects the unaudited pro forma results of the Company and TXU Gas for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2004 as if the acquisition and related financing had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2004:

	ee Months Ended June 30, 2004	Ni	ne Months Ended June 30, 2004
	 (In thousands, ex	cept p	er share data)
Operating revenue	\$ 761,578	\$	3,496,156
Net income (loss) Net income (loss) per	(2,161)		132,988
diluted share	\$ (0.03)	\$	1.70

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets are comprised of the following as of June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004.

	June 30, 2005	Se	eptember 30, 2004				
	(In thousands)						
Goodwill	\$ 706,327	\$	234,112				
Intangible assets	3,653		4,160				
Total	\$ 709,980	\$	238,272				

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in our balance for the nine months ended June 30, 2005:

	Utility Segment	N	Natural Gas Aarketing Segment		Pipeline and Storage Segment		Other Non- utility Segment	Total
			(In 1	thousands)		
Balance as of September 30, 2004	\$ 199,400	\$	24,282	\$		\$	10,430	\$ 234,112
Intersegment transfer of assets ⁽¹⁾	-		-		10,430		(10,430)	
TXU Gas acquisition (Note 3)	351,969				120,246			472,215
Balance as of June 30, 2005	\$ 551,369	\$	24,282	\$	130,676	\$		\$ 706,327

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division as well as the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, previously included in our other nonutility segment. Accordingly, goodwill allocable to Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC was transferred to the pipeline and storage segment.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we completed our annual goodwill impairment assessment. Based upon the assessment performed, we determined our goodwill was not impaired.

5. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts.

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004:

	Natural Gas				
	Utility	M	larketing	Total	
		(In t	housands)		
June 30, 2005:					
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 25,456	\$	3,347	\$28,803	
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent				·	
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	***************************************		(8,558)	(8,558)	
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent			(2,844)	(2,844)	
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ 25,456	\$	(8,055)	\$17,401	
September 30, 2004:					
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 25,692	\$	18,748	\$44,440	
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent			562	562	
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(34,304)		(5,154)	(39,458)	
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent			(1,138)	(1,138)	
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ (8,612)	\$	13,018	\$ 4,406	

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. Because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment ultimately will be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of

the use of financial derivatives. For the 2004-2005 heating season, we hedged approximately 59 percent of our anticipated winter flowing gas requirements at a weighted average cost of approximately \$6.23 per Mcf. Our utility hedging activities also include the cost of our Treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

Nonutility Hedging Activities

AEM manages its exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our financial derivative activities include fair value hedges to offset changes in the fair value of our natural gas inventory and cash flow hedges to offset anticipated purchases and sales of gas in the future.

Effective April 1, 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales and ceased marking these contracts to market. As a result, unrealized gains and losses on open derivative contracts which are used to hedge price risk associated with these fixed-price forward contracts are now designated as cash flow hedges and recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes are sold.

For the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive loss was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts, and the recognition for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 of \$9.3 million in net deferred hedging gains (\$5.1 million during the three months ended June 30, 2005) in net income when the derivative contracts matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging gain associated with open cash flow hedges remains subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging balance as of June 30, 2005 is expected to be recognized in net income in fiscal 2006 and beyond.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. At the close of business on June 30, 2005, AEH had a net open position (including existing storage) of 0.2 Bcf.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt subsequent to September 30, 2004. This long-term debt was issued on October 22, 2004 and was used to repay a portion of the commercial paper used to fund the TXU Gas acquisition, as described in Note 3. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This amount will remain in accumulated other comprehensive income and will be recognized as a component of interest expense over the next ten years. During the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005, we recognized approximately \$1.4 million and \$3.7 million of this obligation as a component of interest expense.

6. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004 consisted of the following:

	June 30, 2005		eptember 30, 2004
	(In t	housa	nds)
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due 2007	\$ 300,000	\$	40.000m, _{10.000}
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000		
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000		350,000
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303		2,303
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000		250,000
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000		
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000		
Medium term notes			
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000		10,000
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000		10,000
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000		150,000
First Mortgage Bonds			
Series J, 9.40% due 2021			17,000
Series P, 10.43% due 2013	10,000		11,250
Series Q, 9.75% due 2020			16,000
Series T, 9.32% due 2021			18,000
Series U, 8.77% due 2022			20,000
Series V, 7.50% due 2007			4,167
Other term notes due in installments through 2013	8,463		9,830
Total long-term debt	 2,190,766		868,550
Less:			
Original issue discount on unsecured senior			
notes and debentures	(3,885)		(1,331)
Current maturities	 (3,242)		(5,908)
	\$ 2,183,639	\$	861,311

Our unsecured floating rate debt bears interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At June 30, 2005, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 3.516 percent.

On June 30, 2005, we elected to utilize excess cash to repay \$72.5 million in principal on five series of our First Mortgage Bonds prior to their scheduled maturity. In connection with the repayment, we paid a \$25.0 million make-whole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements and accrued interest of approximately \$1.0 million. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and will be recognized over the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid.

Short-term debt

At June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004, there were no short-term amounts outstanding under our commercial paper program or bank credit facilities.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

Committed credit facilities

As of June 30, 2005, we had two short-term committed revolving credit facilities totaling \$618.0 million, one of which is an unsecured facility for \$600.0 million that bears interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 0.625 percent and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600.0 million commercial paper program. We entered into this facility on October 22, 2004 to replace our \$350.0 million credit facility that served as the backup liquidity facility for our \$350.0 million commercial paper program. At June 30, 2005, no commercial paper was outstanding.

We have a second unsecured facility in place for \$18.0 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired on March 31, 2005 and was renewed effective April 1, 2005 with no material changes to its terms and pricing. There were no borrowings under this facility at June 30, 2005.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently meet. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in

our \$600.0 million credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At June 30, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 60 percent. In addition, both the interest margin over the Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on unused amounts under our \$600.0 million credit facility are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings.

Uncommitted credit facilities

AEM had a \$250.0 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility that bore interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 2.5 percent that was scheduled to expire on March 31, 2005. On March 30, 2005, the facility was amended and extended to March 31, 2006. This facility is guaranteed by AEH.

Borrowings under the amended facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50% per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.50%. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.375% to 1.75% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.125% to 2.00% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$50 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$51 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding \$4 million to \$10 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At June 30, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.14 to 1.

At June 30, 2005, no amounts were outstanding under this credit facility. However, at June 30, 2005, AEM letters of credit totaling \$81.2 million had been issued under the facility, which reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$68.8 million at June 30, 2005. This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH.

The Company also has an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25.0 million that is used for working-capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at June 30, 2005, but letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.2 million. This uncommitted line is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line.

Borrowings under this line are made on a when- and as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

AEH, the parent company of AEM, has a \$100.0 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with the Company which bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%. This facility has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2005. At June 30, 2005, there was no amount outstanding under this facility.

In addition, AEM has a \$100.0 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at the LIBOR rate plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$250.0 million uncommitted demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$250.0 million credit facility. At June 30, 2005, there was \$53.0 million outstanding under this facility. On July 1, 2005, this facility was renewed and the amount available for borrowing was increased to \$120.0 million.

Debt Covenants

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, after November 2007, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985 plus \$9.0 million. At June 30, 2005 approximately \$199.6 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of June 30, 2005. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600.0 million revolving credit agreement, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos is downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

7. Equity

On February 9, 2005, our shareholders approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares from 100 million to 200 million.

On October 27, 2004, we completed the public offering of 16.1 million shares of our common stock including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares. The offering was priced at \$24.75 and generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.0 million. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with net proceeds of \$235.7 million from a public offering we conducted in July 2004 and \$1.39 billion received from the issuance of senior unsecured notes to pay off the \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper described in Note 3 and fund the remainder of the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition.

8. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share at June 30 are calculated as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30]	Ended			
		2005		2004		2005		2004
		(In tho	usai	nds, excep	t pe	r share a	mou	nts)
Net income	\$	4,486	\$	4,765	\$ 1	52,587	\$	92,611
Denominator for basic income per share – weighted average common shares Effect of dilutive securities:		79,683		52,220		78,009		51,788
Restricted and other shares Stock options		330 131		258 139		325 144		258 120
Denominator for diluted income per share – weighted average common shares		80,144		52,617		78,478		52,166
Income per share – basic	\$	0.06	\$	0.09	\$	1.96	\$	1.79
Income per share – diluted	\$	0.06	\$	0.09	\$	1.94	\$	1.78

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 as their exercise price was less than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the nine months ended June 30, 2005. There were 3,000 out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 as their exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

9. Interim Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefit Plan Information

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 are presented in the following table. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

	Th	ree	Months	En	ded Jun	e 30)
	Pension	Be	nefits		Other	efits	
	2005		2004		2005		2004
			(In tho	usa	nds)		
Components of net periodic pension cost:							
Service cost	\$ 3,136	\$	2,433	\$	2,478	\$	1,405
Interest cost	6,017		6,004		2,366		1,751
Expected return on assets	(6,885)		(7,524)		(518)		(396)
Amortization of transition asset	1		24		378		378
Amortization of prior service cost	(2)		(2)		96		96
Amortization of actuarial loss	1,891		2,018		151		
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 4,158	\$	2,953	\$	4,951	\$	3,234

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

	Nine Months Ended June 30					
	Pension	Benefits	Other	Benefits		
	2005	2004	2005	2004		
		(In tho	usands)			
Components of net periodic pension cost:						
Service cost	\$ 9,408	\$ 7,299	\$ 7,434	\$ 4,535		
Interest cost	18,051	18,012	7,098	5,605		
Expected return on assets	(20,655)	(22,572)	(1,554)	(1,127)		
Amortization of transition asset	3	72	1,134	1,134		
Amortization of prior service cost	(6)	(6)	288	288		
Amortization of actuarial loss	5,673	6,054	453	635		
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 12,474	\$ 8,859	\$14,853	\$11,070		

The assumptions used to develop our net periodic pension cost for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

	Pension	Benefits	Other B	Benefits
	2005	2004	2005	2004
Discount rate	6.25%	6.00%	6.25%	6.00%
Rate of compensation increase	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%
Expected return on plan assets	8.75%	9.00%	5.30%	5.30%

The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates were declining, which has the effect of increasing the present value of our plan liabilities. Accordingly, we voluntarily contributed in June 2005 \$3.0 million to our Pension Account Plan to maintain the level of funding we desire relative to our accumulated benefit obligation. We were not required to make a minimum funding contribution during fiscal 2005 nor do we anticipate making any additional voluntary contributions during the remainder of fiscal 2005. During the nine months ended June 30, 2005, we contributed \$7.0 million to our other post-retirement plans and we expect to contribute approximately \$11.7 million to these plans during fiscal 2005.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Environmental Matters

We are involved in litigation and environmental matters and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business. While the ultimate results of such litigation and response actions to such environmental matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and response actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

As discussed in our Form 10-Q for the three months ended December 31, 2004, we were the plaintiff in a case styled *Energas Company, a Division of Atmos Energy Corporation v. ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company, L.P., ONEOK Westex Transmission, Inc., and ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company II, filed in December 2001, in the 72nd Judicial District in the District Court of Lubbock County, Texas. This case was filed to recover damages resulting from various claims involving the sale, measurement, transportation and balancing of natural gas. This case and all related claims have been settled. The settlement did not have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.*

During the nine months ended June 30, 2005, there were no other material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. However, with the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company on October 1, 2004, we assumed responsibility for certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company. We believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At June 30, 2005, AEM was committed to purchase 46.4 Bcf within one year, 5.7 Bcf within one to three years and 1.1 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 0.7 Bcf within one year and 0.5 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$5.24 to \$7.68. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$294.0 million and \$283.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 and \$999.4 million and \$981.5 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004.

Our historical utility operations maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contracts as of June 30, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

2005	\$ 84,604
2006	270,730
2007	58,367
2008	31,059
2009	11,519
Thereafter	45,524
	\$ 501,803

Other

In January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we will contribute up to \$42.5 million within two years of signing of a definitive agreement. The pipeline is currently expected to be placed into service in fiscal 2006.

In May 2005, we entered into a five year agreement with a third party to transport up to 100,000 MMBtu per day of natural gas through our Texas intrastate pipeline system beginning in April 2006. To handle the increased volumes for this project and other planned projects, we will install compression equipment and other pipeline infrastructure, costing approximately \$20 million.

11. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in customer base.

Customer diversification also helps mitigate AEM's credit exposure. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of nonperformance by any counterparty.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by the credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investor Service Inc. and/or Standard & Poor's. For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-guaranteed industrial and commercial customers is non-investment grade. The table below shows the percentages related to the investment ratings as of June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004.

	June 30, 2005	September 30, 2004
Investment grade	55%	55%
Non-investment grade	45%	45%
Total	100%	100%

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of June 30, 2005. Investment grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by Standard & Poor's; or Baa3, assigned by Moody's Investor Service.

Non-investment grade counterparties are composed of counterparties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individually significant.

	June 30, 2005							
	Natural							
	Utility Segment ⁽¹⁾		Gas Marketing Segment Consolidated			onsolidated		
	(In thousands)							
Investment grade counterparties Non-investment grade counterparties	\$	25,456	\$	2,364 983	\$	27,820 983		
	\$	25,456	\$	3,347	\$	28,803		

⁽¹⁾ Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through to our customers.

12. Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonutility operations.

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which

was previously included in our other nonutility segment. Segment information for all prior year periods has been restated to reflect our new organizational structure.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies found in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units.

Summarized income statements for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 by segment are presented in the following tables:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2005

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2005										
		Natural Gas Pipeline					Other				
	Utility	Marketing		and	l Storage	No	onutility	El	iminations	Co	nsolidated
			(In thousands)								
Operating revenues from											
external parties	\$ 501,481	\$	387,999	\$	19,929	\$	543	\$		\$	909,952
Intersegment revenues	254		78,836		16,595		878		(96,563)		
	501,735		466,835		36,524		1,421		(96,563)		909,952
Purchased gas cost	326,502		456,440		(1,733)				(95,606)		685,603
Gross profit	175,233		10,395		38,257		1,421		(957)		224,349
Operating expenses											
Operation and											
maintenance	76,862		4,948		12,648		1,067		(1,007)		94,518
Depreciation and											
amortization	38,775		458		4,189		26				43,448
Taxes, other than											
income	44,555		242		2,064		54				46,915
Total operating expenses	160,192		5,648		18,901		1,147		(1,007)		184,881
Operating income	15,041		4,747		19,356		274		50		39,468
Miscellaneous income	3,122		153		613		578		(2,942)		1,524
Interest charges	28,520		957		6,169		935		(2,892)		33,689
Income (loss) before											
income taxes	(10,357)		3,943		13,800		(83)				7,303
Income tax expense											
(benefit)	(3,689)		1,583		4,958		(35)				2,817
Net income (loss)	\$ (6,668)	\$	2,360	\$	8,842	\$	(48)	\$		\$	4,486

	Three Months Ended June 30, 2004										
		Natural Gas Pipeline Other									•
	Utility		Marketing	and	Storage	No	onutility	Eli	iminations	Co	nsolidated
					(In tho	usan	ds)				
Operating revenues from											
external parties	\$ 255,986	\$	288,809	\$	690	\$	573	\$		\$	546,058
Intersegment revenues	266		75,530		4,667		280		(80,743)		
_	256,252		364,339		5,357		853		(80,743)		546,058
Purchased gas cost	163,093		352,708		3,150				(80,385)		438,566
Gross profit	93,159		11,631		2,207		853		(358)		107,492
Operating expenses											
Operation and											
maintenance	45,974		3,767		669		415		(358)		50,467
Depreciation and											
amortization	22,435		513		292		28				23,268
Taxes, other than											
income	11,558		504		171		64				12,297
Total operating expenses	79,967		4,784		1,132		507		(358)		86,032
Operating income	13,192		6,847		1,075		346				21,460
Miscellaneous income	1,668		178		90		1,547		(1,296)		2,187
Interest charges	16,119		411		257		520		(1,296)		16,011
Income (loss) before											
income taxes	(1,259)		6,614		908		1,373				7,636
Income tax expense											
(benefit)	(711)		2,664		366		552				2,871
Net income (loss)	\$ (548)	\$	3,950	\$	542	\$	821	\$		\$	4,765

The state of the s

Nine N	Months	Ended	June	30.	2005
--------	--------	-------	------	-----	------

		Natural Gas Pipeline				Other				
	Utility	Marketing	and	l Storage	No	nutility	E	liminations	Co	nsolidated
Operating revenues from										
external parties	\$2,649,979	\$ 1,250,507	\$	66,546	\$	1,667	\$	NAMES OF TAXABLE PARTY.	\$ 3	3,968,699
Intersegment revenues	814	223,020		64,252		2,391		(290,477)		
2	2,650,793	1,473,527		130,798		4,058		(290,477)		3,968,699
Purchased gas cost	1,895,181	1,425,128		8,895				(287,889)	3	3,041,315
Gross profit	755,612	48,399		121,903		4,058		(2,588)		927,384
Operating expenses										
Operation and										
maintenance	259,884	12,410		41,190		3,007		(2,738)		313,753
Depreciation and										
amortization	119,007	1,436		12,244		84		-		132,771
Taxes, other than										
income	133,395	412		6,510		220				140,537
Total operating expenses	512,286	14,258		59,944		3,311		(2,738)		587,061
Operating income	243,326	34,141		61,959		747		150		340,323
Miscellaneous income	6,068	600		1,220		1,787		(6,808)		2,867
Interest charges	83,841	2,037		18,568		1,516		(6,658)		99,304
Income before income										
taxes	165,553	32,704		44,611		1,018				243,886
Income tax expense	61,547	13,291		16,047		414				91,299
Net income	\$ 104,006	\$ 19,413	\$	28,564	\$	604	\$		\$	152,587

Nina	Mont	he End	ed June	30	2004
VIIIE	VECTIL	115 P.1166	CIL STREET		4007

		Natural Gas	Natural Gas Pipeline Other						
	Utility	Marketing	and Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated			
			(In tho	usands)					
Operating revenues from									
external parties	\$1,424,180	\$ 999,135	\$ 2,057	\$ 1,787	\$ —	\$ 2,427,159			
Intersegment revenues	842	256,251	16,186	462	(273,741)				
3	1,425,022	1,255,386	18,243	2,249	(273,741)	2,427,159			
Purchased gas cost	1,003,977	1,214,395	9,158		(273,042)	1,954,488			
Gross profit	421,045	40,991	9,085	2,249	(699)	472,671			
Operating expenses	•								
Operation and	•								
maintenance	152,089	11,751	1,945	1,390	(699)	166,476			
Depreciation and									
amortization	67,072	1,579	1,140	88		69,879			
Taxes, other than									
income	43,843	932	875	251		45,901			
Total operating expenses	263,004	14,262	3,960	1,729	(699)	282,256			
Operating income	158,041	26,729	5,125	520	*****	190,415			
Miscellaneous income	4,001	530	113	7,658	(4,452)	7,850			
Interest charges	49,285	2,284	808	1,581	(4,452)	49,506			
Income before income									
taxes	112,757	24,975	4,430	6,597		148,759			
Income tax expense	41,636	10,067	1,786	2,659		56,148			
Net income	\$ 71,121	\$ 14,908	\$ 2,644	\$ 3,938	<u> </u>	\$ 92,611			

Balance sheet information at June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004 by segment is presented in the following tables:

				Jun	ie 30	, 2005				
	Natural Pipeline									
	Utility	N	Gas Iarketing	and Storage	N	Other onutility	Eliminations	C	onsolidated	
	Othry	14	141 Keting			sands)	Limitations		- Olison da	
ASSETS						,				
Property, plant and										
equipment, net	\$ 2,866,980	\$	7,530	\$ 428,881	\$	1,420	\$ —	\$	3,304,811	
Investment in subsidiaries	208,520		(1,821)				(206,699)			
Current assets										
Cash and cash equivalents	13,793		8,272			1,572	-		23,637	
Cash held on deposit in										
margin account			22,660	Carlo de Arresto			***************************************		22,660	
Assets from risk										
management activities	25,456		4,708	459			(1,820)		28,803	
Other current assets	385,413		280,745	50,346		56,824	(91,974)		681,354	
Intercompany receivables	558,700						(558,700)			
Total current assets	983,362		316,385	50,805		58,396	(652,494)		756,454	
Intangible assets	, Accompanies of		3,653						3,653	
Goodwill	551,369		24,282	130,676					706,327	
Noncurrent assets from risk										
management activities									-	
Deferred charges and										1
other assets	258,658		1,506	5,818		20,717			286,699	(
	\$ 4,868,889	\$	351,535	.\$ 616,180	\$	80,533	\$ (859,193)	\$	5,057,944	pateria.
CAPITALIZATION AND										
LIABILITIES								•	4 (4 (010	
Shareholders' equity	\$ 1,616,010	\$	114,330	\$ 61,161	\$	33,029	\$ (208,520)	\$	1,616,010	
Long-term debt	2,177,168					6,471			2,183,639	
Total capitalization	3,793,178		114,330	61,161		39,500	(208,520)		3,799,649	
Current liabilities										
Current maturities of										
long-term debt	1,250			Application		1,992			3,242	
Short-term debt	-		53,000				(53,000)			
Liabilities from risk									0.550	
management activities	www.committee		9,428	1,361			(2,231)		8,558	
Other current liabilities	411,538		127,813	56,918		6,231	(36,769)		565,731	
Intercompany payables			49,948	484,517		24,235	(558,700)			_
Total current liabilities	412,788		240,189	542,796		32,458	(650,700)		577,531	
Deferred income taxes	219,001		(6,033)	7,727		1,977	27		222,699	
Noncurrent liabilities from										
risk management activities	additionant		2,844				***************************************		2,844	
Regulatory cost of removal										
obligation	254,988		***************************************			*********			254,988	
Deferred credits and other										
liabilities	188,934		205	4,496		6,598			200,233	
	\$ 4,868,889	\$	351,535	\$ 616,180	\$	80,533	\$ (859,193)	\$	5,057,944	

	September 30, 2004											
]	Natural Gas	P	ipeline and		Other					
	Utility	M	arketing	S	torage	N	onutility	E	iminations	C	<u>onsolidated</u>	
				(In thousands)								
ASSETS												
Property, plant and	m 1 ((0 204	ው	7 075	ው	43,784	\$	1,558	\$		\$	1,722,521	
equipment, net	\$ 1,669,304	\$	7,875 (1,484)	\$	43,764	Ф	1,556	Ф	(162,816)	Ψ	1,722,321	
Investment in subsidiaries	164,300		(1,404)				*******		(102,010)			
Current assets Cash and cash equivalents	182,846		18,734		-		352				201,932	
Assets from risk	102,040		10,757									
management activities	25,692		24,412						(5,664)		44,440	
Other current assets	253,829		170,363		13,473		18,815		(25,740)		430,740	
Intercompany receivables	1,995						16,079		(18,074)		-	
Total current assets	464,362		213,509		13,473		35,246		(49,478)		677,112	
Intangible assets			4,160						-		4,160	
Goodwill	199,400		24,282		10,430		-				234,112	
Noncurrent assets from risk	•		·									
management activities			734						(172)		562	
Deferred charges and												
other assets	207,019		1,661		25		22,711				231,416	
	\$ 2,704,385	\$	250,737	\$	67,712	\$	59,515	\$	(212,466)	\$	2,869,883	
CAPITALIZATION AND												
LIABILITIES	e 1 122 450	d·	102 276	\$	28,499	\$	32,425	\$	(164,300)	\$	1,133,459	
Shareholders' equity	\$ 1,133,459	\$	103,376	Ф	20,433	Φ	7,839	Ψ	(104,500)	Ψ	861,311	
Long-term debt	853,472 1,986,931		103,376		28,499		40,264		(164,300)		1,994,770	
Total capitalization Current liabilities	1,960,931		103,570		20,477		40,201		(10.,500)		-,,	
Current maturities of												
long-term debt	3,917		-				1,991				5,908	
Short-term debt							,					
Liabilities from risk												
management activities	34,304		11,407						(6,253)		39,458	
Other current liabilities	236,257		124,577		24,014		7,558		(23,304)		369,102	
Intercompany payables			9,906		8,168				(18,074)			
Total current liabilities	274,478		145,890		32,182		9,549		(47,631)		414,468	
Deferred income taxes	208,325		(3,360)		6,961		1,977		27		213,930	
Noncurrent liabilities from									(# 60)		1 120	
risk management activities			1,700		*******				(562)		1,138	
Regulatory cost of removal	,										102 570	
obligation	103,579				***************************************						103,579	
Deferred credits and other	101.070		2 121		70		7 775				141,998	
liabilities	131,072	Φ.	3,131	<u></u>	70	\$	7,725 59,515	\$	(212,466)	\$		
	\$ 2,704,385	\$	250,737	\$	67,712	Þ	27,213	Φ	(212,400)	D.	2,007,003	

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of June 30, 2005, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income for the three-month and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein, and in our report dated November 9, 2004, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas August 5, 2005 Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain "forwardlooking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by the Company and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of the Company's documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "estimate", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to the Company's strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in the Company's utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness; national, regional and local economic conditions; the Company's ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; risks relating to the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations, including without limitation, the Company's increased indebtedness resulting from the acquisition and the successful integration of the TXU Gas operations; and other uncertainties, which may be discussed herein, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company. A more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties may be found in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. Accordingly, while the Company believes these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of its forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public-authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management, transportation, storage and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonutility operations.

Fiscal 2005 has been highlighted by our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. Through these newly acquired operations, we provide gas distribution services to approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also now own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. On April 1, 2005, we took over the operations of a Waco, Texas customer support center and all call center services formerly provided by TXU Gas under a transitional services agreement were terminated. We intend to close the purchase of the related assets on October 1, 2005 for approximately \$1.7 million.

The purchase price of the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion, before transaction costs and expenses, which we paid in cash. We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004,

which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.4 billion and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.0 million.

As a result of the acquisition, effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment.

The TXU Gas acquisition essentially doubled the size of the Company as measured by assets, revenues and customers. The following table presents selected financial information for the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division operations for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005:

•	Three Months Ended June 30, 2005			ľ	Nine Months Ended June 30, 2005				
				Atmos Pipeline-				Atmos ipeline-	
		Aid-Tex Division	ĭ	Texas Division		Aid-Tex Division	T	Texas Division	
						ss otherwise noted)			
Operating revenues	\$	209,255	\$	33,261	\$1	,133,913	\$	118,675	
Gross profit		79,428		35,222		324,542		111,447	
Operation and maintenance		30,780		12,012		110,219		39,461	
Depreciation and amortization		15,245		3,896		48,327		11,300	
Taxes, other than income		30,971		1,905		83,994		6,000	
Operating income		2,432		17,409		82,002		54,686	
Miscellaneous income		1,284		18		2,280		27	
Interest charges		12,092		5,900		35,533		17,646	
Income tax expense (benefit)		(2,947)		4,038		17,102		12,981	
Net income (loss)	\$	(5,429)	\$	7,489	\$	31,647	\$	24,086	
Utility sales volumes – MMcf		17,731		NA		114,365		NA	
Utility transportation volumes – MMcf		10,868		NA		36,336		NA	
Total utility throughput – MMcf		28,599		NA		150,701		NA	
Pipeline transportation volumes – MMcf		NA		97,567	xxxx tends	NA		254,528	
Heating Degree Days – Percent of Normal		87%		NA		80%		NA	

The impact of the TXU Gas acquisition, combined with continued strong performance in our natural gas marketing segment contributed to the following financial results during the nine months ended June 30, 2005:

- Our utility segment net income increased by \$32.9 million. The increase reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex operations (\$31.6 million) and the effect of rate increases in our West Texas and Mississippi jurisdictions that were not in effect during the first six months of fiscal 2004, partially offset by weather (adjusted for WNA) in our historical operations that was five percent warmer than normal and one percent warmer than the prior year.
- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$4.5 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared with the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects favorable results from the management of our storage portfolio partially offset by an unfavorable movement in the forward indices used to value our storage financial instruments.
- Our pipeline and storage segment contributed \$28.6 million in net income for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared with \$2.6 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004, primarily reflecting the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division (\$24.1 million).
- Our total debt to capitalization ratio at June 30, 2005 was 57.5 percent compared with 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004 reflecting the impact of the financing for the TXU Gas acquisition, partially offset by the repayment of \$72.5 million in principal of substantially all of our First Mortgage bonds in June 2005.
- Operating cash flow provided \$387.4 million compared with \$359.3 million, reflecting increased net income, more effective net working capital management partially offset by lower than expected utility sales volumes due to the effect of warmer weather.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$226.9 million from \$129.5 million primarily reflecting spending for the Mid-Tex Division (\$77.8 million) and the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division (\$16.3 million).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Actual results may differ from such estimates.

Our critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 and includes the following:

- Regulation
- Revenue Recognition
- Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
- Derivatives and Hedging Activities
- Impairment Assessments
- Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Our critical accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting policies during the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

	Three Months Ended					Nine Months Ended			
		Jun	e 30			Jun	e 3(
		2005		2004		2005		2004	
		(In tl	ous	ands, unles	ss o	s otherwise noted)			
Operating revenues	\$	909,952	\$	546,058	\$3	,968,699	\$2	2,427,159	
Gross profit		224,349		107,492		927,384		472,671	
Operating expenses		184,881		86,032		587,061		282,256	
Operating income		39,468		21,460		340,323		190,415	
Miscellaneous income		1,524		2,187		2,867		7,850	
Interest charges		33,689		16,011		99,304		49,506	
Income before income taxes		7,303		7,636		243,886		148,759	
Income tax expense		2,817		2,871		91,299		56,148	
Net income	\$	4,486	\$	4,765	\$	152,587	\$	92,611	
Utility sales volumes – MMcf		43,925		25,146		263,077		153,011	
Utility transportation volumes – MMcf		28,753		17,428		88,635		55,573	
Total utility throughput – MMcf		72,678		42,574		351,712		208,584	
Natural gas marketing sales volumes – MMcf		52,739		47,640		179,679		173,729	
Pipeline transportation volumes – MMcf		97,567				254,528			
Heating degree days (1) Actual (weighted average) Percent of normal		167 97%		237 94%		2,580 89%		3,249 96%	
Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per Mcf Consolidated utility average cost of gas	\$	0.48	\$	0.39	\$	0.53	\$	0.42	
per Mcf sold	\$	7.43	\$	6.49	\$	7.20	\$	6.56	

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations.

The following tables show our operating income (loss) by segment for the three-month and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	Three Months Ended June 30										
		20	05		04	_					
	Heating					Heating	-				
			Degree			Degree					
	O	perating	Days	O	perating	Days					
		Income	Percent of	j	ncome	Percent of					
		(Loss)	Normal (4)		(Loss)	Normal ⁽⁴⁾					
	(In thousands, except degree day information)										
Colorado-Kansas	\$	2,451	105%	\$	845	96%					
Kentucky		1,260	105%		3,089	85%					
Louisiana		4,358	63%		5,625	115%					
Mid-States		1,600	99%		1,367	83%					
Mid-Tex (1)		2,432	87%								
Mississippi (2)		(2,455)	100%		(1,559)	116%					
West Texas		4,992	100%		4,291	96%					
Other		403	MARKET AND A SEC.		(466)						
Utility segment		15,041	97%		13,192	94%					
Natural gas marketing segment		4,747			6,847		-				
Pipeline and storage segment (3)		19,356			1,075						
Other nonutility segment and other		324			346_						
Consolidated operating income	\$	39,468	97%	\$	21,460	94%					

	Nine Months Ended June 30										
		20	05		004						
			Heating Degree Days			Heating Degree Days					
		perating Income	Percent of Normal (4)		perating Income	Percent of Normal ⁽⁴⁾					
		(In thousa	ands, except d	legr	ee day inf	ormation)					
Colorado-Kansas	\$	26,934	99%	\$	20,202	99%					
Kentucky		17,863	98%		20,895	98%					
Louisiana		26,941	78%		35,326	93%					
Mid-States		37,443	94%		38,751	95%					
Mid-Tex (1)		82,002	80%			to a transmission of the same					
Mississippi (2)		24,661	96%		23,805	101%					
West Texas		26,080	100%		18,458	91%					
Other		1,402	was a state of the		604	***************************************					
Utility segment		243,326	89%		158,041	96%					
Natural gas marketing segment		34,141	-		26,729	**************************************					
Pipeline and storage segment (3)		61,959	-		5,125	and the same of th					
Other nonutility segment and other		897	man-manage.		520	TOTAL CONTRACTOR OF THE PARTY O					
Consolidated operating income	\$	340,323	89%	\$	190,415	96%					

Notes to preceding tables:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2005 compared with Three Months Ended June 30, 2004

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 70 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public-authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 68

Operating income for the Mid-Tex Division reflects operating income since October 1, 2004.

The name of this division was changed from the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division in April 2005.

Operating income for the pipeline and storage segment reflects operating income for the Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division since October 1, 2004.

Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations.

percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are partially offset through weather normalization adjustments, or WNA, in certain of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. As of June 30, 2005, we had, or received regulatory approvals for, WNA in the following service areas for the following periods, which covered approximately 1.1 million meters:

Georgia	October - May
Kansas	October - May
Kentucky	November – April
Mississippi	November – May
Tennessee	November – April
Amarillo, Texas	October - May
West Texas	October - May
Lubbock, Texas	October – May
Virginia (1)	January – December

Effective beginning in July 2005.

Our Mid-Tex Division does not have WNA. However, its operations benefit from a rate structure that combines a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provides for the recovery of a significant portion of our fixed costs for such operations under average weather conditions. However, this rate structure is not as beneficial during periods where weather is significantly warmer than normal.

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$175.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from \$93.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 72.7 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current year compared to 42.6 Bcf in the prior year period.

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of \$79.4 million and 28.6 Bcf. Gross profit margin in our historical operations increased by \$2.6 million primarily due to weather that was 6 percent colder than the prior year quarter partially offset by lower irrigation margins in our West Texas and Colorado-Kansas Divisions.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$160.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from \$80.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 as a result of the addition of the Mid-Tex Division. Excluding the impact of the Mid-Tex Division, operating expenses for our historical utility operations increased 4 percent compared with the prior year period. Included in taxes other than income taxes are franchise and state gross receipts taxes which are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings, timing differences between when the expense is incurred and is recovered may impact our net income on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$15.0 million from \$13.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income increased to \$3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from \$1.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to an increase in interest income earned on higher cash balances during the third quarter compared with the prior year quarter partially offset by a \$0.8 million gain on the sale of a building during the three months ended June 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the three months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$28.5 million from \$16.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004. On June 30, 2005, we repaid \$72.5 million in principal on five of our First Mortgage Bonds prior to

their scheduled maturities. The early extinguishment of these bonds will result in savings of \$1.3 million in interest expense in fiscal 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at the most advantageous price to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, and storage activities, which are derived from the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

	Three Months Ended							
		Jun	e 30)				
	2005 2004							
		(In thousa	nds,	except				
		storage l	oalai	nces)				
Storage Activities								
Realized margin	\$	(1,777)	\$	2,621				
Unrealized margin		961		2,968				
Total Storage Activities		(816)		5,589				
Marketing Activities								
Realized margin		12,347		9,147				
Unrealized margin		(1,136)		(3,105)				
Total Marketing Activities		11,211		6,042				
Gross profit	\$	10,395	\$	11,631				
Ending storage balance (Bcf)		14.7		4.9				

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$10.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$11.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended June 30, 2005 included an unrealized loss of \$0.2 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$0.1 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 62.8 Bcf during the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared with 56.2 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 52.7 Bcf during the current year period compared with 47.6 Bcf in the prior year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was attributable to successfully executed marketing strategies into new market areas.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a loss of \$0.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to a gain of \$5.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The \$6.4 million decrease primarily was attributable to a \$4.4 million decrease in the realized storage contribution for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the prior year period associated with increased storage costs related to 9.0 Bcf in new storage capacity contracted during the third quarter and less favorable arbitrage spreads from increased market volatility. The total annual demand charge for the new storage capacity will be \$7.6 million. We may further increase the amount of our storage capacity during the remainder of fiscal 2005; therefore, the impact of price volatility on our unrealized storage contribution could become more significant in future periods.

A \$2.0 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution resulting from an unfavorable movement during the three months ended June 30, 2005 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at June 30, 2005 compared to the prior year period also contributed to the decrease.

Our marketing activities contributed \$11.2 million to our gross profit for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to \$6.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers and successfully entering into new market areas.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$5.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from \$4.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in operating expense was attributable primarily to an increase in labor costs due to increased headcount and an increase in regulatory compliance costs.

The decrease in gross profit margin, combined with higher operating expenses resulted in a decrease in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$4.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared with operating income of \$6.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which were previously included in our other nonutility segment. The Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division and transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, blending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are estimated to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our

service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$38.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from \$2.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 128.5 Bcf during the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared with 2.1 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 97.6 Bcf during the current year period.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$35.2 million and 97.6 Bcf. Also contributing to Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division's results were higher transportation and related services margin due to significant basis differentials at its three major Texas hubs. The \$0.8 million increase in the gross profit generated by Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC primarily reflects an increase in asset management fees.

Operating expenses increased to \$18.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 from \$1.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 due to the addition of \$17.8 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division is a regulated entity, franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no effect on net income. Included in operating expense was \$2.1 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$1.9 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the three months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$19.4 million from \$1.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the three months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$6.2 million from \$0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The

increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations. These services, which began April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. The revenues of AES represent charges to our utility divisions equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct gas-fired electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002. Operating income during the three months ended June 30, 2005 was flat compared with the prior year quarter.

Miscellaneous income for the three months ended June 30, 2005 was \$0.6 million compared with \$1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. The \$0.9 million decrease was attributable primarily to the recognition of a \$1.0 million pretax gain on the sale of all remaining limited partnership interests in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. during the third quarter of fiscal 2004.

Nine Months Ended June 30, 2005 compared with Nine Months Ended June 30, 2004

Utility segment

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$755.6 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 from \$421.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 351.7 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current year compared to 208.6 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of \$324.5 million and 150.7 Bcf. The \$10.1 million increase in the gross profit generated from our historical operations primarily reflects rate increases in our Mississippi and West Texas jurisdictions that were absent in the prior year period coupled with the recognition of a \$1.9 million refund to our customers in our Colorado service area in the prior year period. These increases were partially offset by lower gross profit margins, primarily in our Louisiana service area, due to weather (as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations) that was five percent warmer than normal and one percent warmer than the prior year period. Additionally, gross profit margin was adversely

impacted by the lack of cold weather in patterns sufficient to encourage customers to increase their heat load consumption.

Operating expenses increased to \$512.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 from \$263.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 as a result of the addition of the Mid-Tex Division. Excluding the impact of the Mid-Tex Division, operating expenses for our historical utility operations increased \$6.7 million primarily due to a \$5.6 million increase in taxes, other than income and a \$3.6 million increase in depreciation and amortization, partially offset by lower operating and maintenance expenses due to cost control efforts.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$243.3 million from \$158.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004.

Miscellaneous income

Miscellaneous income increased to \$6.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 from \$4.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to an increase in interest income earned on higher cash balances compared with the prior year partially offset by a \$0.8 million gain on the sale of a building during the quarter ended June 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$83.8 million from \$49.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004.

Natural gas marketing segment

Operating income

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

	Nine Months Ended June 30					
	 2005		2004			
	 (In thousandstorage b	-	-			
Storage Activities						
Realized margin	\$ 15,482	\$	6,766			
Unrealized margin	(7,065)		363			
Total Storage Activities	 8,417		7,129			
Marketing Activities						
Realized margin	43,182		36,417			
Unrealized margin	(3,200)		(2,555)			
Total Marketing Activities	 39,982		33,862			
Gross profit	\$ 48,399	\$	40,991			
Ending storage balance (Bcf)	14.7		4.9			

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$48.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$41.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 included an unrealized loss of \$10.3 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$2.2 million in the prior-year period. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 203.8 Bcf during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared with 207.6 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 179.7 Bcf during the current year period compared with 173.7 Bcf in the prior year period. The slight increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin opportunities and successful marketing efforts into new market areas partially offset by warmer-than-normal weather across our market areas.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a gain of \$8.4 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared to a gain of \$7.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The \$1.3 million improvement primarily was attributable to an \$8.7 million improvement in the realized storage contribution, partially offset by a \$7.4 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the prior year period. The improvement in the realized storage

contribution for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 primarily was due to higher physical storage volumes and more favorable arbitrage spreads from increased market activity. The decrease in unrealized income in the current period was primarily attributable to an unfavorable movement during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at June 30, 2005 compared to the prior-year period.

Our marketing activities contributed \$40.0 million to our gross profit for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared to \$33.9 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to improved realized margins resulting from focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers and successful marketing efforts into new market areas, partially offset by the recognition of previously unrealized losses related to the open fixed-price forward contracts that were designated as cash flow hedges on April 1, 2004.

Operating expenses remained unchanged at \$14.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the nine months ended June 30, 2004.

The improved gross profit margin and unchanged operating expenses resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$34.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared with operating income of \$26.7 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004.

Pipeline and storage segment

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$121.9 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 from \$9.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 417.4 Bcf during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared with 7.4 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 254.5 Bcf during the current year period.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$111.4 million and 254.5 Bcf. The \$1.4 million increase in the gross profit generated by Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC primarily reflects an increase in asset management fees coupled with an unrealized gain of \$0.6 million compared with and unrealized loss in the prior year period of \$0.1 million.

Operating expenses increased to \$59.9 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 from \$4.0 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 due to the addition of \$56.8 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division.

Included in operating expense was \$6.5 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$6.0 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$62.0 million from \$5.1 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 increased to \$18.6 million from \$0.8 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Operating income during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 was flat compared with the prior year quarter and reflects the absence of a one time charge of \$0.4 million associated with the wind-down of a noncore business.

Miscellaneous income for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 was \$1.8 million, compared with income of \$7.7 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The \$5.9 million decrease was attributable to the recognition of a \$5.9 million pretax gain associated with the sale by U.S. Propane L.P. (USP) of its general and limited partnership interests in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. during the nine months ended June 30, 2004.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for the remainder of fiscal 2005.

Capitalization

The following presents our capitalization as of June 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004:

	June 3 2005	•	September 30, 2004			
	(In th	ousands, e	ccept percentag	ges)		
Short-term debt	\$ —	anno Anno Pi	\$ —	and province in		
Long-term debt	2,186,881	57.5%	867,219	43.3%		
Shareholders' equity	1,616,010	42.5%	1,133,459	56.7%		
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$3,802,891	100.0%	\$2,000,678	100.0%		

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 57.5 percent at June 30, 2005, and 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was attributable to the issuance of \$1.39 billion in senior unsecured long-term debt, partially offset by the issuance of 16.1 million shares of our common stock in October 2004 to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within three to five years from the closing of the acquisition, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the price for our products and services, the demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks, the successful integration of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas we acquired and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attributable primarily to changes in net income, working capital changes within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the nine months ended June 30, 2005, we generated operating cash flow of \$387.4 million compared with \$359.3 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. Our cash flow from operating activities was affected by the following:

- Favorable movements during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 in the market indices used to value our risk management assets and liabilities favorably impacted operating cash flow by \$9.8 million. However, unfavorable movements in the market indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities resulted in a net liability for that segment. Accordingly, under the terms of the associated derivative contracts, we were required to deposit \$22.7 million into a margin account, which resulted in a \$40.6 million unfavorable impact to operating cash flow compared with the prior year period.
- The timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities favorably affected operating cash flow by \$32.0 million.

- Increases in our natural gas inventories attributable to a 10 percent higher utility average cost of gas and increased natural gas marketing natural gas inventory levels compared with the prior year period resulted in a \$74.3 million decrease in operating cash flows.
- The lag between the time period when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates resulted in a decrease in operating cash flows of \$32.7 million.
- Other working capital and other changes positively affected operating cash flow by \$133.9 million, primarily related to improved net income (\$60.0 million) and increases in the amounts added back to net income for depreciation and amortization (\$62.9 million) and deferred income taxes (\$12.0 million).

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions, our ongoing construction program to provide natural gas services to our customer base, enhance the integrity of our pipelines and improvements to information systems. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2005 are expected to range from \$335 million to \$345 million. Of this amount, approximately \$150 - \$160 million is expected to be incurred by the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division.

For the nine months ended June 30, 2005, we incurred \$226.9 million for capital expenditures compared with \$129.5 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. Capital expenditures for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 include approximately \$77.8 million for the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and \$16.3 million for the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division.

Our cash used for investing activities for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 reflects the \$1.9 billion cash paid for the TXU Gas acquisition including related transaction costs and expenses. Cash flow from investing activities for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 reflect the receipt of \$26.6 million from the sale of our limited and general partnership interests in USP in January 2004 and \$1.3 million from the sale of a building.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the nine months ended June 30, 2005, our financing activities provided \$1.6 billion in cash compared with a use of cash of \$144.0 million for the prior year period. Our significant financing activities for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows:

• In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382.0 million. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured debt under the shelf registration statement consisting of \$400 million of 4.00% senior notes due 2009, \$500 million of 4.95% senior notes due 2014, \$200 million of 5.95% senior

notes due 2034 and \$300 million of floating rate senior notes due 2007. The floating rate notes bear interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. The net proceeds received from the sale of these senior notes were \$1.39 billion. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to pay off the approximately \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition.

- During the nine months ended June 30, 2005 we borrowed and repaid all amounts borrowed under our commercial paper program. During the nine months ended June 30, 2004, we repaid \$118.6 million under our commercial paper program. Strong operating cash flow in each year to date period provided sufficient funds to enable us to repay all outstanding amounts under our commercial paper program as of June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004.
- We repaid \$102.8 million of long-term debt during the nine months ended June 30, 2005 compared with \$9.1 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increased payments during the current quarter reflected the repayment of \$72.5 million on our First Mortgage Bonds. In connection with this repayment we paid a \$25.0 million make-whole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements and paid accrued interest of approximately \$1.0 million. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and will be recognized over the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid. The early extinguishment of these bonds will result in interest savings of \$1.3 million in fiscal 2005 and \$5.1 million in fiscal 2006.
- During the nine months ended June 30, 2005 we paid \$74.0 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$47.6 million for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. The increase in dividends paid over the prior year period reflects the 27.7 million increase in the number of common shares outstanding and an increase in the dividend rate from \$0.915 per share during the nine months ended June 30, 2004 to \$0.930 per share during the nine months ended June 30, 2005.
- During the nine months ended June 30, 2005 we issued 1.3 million shares of common stock, in addition to the 16.1 million common shares issued in our October 2004 public offering, which generated net proceeds of \$32.2 million. The following table summarizes the issuances for the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

	Nine Months Ended June 30			
	2005 20			
Shares issued:				
Retirement Savings Plan	338,520	241,257		
Direct Stock Purchase Plan	353,512	426,960		
Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan	1,769	2,358		
Long-Term Incentive Plan	655,684	426,943		
Long-Term Stock Plan for Mid-States Division	-	6,000		
Public Offering	16,100,000			
Total shares issued	17,449,485	1,103,518		

Shelf Registration

In August 2004, we filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective on September 15, 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares and issued \$1.4 billion in unsecured senior notes to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. After these issuances, we have approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under the shelf registration statement.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures have increased substantially as a result of the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas. On October 22, 2004, we replaced our \$350.0 million credit facility with a new \$600.0 million committed credit facility that serves as a backup liquidity facility for our commercial paper program. We believe this facility, combined with our operating cash flow will be sufficient to fund these increased working capital needs. On March 30, 2005, AEM amended and extended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2006. At June 30, 2005 we had no borrowings under these facilities. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 6 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Credit Ratings

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating

cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	Moody's	Fitch	
*			TO TO 100	
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+	
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2	

Currently, S&P and Moody's maintain a stable outlook and Fitch maintains a negative outlook. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. All of our current ratings for long-term debt are categorized as investment grade. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB-, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB-. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

We are required by the financial covenants in our \$600.0 million credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At June 30, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined in such facility, was 60 percent.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in its uncommitted demand working capital facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$50 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$51 million, and its maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 cannot exceed \$4 million to \$10 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At June 30, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined in such facility, was 1.14 to 1.

Our First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most

restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985, may not exceed the sum of our accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985, plus \$9.0 million. At June 30, 2005, approximately \$199.6 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of June 30, 2005. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600.0 million revolving credit agreement, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

As a result of the issuance of our unsecured senior notes in October 2004 our contractual obligations associated with our long-term debt and interest expense increased since September 30, 2004.

The following table reflects the significant changes in our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2005.

	Payments Due by Period								
		After 5							
	Total	1 year	1-3 years	3-5 years	years				
		(In thousands)						
Contractual Obligations									
Long-term debt (1)	\$ 2,190,766	\$ 3,242	\$ 307,323	\$403,689	\$1,476,512				
Interest charges	1,172,168	112,519	219,562	195,529	644,558				
Gas purchase commitments (2)	501,803	84,604	329,097	42,578	45,524				

⁽¹⁾ See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices estimated based upon the index specified in the contract, adjusted for estimated basis differentials and contractual discounts as of June 30, 2005.

Additionally, in January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we will contribute up to \$42.5 million within two years of signing a definitive agreement.

In May 2005, we entered into a five year agreement with a third party to transport up to 100,000 MMBtu per day of natural gas through our Texas intrastate pipeline system beginning in April 2006. To handle the increased volumes for this project and other planned projects, we will install near Howard, Texas, compression equipment and other pipeline infrastructure, costing approximately \$20 million.

During the three months ended June 30, 2005, we contracted for an additional 9.0 Bcf of storage capacity for a total annual demand charge of \$7.6 million.

There were no other significant changes in our contractual obligations and commercial commitments during the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winterperiod gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock-in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could experience significant ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting, resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following tables show the components of the change in the fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing commodity derivative contracts for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

		onths Ended 30, 2005	Three Months Ended June 30, 2004			
		Natural Gas		Natural Gas		
	Utility	Utility	Marketing			
		(In thou	ısands)			
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period	\$ 24,367	\$ (5,896)	\$ 294	\$ 1,187		
Contracts realized/settled	163	(7,843)	849	(836)		
Other changes in value	926	5,684	(8,581)	144		
Fair value of contracts at end of period	\$ 25,456		\$ (7,438)	\$ 495		
		onths Ended 30, 2005		onths Ended e 30, 2004		
		Natural Gas		Natural Gas		
	Utility	Marketing	Utility	Marketing		
		(In thou	ısands)			
Fair value of contracts at beginning of period	\$ (8,612)	\$ 13,018	\$ (7,739)	\$ 10,144		
Contracts realized/settled	(45,234)	(24,377)	(3,296)	(6,030)		
Other changes in value	79,302	3,304	3,597	(3,619)		
Fair value of contracts at end of period	\$ 25,456	\$ (8,055)	\$ (7,438)	\$ 495		

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at June 30, 2005, is segregated below by time period and fair value source:

	Fair Value of Contracts at June 30, 2005								
			Maturity in	n Ye	ars				
						Gr	eater	T	otal Fair
Source of Fair Value	L	ess than 1	1-3		4-5	Th	an 5		Value
	(In thousands)								
Prices actively quoted	\$	19,539	\$ (2,383)	\$	- Andrew Grand Control	\$		\$	17,156
Prices provided by other external sources		740	79						819
Prices based on models and other valuation methods		(34)	(540)						(574)_
Total Fair Value	\$	20,245	\$ (2,844)	\$		\$		\$	17,401

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at the most advantageous price to lock in a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market monthly using the Inside FERC (iFERC) price at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the forecasted gross profit margin that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The forecasted gross profit margin, less the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements, provides a measure of the net increase or decrease in the gross profit margin that could occur in future periods if AEM's optimization efforts are fully successful.

As of June 30, 2005, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the forecasted gross profit margin was approximately \$16.4 million. Approximately \$7.8 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of June 30, 2005. Therefore, the projected increase in future gross profit margin is approximately \$24.2 million.

The forecasted gross profit margin calculation is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the forecasted gross profit margin is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the forecasted gross profit margin or the projected increase in future gross profit margin calculated as of June 30, 2005 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings may result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

For the nine months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 our total net periodic pension and other benefits cost was \$27.3 million and \$19.9 million. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during the current year period compared with the prior year period primarily reflects an increase in our service cost associated with an increase in the number of employees due to the TXU Gas acquisition, which increased our service cost. Additionally, we increased our discount rate and reduced our assumed rate of return on our pension plan assets for fiscal 2005, which increased our service and interest cost and reduced our expected return on plan assets, which partially offsets our net periodic pension and other benefits cost. The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally is based on rates of high grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates were declining, which has the effect of increasing the present value of our plan liabilities and our expenses. Accordingly, we expect our fiscal 2006 net periodic pension cost to increase significantly.

As a result of the expected increase in the present value of our plan liabilities resulting from the decline in interest rates, we voluntarily contributed in June 2005 \$3.0 million to our Pension Account Plan to maintain the level of funding we desire relative to our accumulated benefit obligation. We were not required to make a minimum funding contribution during fiscal 2005 nor do we anticipate making any additional voluntary contributions during the remainder of fiscal 2005. During the nine months ended June 30, 2005, we contributed \$7.0 million to our other post-retirement plans and we expect to contribute a total of \$11.7 million to these plans during fiscal 2005.

Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we agreed to give certain transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan. For purposes of our post-retirement medical plan, we received a credit of \$18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under our retiree medical plan. The \$18.9 million credit approximated the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past service of the transitioned employees on the acquisition date.

OPERATING STATISTICS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for the three and nine-month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Jun	nths Ended e 30	Nine Months Ended June 30		
	2005 (1)	2004	2005 (1)	2004	
METERS IN SERVICE, end of period					
Residential	2,866,950	1,506,643	2,866,950	1,506,643	
Commercial	275,878	152,025	275,878	152,025	
Industrial	3,090	2,460	3,090	2,460	
Agricultural	9,822	8,706	9,822	8,706	
Public authority and other	8,172	10,174	8,172	10,174	
Total meters	3,163,912	1,680,008	3,163,912	1,680,008	
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)					
Actual (weighted average)	167	237	2,580	3,249	
Percent of normal	97%	94%	89%	96%	
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (3)					
Gas sales volumes					
Residential	20,528	10,842	149,774	85,223	
Commercial	15,148	6,384	80,059	38,852	
Industrial	5,995	4,954	23,886	17,746	
Agricultural	787	1,616	913	2,421	
Public authority and other	1,467	1,350	8,445	8,769	
Total gas sales volumes	43,925	25,146	263,077	153,011	
Utility transportation volumes	30,420	20,957	94,006	67,749	
Total utility throughput	74,345	46,103	357,083	220,760	
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3)					
Gas sales revenues					
Residential	\$ 271,153	\$ 128,886	\$1,575,186	\$ 830,154	
Commercial	141,465	60,849	731,762	348,820	
Industrial	46,932	32,483	182,854	122,835	
Agricultural	5,830	11,299	7,092	16,430	
Public authority and other	13,160	11,607	75,332	68,553	
Total utility gas sales revenues	478,540	245,124	2,572,226	1,386,792	
Transportation revenues	14,095	6,987	47,839	24,058	
Other gas revenues	9,100	4,141	30,728	14,172	
Total utility operating revenues	\$ 501,735	\$ 256,252	\$2,650,793	\$1,425,022	
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.33	\$ 0.51	\$ 0.36	
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$ 7.43	\$ 6.49	\$ 7.20	\$ 6.56	

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended June 30				Nine Months Ended June 30		
		2005 2004			2005	2004	
CUSTOMERS, end of period							
Industrial		659		630	659	630	
Municipal		79		79	79	79	
Other		431		228	431	228_	
Total		1,169		937	1,169	937	
NATURAL GAS MARKETING SALES VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽³⁾ PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽³⁾	manufactural and a second a second and a second a second and a second a second and a second and a second and	62,798 128,453		56,226 2,125	203,770 417,370	207,582 7,356	
OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3)		ŕ					
Natural gas marketing	\$	466,835	\$	364,339	\$1,473,527	\$1,255,386	
Pipeline and storage		36,524		5,357	130,798	18,243	
Other nonutility		1,421		853	4,058	2,249	
Total operating revenues	\$	504,780	\$	370,549	\$1,608,383	\$1,275,878	

Notes to preceding tables:

The operational and statistical information includes the operations of the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division since the October 1, 2004 acquisition date.

A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. Degree day information for the three and nine month periods ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 is adjusted for the Kentucky Division, the Mississippi Division and certain service areas included within the Colorado-Kansas Division, the Mid-States Division and the West Texas Division, which have weather normalized operations.

⁽³⁾ Sales volumes and revenues reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.

Recent Ratemaking Activity

The following discusses our ratemaking activities during fiscal 2005. The amounts described below represent the gross revenues that were requested or received in the rate filing, which may not necessarily reflect the increase in operating income obtained, as certain operating costs may have increased as a result of a commission's final ruling.

Mississippi. The Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) typically requires that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Rate filings have previously been made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically become effective in the following July and January. During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we agreed with the MPSC to suspend our May 2005 semi-annual filing to allow sufficient time for us and the MPSC to undertake a comprehensive review in an effort to improve our rate design and the ratemaking process.

In September 2004, the MPSC authorized additional annualized revenue of \$4.7 million on our May 2004 filing, which became effective on June 1, 2004. However, the MPSC also disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. We withdrew our appeal of the MPSC's decision regarding this disallowance.

We filed our second semiannual filing for 2004 on November 5, 2004, requesting rate adjustments of \$6.0 million in annualized revenue. The MPSC allowed us to include \$3.0 million in annualized revenue in our rates effective January 1, 2005. In February 2005, we entered into a stipulation agreement with the Mississippi Public Utilities Staff that provides for an additional \$1.3 million in annualized revenue that is retroactive to January 2005, which was approved by the MPSC during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Mid-Tex. In December 2004, we made a filing under the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include approximately \$32.0 million of distribution and pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which should result in additional revenues of approximately \$6.8 million. In March 2005, the Railroad Commission of Texas (the Commission) approved the environs (outside of the city limits) portion of the filing. The Mid-Tex Division has worked with its cities to obtain approval of the filing and has a commitment from its cities to take final action by the end of August 2005. We expect these capital costs will be recovered through a monthly customer charge beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The allowed rate of return is 8.258 percent.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the Railroad Commission of Texas (the Commission). This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the Commission in late June. Briefs from all parties are to be provided to the Commission by August 23, 2005.

The Mid-Tex Division is also pursuing an appeal to the Travis County District Court of the Final Order in its last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004 to obtain a return of and on its investment associated with the Poly I replacement pipe that was originally disallowed in its most recent rate case completed in May 2004. Additionally, the Mid-Tex Division is seeking the right to surcharge for gas cost underrecoveries. The case has been assigned to a judge, but the briefing schedule has been postponed indefinitely to allow the parties to pursue settlement discussions.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mid-Tex Division pursued a filing initiated by TXU Gas seeking authorization of a surcharge to recover the rate case expenses incurred by the Mid-Tex Division, Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division, and the intervening cities in connection with their last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004. The filing also covered the estimated expenses to prosecute the aforementioned recovery docket and the severed dockets from the systemwide rate case. On January 25, 2005, the Commission issued an order authorizing the recovery of the \$10.2 million of expenses over a 3-year period with interest.

Atmos Pipeline-Texas. Concurrent with our Mid-Tex Division GRIP filing in December 2004, we also made a GRIP filing for our regulated pipeline to include approximately \$12.0 million of distribution and pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which we anticipate will result in additional revenues of approximately \$1.8 million. The Commission approved this filing in March 2005. These capital costs are being recovered through a monthly customer charge since April 2005. The allowed rate of return is 8.258 percent.

Louisiana. During the second quarter of 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase of \$3.3 million in its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our Rate Stabilization Clause filing in 2004 and is subject to refund pending the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase is subject to refund, we have not recognized the effects of this increase in our results of operations for the three and nine months ended June 30, 2005.

Mid-States. During the third quarter of 2005, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate increase of \$4.0 million. We anticipate that the rate case will be finalized in November 2005.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business activities.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock-in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt in October 2004 and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our non-regulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price non-regulated sales. Based on projected non-regulated gas sales for the remainder of fiscal 2005, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices, based upon the June 30, 2005 three month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$3.5 million for the remainder of fiscal 2005.

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at the end of each period. Based on AEH's net open position (including existing storage and related financial

contracts) at June 30, 2005 of 0.2 Bcf, a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had less than a \$0.1 million impact on our consolidated net income.

However, changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) can result in volatility in our reported net income; however, over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges. Based upon our storage position at June 30, 2005 of 15.5 Bcf, a \$0.50 change in the difference between the iFERC and NYMEX indices could impact our reported net income by approximately \$5.0 million.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$0.4 million during the nine months ended June 30, 2005.

We also assess market risk for our fixed-rate, long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our fixed-rate, long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our fixed-rate, long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$172.4 million.

As of June 30, 2005 we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b). Based upon that evaluation, the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures continue to be effective. Such disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods set forth in applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

In addition, our management, including the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d). Based upon that evaluation, management has concluded that there has been no change in such internal control during the third quarter of fiscal 2005 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the nine months ended June 30, 2005 there were no material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 except as disclosed in Note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months and nine months ended June 30, 2005. With the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company on October 1, 2004, we assumed responsibility for certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company. We believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Item 6. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibits Index, which immediately precedes such exhibits.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION (Registrant)

Date: August 9, 2005

By: /s/ JOHN P. REDDY
John P. Reddy
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly authorized signatory)

EXHIBITS INDEX Item 6(a)

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number
12	Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges	
15	Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information	
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
32	Section 1350 Certifications*	

^{*} These certifications, which were made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, will not be deemed to be filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One	e)				
[X]	X] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934				
For the qu	arterly period ended March 31, 2005				
	OR				
[]	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF	TT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE F 1934			
For the tra	nsition period from to				
Commission	on File Number 1-10042				
	ATMOS ENERGY CO (Exact name of registrant as s				
(St	EXAS AND VIRGINIA ate or other jurisdiction of orporation or organization)	75-1743247 (IRS employer identification no.)			
5430	e Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas s of principal executive offices)	75240 (Zip code)			
	(972) 934-9 (Registrant's telephone numbe				
by Section months (or	13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchang) has filed all reports required to be filed e Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 rant was required to file such reports), and for the past 90 days. Yes X No			
-	y check mark whether the registrant is ne Exchange Act) Yes X No	an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule			
Number of 25, 2005.	f shares outstanding of each of the issu	er's classes of common stock, as of April			
	Class	Shares Outstanding			

No Par Value

79,939,319

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

	March 31, 2005	September 30, 2004
	(Unaudited)	
ASSETS	\$ 4,606,713	\$ 2,633,651
Property, plant and equipment	1,355,118	911,130
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	3,251,595	1,722,521
Net property, plant and equipment Current assets	3,231,393	1,722,321
Cash and cash equivalents	247,126	201,932
Cash held on deposit in margin account	16,990	
Accounts receivable, net	527,411	211,810
Gas stored underground	273,811	200,134
Other current assets	112,428	63,236
Total current assets	1,177,766	677,112
Goodwill and intangible assets	722,044	238,272
Deferred charges and other assets	261,039	231,978
pototroa ottargos ana ottror associs	\$ 5,412,444	\$ 2,869,883
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES		
Shareholders' equity		
Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share);		
200,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding:		
March 31, 2005 — 79,877,473 shares;		
September 30, 2004 — 62,799,710 shares	\$ 399	\$ 314
Additional paid-in capital	1,408,721	1,005,644
Retained earnings	240,920	142,030
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(17,770)	(14,529)
Shareholders' equity	1,632,270	1,133,459
Long-term debt	2,254,817	861,311
Total capitalization	3,887,087	1,994,770
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	533,232	185,295
Other current liabilities	298,802	223,265
Current maturities of long-term debt	5,887	5,908
Total current liabilities	837,921	414,468
Deferred income taxes	245,836	213,930
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	246,285	103,579
Deferred credits and other liabilities	195,315	143,136
	\$ 5,412,444	\$ 2,869,883

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED) (In thousands, except per share data)

	Three months ended March 31			
		2005	2004	
Operating revenues				
Utility segment	\$	1,235,377	\$	708,282
Natural gas marketing segment		512,891		517,218
Pipeline and storage segment		45,546		9,967
Other nonutility segment		1,278		687
Intersegment eliminations		(110,007)		(118,669)
		1,685,085		1,117,485
Purchased gas cost				
Utility segment		912,309		518,820
Natural gas marketing segment		501,731		505,356
Pipeline and storage segment		1,718		5,681
Other nonutility segment				
Intersegment eliminations		(109,256)		(118,498)
		1,306,502		911,359
Gross profit		378,583		206,126
Operating expenses				
Operation and maintenance		106,109		59,093
Depreciation and amortization		45,326		23,138
Taxes, other than income		54,967		18,481
Total operating expenses		206,402		100,712
Operating income		172,181		105,414
Miscellaneous income		958		4,456
Interest charges		33,073		16,160
Income before income taxes		140,066		93,710
Income tax expense		51,564		35,405
Net income	\$	88,502	\$	58,305
Basic net income per share	\$	1.12	\$	1.12
Diluted net income per share	\$	1.11	\$	1.12
•	\$	0.310	\$	0.305
Cash dividends per share	ф	0.510	Ф	0.303
Weighted average shares outstanding:				
Basic	Renewation.	79,270		51,850
Diluted		79,760		52,240

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED) (In thousands, except per share data)

		Six months ended March 31			
	2005	2004			
Operating revenues					
Utility segment	\$ 2,149,058	\$ 1,168,770			
Natural gas marketing segment	1,006,692	891,047			
Pipeline and storage segment	89,236	12,886			
Other nonutility segment	2,637	1,396			
Intersegment eliminations	(193,914)	(192,998)			
	3,053,709	1,881,101			
Purchased gas cost					
Utility segment	1,568,679	840,884			
Natural gas marketing segment	968,688	861,687			
Pipeline and storage segment	5,590	6,008			
Other nonutility segment					
Intersegment eliminations	(192,283)	(192,657)			
	2,350,674	1,515,922			
Gross profit	703,035	365,179			
Operating expenses					
Operation and maintenance	219,235	116,009			
Depreciation and amortization	89,323	46,611			
Taxes, other than income	93,622	33,604			
Total operating expenses	402,180	196,224			
Operating income	300,855	168,955			
Miscellaneous income	1,343	5,663			
Interest charges	65,615	33,495			
Income before income taxes	236,583	141,123			
Income tax expense	88,482	53,277			
Net income	\$ 148,101	\$ 87,846			
Basic net income per share	\$ 1.92	\$ 1.70			
Diluted net income per share	\$ 1.90	\$ 1.69			
Cash dividends per share	\$ 0.62	\$ 0.61			
TYPE 1 CONTRACTOR OF THE STATE					
Weighted average shares outstanding: Basic	77,290	51,666			
	77,769	52,057			
Diluted		J2,0J1			

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (In thousands)

	Six months ended March 31		
	2005	2004	
Cash Flows From Operating Activities			
Net income	\$ 148,101	\$ 87,846	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash			
provided by operating activities:			
Gain on the sale of assets		(4,898)	
Depreciation and amortization:			
Charged to depreciation and amortization	89,323	46,611	
Charged to other accounts	477	601	
Deferred income taxes	42,605	10,081	
Other	3,315	(944)	
Net assets / liabilities from risk management activities	20,247	924	
Net change in operating assets and liabilities	96,025	150,382	
Net cash provided by operating activities	400,093	290,603	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities Capital expenditures Acquisitions Proceeds from the sale of assets Other Net cash used in investing activities	(137,466) (1,912,532) ————————————————————————————————————	(83,729) (1,950) 24,661 2,878 (58,140)	
Cash Flows From Financing Activities			
Net decrease in short-term debt	***************************************	(118,595)	
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	1,385,847	5,000	
Repayment of long-term debt	(3,849)	(5,546)	
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements	(43,770)		
Cash dividends paid	(49,211)	(31,616)	
Issuance of common stock	26,025	17,594	
Net proceeds from equity offering	382,014	***************************************	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	1,697,056	(133,163)	
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	45,194	99,300	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	201,932	15,683	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 247,126	\$ 114,983	

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) MARCH 31, 2005

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. Through our natural gas utility business, we distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, publicauthority and industrial customers through our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, in the service areas described below:

Division	Service Area
Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division	Colorado, Kansas, Missouri ⁽³⁾
Atmos Energy Kentucky Division	Kentucky
Atmos Energy Louisiana Division	Louisiana
Atmos Energy Mid-States Division	Georgia ⁽³⁾ , Illinois ⁽³⁾ , Iowa ⁽³⁾ ,
	Missouri ⁽³⁾ Tennessee, Virginia ⁽³⁾
Atmos Energy Mississippi Division (1)	Mississippi
Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division (2)	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort
	Worth metropolitan area
Atmos Energy West Texas Division	West Texas

⁽¹⁾ The name of this division was changed from the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division in April 2005.

(2) Acquired in October 2004.

As further described in Note 3, on October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. We also acquired a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs, all within Texas. On October 1, 2004, we created the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, which provides gas distribution services to the approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. We also created the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division to manage the TXU Gas pipeline and storage operations we acquired.

In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system. Our utility business is subject to federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which the utility divisions operate. Our shared-services division is located in Dallas, Texas, and our customer support centers are located in Amarillo, Texas, and Metairie, Louisiana. In addition, on April 1, 2005, we assumed the operations of a Waco, Texas call center, and all call center services provided by TXU Gas under a

⁽³⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

transitional services agreement were terminated. We intend to close the purchase of the related assets on October 1, 2005.

Our nonutility businesses include our natural gas marketing operations, our pipeline and storage operations and our other nonutility operations which are provided in 18 states. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by Atmos Energy Corporation.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Colorado-Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage operations consist of the operations of the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division was purchased from TXU Gas and supplies natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas to third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES) and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations. These services, which began April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

2. Unaudited Interim Financial Information

In the opinion of management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the unaudited consolidated interim-period financial statements. These consolidated interim-period financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Because of seasonal and other factors, the results of operations for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005 are not indicative of

expected results of operations for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2005. Further, the impact of the TXU Gas acquisition on the statement of cash flows is reflected in the acquisitions line item; therefore, the net changes in operating assets and liabilities will not reflect balance sheet changes attributable to the acquisition.

Significant accounting policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. There were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the six months ended March 31, 2005.

Stock-based compensation plans

We have two stock-based compensation plans that provide for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units to officers and key employees: the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid-States Division. Nonemployee directors are also eligible to receive such stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of these plans include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock.

As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we account for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options is recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock are valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation is amortized to operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock. As discussed below, beginning October 1, 2005 we will account for our stock-based compensation in accordance with SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment.

Had compensation expense for our stock options issued under the Long-Term Incentive Plan been recognized based on the fair value on the grant date under the methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the three and sixmonths ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended			Ended		
	March 31			March 31				
		2005		2004	2	2005		2004
				(In thou	ısan	ds,		
		•	exce	pt per sh	are a	mounts)	
Net income – as reported	\$	88,502	\$	58,305	\$14	48,101	\$	87,846
Restricted stock compensation expense		460		0.0		0.62		106
included in income, net of tax		469		98		962		196
Total stock-based employee compensation								
expense determined under fair-value-		(604)		(205)		(1 427)		(770)
based method for all awards, net of taxes		(684)		(385)		$\frac{(1,427)}{17(2)}$		(778)
Net income – pro forma	\$	88,287		58,018	\$14	47,636	\$	87,264
Earnings per share:								
Basic earnings per share – as reported	\$	1.12	\$	1.12	\$	1.92	\$	1.70
Basic earnings per share - pro forma	\$	1.11	\$	1.12	\$	1.91	\$	1.69
Diluted earnings per share – as reported	\$	1.11	\$	1.12	\$	1.90	\$	1.69
Diluted earnings per share - pro forma	\$	1.11	\$	1.11	\$	1.90	\$	1.67

At March 31, 2005, there were 300 options outstanding under the Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid-States Division, all of which were fully vested. Because of the limited activities of this plan, the pro forma effects of applying SFAS 123 would have less than a \$0.01 per diluted share effect on earnings per share.

Regulatory assets and liabilities

We record certain costs as regulatory assets in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, when future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Substantially all of our regulatory assets are recorded as a component of deferred charges and substantially all of our regulatory liabilities are recorded as a component of deferred credits and other liabilities. Deferred gas costs are recorded either in other current assets or liabilities and the regulatory cost of removal obligation is separately reported. Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004 included the following:

March 31, 2005		Se	ptember 30, 2004	
(In thousands)				
\$	31,688	\$		
			1,992	
	13,966		14,644	
			751	
	2,924		4,057	
	•			
	6,545		3,289	
\$	76,113	\$	24,733	
70000000000000000000000000000000000000				
\$		\$	39,097	
	257,850		111,232	
	1,962		1,962	
	3,796			
\$	263,608	\$	152,291	
	\$	2005 (In the \$ 31,688 13,966 2,924 20,990 6,545 \$ 76,113 \$ 257,850 1,962 3,796	\$ 31,688 \$ 13,966 2,924 20,990 6,545 \$ 76,113 \$ \$ \$ 257,850 1,962 3,796	

⁽¹⁾ Fully amortized as of December 2004.

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs through our rates. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. Certain environmental costs have been deferred to future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

Comprehensive income

The following table presents the components of comprehensive income, net of related tax, for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004:

		ree Months Ended Six Mont March 31 Marc		
	2005	2004	2005	2004
		(In thou	ısands)	
Net income	\$ 88,502	\$ 58,305	\$148,101	\$ 87,846
Unrealized holding gains on investments,				
net of tax expense of \$80 and \$542 for				
the three months ended March 31, 2005				
and 2004 and of \$729 and \$924 for the				
six months ended March 31, 2005 and	120	002	1 100	1 500
2004	132	883	1,189	1,508
Net unrealized gains on commodity				
hedging transactions, net of tax expense				
of \$7,915 for the three months ended				
March 31, 2005 and \$3 for the six months ended March 31, 2005	12,913		5	
Net unrealized gains (losses) and	12,913		5	
reclassification of unrealized losses into				
earnings on interest rate hedging				
transactions, net of tax expense (benefit)				
of \$527 for the three months ended				
March 31, 2005 and \$(2,718) for the				
six months ended March 31, 2005	861		(4,435)	
Comprehensive income	\$102,408	\$ 59,188	\$144,860	\$ 89,354

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

		March 31, 2005	Se	eptember 30, 2004	
	(In thousands)				
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss): Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investments Treasury lock agreements Cash flow hedges	\$	345 (25,703) 7,588	\$	(844) (21,268) 7,583	
J	\$	(17,770)	\$	(14,529)	

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123 (R)). This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123 (R), public companies will be required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the

income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) deferred the required effective date of SFAS 123 (R) until the beginning of a registrant's next fiscal year. Accordingly, SFAS 123 (R) will become effective for the Company for fiscal 2006 beginning on October 1, 2005.

We will adopt SFAS 123 (R) as of October 1, 2005 using the modified prospective method. Under this method, we will recognize compensation cost, on a prospective basis, for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered as of October 1, 2005, based upon the grant-date fair value of those awards calculated under SFAS 123 for pro forma disclosure purposes. We expect that the adoption of SFAS 123 (R) will reduce our fiscal 2006 net income by approximately \$0.5 million.

3. TXU Gas Acquisition

On October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The purchase was accounted for as an asset purchase. The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. Through these newly acquired operations, we provide gas distribution services to approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also now own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs in Texas.

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion (after preliminary closing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We acquired approximately \$121 million of working capital of TXU Gas and did not assume any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. TXU Gas retained certain assets, provided for the repayment of all of its indebtedness and redeemed all of its preferred stock prior to closing and retained and agreed to pay certain other liabilities under the terms of the acquisition agreement. The purchase price is subject to adjustment for the actual amount of working capital we acquired and other specified matters. We anticipate that the working capital settlement will be finalized during the third quarter of fiscal 2005.

We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion, and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of \$382.0 million.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 1, 2004, in thousands:

Cash purchase price	\$1,904,877
Transaction costs and expenses	7,655
Total purchase price	\$1,912,532
Net property, plant and equipment	\$1,472,295
Accounts receivable	61,519
Gas stored underground	141,664
Other current assets	20,293
Goodwill	484,133
Deferred charges and other assets	41,634
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(43,216)
Other current liabilities	(88,060)
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	(138,991)
Deferred income taxes	8,713
Deferred credits and other liabilities	(47,452)
Total	\$1,912,532

The sale of TXU Gas's assets was held through a competitive bid process. We believe the resulting goodwill is recoverable given the expected synergies we can achieve as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. To that end, the TXU Gas acquisition significantly expands our existing utility operations in Texas. The North Texas operations of TXU Gas bridge our geographic operations between our existing utility operations in West Texas and Louisiana. TXU Gas's headquarters and service area are centered in Dallas, Texas, which is also the location of our corporate headquarters. Further, the addition of the regulated pipelines and storage operations in North Texas may create additional gas marketing and other opportunities for our non-regulated subsidiaries, which include gas marketing and storage operations. The goodwill generated in the acquisition is deductible for tax purposes.

Our allocation of the purchase price is preliminary and is subject to change due to the pending completion of the working capital settlement and our continuing review of the acquired assets and liabilities. The amount currently allocated to property, plant and equipment represents our estimate of the fair value of the assets acquired. We have based that estimate on the amount we believe will ultimately be approved as rate base for rate setting purposes.

The table below reflects the unaudited pro forma results of the Company and TXU Gas for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2004 as if the acquisition and related financing had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2004 (in thousands, except per share data):

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2004		Six Months Ended March 31, 2004					
Operating revenue Net income	\$	1,623,068 91,765	\$	2,734,578 135,149				
Net income per diluted share	\$	1.17	\$	1.73				

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets are comprised of the following as of March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004.

		March 31, 2005	S	eptember 30, 2004
	-	(In th	nds)	
Goodwill	\$	718,245	\$	234,112
Intangible assets		3,799		4,160
Total	\$	722,044	\$	238,272

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in our balance for the six months ended March 31, 2005:

	Utility Segment	N	Natural Gas Iarketing Segment		Pipeline and Storage Segment	1	Other Non- utility Segment	Total
			(In	thousands)		
Balance as of September 30, 2004	\$ 199,400	\$	24,282	\$		\$	10,430	\$ 234,112
Intersegment transfer of assets ⁽¹⁾					10,430		(10,430)	
TXU Gas acquisition (Note 3)	346,102				138,031			484,133
Balance as of March 31, 2005	\$ 545,502	\$	24,282	\$	148,461	\$		\$ 718,245

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline-Texas Division as well as the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, previously included in our other nonutility segment. Accordingly, goodwill allocable to Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC was transferred to the pipeline and storage segment.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we completed our annual goodwill impairment assessment. Based upon the assessment performed, our goodwill was considered to be not impaired.

5. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts.

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004:

			Natural	
			Gas	
	<u>Utility</u>	N	Iarketing	Total
		(In t	:housands)	•
March 31, 2005:				
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 24,367	\$	5,408	\$29,775
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent			267	267
Liabilities from risk management activities, current			(10,475)	(10,475)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent			(1,096)	(1,096)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ 24,367	\$	(5,896)	\$18,471
September 30, 2004:				
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 25,692	\$	18,748	\$44,440
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent			562	562
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(34,304)		(5,154)	(39,458)
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent			(1,138)	(1,138)
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ (8,612)	\$	13,018	\$ 4,406

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. Because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment ultimately will be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. For the 2004-2005 heating season, we hedged approximately 59 percent of our anticipated winter flowing gas requirements at a weighted

average cost of approximately \$6.23 per Mcf. Our utility hedging activities also include the cost of our Treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

Nonutility Hedging Activities

AEM manages its exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our financial derivative activities include fair value hedges to offset changes in the fair value of our natural gas inventory and cash flow hedges to offset anticipated purchases and sales of gas in the future.

Effective April 1, 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales and ceased marking these contracts to market. As a result, unrealized gains and losses on open derivative contracts which are used to hedge price risk associated with these fixed-price forward contracts, are now recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes are sold.

For the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive income was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts, and the recognition for the six months ended March 31, 2005 of \$4.2 million in net deferred hedging gains (\$8.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2005) in net income when the derivative contracts matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging gain associated with open cash flow hedges remains subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging balance as of March 31, 2005 is expected to be recognized in net income during fiscal 2005.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. On March 31, 2005, AEH had no net open positions (including existing storage).

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875

million of long-term debt subsequent to September 30, 2004. This long-term debt was issued on October 22, 2004 and was used to repay a portion of the commercial paper used to fund the TXU Gas acquisition, as described in Note 3. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This amount will remain in accumulated other comprehensive income and will be recognized as a component of interest expense over the next ten years. During the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005, we recognized approximately \$1.4 million and \$2.3 million of this obligation as a component of interest expense.

6. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004 consisted of the following:

	March 31, 2005	September 30, 2004		
	(In thousands)			
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due 2007	\$ 300,000	\$		
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000	WARNIA CONTROL		
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000	350,000		
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303	2,303		
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000	250,000		
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000			
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000	and the second s		
Medium term notes				
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000	10,000		
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000	10,000		
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000	150,000		
First Mortgage Bonds				
Series J, 9.40% due 2021	17,000	17,000		
Series P, 10.43% due 2013	10,000	11,250		
Series Q, 9.75% due 2020	16,000	16,000		
Series T, 9.32% due 2021	18,000	18,000		
Series U, 8.77% due 2022	20,000	20,000		
Series V, 7.50% due 2007	2,500	4,167		
Other term notes due in installments through 2013	8,898	9,830		
Total long-term debt	2,264,701	868,550		
Less:				
Original issue discount on unsecured senior				
notes and debentures	(3,997)	(1,331)		
Current maturities	(5,887)	(5,908)		
	\$ 2,254,817	\$ 861,311		

Our unsecured floating rate debt bears interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At March 31, 2005, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 3.035 percent.

Short-term debt

At March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004, there were no short-term amounts outstanding under our commercial paper program or bank credit facilities.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

Committed credit facilities

As of March 31, 2005, we had two short-term committed credit facilities totaling \$618.0 million, one of which is an unsecured facility for \$600.0 million that bears interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 0.625 percent and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600.0 million commercial paper program. At March 31, 2005, no commercial paper was outstanding. We entered into this facility on October 22, 2004 to replace our \$350.0 million credit facility that served as the backup liquidity facility for our \$350.0 million commercial paper program.

We have a second unsecured working capital facility in place for \$18.0 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired on March 31, 2005 and was renewed effective April 1, 2005 with no material changes to its terms and pricing.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently meet. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in our \$600.0 million credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At March 31, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 60 percent. In addition, both the interest margin over the Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on unused amounts under our \$600.0 million credit facility are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings.

Uncommitted credit facilities

AEM had a \$250.0 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility that bore interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 2.5 percent that was scheduled to expire on March 31, 2005. On March 30, 2005, the facility was amended and extended to March 31, 2006. This facility is guaranteed by AEH.

Borrowings under the amended facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 0.50% per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.50%. Offshore rate loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LIBOR plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.375% to 1.75% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above plus an applicable margin, which will range from 1.125% to 2.00% per annum, depending on the excess tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$50 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$51 million, and a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 ranging from \$4 million to \$10 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At March 31, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.95.

At March 31, 2005, no amounts were outstanding under this credit facility. However, at March 31, 2005, AEM letters of credit totaling \$103.1 million had been issued under the facility and reduce the amount available. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$46.9 million at March 31, 2005. Finally, this line of credit is collateralized by a blocked account maintained at AEM whereby collections from customers are deposited into the account, and AEM withdraws funds from the account through an established approval process.

Atmos Energy Corporation also has an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25.0 million that is used for working-capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at March 31, 2005, but Atmos Energy Corporation (AEC) letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.3 million. This uncommitted line is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line. Borrowings under this line are made on a whenand as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

In addition, AEM has a \$100.0 million intercompany credit facility with AEC through AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at the LIBOR rate plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$250.0 million uncommitted demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$250.0 million credit facility and has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2005. At March 31, 2005, \$15.0 million was outstanding under this facility and is eliminated in consolidation.

Debt Covenants

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Most of our First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1988 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1988 plus \$15.0 million. At March 31, 2005 approximately \$202.4 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of March 31, 2005. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600.0 million revolving credit agreement, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos is downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

7. Equity

On February 9, 2005, shareholders approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares from 100 million to 200 million.

On October 27, 2004, we completed the public offering of 16.1 million shares of our common stock including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares. The offering was priced at \$24.75 and generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.0 million. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with

net proceeds of \$235.7 million from a public offering we conducted in July 2004 and \$1.39 billion received from the issuance of senior unsecured notes to pay off the \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper described in Note 3 and fund the remainder of the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition.

8. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share at March 31 are calculated as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended March 31				Six ided 31			
		2005		2004		2005		2004
		(In tho	usai	nds, excep	t pe	r share a	mou	nts)
Net income	\$	88,502	\$	58,305	\$ 1	148,101	\$	87,846
Denominator for basic income per share – weighted average common shares Effect of dilutive securities:		79,270		51,850		77,290		51,666
Restricted and other shares Stock options		335 155		132 258		330 149		132 259
Denominator for diluted income per share – weighted average common shares	***************************************	79,760		52,240		77,769		52,057
Income per share – basic	\$	1.12	\$	1.12	\$	1.92	\$	1.70
Income per share - diluted	\$	1.11	\$	1.12	\$	1.90	\$	1.69

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2005. There were 3,000 out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2004 as their exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the six months ended March 31, 2005. There were 3,000 out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the six months ended March 31, 2004 as their exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common stock during that period.

9. Interim Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefit Plan Information

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are presented below. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

	Three Months Ended March 31						1	
	Pension Benefits			Other Benef			nefits	
		2005		2004		2005		2004
		4		(In thou	ısaı	nds)		
Components of net periodic pension cost:								
Service cost	\$	3,136	\$	2,433	\$	2,478	\$	1,405
Interest cost		6,017		6,004		2,366		1,751
Expected return on assets		(6,885)		(7,524)		(518)		(396)
Amortization of transition asset		1		24		378		378
Amortization of prior service cost		(2)		(2)		96		96
Amortization of actuarial loss		1,891		2,018		151		
Net periodic pension cost	\$	4,158	\$	2,953	\$	4,951	\$	3,234

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans for the six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

	Six Months Ended March 31						
	Pension	Benefits	Other	Benefits			
	2005	2004	2005	2004			
		(In tho	usands)				
Components of net periodic pension cost:							
Service cost	\$ 6,272	\$ 4,866	\$ 4,956	\$ 3,130			
Interest cost	12,034	12,008	4,732	3,854			
Expected return on assets	(13,770)	(15,048)	(1,036)	(731)			
Amortization of transition asset	2	48	756	756			
Amortization of prior service cost	(4)	(4)	192	192			
Amortization of actuarial loss	3,782	4,036	302	635			
Net periodic pension cost	\$ 8,316	\$ 5,906	\$ 9,902	\$ 7,836			

The assumptions used to develop our net periodic pension cost for the three and six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

	Pension	Benefits	Other Benefits		
	2005	2004	2005	2004	
Discount rate	6.25%	6.00%	6.25%	6.00%	
Rate of compensation increase	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	4.00%	
Expected return on plan assets	8.75%	9.00%	5.30%	5.30%	

We did not contribute to our pension plans during the six months ended March 31, 2005. We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution during fiscal 2005 nor do we anticipate making any voluntary contributions during the remainder of fiscal 2005. During the six months ended March 31, 2005, we contributed \$4.5 million to our other post-retirement plans and we expect to contribute a total of \$11.7 million to these plans during fiscal 2005.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Environmental Matters

We are involved in litigation and environmental matters and claims that arise out of our ordinary course of business. While the ultimate results of such litigation and response actions to such environmental matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and response actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

As discussed in our Form 10-Q for the three months ended December 31, 2004, we were the plaintiff in a case styled *Energas Company, a Division of Atmos Energy Corporation v. ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company, L.P., ONEOK Westex Transmission, Inc., and ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company II, filed in December 2001, in the 72nd Judicial District in the District Court of Lubbock County, Texas. This case was filed to recover damages resulting from various claims involving the sale, measurement, transportation and balancing of natural gas. This case and all related claims have been settled. The settlement did not have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.*

During the six months ended March 31, 2005, there were no other material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. However, with the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company on October 1, 2004, we assumed responsibility for certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company. We believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At March 31, 2005, AEM is committed to purchase 61.3 Bcf within one year, 6.6 Bcf within one to three years and 1.5 Bcf after three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 0.4 Bcf within one year and 0.1 Bcf within one to three years under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$5.24 to \$7.77. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$345.3 million and \$401.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 and \$705.4 million and \$698.0 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004.

Our historical utility operations maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in this service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contracts as of March 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):

2005	\$ 206,029
2006	135,701
2007	22,931
2008	12,114
2009	9,596
Thereafter	 36,094
	\$ 422,465

Other

In January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we will contribute up to \$42.5 million within two years of signing of a definitive agreement. The pipeline is currently expected to be placed into service in fiscal 2006.

11. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in customer base.

This diversification in AEM's customers helps mitigate its credit exposure. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit losses, that our financial position, results of

operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of nonperformance by any counterparty.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by the credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investor Service Inc. and/or Standard & Poor's. For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-guaranteed industrial and commercial customers is non-investment grade. The table below shows the percentages related to the investment ratings as of March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004.

	March 31, 2005	September 30, 2004		
Investment grade Non-investment grade	50% 50%	55% 45%		
Total	100%	100%		

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of March 31, 2005. Investment grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by Standard & Poor's; or Baa3, assigned by Moody's Investor Service. Non-investment grade counterparties are composed of counterparties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individually significant.

	At March 31, 2005							
			N	atural				
		TIANIA.	TA AT .	Gas				
	Se	Utility egment (1)				Consolidated		
				thousand	s)			
Investment grade counterparties Non-investment grade counterparties	\$	24,367	\$	5,299 376	\$	29,666 376		
· ·	\$	24,367	\$	5,675	\$	30,042		

⁽¹⁾ Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through to our customers.

12. Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 18 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonutility operations.

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment. Segment information for all prior year periods has been restated to reflect our new organizational structure.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies found in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units. Summarized income statements by segment are shown in the following tables.

	For the three months ended March 31, 2005					
		Natural Gas	Pipeline	Other		
	Utility	Marketing	and Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In tho	usands)		
Operating revenues from						
external parties	\$1,235,092	\$ 429,598	\$ 19,827	\$ 568	\$	\$ 1,685,085
Intersegment revenues	285	83,293	25,719	710	(110,007)	
	1,235,377	512,891	45,546	1,278	(110,007)	1,685,085
Purchased gas cost	912,309	501,731	1,718		(109,256)	1,306,502
Gross profit	323,068	11,160	43,828	1,278	(751)	378,583
Operating expenses						
Operation and						
maintenance	86,469	4,016	15,532	893	(801)	106,109
Depreciation and						
amortization	41,181	474	3,642	29	-	45,326
Taxes, other than						
income	52,220	261	2,398	88		54,967
Total operating expenses	179,870	4,751	21,572	1,010	(801)	206,402
Operating income	143,198	6,409	22,256	268	50	172,181
Miscellaneous income	1,974	201	292	616	(2,125)	958
Interest charges	28,062	679	6,228	179	(2,075)	33,073
Income before income						
taxes	117,110	5,931	16,320	705		140,066
Income tax expense	43,459	2,140	5,682	283		51,564
Net income	\$ 73,651	\$ 3,791	\$ 10,638	\$ 422	\$	\$ 88,502

	For the three months ended March 31, 2004					
		Natural Gas	Pipeline	Other		
	Utility	Marketing	and Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In tho	usands)		
Operating revenues from						
external parties	\$ 707,985	\$ 406,112	\$ 2,788	\$ 600	\$ —	\$ 1,117,485
Intersegment revenues	297	111,106	7,179	87	(118,669)	
-	708,282	517,218	9,967	687	(118,669)	1,117,485
Purchased gas cost	518,820	505,356	5,681		(118,498)	911,359
Gross profit	189,462	11,862	4,286	687	(171)	206,126
Operating expenses						
Operation and						
maintenance	54,001	4,357	626	280	(171)	59,093
Depreciation and						
amortization	22,145	536	429	28		23,138
Taxes, other than						
income	17,845	297	243	96		18,481
Total operating expenses	93,991	5,190	1,298	404	(171)	100,712
Operating income	95,471	6,672	2,988	283	and the same of th	105,414
Miscellaneous income	1,266	229	17	4,922	(1,978)	4,456
Interest charges	16,106	1,081	340	611	(1,978)	16,160
Income before income						
taxes	80,631	5,820	2,665	4,594	anamente.	93,710
Income tax expense	30,073	2,398	1,078	1,856		35,405
Net income	\$ 50,558	\$ 3,422	\$ 1,587	\$ 2,738	\$	\$ 58,305

	For the six months ended March 31, 2005					
		Natural Gas	Pipeline	Other		
	Utility	Marketing	and Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In the	ousands)		
Operating revenues from						
external parties	\$2,148,498	\$ 862,508	\$ 41,579	\$ 1,124	\$ —	\$ 3,053,709
Intersegment revenues	560	144,184	47,657	1,513	(193,914)	
_	2,149,058	1,006,692	89,236	2,637	(193,914)	3,053,709
Purchased gas cost	1,568,679	968,688	5,590		(192,283)	2,350,674
Gross profit	580,379	38,004	83,646	2,637	(1,631)	703,035
Operating expenses						
Operation and						
maintenance	183,022	7,462	28,542	1,940	(1,731)	219,235
Depreciation and						
amortization	80,232	978	8,055	58	Participation of	89,323
Taxes, other than						
income	88,840	170	4,446	166		93,622
Total operating expenses	352,094	8,610	41,043	2,164	(1,731)	402,180
Operating income	228,285	29,394	42,603	473	100	300,855
Miscellaneous income	2,946	447	607	1,209	(3,866)	1,343
Interest charges	55,321	1,080	12,399	581	(3,766)	65,615
Income before income						
taxes	175,910	28,761	30,811	1,101	Angel	236,583
Income tax expense	65,236	11,708	11,089	449		88,482
Net income	\$ 110,674	\$ 17,053	\$ 19,722	\$ 652	\$	\$ 148,101

	For the six months ended March 31, 2004					
		Natural Gas	Pipeline	Other		
	<u>Utility</u>	Marketing	and Storage	Nonutility	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In tho	usands)		
Operating revenues from						
external parties	\$1,168,194	\$ 707,536	\$ 4,157	\$ 1,214	\$ —	\$ 1,881,101
Intersegment revenues	576	183,511	8,729	182	(192,998)	ANALYSIS OF THE PROPERTY OF TH
	1,168,770	891,047	12,886	1,396	(192,998)	1,881,101
Purchased gas cost	840,884	861,687	6,008		(192,657)	1,515,922
Gross profit	327,886	29,360	6,878	1,396	(341)	365,179
Operating expenses						
Operation and						
maintenance	106,115	7,984	1,276	975	(341)	116,009
Depreciation and						
amortization	44,637	1,066	848	60	earthmose.	46,611
Taxes, other than						
income	32,285	428	704	187		33,604
Total operating expenses	183,037	9,478	2,828	1,222	(341)	196,224
Operating income	144,849	19,882	4,050	174		168,955
Miscellaneous income	2,333	352	23	6,111	(3,156)	5,663
Interest charges	33,166	1,873	551	1,061	(3,156)	33,495
Income before income						
taxes	114,016	18,361	3,522	5,224		141,123
Income tax expense	42,347	7,403	1,420	2,107		53,277
Net income	\$ 71,669	\$ 10,958	\$ 2,102	\$ 3,117	\$	\$ 87,846

Balance sheet information at March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004 by segment is presented in the following tables:

				At Ma	arch	31, 2005			
		1	Natural	Pipeline					
	¥1.***	* *	Gas	and	.	Other	TOTAL 41	_	
	Utility	M	arketing	Storage		onutility	Eliminations		Consolidated
ASSETS				(In	tnou	sands)			
Property, plant and									
equipment, net	\$ 2,817,614	\$	7,558	\$ 425,004	\$	1,419	\$	\$	3,251,595
Investment in subsidiaries	201,732	Ψ	(1,741)		*		(199,991)	-	
Current assets			(-,)				, , ,		
Cash and cash equivalents	224,231		22,749	7		139			247,126
Cash held on deposit in									
margin account	**************************************		16,990	WAMANAGA			-		16,990
Assets from risk									
management activities	24,367		7,980			****	(2,572)		29,775
Other current assets	608,617		272,297	41,458		18,811	(57,308)		883,875
Intercompany receivables	482,978					31,662	(514,640)		
Total current assets	1,340,193		320,016	41,465		50,612	(574,520)		1,177,766
Intangible assets	545.502		3,799	140 461		TATA PARAMETER			3,799
Goodwill	545,502		24,282	148,461		*******	-		718,245
Noncurrent assets from risk			613				(346)		267
management activities Deferred charges and			013				(340)		207
other assets	231,951		1,379	6,037		21,405			260,772
other assets	\$ 5,136,992	\$	355,906	\$ 620,967	\$	73,436	\$ (774,857)	\$	5,412,444
	Ψ 3,130,772	Ψ.	333,700	Ψ 020,507	<u> </u>	75,150	ψ (//·i,σσ/)		2,112,111
CAPITALIZATION AND									
LIABILITIES									
Shareholders' equity	\$ 1,632,270	\$	116,862	\$ 51,792	\$	33,078	\$ (201,732)	\$	1,632,270
Long-term debt	2,247,890					6,927			2,254,817
Total capitalization	3,880,160		116,862	51,792		40,005	(201,732)		3,887,087
Current liabilities									
Current maturities of									
long-term debt	3,917		*************	-		1,970			5,887
Short-term debt	AMMANANA		_			15,000	(15,000)		-
Liabilities from risk			17 (00				(7.124)		10 475
management activities	502 061		17,609	97 121		7,520	(7,134)		10,475
Other current liabilities	583,861		179,089 44,238	87,121 470,402		7,320	(36,032) (514,640)		821,559
Intercompany payables Total current liabilities	587,778		240,936	557,523		24,490	(572,806)		837,921
Deferred income taxes	240,348		(3,356)	6,840		1,977	(372,800)		245,836
Noncurrent liabilities from	± 1 0,5 1 0		(3,330)	0,040		1,7//	۷ /		±-1.50.50
risk management activities			1,442	***************************************		***************************************	(346)		1,096
Regulatory cost of removal			.,				(5.0)		.,0,0
obligation	246,285		NAME OF THE PARTY			ala in a garage			246,285
Deferred credits and other									,
liabilities	182,421		22	4,812		6,964			194,219
	\$ 5,136,992	\$	355,906	\$ 620,967	\$	73,436	\$ (774,857)	\$	5,412,444

	At September 30, 2004										
		Natural			Pipeline						
			Gas		and		Other				
	Utility	N	larketing	5	Storage	N	onutility	E	liminations	C	onsolidated
					(In	thou	sands)				
ASSETS											
Property, plant and											
equipment, net	\$ 1,669,304	\$	7,875	\$	43,784	\$	1,558	\$		\$	1,722,521
Investment in subsidiaries	164,300		(1,484)						(162,816)		
Current assets											
Cash and cash equivalents	182,846		18,734				352				201,932
Assets from risk											
management activities	25,692		24,412						(5,664)		44,440
Other current assets	253,829		170,363		13,473		18,815		(25,740)		430,740
Intercompany receivables	1,995						16,079		(18,074)		
Total current assets	464,362		213,509		13,473		35,246		(49,478)		677,112
Intangible assets			4,160								4,160
Goodwill	199,400		24,282		10,430				adecours		234,112
Noncurrent assets from risk									(4.50)		
management activities			734		_				(172)		562
Deferred charges and											001.416
other assets	207,019		1,661		25		22,711		(212 166)		231,416
	\$ 2,704,385	\$	250,737	\$	67,712	\$	59,515	\$	(212,466)	\$	2,869,883
CAPITALIZATION AND											
LIABILITIES		_		_				_	(151000)	•	1 120 150
Shareholders' equity	\$ 1,133,459	\$	103,376	\$	28,499	\$	32,425	\$	(164,300)	\$	1,133,459
Long-term debt	853,472						7,839		(1.6.1.0.0)		861,311
Total capitalization	1,986,931		103,376		28,499		40,264		(164,300)		1,994,770
Current liabilities											
Current maturities of											5.000
long-term debt	3,917		*******				1,991				5,908
Short-term debt			MANUFACTURE AND ADDRESS OF THE PARTY OF THE								
Liabilities from risk	24204		11.405						((0.52)		20.459
management activities	34,304		11,407						(6,253)		39,458
Other current liabilities	236,257		124,577		24,014		7,558		(23,304)		369,102
Intercompany payables			9,906		8,168		0.740		(18,074)		414.460
Total current liabilities	274,478		145,890		32,182		9,549		(47,631)		414,468
Deferred income taxes	208,325		(3,360)		6,961		1,977		27		213,930
Noncurrent liabilities from			1.700						(5(2)		1 120
risk management activities	***************************************		1,700						(562)		1,138
Regulatory cost of removal	102 550										102 570
obligation	103,579		-								103,579
Deferred credits and other	121 072		2 121		70		7 705				141 000
liabilities	131,072		3,131	ф.	70	Ф.	7,725	<u>m</u>	(212.466)	Φ.	141,998
	\$ 2,704,385	\$	250,737	\$	67,712	\$	59,515	\$	(212,466)	\$	2,869,883

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of March 31, 2005, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income for the three-month and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the six-month periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein, and in our report dated November 9, 2004, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas May 6, 2005 Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain "forwardlooking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by the Company and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of the Company's documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "estimate", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to the Company's strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in the Company's utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness; national, regional and local economic conditions; the Company's ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; risks relating to the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations, including without limitation, the Company's increased indebtedness resulting from the acquisition and the successful integration of the TXU Gas operations; and other uncertainties, which may be discussed herein, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company. A more detailed discussion of these risks and uncertainties may be found in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. Accordingly, while the Company believes these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of its forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain other natural gas nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public-authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management, transportation, storage and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 18 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonutility operations.

Fiscal 2005 has been highlighted by our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. Through these newly acquired operations, we provide gas distribution services to approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also now own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. On April 1, 2005, we assumed the operations of a Waco, Texas call center and all call center services provided by TXU Gas under a transitional services agreement were terminated. We intend to close the purchase of the related assets on October 1, 2005.

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.9 billion, before transaction costs and expenses, which we paid in cash. We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.4 billion and the sale of 16.1 million

shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.0 million.

As a result of the acquisition, effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which includes the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment.

The TXU Gas acquisition essentially doubled the size of the Company. The following table presents selected financial information for the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division operations for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005:

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2005			Six Months March 31,				
		······································		Atmos				Atmos
			P	ipeline-				ipeline-
		Aid-Tex		Texas		Aid-Tex		Texas
	I	<u>Division</u>		Division		<u>Division</u>		ivision
		(In th	ous	ands, unlo	ess o	otherwise r	ote	d)
Operating revenues	\$	522,410	\$	41,862	\$	924,658	\$	80,376
Gross profit		131,155		41,358		245,114		76,225
Operation and maintenance		39,368		14,931		79,439		27,449
Depreciation and amortization		17,349		3,317		33,082		7,404
Taxes, other than income		33,416		2,223		53,023		4,095
Operating income		41,022		20,887		79,570		37,277
Miscellaneous income (expense)		586		(105)		996		9
Interest charges		12,001		5,979		23,441		11,746
Income tax expense		9,964		5,109		20,049		8,943
Net income	\$	19,643	\$	9,694	\$	37,076	\$	16,597
Utility sales volumes – MMcf		56,484		NA		96,634		NA
Utility transportation volumes – MMcf		13,669		NA		25,468		NA
Total utility throughput – MMcf		70,153		NA		122,102		NA
Pipeline transportation volumes – MMcf		NA		84,208		NA		156,961
Heating Degree Days – Percent of Normal		82%		NA		80%		NA

The impact of the TXU Gas acquisition, combined with continued strong performance in our natural gas marketing segment contributed to the following financial results during the six-months ended March 31, 2005:

 Our utility segment net income increased \$39.0 million. The increase reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex operations (\$37.1 million) and the effect of rate increases in our West Texas and Mississippi jurisdictions that were not in effect during the first six months of fiscal 2004, partially offset by weather (adjusted for WNA) in our historical operations that was five percent warmer than normal and two percent warmer than the prior year.

- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$6.1 million during the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared with the six months ended March 31, 2004. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects favorable results from the management of our storage portfolio partially offset with an unfavorable movement in the forward indices used to value our storage financial instruments.
- Our pipeline and storage segment contributed \$19.7 million in net income for the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared with \$2.1 million for the six-month period ended March 31, 2004, primarily reflecting the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division (\$16.6 million).
- Our total debt to capitalization ratio at March 31, 2005 was 58.1 percent compared with 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004 reflecting the impact of the financing for the TXU Gas acquisition.
- Operating cash flow provided \$400.1 million compared with \$290.6 million, reflecting increased net income, more effective net working capital management partially offset by lower than expected utility sales volumes due to the effect of warmer weather and seasonably unfavorable purchased gas cost recoveries.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$137.5 million from \$83.7 million primarily reflecting spending for the Mid-Tex Division (\$45.8 million) and the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division (\$7.9 million).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Our critical accounting estimates are reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. Actual results may differ from estimates.

Our critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 and includes the following:

- Regulation
- Revenue Recognition
- Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
- Derivatives and Hedging Activities
- Impairment Assessments
- Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting policies during the six months ended March 31, 2005.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004:

	Three Months Ended				Six Months Ended			
	March 31				March 31			
		2005		2004		2005		2004
		(In th	ou	sands, unle	ss o	therwise n	otec	l)
Operating revenues	\$	1,685,085	\$	1,117,485	\$.	3,053,709	\$]	1,881,101
Gross profit		378,583		206,126		703,035		365,179
Operating expenses		206,402		100,712		402,180		196,224
Operating income		172,181		105,414		300,855		168,955
Miscellaneous income		958		4,456		1,343		5,663
Interest charges		33,073		16,160		65,615		33,495
Income before income taxes		140,066		93,710		236,583		141,123
Income tax expense		51,564		35,405		88,482		53,277
Net income	\$	88,502	\$	58,305	\$	148,101	\$	87,846
Utility sales volumes – MMcf		128,195		77,184		219,152		127,865
Utility transportation volumes – MMcf		31,904		20,647		59,882		38,145
Total utility throughput – MMcf		160,099		97,831		279,034		166,010
Total atmity throughput Timies	Service State of the last of t	100,000		77,031	-	277,031		100,010
Natural gas marketing sales volumes – MMcf		66,644		67,172		126,940		126,089
Pipeline transportation volumes – MMcf	***************************************	84,208				156,961		
Heating degree days (1) Actual (weighted average) Percent of normal		1,422 90%		1,772 97%		2,415 89%		3,012 96%
_ ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,								
Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per Mcf Consolidated utility average cost of gas	\$	0.53	\$	0.42	\$	0.55	\$	0.43
per Mcf sold	\$	7.12	\$	6.72	\$	7.16	\$	6.58

⁽¹⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations.

The following tables show our operating income by segment for the three-month and sixmonth periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	For the Three Months Ended March 31						
		20	05		20	004	
			Heating Degree Days			Heating Degree Days	
		perating Income	Percent of Normal ⁽⁴⁾			Percent of Normal ⁽⁴⁾	
		(In thous	ands, except d	legr	ee day inf	ormation)	
Colorado-Kansas	\$	16,248	97%	\$	11,119	100%	
Kentucky		10,758	100%		11,242	100%	
Louisiana		16,250	74%		21,445	93%	
Mid-States		24,705	95%		23,513	98%	
Mid-Tex (1)		41,022	82%		en-regulation		
Mississippi (2)		18,509	100%		17,131	100%	
West Texas		15,302	99%		9,501	94%	
Other		404			1,520		
Utility segment	***************************************	143,198	90%		95,471	97%	
Natural gas marketing segment		6,409	-		6,672	-	
Pipeline and storage segment (3)		22,256			2,988	-	
Other nonutility segment		318			283		
Consolidated operating income	\$	172,181	90%	\$	105,414	97%	

	 For t	nded Mar	irch 31		
	20	05		20	004
		Heating			Heating
		Degree			Degree
		Days			Days
	perating Income	Percent of Normal ⁽⁴⁾		perating Income	Percent of Normal (4)
	(In thousa	ands, except d	legr	ee day inf	ormation)
Colorado-Kansas	\$ 24,483	98%	\$	19,357	100%
Kentucky	16,603	98%		17,806	99%
Louisiana	22,583	78%		29,701	92%
Mid-States	35,843	93%		37,384	96%
Mid-Tex (1)	79,570	80%			
Mississippi (2)	27,116	95%		25,364	100%
West Texas	21,088	100%		14,167	91%
Other	999	-		1,070	}
Utility segment	 228,285	89%		144,849	96%
Natural gas marketing segment	29,394			19,882	
Pipeline and storage segment (3)	42,603	***************************************		4,050	***************************************
Other nonutility segment	573			174	Manager State Stat
Consolidated operating income	\$ 300,855	89%	\$	168,955	96%

Notes to preceding tables:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 compared with Three Months Ended March 31, 2004

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 70 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public-authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter

Operating income for the Mid-Tex Division reflects operating income since October 1, 2004.

The name of this division was changed from the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division in April 2005.

Operating income for the pipeline and storage segment reflects operating income for the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division since October 1, 2004.

⁽⁴⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations.

has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 68 percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are partially offset through weather normalization adjustments, or WNA, in certain of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. As of March 31, 2005, we had, or received regulatory approvals for, WNA in the following service areas for the following periods, which covered approximately 1.1 million meters:

Georgia	October – May
Kansas	October – May
Kentucky	November – April
Mississippi	November – May
Tennessee	November – April
Amarillo, Texas	October – May
West Texas	October – May
Lubbock, Texas	October – May
Virginia (1)	January – December
///	

(1) Effective beginning in July 2005.

The Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division does not have WNA. However, its operations benefit from a rate structure that combines a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provides for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions. However, this rate structure is not as beneficial during periods where weather is significantly warmer than normal.

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$323.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 from \$189.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 160.1 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current year compared to 97.8 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of \$131.2 million and 70.2 Bcf. Gross profit margin in our historical operations increased by \$2.4 million compared with the prior year quarter. Increases in gross profit attributable to rate increases in our Mississippi and West Texas jurisdictions and the recognition of a \$1.9 million refund to our customers in our Colorado service area in the prior year quarter were partially offset by lower gross profit margins, primarily in our Louisiana service area, due to weather (as adjusted for jurisdictions with weathernormalized operations) that was three percent warmer than the prior year quarter. Additionally, gross profit margin was adversely impacted by the lack of cold weather in patterns sufficient to encourage customers to increase their heat load consumption.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$179.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 from \$94.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Operation and maintenance expense increased by \$32.5 million primarily due to the addition of \$39.4 million in operation and maintenance expenses associated with the Mid-Tex Division, partially offset by the impact of cost control efforts in our historical utility operations and a lower provision for doubtful accounts due to exceptional customer accounts receivable collection efforts. Taxes other than income taxes increased \$34.4 million, primarily due to additional franchise, payroll and property taxes associated with the Mid-Tex assets acquired in October 2004. Franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings, timing differences between when the expense is incurred and is recovered may impact our net income on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income. Depreciation and amortization expense increased \$19.0 million, which primarily reflects the inclusion of depreciation associated with the Mid-Tex assets (\$17.3 million).

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$143.2 million from \$95.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the three months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$28.1 million from \$16.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers the gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at the most advantageous price to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, and storage activities, which are derived from the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004:

		March 31					
		2005	2004				
	***************************************	(In thousan storage b		-			
Storage Activities		-					
Realized margin	\$	14,669	\$	2,358			
Unrealized margin		(20,545)		(6,678)			
Total Storage Activities		(5,876)		(4,320)			
Marketing Activities							
Realized margin		17,236		16,662			
Unrealized margin		(200)		(480)_			
Total Marketing Activities		17,036		16,182			
Gross profit	_\$_	11,160	\$	11,862			
Ending storage balance (Bcf)		11.0		5.8			

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$11.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$11.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 74.8 Bcf during the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared with 81.2 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 66.6 Bcf during the current year period compared with 67.2 Bcf in the prior year period. The decrease in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was due to warmer-than-normal weather across our market areas partially offset by focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended March 31, 2005 included an unrealized loss of \$20.7 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$7.2 million in the prior-year period.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a loss of \$5.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared to a loss of \$4.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. The \$1.6 million decrease primarily was attributable to a \$13.9 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution as a result of an unfavorable movement during the three months ended March 31, 2005 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at March 31, 2005 compared to the prior year period. This decrease was partially offset by a \$12.3 million improvement in the realized storage contribution for the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared to the prior year period due to higher physical storage volumes and more favorable arbitrage spreads from increased market volatility.

In April 2005, we contracted for an additional 8.5 Bcf of storage capacity and may further increase the amount of our storage capacity during the remainder of fiscal 2005; therefore, the impact of price volatility on our unrealized storage contribution could become more significant in future periods.

Our marketing activities contributed \$17.0 million to our gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared to \$16.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. The increase in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, decreased to \$4.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 from \$5.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. The decrease in operating expense was attributable primarily to a decrease in contract labor costs due to systems and process improvements in the natural gas marketing segment.

The decrease in gross profit margin, partially offset by lower operating expenses resulted in a decrease in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$6.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared with operating income of \$6.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which were previously included in our other nonutility segment. The Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division supplies natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, blending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are estimated to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues

and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$43.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 from \$4.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 158.9 Bcf during the three months ended March 31, 2005 compared with 2.8 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 84.2 Bcf during the current year period.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$41.4 million and 84.2 Bcf. The \$1.9 million decrease in the gross profit generated by Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC primarily reflects an unrealized loss of \$1.5 million compared with an unrealized gain in the prior year quarter of \$0.4 million.

Operating expenses increased to \$21.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005 from \$1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004 due to the addition of \$20.5 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division is a regulated entity, franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no effect on net income. Included in operating expense was \$2.4 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$2.2 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$22.3 million from \$3.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the three months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$6.2 million from \$0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations. These services, which began April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. AES' revenues represent charges to our utility divisions equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002. Operating income during the three months ended March 31, 2005 was flat compared with the prior year quarter.

Miscellaneous income for the three months ended March 31, 2005 was \$0.6 million compared with \$4.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. The \$4.3 million decrease was primarily attributable to the recognition of a \$4.9 million pretax gain associated with the sale by U.S. Propane L.P. (USP) of its general and limited partnership interests in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. during the second quarter of fiscal 2004.

Six Months Ended March 31, 2005 Compared with Six Months Ended March 31, 2004

Utility segment

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$580.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 from \$327.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 279.0 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current year compared to 166.0 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of \$245.1 million and 122.1 Bcf. The \$7.4 million increase in the gross profit generated from our historical operations primarily reflects rate increases in our Mississippi and West Texas jurisdictions that were absent in the prior year period coupled with the recognition of a \$1.9 million refund to our customers in our Colorado service area in the prior year period. These increases were partially offset by lower gross profit margins, primarily in our Louisiana service area, due to weather (as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations) that was five percent warmer than normal and two percent warmer than the prior year period. Additionally, gross profit margin was adversely

impacted by the lack of cold weather in patterns sufficient to encourage customers to increase their heat load consumption.

Operating expenses increased to \$352.1 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 from \$183.0 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. Operation and maintenance expense increased by \$76.9 million primarily due to the addition of \$79.4 million in operation and maintenance expenses associated with the Mid-Tex Division offset by cost control efforts in our historical utility operations and a lower provision for doubtful accounts due to exceptional customer accounts receivable collection efforts. Taxes other than income taxes increased \$56.6 million, primarily due to additional franchise, payroll and property taxes associated with the Mid-Tex assets acquired in October 2004. Franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings, timing differences between when the expense is incurred and is recovered may impact our net income on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income. Depreciation and amortization expense increased \$35.6 million, which primarily reflects the inclusion of depreciation associated with the Mid-Tex assets (\$33.1 million).

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the six months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$228.3 million from \$144.8 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the six months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$55.3 million from \$33.2 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004.

Natural gas marketing segment

Operating income

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004:

	March 31					
		2005		2004		
		(In thousan	nds,	except		
		storage b	alaı	nces)		
Storage Activities						
Realized margin	\$	17,259	\$	4,145		
Unrealized margin		(8,027)		(2,606)		
Total Storage Activities		9,232		1,539		
Marketing Activities						
Realized margin		30,835		27,269		
Unrealized margin		(2,063)		552		
Total Marketing Activities		28,772		27,821		
Gross profit	\$	38,004	\$	29,360		
Ending storage balance (Bcf)		11.0		5.8		

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$38.0 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared to gross profit of \$29.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 141.0 Bcf during the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared with 151.4 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 126.9 Bcf during the current year period compared with 126.1 Bcf in the prior year period. The slight increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin opportunities partially offset by warmer-thannormal weather across our market areas. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the six months ended March 31, 2005 included an unrealized loss of \$10.1 million compared with an unrealized loss of \$2.1 million in the prior-year period.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a gain of \$9.2 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared to a gain of \$1.5 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The \$7.7 million improvement primarily was attributable to a \$13.1 million improvement in the realized storage contribution, partially offset by a \$5.4 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution for the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared to the prior year period. The improvement in the realized storage contribution for the six months ended March 31, 2005 primarily was due to higher physical storage volumes and more favorable arbitrage spreads from increased market activity. The decrease in unrealized income in the current period was primarily attributable to an unfavorable movement during the six months ended March 31, 2005 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at March 31, 2005 compared to the prior year period.

Our marketing activities contributed \$28.8 million to our gross profit for the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared to \$27.8 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The increase in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to improved realized margins resulting from focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers, partially offset by the recognition of previously unrealized losses related to the open fixed-price forward contracts that were designated as cash flow hedges on April 1, 2004.

Operating expenses decreased to \$8.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 from \$9.5 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The decrease in operating expense was attributable primarily to a decrease in contract labor costs due to systems and process improvements in the natural gas marketing segment.

The improved gross profit margin and lower operating expenses resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$29.4 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared with operating income of \$19.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004.

Pipeline and storage segment

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$83.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 from \$6.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 288.9 Bcf during the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared with 5.2 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 157.0 Bcf during the current year period.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$76.2 million and 157.0 Bcf. The \$0.5 million increase in the gross profit generated by Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC primarily reflects an unrealized gain of \$0.2 million compared with and unrealized loss in the prior year period of \$0.4 million.

Operating expenses increased to \$41.0 million for the six months ended March 31, 2005 from \$2.8 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004 due to the addition of \$38.9 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division is a regulated entity, franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no effect on net income. Included in operating expense was \$4.4 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$4.1 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the six months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$42.6 million from \$4.1 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the six months ended March 31, 2005 increased to \$12.4 million from \$0.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Operating income during the six months ended March 31, 2005 was flat compared with the prior year quarter and reflects the absence of a one time charge of \$0.4 million associated with the wind-down of a noncore business.

Miscellaneous income for the six months ended March 31, 2005 was \$1.2 million, compared with income of \$6.1 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The \$4.9 million decrease was attributable primarily to the recognition of a \$4.9 million pretax gain associated with the sale by USP of its general and limited partnership interests in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. during the second quarter of fiscal 2004.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for the remainder of fiscal 2005.

Capitalization

The following presents our capitalization as of March 31, 2005 and September 30, 2004:

	March 2005	•	September 30, 2004			
	(In thousands, except percentages)					
Short-term debt	\$ —	***************************************	\$ —			
Long-term debt	2,260,704	58.1%	867,219	43.3%		
Shareholders' equity	1,632,270	41.9%	1,133,459	56.7%		
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$3,892,974	100.0%	\$2,000,678	100.0%		

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 58.1 percent at March 31, 2005, and 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was attributable to the issuance of \$1.39 billion in senior unsecured long-term debt, partially offset by the issuance of 16.1 million shares of our common stock in October 2004 to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within three to five years from the closing of the acquisition, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 53 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the price for our products and services, the demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks, the successful integration of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas we acquired and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attributable primarily to changes in net income, working capital changes within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the six months ended March 31, 2005, we generated operating cash flow of \$400.1 million compared with \$290.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. Our cash flow from operating activities was affected by the following:

- Favorable movements during the six months ended March 31, 2005 in the market indices used to value our risk management assets and liabilities favorably impacted operating cash flow by \$19.3 million. However, unfavorable movements in the market indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities resulted in a net liability for that segment. Accordingly, under the terms of the associated derivative contracts, we were required to deposit \$17.0 million into a margin account, which resulted in a \$34.9 million unfavorable impact to operating cash flow compared with the prior year period.
- The timing of cash collections from our customers unfavorably impacted operating cash flow by \$72.0 million.
- The timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities favorably affected operating cash flow by \$147.0 million.

- Increases in our natural gas inventories attributable to lower utility sales volumes, a 9 percent higher utility average cost of gas and increased natural gas marketing natural gas inventory levels compared with the prior year period resulted in a \$26.5 million decrease in operating cash flows.
- The lag between the time period when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates resulted in a decrease in operating cash flows of \$62.4 million.
- Other working capital and other changes positively affected operating cash flow by \$139.0 million, primarily related to improved net income (\$60.3 million) and increases in the amounts added back to net income for depreciation and amortization (\$42.7 million) and deferred income taxes (\$32.5 million).

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions, our ongoing construction program to provide natural gas services to our customer base, enhance the integrity of our pipelines and improvements to information systems. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2005 are expected to range from \$340 million to \$350 million. Of this amount, approximately \$185 - \$195 million is expected to be incurred by the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division.

For the six months ended March 31, 2005, we incurred \$137.5 million for capital expenditures compared with \$83.7 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. Capital expenditures for the six months ended March 31, 2005 include approximately \$45.8 million for the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and \$7.9 million for the Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division.

Our cash used for investing activities for the six months ended March 31, 2005 reflects the \$1.9 billion cash paid for the TXU Gas acquisition including related transaction costs and expenses. The final purchase price is subject to adjustment for the actual amount of working capital we acquired and other specified matters. We anticipate that the purchase price will be finalized during the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Cash flow from investing activities for the six months ended March 31, 2004 reflect the receipt of \$24.7 million from the sale of our limited and general partnership interests in USP in January 2004.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the six months ended March 31, 2005, our financing activities provided \$1.7 billion in cash compared with a use of cash of \$133.2 million for the prior year period. Our significant financing activities for the six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as follows:

• In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382.0 million. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured debt under

the shelf registration statement consisting of \$400 million of 4.00% senior notes due 2009, \$500 million of 4.95% senior notes due 2014, \$200 million of 5.95% senior notes due 2034 and \$300 million of floating rate senior notes due 2007. The floating rate notes will bear interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. The net proceeds received from the sale of these senior notes were \$1.39 billion. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to pay off the approximately \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition.

- During the six months ended March 31, 2005 we borrowed and repaid all amounts borrowed under our commercial paper program. During the six months ended March 31, 2004, we repaid \$118.6 million under our commercial paper program. Strong operating cash flow in each quarter provided sufficient funds to enable us to repay all outstanding amounts under our commercial paper program as of March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004.
- We repaid \$3.8 million of long-term debt during the six months ended March 31, 2005 compared with \$5.5 million during the six months ended March 31, 2004. The decreased payments during the current quarter reflected the timing of the maturities of our various debt obligations.
- During the six months ended March 31, 2005 we paid \$49.2 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$31.6 million for the six months ended March 31, 2004. The increase in dividends paid over the prior year period reflects the 27.6 million increase in the number of common shares outstanding and an increase in the dividend rate from \$0.61 per share during the six months ended March 31, 2004 to \$0.62 per share during the six months ended March 31, 2005.
- During the six months ended March 31, 2005 we issued 1.0 million shares of common stock, in addition to the 16.1 million common shares issued in our October 2004 public offering, which generated net proceeds of \$26.0 million. The following table summarizes the issuances for the six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004:

	Six Months Ended March 31			
	2005	2004		
Shares issued:				
Retirement Savings Plan	242,810	164,059		
Direct Stock Purchase Plan	240,910	296,833		
Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan	1,242	1,627		
Long-Term Incentive Plan	492,801	297,676		
Public Offering	16,100,000			
Total shares issued	17,077,763	760,195		

Shelf Registration

In August 2004, we filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective on September 15, 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares and issued \$1.4 billion in unsecured senior notes to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. After these issuances, we have approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under the shelf registration statement.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures have increased substantially as a result of the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas. On October 22, 2004, we replaced our \$350.0 million credit facility with a new \$600.0 million committed credit facility that serves as a backup liquidity facility for our commercial paper program. We believe this facility, combined with our operating cash flow will be sufficient to fund these increased working capital needs. On March 30, 2005, AEM amended and extended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 31, 2006. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 6 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Credit Rating

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risk associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	Moody's	Fitch
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2

Currently, S&P and Moody's maintain a stable outlook and Fitch maintains a negative outlook. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. All of our current ratings for long-term debt are categorized as investment grade. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB-, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB-. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

We are required by the financial covenants in our \$600.0 million credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At March 31, 2005, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 60 percent.

AEM is required by the financial covenants in its uncommitted demand working capital facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from \$20 million to \$50 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from \$21 million to \$51 million, and its maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 cannot exceed \$4 million to \$10 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At March 31, 2005, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.95.

Our First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1988, may not exceed the sum of our accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1988, plus \$15.0 million. At March 31, 2005, approximately \$202.4 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of March 31, 2005. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600.0 million revolving credit agreement, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding

indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on other indebtedness, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos is downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

As a result of the issuance of our unsecured senior notes in October 2004 our contractual obligations associated with our long-term debt and interest expense increased since September 30, 2004.

The following table reflects the significant changes in our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2005. There were no other significant changes in our contractual obligations and commercial commitments during the six months ended March 31, 2005.

	Payments Due by Period										
		After 5									
	Total	1 year	1-3 years	3-5 years	years						
	(In thousands)										
Contractual Obligations											
Long-term debt ⁽¹⁾ Interest charges Gas purchase commitments ⁽²⁾	\$ 2,264,701 1,268,716 422,465	\$ 5,887 118,242 206,029	\$ 312,874 234,249 158,632	\$411,678 210,648 21,710	\$1,534,262 705,577 36,094						

⁽¹⁾ See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Additionally, in January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we will contribute up to \$42.5 million within two years of signing a definitive agreement.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts

Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices estimated based upon the index specified in the contract, adjusted for estimated basis differentials and contractual discounts as of March 31, 2005.

and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter-period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock-in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could recognize significant ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following tables show the components of the change in the fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing commodity derivative contracts for the three and six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004:

		Three Months Ended March 31, 2004						
	Natural Gas		Natural Gas					
Utility_	Marketing	<u>Utility</u>	Marketing					
\$ (9.412)	\$ 5.214	\$ 5.699	\$ 1,270					
	-	•	(529)					
		, ,	26					
, ,	(6,203)		420					
\$ 24,367	\$ (5,896)	\$ 294	\$ 1,187					
Six Mo	nths Ended							
Marcl	Marc	ch 31, 2004						
	-	Natural Gas						
Utility	Utility	Marketing						
(In thousands)								
\$ (8.612)	\$ 13.018	\$ (7.739)	\$ 10,144					
	•		(5,194)					
, ,	(10,554)		(797)					
	(2.380)		(2,966)					
			\$ 1,187					
	## March Utility	Utility Marketing (In tho In the In tho In the In th	March 31, 2005 Marc Natural Gas Utility (In thousands) \$ (9,412) \$ 5,214 \$ 5,699 (6,276) (4,907) (842) (173) — 20 40,228 (6,203) (4,583) \$ 24,367 \$ (5,896) \$ 294 Six Months Ended March 31, 2005 Six Months Ended March 31, 2005 March March 31, 2005 Natural Gas Utility Utility Marketing Utility (In thousands) \$ (8,612) \$ 13,018 \$ (7,739) (45,397) (16,534) (4,145) (2,854) — 322 81,230 (2,380) 11,856					

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at March 31, 2005, is segregated below by time period and fair value source:

	Fair Value of Contracts at March 31, 2005									
	Maturity in Years							_		
								eater	T	otal Fair
Source of Fair Value	L	ess than 1		1-3		<u>4-5</u>	_Th	ian 5		Value
				(I	n tho	usands	s)			
Prices actively quoted	\$	19,214	\$	(279)	\$		\$		\$	18,935
Prices provided by other external sources		100		8		and an interest of the second				108
Prices based on models and										
other valuation methods		(14)		(558)						(572)
Total Fair Value	\$	19,300	\$	(829)	\$		\$		\$	18,471

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at the most advantageous price to lock in a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Natural gas inventory is marked to market monthly using the Inside FERC (iFERC) price at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by estimating the forecasted gross profit margin that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The forecasted gross profit margin, less the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements, provides a measure of the net increase or decrease in the gross profit margin that could occur in future periods if the optimization efforts are fully successful.

As of March 31, 2005, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the forecasted gross profit margin was approximately \$8.0 million.

Approximately \$9.0 million of net unrealized losses were recorded in the financial statements as of March 31, 2005. Therefore, the projected increase in future gross profit margin is approximately \$17.0 million.

The forecasted gross profit margin calculation is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the forecasted gross profit margin is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the forecasted gross profit margin or the projected increase in future gross profit margin calculated as of March 31, 2005 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings may result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

For the six months ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 our total net periodic pension and other benefits cost was \$18.2 million and \$13.7 million. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during the current year period compared with the prior year period primarily reflects an increase in our service cost associated with an increase in the number of employees due to the TXU Gas acquisition, which increased our service cost. Additionally, we increased our discount rate and reduced our assumed rate of return on our pension plan assets for fiscal 2005, which increased our service and interest cost and reduced our expected return on plan assets, which partially offsets our net periodic pension and other benefits cost.

We did not contribute to our pension plans during the six months ended March 31, 2005. We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution nor do we anticipate making any voluntary contributions during fiscal 2005. During the six months ended March 31, 2005, we contributed \$4.5 million to our other post-retirement plans and we expect to contribute a total of \$11.7 million to these plans during fiscal 2005.

Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we agreed to give certain transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan. For purposes of our post-retirement medical plan, we received a credit of \$18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under our retiree medical plan. The \$18.9 million credit approximates the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past service of the transferred employees.

OPERATING STATISTICS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for the three and six-month periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended March 31			Six Months Ended March 31			
	2005 (1)		2004	2005 (1)	2004		
METERS IN SERVICE, end of period							
Residential	2,884,807		1,507,992	2,884,807	1,507,992		
Commercial	279,194		152,763	279,194	152,763		
Industrial	2,789		2,482	2,789	2,482		
Agricultural	10,070		8,987	10,070	8,987		
Public-authority and other	8,752		10,177	8,752	10,177		
Total meters	3,185,612		1,682,401	3,185,612	1,682,401		
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)							
Actual (weighted average)	1,422		1,772	2,415	3,012		
Percent of normal	90%)	97%	89%	96%		
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (3)							
Gas sales volumes							
Residential	78,477		46,874	129,246	74,381		
Commercial	37,048		19,112	64,911	32,468		
Industrial	9,648		6,543	17,891	12,792		
Agricultural	60		310	126	805		
Public authority and other	2,962		4,345	6,978	7,419		
Total gas sales volumes	128,195		77,184	219,152	127,865		
Utility transportation volumes	33,845		26,112	63,586	46,792		
Total utility throughput	162,040		103,296	282,738	174,657		
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3)							
Gas sales revenues							
Residential	\$ 780,890	\$	437,719	\$1,304,033	\$ 701,268		
Commercial	325,305		172,407	590,297	287,971		
Industrial	69,422		45,806	135,922	90,352		
Agricultural	587		2,097	1,262	5,131		
Public-authority and other	29,742		35,037	62,172	56,946		
Total utility gas sales revenues	1,205,946		693,066	2,093,686	1,141,668		
Transportation revenues	17,312		8,970	33,744	17,071		
Other gas revenues	12,119		6,246	21,628	10,031		
Total utility operating revenues	\$1,235,377	\$	708,282	\$2,149,058	\$1,168,770		
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$ 0.51	\$	0.34	\$ 0.53	\$ 0.36		
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$ 7.12	\$	6.72	\$ 7.16	\$ 6.58		

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

		Three Mo Mai			Six Months Ended March 31			
	2005 2004				2005	2004		
CUSTOMERS, end of period								
Industrial		632		620	632		620	
Municipal		78		77	78		77	
Other		474		210	474		210	
Total		1,184		907	1,184		907	
NATURAL GAS MARKETING SALES VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽³⁾ PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION VOLUMES — MMcf ⁽³⁾		74,834 158,923		81,152 2,801	140,972 288,917		151,356 5,231	
OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3)								
Natural gas marketing	\$	512,891	\$	517,218	\$1,006,692	\$	891,047	
Pipeline and storage		45,546		9,967	89,236		12,886	
Other nonutility		1,278		687	2,637		1,396	
Total operating revenues	\$	559,715	\$	527,872	\$1,098,565	\$	905,329	

Notes to preceding tables:

The operational and statistical information includes the operations of the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline–Texas Division since the October 1, 2004 acquisition date.

A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. Degree day information for the three and six month periods ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 is adjusted for the Kentucky Division, the Mississippi Division and certain service areas included within the Colorado-Kansas Division, the Mid-States Division and the West Texas Division, which have weather normalized operations.

⁽³⁾ Sales volumes and revenues reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.

Recent Ratemaking Activity

The following discusses our recent ratemaking activities during fiscal 2005. The amounts described below represent the gross revenues that were requested or received in the rate filing, which may not necessarily reflect the increase in operating income obtained, as certain operating costs may have increased as a result of a commission's final ruling.

Mississippi. The Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) typically requires that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Beginning with the November 2004 filing, rate filings have been made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically become effective in the following July and January. During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we agreed with the MPSC to suspend our May 2005 semi-annual filing to allow sufficient time for us and the MPSC to undertake a comprehensive review in an effort improve our rate design and the ratemaking process.

In September 2004, the MPSC authorized additional annualized revenue of \$4.7 million on our May 2004 filing, which became effective on June 1, 2004. However, the MPSC also disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. We withdrew our appeal regarding the MPSC's decision regarding this disallowance.

We filed our second semiannual filing for 2004 on November 5, 2004, requesting rate adjustments of \$6.0 million in annualized revenue. The MPSC allowed us to include \$3.0 million in annualized revenue into our rates effective January 1, 2005. In February 2005, we entered into a stipulation agreement with the Mississippi Public Utilities Staff that provides for an additional \$1.3 million in annualized revenue that is retroactive to January 2005, which was approved by the MPSC during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Mid-Tex. In December 2004, we made a filing under the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include approximately \$32.0 million of distribution and pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which will result in additional revenues of approximately \$6.8 million. In March 2005, the Railroad Commission of Texas (the Commission) approved the environs (outside of the city limits) portion of the filing. The Mid-Tex Division is continuing to work to obtain approval for the filing from the cities in its service area. We expect these capital costs will be recovered through a monthly customer charge beginning in the second half of fiscal 2005. The allowed rate of return is 8.258 percent.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the Railroad Commission of Texas (the Commission). This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. The proceeding has involved informal discussions in preparation for potential settlement discussions. A formal procedural schedule has been adopted providing for formal discovery and a formal hearing has been established for June 2005 in the event that settlement can not be reached.

The Mid-Tex Division is also pursuing an appeal to the Travis County District Court of the Final Order in its last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004 to obtain a return of and on its investment associated with the Poly I replacement pipe that was originally disallowed in the last rate case. Additionally, the Mid-Tex Division is seeking the right to surcharge for gas cost underrecoveries. The case has been assigned to a judge and a briefing schedule has been established.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mid-Tex Division pursued a filing initiated by TXU Gas seeking authorization of a surcharge to recover the rate case expenses incurred by the Mid-Tex Division, Atmos Pipeline—Texas Division, and the intervening cities in connection with their last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004. The filing also covered the estimated expenses to prosecute the aforementioned recovery docket and the severed dockets from the systemwide rate case. On January 25, 2005, the Commission issued an order authorizing the recovery of the \$10.2 million of expenses over a 3-year period with interest.

Atmos Pipeline-Texas. Concurrent with our Mid-Tex Division GRIP filing in December 2004, we also made a GRIP filing for our regulated pipeline to include approximately \$12.0 million of distribution and pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which will result in additional revenues of approximately \$1.8 million. The Commission approved this filing in March 2005. These capital costs will be recovered through a monthly customer charge beginning in April 2005. The allowed rate of return is 8.258 percent.

Louisiana. During the second quarter of 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase of \$3.3 million in its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our Rate Stabilization Clause filing in 2004 and is subject to refund pending the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase is subject to refund, we have not recognized the effects of this increase in our results of operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2005.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts

and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock-in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt in October 2004 and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our non-regulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price non-regulated sales. Based on projected non-regulated gas sales for the remainder of fiscal 2005, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices, based upon the March 31, 2005 three month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$5.1 million for the remainder of fiscal 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage) at the end of each period. Because AEH had no net open positions (including existing storage) at March 31, 2005 there would be no impact on our consolidated net income due to fluctuations in the forward NYMEX price.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short

term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$0.4 million during the six months ended March 31, 2005.

We also assess market risk for our fixed-rate, long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our fixed-rate, long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our fixed-rate, long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$171.4 million.

As of March 31, 2005 we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b). Based upon that evaluation, the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures continue to be effective. Such disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods set forth in applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms.

In addition, our management, including the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d). Based upon that evaluation, management has concluded that there has been no change in such internal control during the second quarter of fiscal 2005 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the six months ended March 31, 2005 there were no material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 except as disclosed in Note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2005. With the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company on October 1, 2004, we assumed responsibility for

certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company. We believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Atmos Energy Corporation on February 9, 2005, 69,682,922 votes were cast as follows:

	VOTES FOR	VOTES WITHHELD	VOTES ABSTAINING	NON VOTES
Class I Directors:				
Travis W. Bain II	68,784,090	898,832		
Dan Busbee	67,527,549	2,155,373		
Richard K. Gordon	67,311,614	2,371,308	MANAGEMENT.	and the second second
Gene C. Koonce	69,001,916	681,006		_
Class II Director:				
Nancy K. Quinn	68,787,916	895,006		
Approval of amendment to the Articles of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares from				
100,000,000 to 200,000,000:	64,288,928	5,016,823	377,162	9

The other directors will continue to serve until the expiration of their terms. The term of the Class I directors, Travis W. Bain II, Dan Busbee, Richard K. Gordon and Gene C. Koonce, will expire in 2008. The term of the Class II directors, Richard W. Cardin, Thomas C. Meredith, Nancy K. Quinn and Richard Ware II will expire in 2006. The term of the Class III directors, Robert W. Best, Thomas J. Garland, Phillip E. Nichol and Charles K. Vaughan, will expire in 2007.

Item 6. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibits Index, which immediately precedes such exhibits.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION (Registrant)

Date: May 10, 2005

By: /s/ JOHN P. REDDY
John P. Reddy
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly authorized signatory)

EXHIBITS INDEX Item 6(a)

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number
3(I)	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Atmos Energy Corporation (as of February 9, 2005)	
12	Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges	
15	Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information	
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
32	Section 1350 Certifications*	

^{*} These certifications, which were made pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, will not be deemed to be filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference.



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One	e)	
[X]	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SI SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	ECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
For the qua	arterly period ended December 31, 2004	
	OR	
[]	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934	ECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
For the tra	nsition period from to	
Commissio	on File Number 1-10042	
	ATMOS ENERGY CORPORA (Exact name of registrant as specified	
(Sta	EXAS AND VIRGINIA ate or other jurisdiction of orporation or organization)	75-1743247 (IRS employer identification no.)
5430	E Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas s of principal executive offices)	75240 (Zip code)
	(972) 934-9227 (Registrant's telephone number, includi	ing area code)
by Section months (or	check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of for such shorter period that the registrant was an subject to such filing requirements for the page	1934 during the preceding 12 required to file such reports), and
-	check mark whether the registrant is an accele the Exchange Act) Yes X No	erated filer (as defined in Rule
Number of January 31	shares outstanding of each of the issuer's class, 2005.	es of common stock, as of

Shares Outstanding 79,348,039

<u>Class</u> No Par Value

PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data)

	December 31, 2004	September 30, 2004
	(Unaudited)	
ASSETS	Φ 4.544.0CD	e 2 (22 (51
Property, plant and equipment	\$ 4,544,069	\$ 2,633,651
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	1,320,926	911,130 1,722,521
Net property, plant and equipment	3,223,143	1,/22,321
Current assets	25,162	201,932
Cash and cash equivalents	640,760	211,810
Accounts receivable, net	389,625	200,134
Gas stored underground Other current assets	152,686	63,236
Total current assets	1,208,233	677,112
Goodwill and intangible assets	703,038	238,272
Deferred charges and other assets	271,682	231,978
Deferred charges and other assets	\$ 5,406,096	\$ 2,869,883
•	-,,	
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES Shareholders' equity Common stock, no par value (stated at \$.005 per share);		
100,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding: December 31, 2004 — 79,257,756 shares;		
September 30, 2004 — 62,799,710 shares	\$ 396	\$ 314
Additional paid-in capital	1,393,250	1,005,644
Retained earnings	177,108	142,030
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(31,676)	(14,529)
Shareholders' equity	1,539,078	1,133,459
Long-term debt	2,255,173	861,311
Total capitalization	3,794,251	1,994,770
Current liabilities		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	653,403	185,295
Other current liabilities	283,130	223,265
Short-term debt	28,797	Name of the State
Current maturities of long-term debt	5,897	5,908
Total current liabilities	971,227	414,468
Deferred income taxes	200,737	213,930
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	241,986	103,579
Deferred credits and other liabilities	197,895	143,136
	\$ 5,406,096	\$ 2,869,883

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (UNAUDITED) (In thousands, except per share data)

		Three months ended December 31		
		2004		2003
Operating revenues	•	*		
Utility segment	\$	913,681	\$	460,488
Natural gas marketing segment		493,801		373,829
Pipeline and storage segment		43,690		2,919
Other nonutility segment		1,359		709
Intersegment eliminations		(83,907)		(74,329)
		1,368,624		763,616
Purchased gas cost				
Utility segment		656,370		322,064
Natural gas marketing segment		466,957		356,331
Pipeline and storage segment		3,872		327
Other nonutility segment				
Intersegment eliminations		(83,027)		(74,159)
-		1,044,172		604,563
Gross profit		324,452		159,053
Operating expenses				
Operation and maintenance		113,126		56,916
Depreciation and amortization		43,997		23,473
Taxes, other than income	***************************************	38,655		15,123
Total operating expenses		195,778		95,512
Operating income		128,674		63,541
Miscellaneous income		385		1,207
Interest charges		32,542		17,335
Income before income taxes		96,517		47,413
Income tax expense		36,918		17,872
Net income	\$	59,599	\$	29,541
Basic net income per share	\$	0.79	\$	0.57
Diluted net income per share	\$	0.79	\$	0.57
Cash dividends per share	\$	0.310	\$	0.305
Weighted average shares outstanding:				
Basic		75,306		51,483
Diluted		75,725		51,861
Director	200000000000000000000000000000000000000	,		

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands)

	Three months ended December 31		
	2004	2003	
Cash Flows From Operating Activities			
Net income	\$ 59,599	\$ 29,541	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash			
provided by operating activities:			
Depreciation and amortization:	10.007	00.470	
Charged to depreciation and amortization	43,997	23,473	
Charged to other accounts	254	672	
Deferred income taxes	8,308	19,347	
Other	977	(476)	
Net assets / liabilities from risk management activities	22,088	(4,564) (56,490)	
Net change in operating assets and liabilities	(67,319) 67,904	11,503	
Net cash provided by operating activities	07,904	11,505	
Cash Flows From Investing Activities			
Capital expenditures	(67,201)	(45,471)	
Acquisitions	(1,912,532)		
Other	(1,051)		
Net cash used in investing activities	(1,980,784)		
Cash Flows From Financing Activities			
Net increase in short-term debt	28,797	73,200	
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	1,385,847	ann and an	
Repayment of long-term debt	(3,373)	• • •	
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements	(43,770)		
Cash dividends paid	(24,521)	•	
Issuance of common stock	11,116	7,413	
Net proceeds from equity offering	382,014		
Net cash provided by financing activities	1,736,110	59,506	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	(176,770)		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	201,932	15,683	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 25,162	\$ 41,710	

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) DECEMBER 31, 2004

1. Nature of Business

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. Through our natural gas utility business, we distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, publicauthority and industrial customers through our seven regulated natural gas utility divisions, which cover the following service areas:

Division	Service Area
Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division	Colorado, Kansas, Missouri ⁽²⁾
Atmos Energy Kentucky Division	Kentucky
Atmos Energy Louisiana Division	Louisiana
Atmos Energy Mid-States Division	Georgia ⁽²⁾ , Illinois ⁽²⁾ , Iowa ⁽²⁾ ,
	Missouri ⁽²⁾ Tennessee, Virginia ⁽²⁾
Atmos Energy West Texas Division	West Texas
Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division	Mississippi
Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division (1)	Texas, including the Dallas/Fort
	Worth metropolitan area

⁽¹⁾ Acquired in October 2004.

As further described in Note 3, on October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. We also own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs, all within Texas. On October 1, 2004, we created the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division to provide gas distribution services to the approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area we acquired from TXU Gas. We also created the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division to manage the TXU Gas pipeline and storage operations we acquired.

In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system. Our utility business is subject to federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which the utility divisions operate. Our shared-services division is located in Dallas, Texas, and our customer support centers are located in Amarillo, Texas, and Metairie, Louisiana. However, on November 4, 2004, we entered into an agreement with Cappemini Energy L.P. pursuant to which we will assume the operations of the Waco, Texas call center on April 1, 2005 and will close the purchase of the related assets on

⁽²⁾ Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas.

October 1, 2005. In connection therewith, all call center services provided by TXU Gas under the transitional services agreement will terminate on April 1, 2005.

Our nonutility businesses include our natural gas marketing operations, our pipeline and storage operations and our other nonutility operations which are provided in 18 states. These operations are either organized under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by Atmos Energy Corporation.

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Colorado-Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments.

Our pipeline and storage operations consist of the operations of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division, a division of Atmos Energy Corporation; and of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly-owned by AEH. As previously discussed, the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division was purchased from TXU Gas and supplies natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, transports natural gas to third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES) and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations. These services, which began April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

2. Unaudited Interim Financial Information

In the opinion of management, all material adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary for a fair presentation have been made to the unaudited consolidated interim-period financial statements. These consolidated interim-period financial statements and notes are condensed as permitted by the instructions to Form 10-Q and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. Because of seasonal and other factors, the results of

operations for the three months ended December 31, 2004 are not indicative of expected results of operations for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2005. Further, the impact of the TXU Gas acquisition on the statement of cash flows is reflected in the acquisitions line item; therefore, the net changes in operating assets and liabilities will not reflect balance sheet changes attributable to the acquisition.

Significant accounting policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. There were no significant changes to our accounting policies during the three months ended December 31, 2004.

Stock-based compensation plans

We have two stock-based compensation plans that provide for the granting of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units to officers and key employees: the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid-States Division. Nonemployee directors are also eligible to receive such stock-based compensation under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The objectives of these plans include attracting and retaining the best personnel, providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the opportunity to acquire common stock.

As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, we account for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options is recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock are valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation is amortized to operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted stock.

Had compensation expense for our stock options issued under the Long-Term Incentive Plan been recognized based on the fair value on the grant date under the methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income and earnings per share for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 would have been impacted as shown in the following table:

	Three Months Ended December 31			
		2004		2003
		(In the	ousa	nds,
		except per	sha	re data)
Net income – as reported	\$	59,599	\$	29,541
Restricted stock compensation expense				
included in income, net of tax		489		98
Total stock-based employee compensation				
expense determined under fair value				
based method for all awards, net of taxes		(741)		(393)
Net income – pro forma	\$	59,347	\$	29,246
Earnings per share:				
Basic earnings per share – as reported	\$	0.79	\$	0.57
Basic earnings per share - pro forma	\$	0.79	\$	0.57
Diluted earnings per share – as reported	\$	0.79	\$	0.57
Diluted earnings per share - pro forma	\$	0.78	\$	0.56

At December 31, 2004, there were 300 options outstanding under the Long-Term Stock Plan for the Mid-States Division, all of which were fully vested. Because of the limited activities of this plan, the pro forma effects of applying SFAS 123 would have less than a \$0.01 per diluted share effect on earnings per share.

Regulatory assets and liabilities

We record certain costs as regulatory assets in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, when future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Substantially all of our regulatory assets are recorded as a component of deferred charges and substantially all of our regulatory liabilities are recorded as a component of deferred credits and other liabilities. Deferred gas costs are recorded either in other current assets or liabilities and the regulatory cost of removal obligation is separately reported. Significant regulatory assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004 included the following:

-	December 31, 2004			September 30, 2004		
	(In thousands)					
Regulatory assets:						
Deferred gas costs	\$	68,253	\$	***************************************		
UCG merger and integration costs, net (1)		-		1,992		
Other merger and integration costs, net		14,572		14,644		
Deferred MVG operating expenses		377		751		
Environmental costs		2,924		4,057		
Rate case costs		26,182		-		
Other		7,237		3,289		
·	\$	119,545	\$	24,733		
Regulatory liabilities:			_			
Deferred gas costs	\$		\$	39,097		
Regulatory cost of removal obligation		254,702		111,232		
Deferred income taxes, net		1,962		1,962		
Other		4,192				
	\$	260,856	\$	152,291		

⁽¹⁾ Fully amortized by December 2004.

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on our merger and integration costs; however, we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. Certain environmental costs have been deferred to future rate filings in accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions.

Comprehensive income

The following table presents the components of comprehensive income, net of related tax. for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Three Months Ended December 31			
	2004		2003
	(In the	ousan	ids)
\$	59,599	\$	29,541
	1,057		625
	(12,908)		
	(5,296)		
\$	42,452	\$	30,166
	\$	Decer 2004 (In the \$ 59,599 1,057 (12,908) (5,296)	December 2004 (In thousand \$ 59,599 \$ 1,057 (12,908) (5,296)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses):

	D	ecember 31, 2004	Se	eptember 30, 2004
		(In the	ousa	nds)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss): Unrealized holding gains (losses) on investments Treasury lock agreements Cash flow hedges	\$	213 (26,564) (5,325)	\$	(844) (21,268) 7,583
	\$	(31,676)	\$	(14,529)

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment. This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123 (R), public companies will be required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. SFAS 123 (R) will become effective for the Company on a prospective basis during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. Upon adoption, we will recognize compensation cost for the portion of outstanding awards for which the requisite service has not yet been rendered, based upon the grant-date fair value of those awards calculated under SFAS 123 for pro forma disclosure purposes. The standard also permits us to restate prior period information on a basis consistent with the calculations used for our pro forma stock compensation disclosure. We are currently assessing the impact of this standard and whether we will restate prior period information.

3. TXU Gas Acquisition

On October 1, 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The purchase was accounted for as an asset purchase. The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, storage, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. Through these newly acquired operations, we provide gas distribution services to approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also now own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs in Texas.

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.905 billion (after preliminary closing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We acquired approximately \$121 million of working capital of TXU Gas and did not assume any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. TXU Gas retained certain assets and provided for the repayment of all of its indebtedness and

redeemed all of its preferred stock prior to closing and retained and agreed to pay certain other liabilities under the terms of the acquisition agreement. The purchase price is subject to adjustment for the actual amount of working capital we acquired and other specified matters. We anticipate that the working capital settlement will be finalized during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of 9,939,393 shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion, and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of \$382.0 million.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 1, 2004, in thousands:

Cash purchase price Transaction costs and expenses Total purchase price	\$1,904,877 7,655 \$1,912,532
Net property, plant and equipment	\$1,472,295
Accounts receivable	81,035
Gas stored underground	141,664
Other current assets	19,089
Goodwill	464,963
Deferred charges and other assets	41,634
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(43,216)
Other current liabilities	(88,939)
Regulatory cost of removal obligation	(138,991)
Deferred income taxes	10,993
Deferred credits and other liabilities	(47,995)
Total	\$1,912,532

The sale of TXU Gas's assets was held through a competitive bid process. We believe the resulting goodwill is recoverable given the expected synergies we can achieve as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. To that end, the TXU Gas acquisition significantly expands our existing utility operations in Texas. The North Texas operations of TXU Gas bridge our geographic operations between our existing utility operations in West Texas and Louisiana. TXU Gas's headquarters and service area are centered in Dallas, Texas, which is also the location of our corporate headquarters. Further, the addition of the regulated pipelines and storage operations in North Texas may create additional gas marketing and other opportunities for our non-regulated subsidiaries, which include gas marketing and storage operations. The goodwill generated in the acquisition is deductible for tax purposes.

Our allocation of the purchase price is preliminary and is subject to change due to the pending completion of the working capital settlement and our continuing review of the acquired assets and liabilities. The amount currently allocated to property, plant and equipment represents our estimate of the fair value of the assets acquired. We have based that estimate on the amount we believe will ultimately be approved as rate base for rate setting purposes.

The table below reflects the unaudited pro forma results of the Company and TXU Gas for the three months ended December 31, 2003 as if the acquisition and related financing had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 2004 (in thousands, except per share data):

-	eee Months Ended ecember 31, 2003
Operating revenue	\$ 1,111,510
Net income	43,384
Net income per diluted share	\$ 0.56

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets are comprised of the following as of December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004.

	D	ecember 31, 2004	S	eptember 30, 2004			
		(In thousands)					
Goodwill	\$	699,075	\$	234,112			
Intangible assets		3,963		4,160			
Total	\$	703,038	\$	238,272			

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in our balance for the three months ended December 31, 2004:

	Utility Segment	N	Natural Gas Iarketing Segment		Pipeline and Storage Segment		Other Non- Utility Segment	Total
			(In	thousands)		
Balance as of September 30, 2004	\$ 199,400	\$	24,282	\$		\$	10,430	\$ 234,112
Intersegment transfer of assets ⁽¹⁾					10,430		(10,430)	
TXU Gas acquisition (Note 3)	331,557		***************************************		133,406			464,963
Balance as of December 31, 2004	\$ 530,957	\$	24,282	\$	143,836	\$		\$ 699,075

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which reflects the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment. Accordingly, goodwill allocable to Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC was transferred to the pipeline and storage segment.

5. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts.

The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004:

	Natural Gas							
	Utility_	M	Iarketing	Total				
		3)						
December 31, 2004:								
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 755	\$	12,068	\$12,823				
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent			-	-				
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(10,167)	(6,002)	(16,169)				
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent			(852)	(852)				
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ (9,412) \$	5,214	\$ (4,198)				
September 30, 2004:								
Assets from risk management activities, current	\$ 25,692	\$	18,748	\$44,440				
Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent			562	562				
Liabilities from risk management activities, current	(34,304)	(5,154)	(39,458)				
Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent			(1,138)	(1,138)				
Net assets (liabilities)	\$ (8,612) \$	13,018	\$ 4,406				

Utility Hedging Activities

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. Because the gains or losses of financial derivatives used in our utility segment will ultimately be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. For the 2004-2005 heating season, we have hedged approximately 50 percent of our anticipated winter flowing gas requirements at a weighted average cost of approximately \$6.22 per Mcf. Our utility hedging activities also include the cost of our Treasury lock agreements which are described in further detail below.

Nonutility Hedging Activities

AEM manages its exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our financial derivative activities include fair value hedges to offset changes in the fair value of our natural gas inventory and cash flow hedges to offset anticipated purchases and sales of gas in the future.

Effective April 1, 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales and ceased marking these contracts to market. As a result, unrealized gains and losses on these open derivative contracts are now recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes are sold.

For the three months ended December 31, 2004, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other comprehensive income from an unrealized gain as of September 30, 2004 to an unrealized loss as of December 31, 2004 was attributable to increases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices stipulated in the derivative contracts, and the recognition of \$4.3 million in net deferred hedge gains in net income when the derivatives matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedge loss associated with open cash flow hedges remains subject to market price fluctuations until the positions are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of the deferred hedging position as of December 31, 2004 is expected to be recognized in net income during fiscal 2005.

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. At the close of business on December 31, 2004, AEH had a net open position (including existing storage) of 0.3 Bcf.

Treasury Activities

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of \$875 million of long-term debt subsequent to September 30, 2004. This long-term debt was issued on October 22, 2004 and was used to repay a portion of the commercial paper used to fund the TXU Gas acquisition, as described in Note 3. We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net \$43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This amount will remain in accumulated other comprehensive income and will be recognized as a component of interest expense over the next ten years. During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, we recognized approximately \$0.9 million of this obligation as a component of interest expense.

6. Debt

Long-term debt

Long-term debt at December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004 consisted of the following:

	December 31, September 3 2004 2004					
	(In thousands)					
Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due 2007	\$ 300,000	\$ —				
Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009	400,000					
Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011	350,000	350,000				
Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011	2,303	2,303				
Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013	250,000	250,000				
Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014	500,000	****				
Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034	200,000	_				
Medium term notes						
Series A, 1995-2, 6.27%, due 2010	10,000	10,000				
Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025	10,000	10,000				
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028	150,000	150,000				
First Mortgage Bonds						
Series J, 9.40% due 2021	17,000	17,000				
Series P, 10.43% due 2013	10,000	11,250				
Series Q, 9.75% due 2020	16,000	16,000				
Series T, 9.32% due 2021	18,000	18,000				
Series U, 8.77% due 2022	20,000	20,000				
Series V, 7.50% due 2007	2,500	4,167				
Other term notes due in installments through 2013	9,374	9,830				
Total long-term debt	2,265,177	868,550				
Less:						
Original issue discount on unsecured senior						
notes and debentures	(4,107)	(1,331)				
Current maturities	(5,897)	(5,908)				
	\$ 2,255,173	\$ 861,311				

Our unsecured floating rate debt bears interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. At December 31, 2004, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 2.465 percent.

Short-term debt

At December 31, 2004, short-term debt consisted of \$15.0 million of commercial paper and \$13.8 million outstanding under our bank credit facilities. At September 30, 2004, there were no short-term amounts outstanding under our commercial paper program or bank credit facilities.

Credit facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather.

Committed credit facilities

As of December 31, 2004, we had two short-term committed credit facilities totaling \$618.0 million, one of which is an unsecured facility for \$600.0 million that bears interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 0.625 percent and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our \$600.0 million commercial paper program. At December 31, 2004, \$15.0 million of commercial paper was outstanding. We entered into this facility on October 22, 2004 to replace our \$350.0 million credit facility that served as the backup liquidity facility for our \$350.0 million commercial paper program.

We have a second unsecured facility in place for \$18.0 million that bears interest at the Fed Funds rate plus 0.5 percent and is used for working-capital purposes. At December 31, 2004, we had borrowed \$13.8 million under this credit facility.

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective credit agreements, all of which we currently meet. These conditions include our compliance with financial covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are required by the financial covenants in our \$600.0 million credit facility to maintain, at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. The total debt to total capitalization ratio is calculated quarterly and up to \$200.0 million in short-term debt may be excluded from the defined capitalization ratio only for the three months ended December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004, our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 61 percent. Pursuant to the terms of the credit facility, we excluded \$28.8 million of short-term debt from the calculation of our total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio as of December 31, 2004. In addition, both the interest margin over the Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on unused amounts under our \$600.0 million credit facility are subject to adjustment depending upon our credit ratings.

Uncommitted credit facilities

AEM has a \$250.0 million uncommitted-demand working capital credit facility that bears interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 2.5 percent and expires on March 31, 2005. This facility is guaranteed by AEH. At December 31, 2004, no amounts were outstanding under this credit facility. However, at December 31, 2004, AEM letters of credit totaling \$117.2

million had been issued under the facility and reduce the amount available that can be borrowed. The amount available under this credit facility is also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was \$32.8 million at December 31, 2004. Finally, this line of credit is collateralized by a blocked account maintained at AEM whereby collections from customers are deposited into the account and AEM withdraws funds from the account through an established approval process.

Atmos Energy Corporation also has an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for \$25.0 million that is used for working-capital and letter-of-credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at December 31, 2004, but Atmos Energy Corporation (AEC) letters of credit reduced the amount available by \$4.1 million. This uncommitted line is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the line. Borrowings under this line are made on a when- and as-available basis at the discretion of the bank.

In addition, AEM has a \$100.0 million intercompany credit facility with AEC through AEH for its nonutility business which bears interest at the Eurodollar rate plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts under this facility are subordinated to AEM's \$250.0 million uncommitted-demand credit facility described above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's \$250.0 million credit facility and has been approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2005. At December 31, 2004, \$15.0 million was outstanding under this facility and is eliminated in consolidation.

Debt Covenants

In addition to the 70 percent limit on our total debt-to-capitalization ratio imposed by our committed credit facilities, most of the First Mortgage Bonds contain provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, subject to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1988 may not exceed the sum of accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1988 plus \$15.0 million. At December 31, 2004 approximately \$138.7 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of December 31, 2004. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600.0 million revolving credit agreement, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on any other financial obligation, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the

amount of credit available if Atmos is downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

7. Public Offering

On October 27, 2004, we completed the public offering of 16,100,000 shares of our common stock including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2,100,000 shares. The offering was priced at \$24.75 and generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.0 million. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with net proceeds of \$235.7 million from a public offering we conducted in July 2004 and \$1.39 billion received from the issuance of senior unsecured notes to pay off the \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper described in Note 3 and fund the remainder of the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition.

8. Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share at December 31 are calculated as follows:

	For the Three Months Ended							
	December 31							
		2004		2003				
	(In thousands)							
Net income	\$	59,599	\$	29,541				
Denominator for basic income per share weighted average common shares Effect of dilutive securities:		75,306		51,483				
Restricted and other shares Stock options		275 144		132 246				
Denominator for diluted income per share – weighted average common shares	10 to the same of	75,725		51,861				
Income per share – basic	\$	0.79	\$	0.57				
Income per share – diluted	\$	0.79	\$	0.57				

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended December 31, 2004. There were 240,118 out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the three months ended December 31, 2003 as their exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common stock.

9. Interim Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefit Plan Information

The components of our net periodic pension cost for our pension and other post-retirement benefit plans for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are presented below. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense. The amounts for the three months ended December 31, 2003 do not reflect the impact of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) as we recognized the impact of the Act beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2004.

	Pension Benefits				Other Benefits			
		2004	2003		2004		2003	
			(In thou	ısar	ids)			
Components of net periodic pension cost:								
Service cost	\$	3,136	\$ 2,433	\$	2,478	\$	1,725	
Interest cost		6,017	6,004		2,366		2,103	
Expected return on assets		(6,885)	(7,524)		(518)		(335)	
Amortization of transition asset		1	24		378		378	
Amortization of prior service cost		(2)	(2)		96		96	
Amortization of actuarial loss		1,891	2,018		151		635	
Net periodic pension cost	\$	4,158	\$ 2,953	\$	4,951	\$	4,602	
Actuarial assumptions used to develop net periodic pension cost: Discount rate Rate of compensation increase Expected return on plan assets		6.25% 4.00% 8.75%	6.00% 4.00% 9.00%		6.25% 4.00% 5.30%		6.00% 4.00% 5.30%	

We did not contribute to our pension plans during the three months ended December 31, 2004. We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution during fiscal 2005 nor do we anticipate making any voluntary contributions during fiscal 2005. During the three months ended December 31, 2004, we contributed \$2.4 million to our other post-retirement plans and we expect to contribute \$11.7 million to these plans during fiscal 2005.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Environmental Matters

We are involved in litigation and environmental matters and claims that arise out of our ordinary business. While the results of such litigation, the ultimate results of response actions to our environmental matters and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation, response actions and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

We were the plaintiff in a case styled *Energas Company*, a Division of Atmos Energy Corporation v. ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company, L.P., ONEOK Westex Transmission, Inc., and ONEOK Energy Marketing and Trading Company II, filed in December 2001, in the 72nd Judicial District in the District Court of Lubbock County, Texas. This case was filed to recover damages resulting from various claims involving the sale, measurement, transportation and balancing of natural gas. This case and all related claims have been settled. The settlement did not have a material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

During the three months ended December 31, 2004, there were no other material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. However, with the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company on October 1, 2004, we assumed responsibility for certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company. We believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Purchase Commitments

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At December 31, 2004, AEM is committed to purchase 43.3 Bcf within one year and 3.2 Bcf within one to three years under indexed contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 1.0 Bcf within one year under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from \$5.24 to \$8.91. Purchases under these contracts totaled \$360.1 million and \$296.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Our historical utility operations maintain supply contracts with several vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract.

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our customers in this service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated commitments under these contracts as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

2005	\$ 386,293
2006	117,507
2007	19,999
2008	10,717
2009	8,532
Thereafter	32,442
	\$ 575,490

Other

In January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we will contribute up to \$42.5 million within two years of signing of a definitive agreement. The pipeline is expected to be in service by December 2005.

11. Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers and diversity in customer base.

This diversification in AEM's customers helps mitigate its credit exposure. AEM maintains credit policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial performance.

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be materially affected as a result of counterparty nonperformance.

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (1) accounts receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. Investment grade determinations are set internally by the credit department, but are primarily based on external ratings provided by Moody's Investor Service Inc. and/or Standard & Poor's Rating Service, a Division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating for non-guaranteed industrials and commercials is non-investment grade. The table below shows the percentages related to

the investment ratings as of December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004. As indicated below, a majority of AEM's customers are rated as investment grade.

	<u>December 31, 2004</u>	September 30, 2004
Investment grade	57%	55%
Non-investment grade	43%	45%
Total	100%	100%

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of December 31, 2004. Investment grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by Standard & Poor's Rating Group; or Baa3, assigned by Moody's Investor Service. Non-investment grade counterparties are composed of counterparties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individually significant.

	At December 31, 2004										
	Natural										
				Gas							
	U	Itility ment ⁽¹⁾		arketing							
	Seg	ment '				onsolidated_					
			(1n	thousand	s)						
Investment grade counterparties	\$	755	\$	11,911	\$	12,666					
Non-investment grade counterparties				157		157					
•	\$	755	\$	12,068	\$	12,823					
	*		-		-						

⁽¹⁾ Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through to our customers.

12. Segment Information

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 18 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonutility operations.

Effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which reflects the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, L.L.C, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment. Segment information for all prior year periods has been restated to reflect our new organizational structure.

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies found in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of the respective operating units. Summarized income statements by segment are shown in the following tables.

	For the three months ended December 31, 2004										
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing			Pipeline d Storage			Eliminations		Co	nsolidated
					(In the	ousar	nds)				
Operating revenues from						_		_			0.60.604
external parties	\$ 913,406	\$	432,910	\$	21,752	\$	556	\$		\$ 1	,368,624
Intersegment revenues	275		60,891		21,938		803		(83,907)		
	913,681		493,801		43,690		1,359		(83,907)	1	,368,624
Purchased gas cost	656,370		466,957		3,872				(83,027)	1	,044,172
Gross profit	257,311		26,844		39,818		1,359		(880)		324,452
Operating expenses	172,224		3,859		19,471		1,154		(930)		195,778
Operating income	85,087		22,985		20,347		205		50		128,674
Miscellaneous income											
(expense)	972		246		315		593		(1,741)		385
Interest charges	27,259		401		6,171		402		(1,691)		32,542
Income before income											
taxes	58,800		22,830		14,491		396		-		96,517
Income tax expense	21,777		9,568		5,407		166				36,918
Net income	\$ 37,023	\$	13,262	\$	9,084	\$	230	\$		\$	59,599

		For the three months ended December 31, 2003										
	Utility	Natural Gas Marketing			ipeline Storage		Other onutility	Eli	iminations	Co	nsolidated	
					(In the	ousai	ıds)					
Operating revenues from external parties	\$ 460,209	\$	301,424	\$	1,369	\$	614	\$		\$	763,616	
Intersegment revenues	279	•	72,405		1,550		95		(74,329)			
	460,488		373,829		2,919		709		(74,329)		763,616	
Purchased gas cost	322,064		356,331		327				(74,159)		604,563	
Gross profit	138,424		17,498		2,592		709		(170)		159,053	
Operating expenses	89,046		4,288		1,530		818		(170)		95,512	
Operating income (loss)	49,378		13,210		1,062		(109)				63,541	
Miscellaneous income				•								
(expense)	1,067		123		6		1,189		(1,178)		1,207	
Interest charges	17,060		792		211		<u>450</u>		(1,178)		17,335	
Income before income					,							
taxes	33,385		12,541		857		630				47,413	
Income tax expense	12,274		5,005		342		251				17,872	
Net income	\$ 21,111	\$	7,536	\$	515	\$	379	\$		\$	29,541	

Balance sheet information at December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004 by segment is presented in the following tables:

	At December 31, 2004										
		***************************************	Natural	Pipeline							
	W 14*8*4	n.	Gas	and		Other	Eliminations	_	'annalidatad		
	Utility		Iarketing	Storage Nonutility			Eliminations		Consolidated		
ASSETS		(In thousands)									
Property, plant and											
equipment, net	\$ 2,790,193	\$	7,711	\$ 423,796	\$	1,443	\$ —	\$	3,223,143		
Investment in subsidiaries	173,967	Ψ	(1,662)	\$ 423,170	Ψ	1,445	(172,305)	Ψ			
Current assets	173,507		(1,002)				(112,505)				
Cash and cash equivalents	5,594		19,053			515			25,162		
Assets from risk	١٠		17,000			010			,		
management activities	755		15,161	p. 4000000000			(3,093)		12,823		
Other current assets	862,819		283,166	58,526		18,913	(53,176)		1,170,248		
Intercompany receivables	501,326					30,894	(532,220)		.,		
Total current assets	1,370,494		317,380	58,526		50,322	(588,489)		1,208,233		
Intangible assets			3,963						3,963		
Goodwill	530,957		24,282	143,836		*****			699,075		
Noncurrent assets from risk				,					,		
management activities									***************************************		
Deferred charges and											
other assets	241,080		1,610	6,882		22,119	(9)		271,682		
	\$ 5,106,691	\$	353,284	\$ 633,040	\$	73,884	\$ (760,803)	\$	5,406,096		
								·			
CAPITALIZATION AND											
LIABILITIES											
Shareholders' equity	\$ 1,539,078	\$	96,903	\$ 44,410	\$	32,654	\$ (173,967)	\$	1,539,078		
Long-term debt	2,247,779	•	,			7,394			2,255,173		
Total capitalization	3,786,857	***************************************	96,903	44,410		40,048	(173,967)		3,794,251		
Current liabilities	-,,		,.	•		,	(, ,				
Current maturities of											
long-term debt	3,917					1,980	WEGGGGGGGG		5,897		
Short-term debt	28,797					15,000	(15,000)		28,797		
Liabilities from risk	,										
management activities	10,167		11,103	******		*******	(5,101)		16,169		
Other current liabilities	653,134		215,587	78,514		7,539	(34,410)		920,364		
Intercompany payables	· ·		33,260	498,960			(532,220)				
Total current liabilities	696,015		259,950	577,474		24,519	(586,731)		971,227		
Deferred income taxes	203,680		(11,271)	6,324		1,977	27		200,737		
Noncurrent liabilities from											
risk management activities			984				(132)		852		
Regulatory cost of removal											
obligation	241,986						-		241,986		
Deferred credits and other	•										
liabilities	178,153		6,718	4,832		7,340			197,043		
	\$ 5,106,691	\$	353,284	\$ 633,040	\$	73,884	\$ (760,803)	\$	5,406,096		

	At September 30, 2004										
	Natural Pipeline										
		Gas Marketing		and		Other					
	Utility			5	Storage	Nonutility		Eliminations		Consolidated	
				(In thou							
ASSETS					`		,				
Property, plant and											
equipment, net	\$ 1,669,304	\$	7,875	\$	43,784	\$	1,558	\$		\$	1,722,521
Investment in subsidiaries	164,300		(1,484)						(162,816)		
Current assets	•		• • •								
Cash and cash equivalents	182,846		18,734				352				201,932
Assets from risk											
management activities	25,692		24,412				www.		(5,664)		44,440
Other current assets	253,829		170,363		13,473		18,815		(25,740)		430,740
Intercompany receivables	1,995				-		16,079		(18,074)		
Total current assets	464,362		213,509		13,473	,	35,246		(49,478)		677,112
Intangible assets			4,160		-		******				4,160
Goodwill	199,400		24,282		10,430		***************************************				234.112
Noncurrent assets from risk											
management activities			734						(172)		562
Deferred charges and											
other assets	207,019		1,661		25		22,711				231.416
	\$ 2,704,385	\$	250,737	\$	67,712	\$	59,515	\$	(212,466)	\$	2,869,883

CAPITALIZATION AND											
LIABILITIES											
Shareholders' equity	\$ 1,133,459	\$	103,376	\$	28,499	\$	32,425	\$	(164,300)	\$	1,133,459
Long-term debt	853,472						7,839				861.311
Total capitalization	1,986,931		103,376		28,499		40,264		(164,300)		1,994,770
Current liabilities											
Current maturities of									-		
long-term debt	3,917						1,991				5,908
Short-term debt											
Liabilities from risk											
management activities	34,304		11,407						(6,253)		39,458
Other current liabilities	236,257		124,577		24,014		7,558		(23,304)		369,102
Intercompany payables			9,906		8,168				(18,074)		
Total current liabilities	274,478		145,890		32,182		9,549		(47,631)		414,468
Deferred income taxes	208,325		(3,360)		6,961		1,977		27		213,930
Noncurrent liabilities from									(5(0)		1.124
risk management activities			1,700						(562)		1,138
Regulatory cost of removal	.00										102.570
obligation	103,579				wherever		***				103,579
Deferred credits and other	101.070		2 121		70		7 705				141.000
liabilities	131,072		3,131		70	Φ.	7,725	Ф.	(212.466)	Ф.	141,998
	\$ 2,704,385	\$	250,737	\$	67,712	\$	59,515	\$	(212,466)	\$	2,869,883

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors Atmos Energy Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of December 31, 2004, and the related condensed consolidated statements of income for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated interim financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheet of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein, and in our report dated November 9, 2004, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Dallas, Texas February 7, 2005 Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Management's Discussion and Analysis in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004.

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain "forwardlooking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking statements made in good faith by the Company and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of the Company's documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "estimate", "forecast", "goal", "intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to the Company's strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. These risks and uncertainties include the following: adverse weather conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in the Company's utility service territories or colder than normal weather that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; market risks beyond our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness; national, regional and local economic conditions; the Company's ability to continue to access the capital markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; risks relating to the acquisition of the TXU Gas operations, including without limitation, the Company's increased indebtedness resulting from the acquisition and the successful integration of the TXU Gas operations; and other uncertainties discussed herein, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company. A discussion of these risks and uncertainties may be found in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004. Accordingly, while the Company believes these forward-looking statements to be reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations derived from them will be realized. Further, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of its forwardlooking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

OVERVIEW

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as well as certain other natural gas nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public-authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system.

Through our nonutility businesses we provide natural gas management and marketing services to industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 18 states. Additionally, we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third parties.

Our operations are divided into four segments:

- the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and sales operations,
- the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of natural gas management services,
- the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmission and storage services and
- the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonutility operations.

The first quarter of fiscal 2005 was highlighted by our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). The TXU Gas operations we acquired are regulated businesses engaged in the purchase, transmission, distribution and sale of natural gas in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. Through these newly acquired operations, we provide gas distribution services to approximately 1.5 million residential and business customers in Texas, including the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. We also now own and operate a system consisting of 6,162 miles of gas transmission and gathering lines and five underground storage reservoirs in Texas.

The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately \$1.905 billion, before transaction costs and expenses, which we paid in cash. We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately \$235.7 million in net proceeds from our offering of 9,939,393 shares of common stock, which we completed on July 19, 2004, and approximately \$1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance on October 1, 2004 of commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes on October 22, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$1.39 billion and the sale of 16.1 million shares of common stock on October 27, 2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately \$382.0 million.

As a result of the acquisition, effective October 1, 2004, we created the pipeline and storage segment which reflects the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment.

The TXU Gas acquisition essentially doubled the size of the Company. The following table presents selected financial information for the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division operations for the three months ended December 31, 2004:

				Atmos		
			I	Pipeline-		
]	Mid-Tex		Texas		
	Division			Division		
•	(In thousands, unless					
		otherw	ise n	oted)		
Operating revenues	\$	402,248	\$	38,514		
Gross profit		113,959		34,867		
Operating expenses		75,411		18,477		
Operating income		38,548		16,390		
Miscellaneous income		410		114		
Interest charges		11,440		5,767		
Income tax expense		10,085		3,834		
Net income	\$	17,433	\$	6,903		
Utility sales volumes – MMcf		40,150		NA		
Utility transportation volumes – MMcf		11,799		NA		
Total utility throughput – MMcf	-	51,949	*	NA		
Pipeline transportation volumes - MMcf		NA		72,753		
Heating Degree Days – Percent of Normal		78%		NA		

The impact of the TXU Gas acquisition, combined with continued strong performance in our natural gas marketing segment contributed to the following financial results during the first quarter of fiscal 2005:

• Our utility segment net income increased \$15.9 million. The increase reflects the impact of the Mid-Tex operations (\$17.4 million) and the effect of rate increases in our West Texas and Mississippi jurisdictions that were not in effect during the first quarter of fiscal 2004, partially offset by an increase in interest expense attributable to an increase in our debt balances to fund the TXU Gas acquisition.

- Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased \$5.7 million during the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared with the three months ended December 31, 2003. The increase in natural gas marketing net income primarily reflects favorable results from the management of our storage portfolio coupled with a favorable movement in the forward indices used to value our storage financial instruments.
- Our pipeline and storage segment contributed \$9.1 million in net income for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 compared with \$0.5 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2003, primarily reflecting the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline Texas Division (\$6.9 million).
- Our total debt to capitalization ratio at December 31, 2004 was 59.8 percent compared with 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004 reflecting the impact of the financing for the TXU Gas acquisition.
- Operating cash flow provided \$67.9 million compared with \$11.5 million, reflecting favorable results in net working capital management efforts partially offset by increases in natural gas stored underground and deferred gas costs.
- Capital expenditures increased to \$67.2 million from \$45.5 million primarily reflecting the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division (\$23.4 million) and the Atmos Pipeline Texas Division (\$1.1 million).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Our condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets. Our critical accounting estimates are reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. Actual results may differ from estimates.

Our critical accounting policies used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 and include the following:

- Regulation
- Revenue Recognition
- Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
- Derivatives and Hedging Activities
- Impairment Assessments
- Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

There have been no significant changes to these critical accounting policies during the three months ended December 31, 2004.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

	7	Three Months Ended December 31					
		2004		2003			
		(In thous	and	s, unless			
		otherw	ioted)				
Operating revenues	\$1,	368,624	\$	763,616			
Gross profit		324,452		159,053			
Operating expenses		195,778		95,512			
Operating income		128,674		63,541			
Miscellaneous income		385		1,207			
Interest charges		32,542		17,335			
Income tax expense		36,918		17,872			
Net income	\$	59,599	\$	29,541			
Utility sales volumes – MMcf		90,957		50,681			
Utility transportation volumes – MMcf		27,978		17,498			
Total utility throughput – MMcf		118,935		68,179			
Natural gas marketing sales volumes – MMcf		60,296		58,917			
Pipeline transportation volumes - MMcf		72,753					
Heating Degree Days (1)							
Actual (weighted average)		988		1,240			
Percent of normal		88%	, D	95%			
Consolidated utility average transportation							
revenue per Mcf	\$	0.58	\$	0.46			
Consolidated utility average cost of gas							
per Mcf sold	\$	7.22	\$	6.35			
(1) Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized of	perati	ons.					

The following table shows our operating income by segment for the three-month periods ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes.

	For the Three Months Ended December 31					
		20	04		03	
			Heating Degree Days			Heating Degree Days
	(Operating Income	Percent of Normal (3)		perating Income	Percent of Normal (3)
		(In thous	mation)			
Colorado-Kansas	\$	8,235	99%	\$	8,238	100%
Kentucky		5,845	94%		6,564	99%
Louisiana		6,333	85%		8,256	90%
Mid-States		11,138	91%		13,871	94%
Mid-Tex (1)		38,548	78%			
Mississippi Valley Gas Company		8,607	89%		8,233	100%
West Texas		5,786	100%		4,666	86%
Other		595	*****		(450)	
Utility segment	-	85,087	88%		49,378	95%
Natural gas marketing segment		22,985			13,210	
Pipeline and storage segment (2)		20,347	And the second		1,062	
Other nonutility segment and other		255			(109)	***************************************
Consolidated operating income	\$	128,674	88%	\$	63,541	95%

⁽¹⁾ Operating income for the Mid-Tex Division reflects operating income since October 1, 2004.

Three Months Ended December 31, 2004 compared with Three Months Ended December 31, 2003

Utility segment

Our utility segment has historically contributed 70 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, commercial and public-authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical earnings quarter with an average of approximately 68

Operating income for the pipeline and storage segment reflects operating income for the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division since October 1, 2004.

⁽³⁾ Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations.

percent of our consolidated net income having been earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. Utility sales to agricultural customers, which typically use natural gas to power irrigation pumps during the period from March through September, are primarily affected by rainfall amounts and the price of natural gas.

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs may cause customers to conserve, or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense.

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are partially offset through weather normalization adjustments, or WNA, in certain of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. As of December 31, 2004, we had, or received regulatory approvals for, WNA in the following service areas for the following periods, which covered approximately 1.1 million meters:

Georgia	October - May
Kansas	October – May
Kentucky	November – April
Mississippi	November – May
Tennessee	November – April
Amarillo, Texas	October – May
West Texas	October – May
Lubbock, Texas	October – May
Virginia (1)	January – December
711	

(1) Effective beginning in July 2005.

The Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division does not have WNA. However, its operations benefit from a rate structure that combines a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to mitigate the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provides for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather conditions.

Operating income

Utility gross profit increased to \$257.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 from \$138.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. Total throughput for our utility business was 118.9 billion cubic feet (Bcf) during the current year compared to 68.2 Bcf in the prior year.

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the Mid-Tex Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of \$114.0 million and 51.9 Bcf. The \$4.9 million increase in the gross profit generated from our historical operations primarily reflects rate increases in our Mississippi and West Texas jurisdictions that were absent in the prior year quarter.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$172.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 from \$89.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. Operation and maintenance expense increased by \$44.4 million primarily due to the addition of \$40.1 million in operation and maintenance expenses associated with the Mid-Tex Division and higher labor and benefit costs in our historical operations. Taxes other than income taxes increased \$22.2 million, primarily due to additional franchise, payroll and property taxes associated with the Mid-Tex assets acquired in October 2004. Franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no effect on net income. Depreciation and amortization expense increased \$16.6 million, which primarily reflects the inclusion of depreciation associated with the Mid-Tex assets (\$15.7 million).

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the three months ended December 31, 2004 increased to \$85.1 million from \$49.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003.

Interest charges

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the three months ended December 31, 2004 increased to \$27.3 million from \$17.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex Division in October 2004.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or storage logistics and ultimately delivers the gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract

negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver.

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and then sell financial contracts at a price sufficient to cover our carrying costs and provide a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Operating income

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of marketing activities, which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request, and storage activities, which are derived from the optimization of our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets.

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

	December 31					
		2003				
		(In thousa	nds,	except		
		storage l	oalar	ices)		
Storage Activities						
Realized margin	\$	4,776	\$	1,552		
Unrealized margin		12,519		4,072		
Total Storage Activities		17,295	,	5,624		
Marketing Activities						
Realized margin		11,414		10,841		
Unrealized margin		(1,865)		1,033		
Total Marketing Activities		9,549		11,874		
Gross profit	\$	26,844	\$	17,498		
Ending storage balance (Bcf)		7.5		5.1		

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was \$26.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared to gross profit of \$17.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. Natural gas marketing sales volumes were 66.1 Bcf during the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared with 70.2 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 60.3 Bcf during the current year period compared with 58.9 Bcf in the prior year period. The increase in consolidated natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to our ability to sell volumes we purchased under favorable pricing conditions at a lower price than our competitors in certain of our markets, partially offset by continued efforts to eliminate lower margin transactions and focus our marketing efforts on higher margin customers. Gross profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the three months ended December 31, 2004 included an unrealized gain of \$10.7 million compared with an unrealized gain of \$5.1 million in the prior-year period.

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a gain of \$17.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared to a gain of \$5.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The \$11.7 million improvement primarily was attributable to a \$3.2 million improvement in the realized storage contribution and an \$8.5 million improvement in the unrealized storage contribution for the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared to the prior year period. The improvement in the realized storage contribution for the three months ended December 31, 2004 primarily was due to our ability to capture higher spreads in our storage book during the current year and the restructuring of certain asset management transactions to improve the profitability of these transactions. The increase in unrealized income in the current period was primarily attributable to a favorable movement during the three months ended December 31, 2004 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at December 31, 2004 compared to the prior year period.

Our marketing activities contributed \$9.5 million to our gross profit for the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared to \$11.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The decrease in the marketing contribution primarily was attributable to an unfavorable movement in the forward indices used to value certain financial instruments partially offset by the increase in sales volumes as discussed above.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, decreased to \$3.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 from \$4.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The decrease in operating expense was attributable primarily to a decrease in contract labor costs due to systems and process improvements in the natural gas marketing segment.

The improved gross profit margin resulted in an increase in our natural gas marketing segment operating income to \$23.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004

compared with operating income of \$13.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003.

Pipeline and storage segment

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, which was previously included in our other nonutility segment. The Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division supplies natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, blending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins located in Texas are estimated to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins.

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC, owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand during peak periods.

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division operations provide all of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural gas requirements of this division.

As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs and expenses are recovered through its tariffs.

Operating income

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to \$39.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 from \$2.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 130.0 Bcf during the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared with 2.4 Bcf for the prior year period. Excluding intersegment transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 72.8 Bcf during the current year period. There were no third party transportation volumes in the

prior year period as Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC's total throughput was to affiliated parties.

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and total transportation volumes of \$34.9 million and 72.8 Bcf. The \$2.3 million increase in the gross profit generated by Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC primarily reflects an unrealized gain of \$1.7 million compared with and unrealized loss in the prior year quarter of \$0.7 million.

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to \$19.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004 from \$1.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003 due to the addition of \$18.5 million in operating expenses associated with the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division is a regulated entity, franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues through customer billings and have no effect on net income. Included in operating expense was \$2.0 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which \$1.9 million was associated with our Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the three months ended December 31, 2004 increased to \$20.3 million from \$1.1 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003.

Interest expense

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the three months ended December 31, 2004 increased to \$6.2 million from \$0.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The increase was attributable to the interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division in October 2004.

Other nonutility segment

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations. These services, which began April 1, 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. AES' revenues represent charges to our utility divisions equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we construct electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and may enter into agreements to either lease or sell these plants.

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002. The increase in operating income during the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared with the prior year quarter reflects the absence of a one time charge of \$0.4 million associated with the wind down of a noncore business.

Miscellaneous income for the three months ended December 31, 2004 was \$0.6 million compared with \$1.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The \$0.6 million decrease was primarily attributable the absence of equity earnings from our investment in U.S. Propane L.P., which was sold in January 2004.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs are provided from internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for the remainder of fiscal 2005.

Capitalization

The following presents our capitalization as of December 31, 2004 and September 30, 2004:

	December 2004	,	September 30, 2004			
	(In thousands, except percentages)					
Short-term debt	\$ 28,797	0.7%	\$ —			
Long-term debt	2,261,070	59.1%	867,219	43.3%		
Shareholders' equity	1,539,078	40.2%	1,133,459	56.7%		
Total capitalization, including short-term debt	\$3,828,945	100.0%	\$2,000,678	100.0%		

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 59.8 percent at December 31, 2004 and 43.3 percent at September 30, 2004. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was attributable to the issuance of \$1.39 billion in senior unsecured long-term debt, partially offset by the issuance of 16.1 million shares of our common stock in October 2004 to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is expected to be greater during the current winter heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our working capital requirements. Within three to five years from the closing of the acquisition, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target range of 53 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan, access to the equity capital markets and reduced annual maintenance and capital expenditures.

Cash Flows

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the price for our products and services, the demand for such products and services, margin requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks, the successful integration of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas we acquired and other factors.

Cash flows from operating activities

Year-over-year changes in our operating cash flows are attributable primarily to changes in net income, working capital changes within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries.

For the three months ended December 31, 2004, we generated operating cash flow of \$67.9 million compared with \$11.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. Our cash flow from operating activities was affected by the following:

- Favorable movements during the three months ended December 31, 2004 in the market indices used to value our risk management assets and liabilities favorably impacted operating cash flow by \$26.7 million.
- The timing of cash collections from our customers unfavorably impacted operating cash flow by \$155.7 million.
- The timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities favorably affected operating cash flow by \$291.3 million.
- However, increases in our natural gas inventories attributable to lower utility gas sales volumes coupled with a 14 percent higher average cost of gas compared with the prior year quarter resulted in a \$24.4 million decrease in operating cash flows.
- The lag between the time period when we purchase our natural gas and the period in which we can include this cost in our gas rates resulted in a decrease in operating cash flows of \$82.6 million.
- Other working capital changes positively affected operating cash flow by \$1.1 million.

Cash flows from investing activities

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions, our ongoing construction program to provide natural gas services to our customer base and technology improvements. Capital expenditures for fiscal 2005 are expected to range from \$340 million to \$350 million. Of this amount, approximately \$200 - \$210 million is expected to be incurred by the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division.

For the three months ended December 31, 2004, we invested \$67.2 million compared with \$45.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. Capital expenditures for the three months ended December 31, 2004 include approximately \$23.4 million for the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division and \$1.1 million for the Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division.

Our cash used for investing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2004 reflects the \$1.913 billion cash paid for the TXU Gas acquisition including related transaction costs and expenses. The final purchase price is subject to adjustment for the actual amount of working capital we acquired and other specified matters. We anticipate that the purchase price will be finalized during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Cash flows from financing activities

For the three months ended December 31, 2004, our financing activities provided \$1.7 billion in cash compared with \$59.5 million in cash for the prior year quarter. Our significant financing activities for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are summarized as follows:

- In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a new shelf registration statement declared effective in September 2004, generating net proceeds of \$382.0 million. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured debt under the shelf registration statement consisting of \$400 million of 4.00% senior notes due 2009, \$500 million of 4.95% senior notes due 2014, \$200 million of 5.95% senior notes due 2034 and \$300 million of floating rate senior notes due 2007. The floating rate notes will bear interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent per year. The net proceeds received from the sale of these senior notes were \$1.39 billion. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the net proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to pay off the approximately \$1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into on September 24, 2004 for bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition.
- During the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, short-term borrowings under our commercial paper program provided \$28.8 million and \$73.2 million. The decrease in cash flows provided by short-term borrowings primarily reflects the use of excess proceeds remaining from our October 2004 debt and equity offerings after financing the TXU Gas acquisition to partially fund working capital needs during the first quarter of fiscal 2005.
- We repaid \$3.4 million of long-term debt during the three months ended December 31, 2004 compared with \$5.4 million during the three months ended December 31, 2003. The decreased payments during the current quarter reflected the timing of the maturities of our various debt obligations.

- During the three months ended December 31, 2004 we paid \$24.5 million in cash dividends compared with dividend payments of \$15.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2003. The increase in dividends paid over the prior year period reflects the 27.5 million increase in the number of common shares outstanding and an increase in the quarterly dividend rate from \$0.305 per share during the three months ended December 31, 2003 to \$0.31 share during the three months ended December 31, 2004.
- During the quarter ended December 31, 2004, we issued 358,046 shares of common stock, in addition to the 16.1 million common shares issued in our October 2004 public offering, which generated net proceeds of \$11.1 million. The following table summarizes the issuances for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

	Three Mon Decem	
	2004	2003
Shares issued:		
Retirement Savings Plan	115,399	90,489
Direct Stock Purchase Plan	114,839	155,255
Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan	571	819
Long-Term Incentive Plan	127,237	74,958
Public Offering	16,100,000	
Total shares issued	16,458,046	321,521

Shelf Registration

In August 2004, we filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to issue, from time to time, up to \$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective on September 15, 2004. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares and issued \$1.4 billion in unsecured senior notes to partially finance the TXU Gas acquisition. After these issuances, we have approximately \$401.5 million of availability remaining under the shelf registration statement.

Credit Facilities

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures will increase substantially as a result of the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas. On October 22, 2004, we replaced our \$350.0 million credit facility with a new \$600.0

million committed credit facility that serves as a backup liquidity facility for our commercial paper program. We believe this facility, combined with our operating cash flow will be sufficient to fund these increased working capital needs. These facilities are described in further detail in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Credit Rating

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our management and business strategy, the risk associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate.

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment grade and are as follows:

	S&P	S&P Moody's		
Long-term debt	BBB	Baa3	BBB+	
Commercial paper	A-2	P-3	F-2	

Currently, S&P and Moody's maintain a stable outlook and Fitch maintains a negative outlook. None of our ratings are currently under review.

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. All of our current ratings for long-term debt are categorized as investment grade. The highest investment grade credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating for S&P is BBB-, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB-. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.

Debt Covenants

In addition to the 70 percent limit on our total debt-to-capitalization ratio imposed by our committed credit facilities, our First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1988, may not exceed the sum of our accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1988, plus \$15.0 million. At December 31, 2004,

approximately \$138.7 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of December 31, 2004. If we do not comply with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and debentures, as well as our \$600.0 million revolving credit agreement, each contain a default provision that is triggered if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of \$15 million to in excess of \$100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC's (AEM) credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on any other financial obligation, as defined, by at least \$250 thousand. Additionally, this agreement contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos is downgraded below an S&P rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2.

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

As a result of the issuance of our unsecured senior notes in October 2004 and the issuance of short-term debt under our commercial paper program, our contractual obligations associated with our long-term debt, short-term debt and interest expense increased.

The following table reflects the significant changes in our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004 as a result of these events. There were no other significant changes in our contractual obligations and commercial commitments during the three months ended December 31, 2004.

	Payments Due by Period								
		Les	s than			After 5			
	Total	1	year	1-3 years	3-5 years	years			
	(In thousands)								
Contractual Obligations									
Long-term debt (1)	\$ 2,265,177	\$	5,897	\$ 312,828	\$412,125	\$1,534,327			
Short-term debt (1)	28,797		28,797						
Interest charges	1,326,995	1	16,559	239,231	219,020	752,185			
Gas purchase commitments (2)	575,490	3	86,293	137,506	19,249	32,442			

⁽¹⁾ See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices estimated based upon the index specified in the contract, adjusted for estimated basis differentials and contractual discounts as of December 31, 2004.

Additionally, in January 2005, we signed a letter of intent with a third party to jointly construct, own and operate a 45-mile large diameter natural gas pipeline in the northern portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex. Under terms of the letter of intent, the third party will provide the initial capital to build the pipeline and we will contribute up to \$42.5 million within two years of signing of a definitive agreement.

Risk Management Activities

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winterperiod gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock-in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market indices we use in our hedges, we could recognize significant ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the accounting requirements for hedge accounting resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market instruments through earnings.

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following table shows the components of the change in the fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing commodity derivative contracts for the three months ended December 31, 2004:

	Utili		latural Gas Marketing		
	(In thousands)				
Fair value of contracts at September 30, 2004	\$ (8,6	512) \$	13,018		
Contracts realized/settled	(39,1	.21)	(11,627)		
Fair value of new contracts	(2,6	581)			
Other changes in value	41,0	002	3,823		
Fair value of contracts at December 31, 2004	\$ (9,4	112) \$	5,214		

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at December 31, 2004, is segregated below by time period and fair value source:

	Fair Value of Contracts at December 31, 2004									
		Maturity in Years								
							Gr	eater	T	otal Fair
Source of Fair Value	$\underline{\mathbf{L}}$	ess than 1		1-3		4-5	Th	an 5		<u>Value</u>
	(In thousands)									
Prices actively quoted	\$	(2,372)	\$	(197)	\$	***************************************	\$		\$	(2,569)
Prices provided by other external sources		(943)		. (88)		*******				(1,031)
Prices based on models and other valuation methods		(31)		(567)				makene under 44%		(598)
Total Fair Value	\$	(3,346)	\$	(852)	\$		\$		\$	(4,198)

Storage and Hedging Outlook

AEM engages in natural gas storage transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at a price sufficient to cover its carrying costs and provide a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time.

Under SFAS 133, natural gas inventory is the hedged item in a fair-value hedge and is marked to market on a monthly basis using the inside FERC (iFERC) price at the end of each month. Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (iFERC) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction.

AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future profitability of its storage position. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these optimization efforts by estimating the forecasted gross profit margin that it captured through the purchase and sale of physical natural gas and the associated financial derivatives. The forecasted gross profit margin, less the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial statements, provides a measure of the net increase or decrease in the gross profit margin that could occur in future periods if the optimization efforts are fully attained.

As of December 31, 2004, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, the forecasted gross profit margin was approximately \$15.0 million. Approximately \$13.0 million of net unrealized gains were recorded in the financial statements as of December 31, 2004. Therefore, the projected increase in future gross profit margin is approximately \$2.0 million.

The forecasted gross profit margin calculation is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization of the forecasted gross profit margin is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather, and other execution factors. Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the forecasted gross profit margin or the projected increase in future gross profit margin calculated as of December 31, 2004 will be fully realized in the future and in what time period. Further, if we experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, permanent impacts on earnings may result.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations

For the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 our total net periodic pension and other benefits cost was \$9.1 million and \$7.6 million. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense.

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during the current year period compared with the prior year period primarily reflects the increase in the number of employees resulting from the TXU Gas acquisition, which increased our service cost. Additionally, we increased our discount rate and reduced our assumed rate of return on our pension plan assets for fiscal 2005, which increased our service and interest cost and reduced our expected return on plan assets, which partially offsets our net periodic pension and other benefits cost.

We did not contribute to our pension plans during the three months ended December 31, 2004. We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution nor do we anticipate making any voluntary contributions during fiscal 2005. During the three months ended December 31, 2004, we contributed \$2.4 million to our other post-retirement plans and we expect to contribute \$11.7 million to these plans during fiscal 2005.

Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we have agreed to give certain transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan. For purposes of our post-retirement medical plan, we received a credit of \$20.0 million (subject to post-closing adjustment) against the purchase price to permit us to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under our retiree medical plan. The \$20.0 million credit approximates the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past service of the transferred employees.

OPERATING STATISTICS AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Utility Sales and Statistical Data

	Three Months Ended				
	December 31				
		2004 ⁽¹⁾		2003	
METERS IN SERVICE, end of period					
Residential	2	2,886,511		1,508,062	
Commercial		277,531		152,488	
Industrial		2,298		3,463	
Agricultural		8,299		9,354	
Public authority and other		10,088		10,020	
Total meters		3,184,727		1,683,387	
HEATING DEGREE DAYS (2)	DOM:				
Actual (weighted average)		988		1,240	
Percent of normal		88%		95%	
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES — MMcf (3)					
Gas sales volumes					
Residential		50,769		27,507	
Commercial		27,863		13,356	
Industrial		8,243		6,249	
Agricultural		66		495	
Public authority and other		4,016		3,074	
Total gas sales volumes		90,957		50,681	
Utility transportation volumes		29,741		20,680	
Total utility throughput		120,698		71,361	
UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000's) (3)					
Gas sales revenues					
Residential	\$	523,143	\$	263,549	
Commercial		264,992		115,564	
Industrial		66,500		44,546	
Agricultural		675		3,034	
Public authority and other		32,430		21,909	
Total utility gas sales revenues		887,740		448,602	
Transportation revenues		16,432		8,101	
Other gas revenues		9,509		3,785	
Total utility operating revenues	\$	913,681	\$	460,488	
Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf	\$	0.55	\$	0.39	
Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold	\$	7.22	\$	6.35	
·					

See footnotes following these tables.

Natural Gas Marketing, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data

Three Months Ended					
	December 31				
	2004		2003		
	557		600		
	77		74		
	196		186		
	830		860		
2000					
	66,138		70,204		
	129,994		2,430		
\$	493,801	\$	373,829		
	43,690		2,919		
	1,359		709		
\$	538,850	\$	377,457		
		2004 557 77 196 830 66,138 129,994 \$ 493,801 43,690 1,359	Decembe 2004 557 77 196 830 66,138 129,994 \$ 493,801 43,690 1,359		

Notes to preceding tables:

The operational and statistical information includes the operations of the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division since the October 1, 2004 acquisition date.

A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heating degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. Degree day information for the three months ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 is adjusted for certain service areas included within the Colorado-Kansas Division, the West Texas Division, certain service areas in the Mid-States Division, the Kentucky Division and the Mississippi Valley Gas Company Division, which have weather normalized operations.

⁽³⁾ Sales volumes and revenues reflect segment operations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts.

Recent Ratemaking Activity

The following will discuss our recent ratemaking activities during the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The amounts described below represent the gross revenues that were requested or received in the rate filing, which may not necessarily reflect the increase in operating income obtained, as certain operating costs may have increased as a result of a commission's final ruling.

Mississippi. The Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) requires that we file for rate adjustments every six months. The rate filings are made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically become effective in June and December. Starting with the November 2004 filing, rate adjustments will typically become effective in January and July. In September 2004, the MPSC authorized additional annualized revenue of \$4.7 million on our May 2004 filing, which became effective on June 1, 2004. However, the MPSC also disallowed certain deferred costs totaling \$2.8 million. We withdrew our appeal regarding the MPSC's decision regarding this disallowance.

We filed our second semiannual filing for 2004 on November 5, 2004, requesting rate adjustments of \$6.0 million in annualized revenue. The MPSC allowed us to include \$3.0 million in annualized revenue into our rates effective January 1, 2005. In February 2005, we and the Mississippi Public Utilities Staff (MPUS) signed a stipulation agreement that provides for an additional \$1.3 million in annualized revenue that is retroactive to January 2005. The MPSC is expected to ratify the stipulation agreement during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Mid-Tex. In December 2004, we made a filing under the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include approximately \$32.0 million of distribution and pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which will result in additional revenues of approximately \$6.7 million. We expect these capital costs will be recovered through a monthly customer charge beginning in the second half of fiscal 2005. The allowed rate of return is 8.258 percent.

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the Railroad Commission of Texas (the Commission). This proceeding involves a prudency review of gas purchases totaling \$2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex Division from November 1, 2000 through October 31, 2003. The proceeding has involved informal discussions in preparation for potential settlement discussions. However, a formal procedural schedule has been adopted providing for formal discovery and a formal hearing in the event that settlement can not be reached.

The Mid-Tex Division is also pursuing an appeal to the Travis County District Court of the Final Order in its last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004 to obtain a return on its investment associated with the Poly I replacement pipe that was originally disallowed in the last rate case. Additionally, the Mid-Tex Division is seeking the right to surcharge for gas cost underrecoveries. The case is awaiting assignment of a judge and the establishment of a briefing schedule.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Mid-Tex Division pursued a filing initiated by TXU Gas seeking authorization of a surcharge to recover the rate case expenses incurred by the Mid-Tex Division, Atmos Pipeline – Texas Division, and the intervening cities in connection with their last systemwide rate case completed in May 2004. The filing also covered the estimated expenses to prosecute the aforementioned recovery docket and the severed dockets from the systemwide rate case. On January 25, 2005, the Commission issued an order authorizing the recovery of the \$10.2 million over a 3-year period with interest. This order is still subject to potential motions for rehearing and court appeals.

Atmos Pipeline - Texas. Concurrent with our Mid-Tex Division GRIP filing in December 2004, we also made a GRIP filing for our regulated pipeline to include approximately \$12.0 million of distribution and pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which will result in additional revenues of approximately \$1.8 million. We expect these capital costs will be recovered through a monthly customer charge beginning in the second half of fiscal 2005. The allowed rate of return is 8.258 percent.

RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows are described in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide financing and liquidity for our business.

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock-in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the condensed consolidated financial statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our issuance of short-term commercial paper and our other short-term borrowings.

Commodity Price Risk

Utility segment

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to purchases for sales to our non-regulated energy services customers at fixed prices.

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion of our gas cost related to fixed-price non-regulated sales. Based on projected non-regulated gas sales for the remainder of fiscal 2005, a hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices, based upon the December 31, 2004 three month market strip, would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately \$4.5 million for the remainder of fiscal 2005.

Natural gas marketing segment

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage) at the end of each period. Based on AEH's net open position (including existing storage) at December 31, 2004 of 0.3 Bcf, a \$0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had less than a \$0.1 million impact on our consolidated net income.

Interest Rate Risk

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commercial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short term borrowings. Had interest rates associated with our short term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest expense would have increased by approximately \$0.3 million during the three months ended December 31, 2004.

We also assess market risk for our fixed-rate, long-term obligations. We estimate market risk for our fixed-rate, long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our fixed-rate, long-term obligations would have increased by approximately \$155.7 million during the three months ended December 31, 2004.

As of December 31, 2004 we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b). Based upon that evaluation, the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures continue to be effective. Such disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods set forth in applicable Securities and Exchange Commission forms, rules and regulations.

In addition, our management, including the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, and the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d). Based upon that evaluation, management has concluded that there has been no change in such internal control during the first quarter of fiscal 2005 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

During the three months ended December 31, 2004, there were no material changes in the status of the litigation and environmental matters that were disclosed in Note 13 to our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2004 except as disclosed in Note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements for the three months ended December 31, 2004. With the acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company on October 1, 2004, we assumed responsibility for certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company. We believe the final outcome of such litigation and claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows.

Item 6. Exhibits

A list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and filed as part of this report is set forth in the Exhibits Index, which immediately precedes such exhibits.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION (Registrant)

Date: February 9, 2005

By: /s/ JOHN P. REDDY

John P. Reddy

Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly authorized signatory)

EXHIBITS INDEX Item 6(a)

Exhibit Number	Description	Page Number
10.1	Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2004, in respect of the Uncommitted Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2002, among Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, the financial institutions from time to time parties thereto, Fortis Capital Corp. and BNP Paribas	
10.2	Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan	
10.3	Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan	
10.4	Form of Award Agreement of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units under the Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan	
10.5	Form of Award Agreement of Restricted Stock with Time- Lapse Vesting under the Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan	
12	Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges	
15	Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information	
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications	
32	Section 1350 Certifications*	

These certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, will not be deemed to be filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference.

